ISSN 2146-6505 • EISSN 2147-1894



Jarem

JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

Original Investigations

Lumbar Discectomy and Spondylodiscitis Furkan Diren et al.; İstanbul, Turkey

Digoxin Levels in Different Blood Tubes Fatma Demet Arslan et al.; İzmir, Turkey

Vitamin D, Intensive Care Unit, Elderly Patient Muhammed Murat Kurnaz et al.; Giresun, İstanbul, Turkey

Video Information on Preoperative Anxiety Onur Baran et al.; Tekirdağ, Turkey

Supero-inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma Ahmet Serkan İlgün ve Kadir Çağdaş Kazıkdaş; İstanbul, Turkey, Nicosia, Cyprus

Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty Ferdi Dırvar et al.; İstanbul, Turkey

Cholesteatoma Patients with/without STI Deniz Baklacı et al.; Zonguldak, Ankara, Turkey

PET Late İmaging in ILC Fikri Okan Falay and Hülya Seymen; İstanbul, Turkey

HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression Sakine Betül Uzun et al.; İstanbul, Turkey

VOLUME:10 ISSUE:2 AUGUST 2020

UNIVERSITY OF HEALTH SCIENCES TURKEY GAZIOSMANPAŞA TRAINING AND RESEARCH HOSPITAL

Web of Science

JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

Editor in Chief

Ömer N. Develioğlu

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Editors

Mine Adaş

Department of Endocrinology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Ali Ayyıldız

Department of Urology, Adıyaman, Adıyaman University, Turkey

Okcan Basat

Department of Family Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Hakan Başar

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Ayşegül Batıoğlu Karaaltın

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Sibel Bektaş

Department of Medical Pathology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Okan Demiray

General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Tiraje Celkan

Department of Pediatrics, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Galenos Publishing House

Owner and Publisher

Derya Mor

Erdinç Civelek

Department of Brain and Nerve Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Nevriye Gönüllü

Department of Medical Microbiology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Seda Geylani Güleç

Department of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mustafa Hasbahçeci

General Surgery, Medical Park Fatih Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Mine Kucur

Department of Medical Biochemistry, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Veli Mihmanlı

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Health Sciences Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

İsmail Mihmanlı

Department of Radiology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ufuk Özkaya

Orthopedics and Traumatology, Memorial Bahçelievler Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Ahmet İlker Tekkeşin

Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Dr. Siyami Ersek Health Practice Research Center, Istanbul, Turkey

Ayşe Çiğdem Tütüncü

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Sema Uçak Basat

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Ümraniye Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Serdal Uğurlu

Department of Internal Diseases, Division of Rheumatology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Nurten Uzun Adatepe

Department of Neurology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Medine Yazıcı Güleç

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Erenköy Psychiatry and Neurological Diseases SUAM, İstanbul, Turkey

Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Ulviye Yiğit

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Health Sciences Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

• Owned by on behalf of the University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital: Ömer N. Develioğlu • Editor in Chief: Ömer N. Develioğlu • Publication Type: Periodical



Erkan Mor Publication Coordinator Burak Sever Web Coordinators Fuat Hocalar Turgay Akpinar Finance Coordinator Sevinç Çakmak

Graphics Department Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Gülşah Özgül Project Coordinators Duygu Yıldırım Gamze Aksoy Hatice Sever Melike Eren Pınar Akpınar Saliha Tuğçe Evin Project Assistants Gülay Akın Özlem Çelik Rabia Palazoğlu Research&Development Mert Can Köse Mevlüde Özlem Akgüney Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 **Online Publishing Date:** August 2020 **ISSN:** 2146-6505 **E-ISSN:** 2147-1894

International scientific journal published quarterly.

JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

International Editorial Board

Fisun Akdeniz

Retired Assistant Professor of Ege University, İzmir, Turkey İbrahim Özkan Akıncı

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Esen K. Akpek

Wilmer Eve Institute, John Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA Ali Akvüz

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University İstanbul School of

Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

A. Cemal Aygıt

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Kemerburgaz University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

M. Derva Balbav

Clinic of Urology, Koc University Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey M.B. Can Balcı

Clinic of Urology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Gökhan Tolga Adaş

Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Canan Aykut Bingöl

Department of Neurology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

Günseli Bozdoğan

Department of Pediatrics, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Murat Bozkurt

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Kafkas University School of Medicine, Kars, Turkey

Dursun Buğra

Department of General Surgery, Private American Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Berk Burgu

Department of Urology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Arif Atahan Çağatay

Department of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

İlyas Çapoğlu

Department of Internal Medicine, Erzincan University Faculty of Medicine, Erzincan, Turkey

Fehmi Celebi

Department of General Surgery, Sakarya University School of Medicine, Sakarya, Turkey

İsmail Çepni

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Ferda Çiftçi

Department of Ophthalmology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

M. Onur Demirkol

Clinic of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, Koc University, İstanbul, Turkey

Ali İhsan Dokucu

Clinic of Pediatric Surgery, University of Health Sciences Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

The previous Editor in Chief was Prof. Dr. Barış Nuhoğlu

(The editor-in-chief duty, which started in September 2011, was transferred to Ömer N Develioğlu in March 2016)

İstanbul Yeniyüzyıl University, Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital Head of Department of Urology

Hayati Durmaz

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Fla Frdem

Department of Pediatric Pulmonology, Marmara University Pendik Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

Vedat Erentuă

Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences Bağcılar Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, İstanbul, Turkey

Oktay Ergene

Department of Cardiology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Ramon Franco

Department of Laryngology, Massachusetts Eye and Ear Hospital, Boston, USA

Cankon Germiyanoğlu

Department of Urology, 19 Mayıs University School of Medicine, Samsun, Turkev

Abdülaziz Gül

Department of Pediatrics, Elazığ Private Hospital, Elazığ, Turkey H. Canan Hasanoğlu

Clinic of Chest Diseases, University of Health Sciences Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Hakan İlaslan Clinic of Radiology, Cleveland Clinic, OH, USA

Ferruh Kemal İşman

Department of Biochemistry, Medeniyet University Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Serdar Kabataş

Clinic of Brain and Nerve Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Tunava Kalkan Retired Assistant Professor of İstanbul University, İstanbul, Turkey Tolga Kapusuz

Maimonides Medical Center, Department of Anesthesiology, SUNY Downstate Medical School, Brooklyn, NY, USA

Avhan Kılıç

Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Okan University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Reyhan Diz Küçükkaya

Clinic of Hematology and Internal Diseases, Florence Nightingale Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Metin Kücükkava

Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Florence Nightingale Hospital , İstanbul, Turkey

Mehmet Külekci

University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Asiye Nuhoğlu

Clinic of Neonatology, University of Health Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey Barış Nuhoğlu

Department Urology, İlstanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University, Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Ayşe Emel Önal

Department of Public Health, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Perihan Ergin Özcan

Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Türker Özkan

Department of Hand Surgery, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Savas Öztürk

Department of Nephrology, University of Health Sciences Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Cengiz Pata

Clinic of Gastroenterology, Yeditepe University Hospital, İstanbul, Türkive

H. Soner Tatlidede

Department of Plastic Surgery, University of Health Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Avlin Tekes

Clinic of Pediatric Radiology, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, USA Serdar Tekgül

Department of Urology, Pediatric Surgery Unit, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Ralph P. Tufano

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, USA

Uğur Türe

Clinic of Neurosurgery, Yeditepe University School of Medicine Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Avgen Türkmen

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Sinan Uslu

Clinic of Neonatology, University of Health Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul,

Clinic of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences Sisli Hamidiye Etfal

Clinic of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, University of Health

Sciences Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital,

Clinic of Pediatrics, Yeditepe University Medical School Hospital,

Clinic of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Kartal Koşuyolu

Clinic of General Surgery, Memorial Etiler Medical Centre, İstanbul,

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Tekirdağ Namık

Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Nafiye Urgancı Clinic of Pediatrics, Pediatric Gastroenterology, University of Health

Yıldız Yıldırmak

Orhan Yılmaz

Ankara, Turkey

İstanbul, Turkey

Gürsel Soybir

Ayşe Çiğdem Tütüncü

Kemal University, Tekirdağ, Turkey

Turkey

Birol Özkan

Ayşe Ayça Vitrinel

Turkev

JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

Aims and Scope

Journal of Academic Research in Medicine (JAREM) is an open access international journal published in both Turkish and English and complies with independent and unbiased double-blind reviewing procedures. The journal publishes research in the fields of experimental and clinical medicine, case reports, reviews on recent topics, letters to the editor, and other manuscripts on medical education. The journal is published three times per year; in April, August, and December. The journal is funded by University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital.

The aim of JAREM is to publish research on recent topics at an international level. Moreover, reviews, editor's note, case reports and images are also published in the journal. The target audience of readers and authors is composed of educators, academics, researchers, specialists and general practitioners, and all publication process and procedures comply with the standards of ICMJE, WAME and COPE. JAREM is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, EBSCO, CINAHL and ProQuest.

Subscription / Permissions / Advertisement

Free full-text copies of the printed manuscripts are available online at jarem.org. For subscription to the printed copy, applications for copyright permissions and announcements should be made to Editorial office.

Editorial Office

Editor: Ömer N. Develioğlu Address: Clinic of Otolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Gaziosmanpaşa-İstanbul Phone: +90 (212) 252 43 00 E-mail: odevelioglu@yahoo.com

Publisher

Galenos Yayınevi

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, TürkiyePhone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.trWeb: www.galenos.com.tr

Instructions for Authors

Instructions for Authors page is available in the printed version or can be accessed at www.jarem.org.

Material Disclaimer

Published content of JAREM is in authors' own responsibility. University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, editors, employees and the publisher do not accept any financial, legal or any other liability for the published material. The journal is printed on acid-free paper.



JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

Instructions to Authors

Journal of Academic Research in Medicine (JAREM), as an open access journal with doubleblind reviewing process, publishes experimental, basic and original researches conducted in the field of medical sciences; post-graduate training reports, case reports, and articles on history of medicine, and publication and research ethics. Reviewers whom opinions are of priority in the decision of approval are selected by the editors among independent local and international individuals that have specialized on their respective fields. The journal is published three times per year; in April, August and December.

An approval of research protocols by an ethical committee in accordance with international agreements (Helsinki Declaration of 1975, revised 2008-http://www.wma.net/ en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html, "Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals www.nap.edu/catalog/5140.html) is required for experimental, clinical and drug studies.

All submissions must be accompanied by a signed statement of scientific contributions and responsibilities of all authors and a statement declaring the absence of conflict of interests. Any institution, organization, pharmaceutical or medical company providing any financial or material support, in whole or in part, must be disclosed in a footnote (ICMJE Disclosure Form for Potential Conflict of Interest(s)).

Manuscript format must comply with the ICMJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2018 - http://www.icmje.org/icmje-recommendations.pdf).

The presentation of Original Researches and Reviews must be designed in accordance with trial reporting guidelines: randomized study-CONSORT, observational study-STROBE, study on diagnostic accuracy-STARD, systematic reviews and meta-analysis PRISMA, animal experimental studies-ARRIVE, nonrandomized behavioural and public health intervention studies-TREND.

An approval of ethic committee or an equivalent acceptance letter prepared by the officials of the institution in accordance with general ethics is mandatory for Original Research and even for some of the Case Reports. The concept and suggestions presented in the manuscript are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not reflect the opinions of Editor and his/her associates.

Manuscripts sent for publication must not have been previously published elsewhere. Abstracts that have been previously presented in scientific congresses and not exceeding 200 words can be accepted providing the explanation of the condition.

Withdrawal requests without a reasonable cause for papers approaching decision process are "rejected". First author of the manuscripts accepted for publication agrees that corrections both in English and Turkish versions are to be made by the Editors on condition that this will not cause a major change in the document.

Citation potential, being original and having high scientific and academic value are prerequisite for the acceptance of manuscripts for publication.

General Terms

Manuscripts can only be submitted through online manuscript submission system at www. jarem.org. Rejected manuscripts are not returned to authors except artistic pictures. All papers are reviewed by Editor being in the first place, Editor Consultant and associates, statistical consultants and by at least two reviewers. It is particularly important for the journal that first author suggests three individuals as reviewers who are reputable on the subject and who are not related to and unaware of the authors and their institutions.

Editor decides whether the paper conforms to the style stated below before sending the manuscript to the reviewers. Corrections must not be made on original text and must be restricted with the sections requested for revision. Any spelling or drawing errors must be corrected before sending the manuscript to the reviewers.

Articles not conforming to the instructions will not be taken into consideration.

Research Articles

1. Original Research: Full text of the paper should not exceed 5000 words and should include tables and graphs in sufficient number and content to allow understanding. Number of

references being less than 50 is sufficient for plausibility. Number of authors should be limited to 5 with original articles. When there are more than 5 authors the editorial board should be informed about the justification of this situation by the corresponding author.

1.1 Title page: It is the first page of the manuscript and prepared separately as MS Word document. It must include full names of the authors; highest academic degrees and the title of the article not exceeding 50 characters. Affiliations of the authors, departments and city names must be stated in order. Studies conducted in more than one centre must be marked with symbols. Full name, postal and e-mail addresses, phone and fax numbers of the author responsible for correspondence and corrections must be stated at the bottom of this page. It must be also explained if the study was previously presented in a scientific congress in accordance with aforementioned terms or if the abstract was published.

1.2 Structured abstract for original research article: The abstracts should contain the objective of the study, its type, the results, in sum, conclusion of the study without exceeding 250 word limit.

Abstracts must be structured as to include subheadings of Objective, Methods, Results and Conclusion.

At least 3, at most 6 keywords compatible with NLM MESH terms should be included following abstract (http://www.nlm.nih.gov./mesh/MBrowser.html).

1.3 Text: The text must include; Title, Introduction, Methods (with subheadings), Results, Discussion, Limitations of the study, Conclusion, and References. It may be useful to divide methods, results and discussion sections into subheadings. The text must not exceed 5000 words and should be written in Times New Roman, 12 point font. If acknowledgements will be included at the end of the manuscript, those contributed to the conduction of the study or assisted in finalizing the document are mentioned apart from those having substantial scientific contribution. This information must be sent by e-mail or uploaded to the system in a separate MS Word document with the name of "Acknowledgements".

1.4 Statistical Analysis: Analysis must be performed in accordance with statistical data reporting rules in medical journals (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Software used in statistical analysis must be stated. If parametric tests are used for the comparison of continuous variables, data must be presented as mean±standard deviation. For non-parametric tests, Median (Minimum-Maximum) or Median (25th and 75th percentile) values must be indicated. In advanced and complicated statistical analyses, relative risk (RR), odds ratio (OR) and hazard ratio (HR) must be supplemented with confidence intervals (CI) and p values.

1.5 References: References should be numbered consecutively in the order cited in the text and are typed in a separate page. Inaccessible references such as personal information, unpublished data, "in press" are not typed in the references section but cited in parenthesis within the text. Abstracts published two years ago are not included in references; if included, they must be written as (abstr.) in parenthesis. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of the references. While citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. Authors should avoid using references that are older than ten years. The limit for the old reference usage is 15% in the journal.

Journals

Journal names must be abbreviated according to the list of Index Medicus/Medline/PubMed (the list of MEDLINE journals and their abbreviations published annually by NLM can be accessed at http://www.nlm.nih.gov/tsd/serials/lji.html). All author names are listed for articles having less than 6 authors. If the article contains 7 or more authors, names of the first 6 authors are written and followed by "et al.". Names of the authors are followed by the title of the manuscript, year, volume and page numbers.

Example: Müller C, Büttner HJ, Petersen J, Roskomun H. A randomized comparison of clopidogrel and aspirin versus ticlopidine and aspirin after the placement of coronary-artery stents. Circulation 2000; 101: 590-3.

JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

Instructions to Authors

Books

Section in a book: Sherry S. Detection of thrombi. In: Strauss HE, Pitt B, James AE, editors. Cardiovascular Medicine. 2nd ed. St Louis: Mosby; 1974. p.273-85.

Book with single author: Cohn PF. Silent myocardial ischemia and infarction. 3rd ed. New York: Marcel Dekker; 1993.

Editor(s) as author: Norman IJ, Redfern SJ, editors. Mental health care for elderly people. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1996.

Article presented at a meeting: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. P. 1561-5.

Scientific or technical report: Smith P. Golladay K. Payment for durable medical equipment billed during skilled nursing facility stays. Final report. Dallas (TX) Dept. of Health and Human Services (US). Office of Evaluation and Inspections: 1994 Oct. Report No: HHSIGOE 169200860.

Thesis: Kaplan SI. Post-hospital home health care: the elderly access and utilization (dissertation). St. Louis (MO): Washington Univ. 1995.

Manuscript in electronic format

Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): 1(1): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ ncidodIEID/cid.htm.

1.6 Figures, Tables and Pictures: Figures and images must be prepared as not to include names of the patient, doctor and the institution. They must be provided separately from the document and numbered according to their sequence within the text. Legends and footnotes are typed in a separate page. The drawings in the graphs must be in sufficient thickness. Therefore, loss of detail will be minimal while zooming out. The width should be maximum 9 or 18 cm. It may be useful if the drawings are made by professionals. Grey colour should not be used. Abbreviations must be defined below in alphabetical order. Roman numbers should not be used in Tables and Figures must be given with a point. The tables should be prepared to make the text more explanatory and understandable and should not repeat the text.

Video Images

In addition to images in the Case Reports and Original Images; video images/motion pictures, extra images/static images will be published at our website if they comply with the following technical requirements.

- 1. Presentations in image/static image format: JPG, GIF, TIFF, BMP
- 2. Video images/motion pictures: MPEG, VMF.
- 3. File size must be maximum 2 MB.
- Names of doctor, institution, city, and patient and descriptions in the images and particularly in video images must be deleted before sending.

Originality of the tables, figures and images in your manuscript must be stated. If a material is used from another source, either the original source or a source citing the original one, the source must be cited; hardcopy or electronic versions must be obtained from Copyright owner (publication house, journal or author) and presented to the Editor in Chief with the permissions. Terms relevant to the references, figures and tables are applicable to all types of articles

Specific Sections

2. Reviews: Can be prepared by the invited authors upon decision of the Editorial Office. An information or a subject must explain, discuss, and evaluate the latest level that has been reached and must be at a particular degree directing the future studies in order to be used in clinic. The author must have a high reputation in his/her field and must have published manuscripts that have been cited.

Unstructured abstract: Word counts determined for research articles are also applicable herein but they will be unstructured. At least 3, at most 6 keywords compatible with NLM MESH terms (available at http://www.nlm.nih.gov./mesh/MBrowser.html) should be included following abstract. They are limited to 5000 words and 50 references.

3. Editorial Note: The purpose of editorial note is to make brief evaluation of the published research by reputable authors on that particular field or by reputable reviewers. Clinical significance and short summary is included at the end of the text.

4. Case Reports: Intriguing and informative case reports including very rare conditions even for other authors or those representing challenges in the diagnosis and treatment or overlooked conditions in practice or those offering new therapies, involving information that are not even present in the textbooks can be published in the journal. Such case reports are published in limited numbers. Those containing video images have higher chance of publication. Number of references is limited to 10 and the text is limited to 700 words. The abstract should be unstructured and should not exceed 250 words. The manuscript should include minimum 3 and maximum 6 keywords which conform to Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms prepared by National Library of Medicine (NLM). Case report contains the subheadings of Introduction, Case reports. When there are more than 3 authors the editorial board should be informed about the justification of this situation by the corresponding author.

5. Scientific Letter: Manuscripts that aim to announce scientific discoveries and data or preliminary reports that are of clinical significance are accepted for publication as scientific letter. Scientific letters do not contain subheadings and should not exceed 900 words. Number of references should be limited to 10 and the number of tables and figures should be limited to 2.

6. Letters to the Editor: Are one of the major aims of publication of the journal. The significance of a published manuscript or overlooked or missed aspects are discussed. Apart from letters commenting on the published manuscripts, authors can present their comments on subjects attracting the readers' interest or on educational cases in the form of Letters to the Editor. Number of references should not exceed 5 and the text should be limited to 500 words; the text does not contain subheadings.

7. Education: Scientific knowledge that has been proved with the results latest research, that set out in academic training, and that taken a place in clinical practice is presented in details.

Unstructured abstract: Word counts determined for research articles are also applicable for this section; but this will be unstructured. At least 3, at most 6 keywords compatible with NLM MESH terms (available at http://www.nlm.nih.gov./mesh/MBrowser.html) should be included following abstract. The text should be limited to 5000 words and number of references is limited to 50.

8. Original Images: Striking and rare images reflecting important findings in clinical sciences, shedding light on basic mechanisms of the diseases, emphasizing the abnormalities or revealing new treatment methods are accepted for publication. Those containing video images have higher chance of publication. Figure caption, legends, and footnotes (without reference) should not exceed 250 words.

9. Historical Notes: Historical notes are the articles that enlighten important events in the history of medicine and elucidate new information on the historical progress of the diagnosis and treatment of diseases. New historical discoveries must be the results of appropriate researches conducted on the subject. The content of historical notes should not contain subheadings and be limited to 900 words and 10 references.

10. Publication Ethics: Articles providing contemporary information and comments on publication ethics and cases of violation of ethics are published in this section of the journal. The text is limited to 900 words and the number of references is limited to 10.

JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

Contents

Original Investigations

 Digoxin Levels and Its Stability in Different Blood Collection Tubes Fatma Demet Aslan, Inanç Karakoyun, Banu Işbalen Başok, Hatice Solmaz, Merve Zeytinli Akit, Anil Baysoy, Can Duman; İzmir, Turkey Iv Utamin D. Important for Elderly Patients in Intensive Care? Muhammed Murat Kumaz, Sevgi Kasio, Ilika Yagen Turkmer, Gireun, Istanbul, Turkey The Effect of Miceo Information on Preoperative Anxiety Levels in Patients Undergoing Total Knee Replacement Onur Baran, Cengis Mordenia, Makbule Cavidan Arar, Mustafa Günkaya, Tekindağ, Turkey Supero-Inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of Thirteen Cases with Intraoperative Nerve Monitoring Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey Ferdi Divar, Sevda Uzun Divar, Timur Yildirm, Omer Cengz, Mehmet Ali Talmaç, Istanbul, Muş, Turkey Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey Ferdi Divar, Sevda Uzun Divar, Timur Yildirm, Omer Cengz, Mehmet Ali Talmaç, Istanbul, Muş, Turkey Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Fikh Okan Falsy, Hülys Seymer, Istanbul, Turkey The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betil Ukun, Onder Sakin, Hüseyh Cerin, Engin Ersin Şimşek Istanbul, Turkey Investigation of Sexuel Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence At Ecoglu, Muemmer Aydin, Ozkan Oruk, Naser Can Clesiz, Bars Nuhöglu, Istanbul, Turkey Effects of JAC Atumet Atag, Istanbul, Naser Can Clesiz, Bars Nuhöglu, Istanbul, Turkey Effects of Dispech Intelligibiling in Fee-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polar, Ahmet Atag, Istanbul, Turkey Effects of Olexan On Sexuel Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence At Ecoglu,	106	The Effect of Using a Dose of Prophylactic Antibiotics on Spondylodiscitis in Lumbar Disc Surgery Furkan Diren, Mehmet Bülent Onal, Halil Can, Atilla Kircelli; İstanbul, Turkey
 Is Vitamin D Important for Elderly Patients in Intensive Care? Muhammed Muart Kumaz, Sevgi Kasid, Uliú Aygen Türkmer, Ginsun, Istanbul, Turkey The Effect of Video Information on Preoperative Anxiety Levels in Patients Undergoing Total Knee Replacement Onur Baran, Cengiz Mordeniz, Makbule Cavidan Arar, Mustafa Günkaya; Tekirdağ, Turkey Supero-inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of Thirteen Cases with Intraoperative Nerve Monitoring Ameti Serkan Ilgún, Kadir Çağdaş Kazkdaşı İstanbul, Turkey, Nicosia, Cyprus Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey Ferdi Dinar, Sevad Uzun Dinar, Timur Yidinm, Ömer Cengiz, Mehmet Ali Talmag, Istanbul, Muş, Turkey A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion Deniz Bakko, Ismail Güler, Ihsan Kuzuca, Rad Oguzhan Kum, Müşe Ozcar, Zonguldak, Ankinar, Turkey Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Firei Okan Falay, Hüys Seymen; Istanbul, Turkey The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betül Uzu, Onder Sakin, Hüsseyin Cetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek, Istanbul, Turkey Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş, Istanbul, Turkey Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ait Eröglu, Muammer Aydn, Ozkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çileiz, Barş Nuhoğu, Istanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Prar Mudu, N. Arzu Mirci, Ganadkale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Seb	111	Digoxin Levels and Its Stability in Different Blood Collection Tubes Fatma Demet Arslan, İnanç Karakoyun, Banu İşbilen Başok, Hatice Solmaz, Merve Zeytinli Aksit, Anıl Baysoy, Can Duman; İzmir, Turkey
 The Effect of Video Information on Preoperative Anxiety Levels in Patients Undergoing Total Knee Replacement Onur Baran, Cengiz Mordeniz, Makbule Cavidan Arar, Mustafa Günkaya, Tekirdağ, Turkey Supero-inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of Thirteen Cases with Intraoperative Nerve Monitoring Ahmet Serkan Ilgün, Kadir Çağdaş Kazıkdaş, İstanbul, Turkey, Nicosia, Cyprus Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey Ferd Drava, Seved Sturn Drava, Timur Yildinm, Omer Cengiz, Mehmet Ali Talmaç, İstanbul, Muş, Turkey A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion Deniz Baklao, Ismail Güler, İhsan Kuzucu, Rauf Oğuzhan Kum, Müge Ozcar, Zonguldak, Ankara, Turkey Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Fikri Okan Falay, Hüya Seymen; Istanbul, Turkey The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sasima Bettil Luzin, Onder Sakin, Hisesyin Cetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek; Istanbul, Turkey Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş, Istanbul, Kurkey Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğiu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barş Nuhoğlu; Istanbul, Turkey Heffects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Gama Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Umit Yilmaz, Neasbe Yilmaz, Osman Fazloğullar, Fauk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Umit Zeybek; Istanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirci; Çanakkale, Turkey<th>117</th><th>ls Vitamin D Important for Elderly Patients in Intensive Care? Muhammed Murat Kurnaz, Sevgi Kesici, Ülkü Aygen Türkmen; Giresun, İstanbul, Turkey</th>	117	ls Vitamin D Important for Elderly Patients in Intensive Care? Muhammed Murat Kurnaz, Sevgi Kesici, Ülkü Aygen Türkmen; Giresun, İstanbul, Turkey
 Supero-inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of Thirteen Cases with Intraoperative Nerve Monitoring Atmet Serkan Ilgün, Kadir Çağdaş Kazıkdaş; İstanbul, Turkey, Nicosia, Cyprus Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey Ferd Davar, Sevda Uzun Duvar, Timur Yldırım, Ömer Cengiz, Mehmet Ali Talmaç; İstanbul, Muş, Turkey A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion Deniz Baklacı, Ismail Güler, İhsan Kuzucu, Rauf Oğuzhan Kum, Müge Özcan; Zonguldak, Ankara, Turkey Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Fikri Okan Falay, Hülya Seymen; İstanbul, Turkey The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Ernotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betül Uzun, Onder Sakin, Hüseyin Çetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek; Istanbul, Turkey Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş; Istanbul, Turkey Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barş Nuhoğlu, Istanbul, Turkey Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Gama Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Umit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğullar, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; Istanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici, Çanakkale, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşiyur, Kirşat Yelker, Istanbul, Turkey 	122	The Effect of Video Information on Preoperative Anxiety Levels in Patients Undergoing Total Knee Replacement Onur Baran, Cengiz Mordeniz, Makbule Cavidan Arar, Mustafa Günkaya; Tekirdağ, Turkey
 Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey Ferd Drivar, Sevda Uzun Drivar, Timur Yldinm, Ömer Cengiz, Mehmet Ali Talmaç; Istanbul, Muş, Turkey A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion Deniz Baklac, Ismail Güler, Ihsan Kuzucu, Rauf Oğuzhan Kum, Müge Özcan; Zonguldak, Ankara, Turkey Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Fikri Okan Falay, Hülya Seymen; Istanbul, Turkey The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betül Uzun, Onder Sakin, Hüseyin Çetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek; Istanbul, Turkey Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ata; Istanbul, Turkey Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Ozkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barş Nuhoğlu; Istanbul, Turkey Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Gama Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akf Arat, Umit Ylmaz, Nesibe Ylmaz, Osman Faziogullar, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Umit Zeybek; Istanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Azzu Mirici; Çanaklale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebalat Nacar Doğari, Istanbul, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelker, Istanbul, Turkey 	129	Supero-inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of Thirteen Cases with Intraoperative Nerve Monitoring Ahmet Serkan İlgün, Kadir Çağdaş Kazıkdaş; İstanbul, Turkey, Nicosia, Cyprus
 A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion Deniz Baklacı, İsmail Güler, İhsan Kuzucu, Rauf Oğuzhan Kum, Müge Özcan; Zonguldak, Ankara, Turkey Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Fikri Okan Falay, Hülya Seymen; İstanbul, Turkey The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betül Uzun, Önder Sakin, Hüseyin Çetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek; İstanbul, Turkey Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş; Istanbul, Turkey Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barış Nuhoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and <i>PPAR-Gama</i> Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Ümit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğulları, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; İstanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğar, İstanbul, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; Istanbul, Turkey 	133	Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey Ferdi Dırvar, Sevda Uzun Dırvar, Timur Yıldırım, Ömer Cengiz, Mehmet Ali Talmaç; İstanbul, Muş, Turkey
 Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Fikri Okan Falay, Hülya Seymen; Istanbul, Turkey The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betül Uzun, Önder Sakin, Hüseyin Çetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek; Istanbul, Turkey Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş; Istanbul, Turkey Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barş Nuhoğlu; Istanbul, Turkey Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Garna Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Ümit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğulları, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; Istanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğan; Istanbul, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; Istanbul, Turkey 	138	A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion Deniz Baklacı, İsmail Güler, İhsan Kuzucu, Rauf Oğuzhan Kum, Müge Özcan; Zonguldak, Ankara, Turkey
 149 The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betül Uzun, Önder Sakin, Hüseyin Çetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek; İstanbul, Turkey 155 Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş; İstanbul, Turkey 160 Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barş Nuhoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey 166 Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Gama Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Ümit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğulları, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; İstanbul, Turkey 175 A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pınar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey 180 Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğar; İstanbul, Turkey 185 The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey 	143	Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer Fikri Okan Falay, Hülya Seymen; İstanbul, Turkey
 Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş; İstanbul, Turkey Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barş Nuhoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and <i>PPAR-Gama</i> Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Ümit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğulları, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; İstanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğan; İstanbul, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey 	149	The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women Sakine Betül Uzun, Önder Sakin, Hüseyin Çetin, Engin Ersin Şimşek; İstanbul, Turkey
 Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barış Nuhoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Gama Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Ümit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğulları, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; İstanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğan; İstanbul, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey 	155	Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios Zahra Polat, Ahmet Ataş; İstanbul, Turkey
 Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Gama Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Ümit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğulları, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; İstanbul, Turkey A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğan; İstanbul, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey 	160	Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence Ali Eroğlu, Muammer Aydın, Özkan Onuk, Nusret Can Çilesiz, Barış Nuhoğlu; İstanbul, Turkey
 A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğan; İstanbul, Turkey The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey 	166	Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-G <i>ama</i> Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population Akif Arat, Ümit Yılmaz, Nesibe Yılmaz, Osman Fazlıoğulları, Faruk Çelik, Cem Başaran, Ümit Zeybek; İstanbul, Turkey
 180 Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğan; İstanbul, Turkey 185 The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey 	175	A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Pinar Mutlu, N. Arzu Mirici; Çanakkale, Turkey
185 The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey	180	Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging Sebahat Nacar Doğan; İstanbul, Turkey
	185	The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken; İstanbul, Turkey

JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

Contents

Case Reports

- 189 Cervical Lipoleiomyoma: Case Report Veli Mihmanlı, Ali Emre Atik; İstanbul, Turkey
 - 192 The Phenomenon of Acute Renal Failure in Patients with Chronic Use of Wild Tobacco Serhat Soylu, Ümran Yaman, Ülkü Aygen Türkmen, İlkay Anaklı; İstanbul, Turkey
 - 195 Cases with Gastrointestinal System Findings and Diagnosed with Malignancy Outside the Gastrointestinal System; Case Series Nafiye Urgancı, Reyhan Gümüştekin, Bahar Genç, Z. Yıldız Yıldırmak; İstanbul, Turkey
 - 200 Angiolipoma-like Atypical Lipomatous Tumor/Well-differentiated Liposarcoma İsmail Saygın, Sevdegül Mungan, Emel Çakır; Trabzon, Turkey
- 204 Is Mucopolysaccharidosis a Cause of Sleep and Speech Disorders? Report of Four Cases? Nafiye Urgancı, Derya Kalyoncu, Reyhan Gümüştekin; İstanbul, Turkey

The Effect of Using a Dose of Prophylactic Antibiotics on Spondylodiscitis in Lumbar Disc Surgery

🔟 Furkan Diren¹, 🗅 Mehmet Bülent Onal², 💿 Halil Can³, 💿 Atilla Kırcelli4

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey
 ²İstanbul Acıbadem University Health Vocational School, İstanbul, Turkey
 ³Biruni University Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey
 ⁴Başkent University, İstanbul Health Practice and Research Center Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Diren F, Onal MB, Can H, Kırcelli A. The Effect of Using a Dose of Prophylactic Antibiotics on Spondylodiscitis in Lumbar Disc Surgery. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):106-10

ABSTRACT

Objective: Although spondylodiscitis seen after lumbar discectomy is very rare, its incidence has been reported to be around 0.1-18.8% by many different authors. The most common pathogen is *Staphylococcus aureus*.

Methods: Medical records of 1,154 patients who were operated in our hospital between 2007 and 2015 due to a single or two-level lumbar disc hernia were retrospectively extracted. Of these patients, 554 were female and 600 were male. Discectomy operation was performed in 1,062 of these patients with single-level and 91 with two-level lumbar microdiscectomy. All of these patients were given a prophylactic single dose of cefazolin sodium in accordance with the recommendations of the surgical antimicrobial prophylaxis guidelines during anesthesia. Spondylodiscitis developed in 12 patients (1.03%). Comorbidities in patients who developed spondylodiscitis, isolated pathogens, antibiotic susceptibility, antibiotics used, and hospital stay were noted.

Results: Of the 12 patients, 7 were female and 5 were male. Mean age was 45.75±14.16 years. Eleven of these patients underwent single level, one had 2 levels of lumbar microdiscectomy. Five patients underwent discectomy at L4-5 and 8 patients at L5-S1 levels. Three of these patients had *S. aureus* (25%), 4 had *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (33%) and 3 had *Escherichia coli* (25%) and 2 patients had no reproduction. The mean hospital stay was 29.45±3.98, and in patients without spondylodiscitöis it was 1.99±0.81, the two groups were significantly different from each other (p=0.0001).

Conclusion: Although most surgeons have a tendency to maintain antibiotic prophylaxis postoperatively or during hospitalization period, our study found that a single dose prophylactic antibiotic administered during anesthesia induction did not increase rate of spondylodiscitis by medical literature.

Keywords: Spondiylodiscitis, lumbar microdiscectomy, Staphylococcus aureus

INTRODUCTION

Although iatrogenic spondylodiscitis seen after lumbar disc surgery is very rare, its incidence has been reported by many different authors to be between 0.1-3% (1-15). Most articles on this topic are based on a retrospective case series. It is quite difficult to determine the true incidence of spondylodiscitis. latrogenic spondylodiscitis can be seen after discography, chemonucleosis, intradiscal operations (percutaneous laser disc decompression, nucleoplasty etc.), and lumbar disc hernia surgery. Although the infection rate in conventional discectomy is between 0.7% and 2.8%, there are authors who claim that this rate is higher in

ORCID IDs of the authors: F.D. 0000-0001-6169-9722; M.B.O. 0000-0003-0563-3221; H.C. 0000-0002-6792-9987; A.K. 0000-0003-2109-1274



Corresponding Author: Furkan Diren, E-mail: furkandiren@yahoo.com Received Date: 24.07.2018 Accepted Date: 24.07.2018

microdiscectomy (16). In addition, lumbar puncture, myelography and chemical sympathectomy can lead to distance contamination, causing discitis.

In terms of the development of spondylodiscitis, it is a matter of debate about whether the disc level is intra-operative contamination, from neighboring organs or hematogenous spread. The most common pathogen is *Staphylococcus aureus*. Diagnosis of spondylodiscitis is made by clinical laboratory and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

In some studies, despite adequate treatment for postoperative spondylodiscitis, the percentage of patients who could not continue under older study conditions was reported to be 66.7% and 87.5% (9,11,17), but only 44.6% of patients in a wide series of 7,493 surgeries and 90 spondylodiscitis has returned to their old professions (18). Prophylaxis is clearly important because of this negative result of postoperative spondylodiscitis. It is seen that perioperative intravenous antibiotics or irrigation with the antiseptic or antibiotic solution of the disc area are with irrigation is used, but postoperative spondylodiscitis has been significantly reduced (10,13).

The aim of this study is to define the incidence of spondylodiscitis in patients who underwent single-dose antibiotic prophylaxis under anesthesia induction and did not use prophylactic antibiotics in the postoperative period.

METHODS

Patient population and surgical technique: Medical records of 1,154 patients who were operated in our hospital between 2007 and 2015 due to a single or two-level lumbar disc hernia were retrospectively extracted. Patient consents were obtained. Five hundred fifty-four of these patients were female and 600 were male. Discectomy operation was performed in 1,062 of these patients with single level and 91 with two-level lumbar microsurgery. All patients were operated in prone position under general anesthesia in the operation room, and operated after sterile cover procedures. All patients underwent hemecircular laminectomy and foraminatomy and flavectomy to perform discectomy under the microscope. Attention was paid to hemostasis at the operation site and cartilage plates were not damaged, disc distance was not cured, but disc distances were irrigated with gentamicin serum at the end of the operation. All patients underwent a single dose of 1 g intramuscular cefazolin sodium antibiotic prophylaxis in accordance with the recommendations of the surgical antibiotic prophylaxis guidelines during anesthesia induction. During the 8-year follow-up period, 12 (1.03%) of the patients developed spondylodiscitis. Comorbidities, isolated pathogens, antibiotic susceptibilities, antibiotics used, and length of hospital stay were noted in the patients with spondylodiscitis.

Diagnosis of spondylodiscitis in the postoperative period: All patients were recorded by subtracting erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESH) and complete blood count from the examinations performed before the operation. The first controls of the patients

after discharge were made on the 15th day. MRI was performed on patients who had increasing back pain and/or leg pain in the postoperative period and applied to us again.

In cases such as ESH, white blood cell height at full blood count, hypointansity in the vertebrae adjacent to the disc operated on T1-weighted MRIs for control purposes in patients with high C-reactive protein (CRP) value, T2-weighted sections hyperintensity and contrast involvement in both end plates in contrast sections reduction of disc height; patients with clinical complaints and supporting laboratory findings was diagnosed with spondylodiscitis and hospitalized. After their hospitalization, tissue cultures were studied by taking a percutaneous biopsy from the disc distance and the pathogen was tried to be detected. Antibiotic infectious diseases, which are sensitive to patients with pathogen and antibiogram detected, were given as a result of consultation.

RESULTS

In our hospital, spondylodiscitis developed in 12 (1.03%) of 1,154 patients who had been operated for lumbar disc hernia and who underwent antibiotic prophylaxis during anesthesia induction only. The mean length of hospital stay at the time of operation was 1.99±0.81 days. Of the 12 patients diagnosed with spondylodiscitis, 7 were female and 5 were male. The mean age of these patients was 45.75±14.16 years. Eleven of these patients underwent a single level, 1 undervent two-level lumbar microdiscectomy. Five patients underwent microdiscectomy from L4-5 and 8 patients from L5-S1 levels. These patients were admitted to our outpatient clinic an average of 8.75±4.18 weeks after discharge, and a diagnosis of spondylodiscitis was made. Three of these patients had S. aureus (25%), 4 had Staphylococcus epidermidis (33%) and 3 had Escherichia coli (25%) and 2 patients had no reproduction. The patients were treated by the infection clinic, and the patients whose ESH and CRP values returned to normal under antibiotic treatment were discharged. The average hospital stay of these patients was 29.45±3.98 days, and in patients without spondylodiscitis 1.99±0.81 days, where the two groups were significantly different from each other (p=0.0001).

When the antibiotic susceptibilities of the bacteria obtained from cultures were examined, methicillin resistance was not detected in any of *S. aureus*, which reproduced in the tissue culture of 3 patients. In this case, it is sensitive to cefazoline given for prophylaxis. Methicillin resistance was observed in one of the *S. epidermidis* strains grown in 4 patients.

DISCUSSION

Postoperative spondylodiscitis is an unexpected condition with a rate of 0.1-3% that develops within 10 weeks after lumbar discectomy (10,19,20). Apart from lumbar disc surgery, as it can be seen in percutaneous procedures performed on the disc, discography, chemonucleosis, and ozone therapy, it is a severe complication due to its clinical course. Spinal instrumentation surgery in addition to lumbar microdiscectomy is one of the factors that increase the risk of infection. In spinal surgeries, the incidence of spondylodiscitis is up to 35% in some studies (21,22).

In addition to the clinical and laboratory methods, MRI is an important and valuable tool for diagnosis. In MRI, it shows decreased bone signal on T1-weighted MRI, increased bone signal on T2-weighted MRI, and gadolinium involvement in end plates adjacent to the disc, disc area infection with a sensitivity of 93% to 96% and a specificity between 92% and 97% (17,23). In advanced cases, the decrease in the height of the disc distance and erosive appearances in the adjacent cortical bone can also be seen (18,19). Although these views show the value of the radiological study once again, these findings have been shown in all patients who developed spondylodiscitis in our study. Prior to the use of MRI, technetium 99m diphosphonate and gallium 67 citrate bone scintigraphy screening was considered as a reliable test to ensure early detection of disc space infections (8). However, today in most patients, lumbar MRI is sufficient to diagnose together with increased ESH and CRP values with clinical (18,24,25). Apart from MRI imaging, computed tomography may show narrowing of the disk space and erosion of the adjacent cortical bone (18,19).

Large series of spondylodiscitis have been published before the routine use of MRI (2,9,12,26). The incidence of disc space infection reported in these series is likely to be very low, because the sensitivity of radiography and tomography is lower than that of MRI, especially for the detection of postoperative spondylodiscitis during the first 6 weeks after surgery (23). In most studies, no information about duration was given for follow-up examinations (7,17,18). In our study, postoperative spondylodiscitis incidence was 1.03% with single dose antibiotic prophylaxis.

Some authors argue that percutaneous disc biopsy is effective in making a diagnosis (14,19,24,27). Tissue culture with a biopsy taken from the disc distance is very valuable in eradicating the pathogen causing spondylodiscitis. Although biopsy can be easily taken under tomography or under fluoroscopy, the reported complication rates are low, but there is also a high false negative rate (28-30). In our study, all patients who were hospitalized with

Table 1. Demographic factors (standard deviation)						
Age (years, mean ± SD) 43.05±12.58						
Gender (n, %)						
Male	600 (52%)					
Female	554 (48%)					
Level (n, %)						
L2-3	110 (8.8%)					
L3-4	140 (11.2%)					
L4-5	444 (35.6%)					
L5-S1	505 (44.4%)					
Multilevel (n, %)	91					
Hospitalization duration (days, mean ± SD)	1.99±0.81					
SD: Standard deviation						

the diagnosis of spondylodiscitis were performed discal biopsies and pathogen was detected and appropriate antibiotic treatment was initiated.

Postoperative spondylodiscitis is an infection of disc distance caused by skin flora contamination. Often causes are S. aureus and S. epidermidis (19,24,31) Fraser et al. (32) have suggested that "aseptic" spondylodiscitis likewise begins with the contamination of the disc space with potentially infectious pathogens. In these cases, the infectious process is usually self-limiting and does not lead to severe clinical symptoms, positive cultures, positive discal biopsies and increase in ESH and CRP (24,30). According to the literature, the incidence of postoperative spondylodiscitis is up to 3.0% in patients who do not receive antibiotic prophylaxis (2-4,9,11,33). Infection rates from 0% to 3.0% have been reported for macrosurgical approaches (2,3,9,16,21,34). Infection rate in patients undergoing microsurgery techniques ranged from 0% to 2.5% (5,6,16,35). The effect of microscope use on incidence in lumbar surgeries is also a matter of debate. While Kho and Steudel (35) reported that the infection rate increased from 0% to 2.5% after using the microscope, Dauch (16) observed that the infection rate decreased from 2.8% to 0.4%.

There are a limited number of articles on lumbar discectomy, postoperative spondylodiscitis as a result of spinal infections and the effects of prophylactic intravenous antibiotic use. In some series, with the use of gentamicin, first or second generation cephalosporins, the rate of postoperative spondylodiscitis has been reported as 0-0.5% (3,10). Horwitz and Curtin (36) focused only on wound infections and reported a significant reduction in infection rates after lumbar disc surgery in patients using

Table 2. Summary of patients who developed spondylodiscitis									
Patient ID	Gender	Age	Level	Pathogen	Week of application				
1	Female	65	L5-S1	Staphylococcus aureus	10				
2	Male	40	L5-S1	Staphylococcus epidermidis	6				
3	Female	39	L4-5, L5-S1	Staphylococcus epidermidis	6				
4	Female	23	L5-S1	Escherichia Coli	4				
5	Male	61	L5-S1	No reproduction	4				
6	Female	49	L5-S1	Staphylococcus aureus	10				
7	Male	26	L4-5	Escherichia Coli	14				
8	Female	41	L5-S1	Escherichia Coli	13				
9	Female	38	L5-S1	Staphylococcus aureus	2				
10	Male	58	L5-S1	No reproduction	13				
11	Female	44	L5-S1	Staphylococcus epidermidis	13				
12	Female	65	L5-S1	Staphylococcus epidermidis	10				

antibiotics. For spinal infection prophylaxis, a single dose of cefazolin sodium antibiotic is recommended for spinal surgery cases with or without instrumentation specified in the surgical guidelines (37). However, most surgeons tend to have patients use antibiotics in also postoperative period. The antibiotics used postoperatively can increase the antibiotic resistance of bacteria within the contaminated disc space. As a result of irrational antibiotic use, it can cause undesirable consequences such as cost, adverse effects, drug-drug interaction as well as antibiotic resistance. The incidence of spondylodiscitis in 1% of the patients we operated is within the values reported in the literature. Therefore, it was thought that the irrigation of the intervertebral disc distance in addition to a single dose of prophylactic antibiotics given to the patients was not caused by the insufficiency of the antibiotic given in terms of spectrum and duration. In our study, methicillin resistance was observed in only one patient in terms of antibiotic resistance when using single-dose antibiotics. Rational antibiotic use and antibiotic resistance are effective on the duration of spondylodiscitis treatment.

Washing the disc distance with antibiotic serums is a common practice among surgeons. However, there are few publications on this topic regarding the incidence of infectious complications after lumbar discectomy (38). In cases where the disc space cleaned after discectomy was irrigated with bacitracin and/or neomycin, the incidence of disc space infection was reported as between 0.2 and 1.2% (13). In cases where gentamicin, first or second generation cephalosporins are used, the incidence of postoperative spondylodiscitis has been reported between 0% and 0.5% (3,10,26). Gentamicin was used in irrigation fluid in our study. When we look at the sensitivities of organisms responsible for spondylodiscitis, 11 (91.6%) patients had sensitivity to gentamicin and cephalosporin. Gentamycin covers gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, but can explain its effectiveness in preventing disc space infection.

In a study related to the topical applications of gentamycin, 72 patients who had osteomyelitis after orthopedic surgery, a collagenous sponge containing gentamicin was placed in the



Figure 1. A) Image of discitis in L5-S1 level in T1A sagittal magnetic resonance (MR), **B**) image of discitis in L5-S1 level in contrasted T1A sagittal MR

infected area and gentamicin levels in the drainage fluid were measured (31). Bactericidal gentamicin levels were found in the drainage fluid in the first 48 patients. It is possible to reach high antibiotic levels at the surgery area 72 hours after the operation. Based on these findings, in our study, the fact that the disc space infection is around 1% by irrigating the disc distance with a gentamicin solution may ensure that single dose antibiotic prophylaxis reaches bactericidal gentamicin and cephalosporin levels in the first postoperative days and is effective in preventing postoperative spondylodiscitis.

Study Limitations

There are also limitations of our study. By its nature, it is a retrospective study based on patient file records. In our study, patients diagnosed with clinically advanced spondylodiscitis were examined, and those who were treated in subclinics or other clinics are not known. Although the patient population is not sufficient in terms of antibiotic resistance, objective results can be obtained by prospective studies.

CONCLUSION

Although most surgeons have a tendency to maintain antibiotic prophylaxis in the postoperative or in hospitalization period, our study shows that single dose prophylactic antibiotics performed only during anesthesia induction does not increase the rate of spondylodiscitis according to the medical literature.

Ethics Committee Approval: Retrospective study.

Informed Consent: It was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - F.D., M.B.O., H.C., A.K.; Design - F.D., M.B.O., H.C., A.K.; Supervision - F.D., M.B.O., H.C., A.K.; Resources - A.K.; Materials - A.K.; Data Collection and/or Processing - F.D., M.B.O., H.C., A.K.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - F.D., M.B.O., H.C., A.K.; Literature Search - M.B.O., A.K.; Writing - F.D., M.B.O., H.C., A.K.; Manuscript - S.D.; Critical Review - F.D., M.B.O., H.C., A.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Andrews DW, Lavyne MH. Retrospective analysis of microsurgical and standard lumbar discectomy. Spine 1990; 15: 329-35.
- Brussatis F. Osteomyelitis following surgery of the lumbar herniated disk. Acta Neurochir 1953; 3: 209-30.
- Davis RA. A long-term outcome analysis of 984 surgically treated herniated lumbar discs. J Neurosurg 1994; 80: 415-21.
- Ford LT, Key JA. Postoperative infection of intervertebral disc space. South Med J 1955; 48: 1295-303.
- Goald HJ. Microlumbar discectomy: follow-up of 477 patients. J Microsurg 1980; 2: 95-100.
- Kotilainen E, Valtonen S, Carlson CA. Microsurgical treatment of lumbar disc herniation: follow-up of 237 patients. Acta neurochir (Wien) 1993; 120: 143-9.
- Meinig G, Kretzschmar K, Samii M, Wallenfang F, Hülse R, Schürmann K. Spondylodiscitis-Lumbar disc removal. Advances in Neurosurgery 2012; 4: 55-8.
- Nolla-Sole JM, Mateo-Soria L, Rozadilla-Sacanell A, Mora-Salvador J, Valverde-Garcia J, Roig-Escofet D. Role of technetium-99m

diphosphonate and gallium-67 citrate bone scanning in the early diagnosis of infectious spondylodiscitis. A comparative study. Ann Rheum Dis 1992; 51: 665-7.

- 9. Pilgaard S. Discitis (closed space infection) following removal of lumbar intervertebral disc. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1969; 51: 713-6.
- Piotrowski WP, Krombholz MA, Mühl B. Spondylodiscitis after lumbar disk surgery. Neurosurg Rev 1994; 17: 189-93.
- Puranen J, Makela J, Lähde S. Postoperative intervertebral discitis. Acta Orthop Scand 1984; 55: 461-5.
- Seifert V, Stolke D, Vogelsang H. Die postoperative discitis intervertebralis lumbalis. Aktuelle Neurologie 1983; 10: 161-6.
- Tronnier V, Schneider R, Kunz U, Albert F, Oldenkott P. Postoperative spondylodiscitis: results of a prospective study about the aetiology of spondylodiscitis after operation for lumbar disc herniation. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 1992; 117: 149-52.
- Thibodeau AA. Closed space infection following removal of lumbar intervertebral disc. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1968; 50: 400-10.
- Stolke D, Sollmann WP, Seifert V. Intra-and postoperative complications in lumbar disc surgery. Spine 1989; 14: 56-9.
- Dauch W. Infection of the intervertebral space following conventional and microsurgical operation on the herniated lumbar intervertebral disc a controlled clinical trial. Acta Neurochir 1986; 82: 43-9.
- Frank AM, Trappe AE. The role of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in the diagnosis of spondylodiscitis. Neurosurgical Review 1990; 13: 279-83.
- Stolke D, Seifert V, Kunz U. Die postoperative Discitis intervertebralis lumbalis. Z Orthop 1988; 126: 666-70.
- 19. Rawlings CE, Wilkins RH, Gallis HA, Goldner JL, Francis R. Postoperative intervertebral disc space infection. Neurosurgery 1983; 13: 371-6.
- Dall BE, Rowe DE, Odette WG, Batts DH. Postoperative discitis. Diagnosis and management. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1987: 138-46.
- Fernand R, Lee CK. Postlaminectomy disc space infection. A review of the literature and a report of three cases. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1986: 215-8.
- Ebeling U, Reichenberg W, Reulen HJ. Results of microsurgical lumbar discectomy. Acta Neurochirurgica 1986; 81: 45-52.
- Schulitz KP, Assheuer J. Discitis after procedures on the intervertebral disc. Spine 1994; 19: 1172-7.
- 24. Fouquet B, Goupille P, Jattiot F, Cotty P, Lapierre F, Valat JP, et al. Discitis after lumbar disc surgery. Features of "aseptic" and "septic" forms. Spine 1992; 17: 356-8.

- Meyer B, Schaller K, Rohde V, Hassler W. The C-reactive protein for detection of early infections after lumbar microdiscectomy. Acta neurochir 1995; 136: 145-50.
- Rohde V, Meyer B, Schaller C, Hassler WE. Spondylodiscitis after lumbar discectomy. Incidence and a proposal for prophylaxis. Spine 1998; 23: 615-20.
- Scherbel AL, Gardner WJ. Infections involving the intervertebral disks. Diagnosis and management. JAMA 1960; 174: 370-4.
- Armstrong P, Chalmers A, Green G, Irving J. Needle aspiration/biopsy of the spine in suspected disc space infection. Br J of Radiol 1978; 51: 333-7.
- Babu NV, Titus V, Chittaranjan S, Abraham G, Prem H, Korula RJ. Computed tomographically guided biopsy of the spine. Spine 1994; 19: 2436-42.
- Fraser R, Osti O, Vernon-Roberts B. Discitis after discography. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1987; 69: 26-35.
- Gruss P, Tannenbaum H, Ott-Tannenbaum B, Tasler J, Spohr A, Gergart G. Die Verlaufsformen der Spondylodiszitis nach Bandscheibenoperationzur Genese, Therapie und Prophylaxe. Neurochirurgia 1992; 35: 79-84.
- Fraser R, Osti O, Vernon-Roberts B. latrogenic discitis: the role of intravenous antibiotics in prevention and treatment. An experimental study. Spine 1989; 14: 1025-32.
- Bongartz EB, Ulrich P, Fidler M, Bernucci C. Reoperation in the management of post-operative disc space infection. Zentralbl Neurochir 1994; 55: 120-4.
- Savitz MH. Minilaminotomy as an alternative to laminectomy or microdiskectomy: ten years' experience. Mt Sinai J Med 1991; 58: 165-7.
- Kho HC, Steudel W. Vergleich der mikrochirurgischen lumbalen Bandscheibenoperation mit der konventionellen Technik beim frei sequestrierten Bandscheibenvorfall - Eine retrospektive Studie anhand von 267 Fällen. Neurochirurgia 1986; 29: 181-5.
- Horwitz NH, Curtin JA. Prophylactic antibiotics and wound infections following laminectomy for lumber disc herniation. J Neurosurg 1975; 43: 727-31.
- Bratzler DW, Dellinger EP, Olsen KM, Perl TM, Auwaerter PG, Bolon MK, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for antimicrobial prophylaxis in surgery. Surg Infect 2013; 14: 73-156.
- von Hasselbach C. Clinical aspects and pharmacokinetics of collagengentamicin as adjuvant local therapy of osseous infections. Unfallchirurg 1989; 92: 459-70.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2019.2597 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):111-6

Digoxin Levels and It's Stability in Different Blood Collection Tubes

Fatma Demet Arslan¹
 İnanç Karakoyun¹
 Banu İşbilen Başok¹
 Hatice Solmaz²
 Merve Zeytinli Aksit¹
 Anıl Baysoy¹
 Can Duman¹

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Medical Biochemistry, İzmir, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Cardiology, İzmir, Turkey

Cite this article as: Arslan FD, Karakoyun İ, İşbilen Başok B, Solmaz H, Zeytinli Aksit M, Baysoy A, Duman C. Digoxin Levels and It's Stability in Different Blood Collection Tubes. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):111-6

ABSTRACT

Objective: Digoxin is monitored because of its narrow range of therapeutic doses and risk of toxicity. Thus, we aimed to evaluate the effect of different blood collection tubes on digoxin levels and its stability.

Methods: Samples from 30 volunteers who received digoxin therapy were collected in 5 different tubes: no additive and gel-free glass tube (Z-tube) (reference tube), clot-activator tubes containing gel (Vacusera), clot-activator tubes containing gel (serum separator tube), barrier-free lithium heparinized tube (LiH), and new lithium heparinized tube with a barrier (Barricor). Digoxin levels in tubes were analyzed at 0 and 48 hours (h).

Results: No statistical difference was found between 0 and 48 h results in other tubes, except for LiH, and the difference in LiH was also not clinically significant. Digoxin levels in other tubes were not statistically different according to the reference tube, except for Barricor. The digoxin level in Barricor was clinically significantly higher than that in the reference tube. Although a strong correlation was found in the digoxin level between Barricor and Z-tubes, a proportional increase in digoxin level in Barricor was determined.

Conclusion: The digoxin levels in the tubes may be used interchangeably, except for Barricor. The reliability and accuracy of digoxin levels may be increased by the identification of a new therapeutic range for Barricor.

Keywords: Therapeutic drug monitoring, digoxin, specimen collection tube, serum, plasma

INTRODUCTION

Digoxin is a well-known prescribed medicine due to its positive inotropic effect in heart failure and reduction of ventricular rate in atrial fibrillation (1). In recent years, the recommended therapeutic range of digoxin in heart failure has been reduced from 0.8-2.0 to 0.5-0.9 ng/mL (2). The blood levels of digoxin need to be monitored because of its narrow range of therapeutic doses and the risk of toxicity.

Serum or plasma samples have been used in the monitoring of therapeutic drug levels as recommended by most manufacturers. To obtain these specimens, the manufacturers produce blood collection tubes with or without barrier and with or without additive. Because of its various advantages, plastic tubes with gel barriers, which are made from acrylic, polyester, or silicone, are preferred. In particular, blood tubes with gel barriers have more advantages, such as reducing the need for transfer to a secondary tube, minimizing cell-supernatant contact during storage,

ORCID IDs of the authors: F.D.A. 0000-0003-0766-0303; İ.K. 0000-0002-7057-171X; B.İ.B. 0000-0002-1483-997X; H.S. 0000-0002-8474-1214; M.Z.A. 0000-0003-0212-1167; A.B. 0000-0001-9968-3566; C.D. 0000-0002-2630-0664.



Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: Fatma Demet Arslan, E-mail: fatmademet.arslan@gmail.com

Received Date 07.11.2018 Accepted Date: 21.05.2019

©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org decreasing the risk of hemolysis and thrombolysis, increasing the stability of an analyte, and obtaining higher volumes of serum or plasma.

A gel separator has been reported to show absorption or adsorption effect, and therefore, this phenomenon may interfere with the analysis of certain therapeutic drugs. The effect changes depending on the hydrophobic structure of the drug, sample storage time, and sample volume (3-8). In addition, it is also stated that the elution of the gel material to sample may affect the analysis results (9). Therefore, the producers have developed new blood collection tubes with different structural barriers that can reduce the effect of gel and have better separation advantages. Although manufacturers aimed to produce blood collection tubes that can provide the most accurate and reliable results in the preanalytical process and are the best fit for clinical laboratories, laboratory specialists verify whether these blood collection tubes can meet their own needs in their clinical laboratory practice.

A number of studies have evaluated the effect of gel on drug levels and drug stability in tubes with gel due to the hydrophobic structure of digoxin. Most of these studies have been conducted in vitro in blood samples obtained by spiking an exogenous drug that cannot mimic protein binding and drug distribution in the circulation, and hence, it cannot directly reflect the in vivo status (3-5,10-12). Some studies were designed as in vivo and conducted in blood samples obtained from a small number of patients on digoxin treatment (7-8,13,14). However, no study was conducted on tubes consisting of a new-generation barrier on drug levels and drug stability. Therefore, the digoxin levels in four plastic tubes containing lithium heparinized with new-generation barrier, lithium heparinized without barrier, and gel with clot activator (two different brands) were compared with no additive and barrier-free glass tube (reference tube), and the stability of digoxin in each tube was also evaluated.

METHODS

Subjects

The study included 30 outpatients on digoxin treatment in the cardiology clinic and randomly selected volunteers. Blood samples were collected from volunteers between 08:00 and 10:00 AM after they fasted overnight [8-10 hours (h)]. Blood was collected from the antecubital vein into blood collection tubes. Detailed information about the study was provided to all participants before their participation, and their signed consents were obtained. This comparative analytical study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration and approved by the Dokuz Eylül University Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2016/26-32).

Methods

Blood samples from each individual were collected in five different types of tubes: a) No additive and gel-free glass tube

[Becton Dickinson and Company (BD) Vacutainer [®]Z-tube, 7 mL, 13×100 mm, catalog number 367615, NJ, USA] (Z-tube); b) a clot-activator tube containing gel (BD Vacutainer[®] SST II Advance tube, 5 mL, 13×100 mm, catalog number 367955, NJ, USA) serum separator tube (SST); c) a barrier-free lithium heparinized tube (BD Vacutainer [®]BD Lithium Heparin, 4 mL, 13×75 mm, catalog number 368884, NJ, USA) (LiH); d) a newly produced lithium heparinized tube, 3 mL, 13×75 mm, catalog number 365031, NJ, USA) (Barricor); and e) a clot-activator tube containing gel (Vacusera Z-serum tube, 3.5 mL, 13×100 mm, catalog number 234303, İzmir, Turkey) (Vacusera).

A new-generation blood collection tube (Barricor) consists of two components: an elastomer top, which stretches during centrifugation and creates a seal on the inside wall of the tube at the end of centrifugation, and a high-density base, which uses the differential buoyancy between plasma and cells to ensure the separator orientates correctly during centrifugation.

Serum and plasma samples were separated according to manufacturers' centrifugation recommendations. Although the Z-tube, SST, LiH, and Vacusera tubes were centrifuged for 10 min at 1500 g, the Barricor tube was centrifuged for 10 minimum at 2700 g. After centrifugation, serum and plasma digoxin levels were immediately analyzed in the primer tubes. Serum (Z-tube) and plasma (LiH) in the primer tubes without a separator were transferred to the secondary tube to discontinue the cell-supernatant contact. To assess the stability of digoxin in different tubes, serum and plasma in the primer and secondary tubes were re-analyzed after being stored for 48 h at +4 °C. No visible hemolysis, lipemia, and icterus were detected in any serum and plasma samples. Care was taken to ensure that the tube sequences were random during the analysis period.

The digoxin levels were analyzed with a chemiluminescent method (ADVIA Centaur®DIG Lite Reagent, catalog number 110772, revised November 2011, Tarrytown, NY, USA) using the autoanalyzer (ADVIA Centaur XP, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc, Tarrytown, NY, USA). Daily internal quality control (IQC) for digoxin was performed using commercial IQC (Bio-Rad Lyphochek Immunoassay Plus Control, LOT number 40332, Bio-Rad Laboratories, CA, USA) at two different levels per day as part of routine laboratory practice. The within-run and between-run coefficient of variation values for the reagent were 4.0% and 3.9% for 0.83 ng/mL and 3.2% and 1.6% for 2.04 ng/mL, respectively.

The Z-tube was identified as the reference tube because it has no additive and is a gel-free glass tube, and the other plastic blood tubes might lead to an interference with the test results. This modality was also adopted from a study published by Dasgupta et al. (15,16).

Statistical Analysis

The SPSS 20.0 program (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA) was used for all statistical analyses. The normality of the variables was tested with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Because all data show a normal distribution, statistical analyses were performed using parametric tests. Continuous variables were presented as mean and standard deviation (SD). The statistical difference between the sample results was evaluated using the paired t-test. While comparing digoxin results between 0 and 48 h, p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. While comparing digoxin levels of the 4 blood tubes with the reference tube, the Bonferroni method was used to adjust the value of the significance level, and p<0.0125 was considered statistically significant.

Clinically significant differences between digoxin concentrations based on the storage times (0 and 48 h) of each tube were assessed using the significant change method (17). In brief, the usual SD (USD) of 7 months' IQC data for digoxin was collected. The IQC with target mean that closely matched the mean of the 0-h digoxin levels was used to determine the USD. The significant change limit (SCL) was calculated as the mean of the 0-h digoxin levels in each tube ± 2.8 USD. It was accepted as a clinically significant difference if the mean of the 48 h digoxin levels in each tube ± 2.8 with the formula as follows: [(mean of the 48 h results was calculated with the formula as follows: [(mean of the 48 h results-mean of the 0-h results)/mean of the 0-h results] *100.

The clinical significance of digoxin concentrations between the compared and reference tubes at both 0 and 48 h was evaluated. The bias between the compared and reference tube results was calculated with the following formula: [(mean of the compared tube results-mean of the reference tube results)/ mean of the reference tube results] *100. The total allowable error was determined with the root mean square of the deviation according to RiliBAK of 14.00% (18). The total error was defined as bias (%) + 2CV (%) by the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (19). If 50% and 25% of the total error budget comes from systematic and random errors, respectively, the desirable quality specification for bias (Bias_d) (7.00%) was calculated with 50% of the total allowable error (14.00%). If the bias was higher than Bias_d, it was considered a clinically significant difference. The digoxin levels in the compared and reference tubes were also compared using Passing and Bablok regression analyses, and subsequently, these results were visually demonstrated on Bland and Altman plots.

RESULTS

The mean and SD of digoxin levels determined in different tubes, SCLs, $Bias_d$, bias values, and statistical significance are shown in Table 1. The mean of the digoxin levels in each tube depending on the time is shown in Figure 1.

Although no statistical difference was found between the 0 and 48 h results in the Z-tube, Vacusera, SST, and Barricor tubes, the digoxin levels in LiH at 48 h increased statistically compared with 0 h. When SCLs were evaluated with regard to the stability of digoxin, the drug level in any tube did not exceed the limit. The bias between the 0 and 48 h results in all tubes was lower than Bias_d.

The digoxin levels in the LiH, Vacusera, and SST tubes at both 0 and 48 h were not statistically different according to the reference tube, but a statistically significant difference was found in the Barricor tube. The drug levels in the Barricor tube at both 0 and 48 h were higher than those in the reference tube. When assessed according to the Bias_d, the bias of digoxin results in LiH, Vacusera, and SST tubes were acceptable compared with the reference tube, except the Barricor tube at 0 h.

The digoxin levels obtained from the different tubes are shown using Passing and Bablok regression graphs and Bland and Altman plots in Figure 2. In the regression analyses, the digoxin levels between the LiH, Vacusera, and SST tubes with the Z-tube were strongly correlated, and any proportional or constant errors between tubes were not detected. Although the drug levels between the Barricor and Z-tubes were strongly correlated, a proportional error was found between the results of the Barricor and Z-tubes. According to the Bland-Altman plots, all paired data were within the confidence interval of agreement limits in comparison of all tubes with the Z-tube.

Table 1. Evaluation of digoxin stability according to different tubes and storage times											
Tubes	0 h 48 h Mean ± SD Mean ± SD		Bias% and p-value between h		-SCL	+SCL	Bias% and p-value between		Bias% and p-value between		Bias _d %
	(ng/mL)	(ng/mL)				reference and compared tubes at 0 h		e and ed tubes	reference and compared tubes at 48 h		7.00
Z-tube	1.04±0.65	1.08±0.66	3.29	0.207	0.82	1.27					
LiH	1.04±0.62	1.10±0.66	5.96	0.020*	0.82	1.26	-0.29	0.874	2.29	0.036	
Vacusera	1.06±0.65	1.10±0.68	3.51	0.107	0.84	1.29	1.88	0.278	2.10	0.121	
SST	1.09±0.67	1.10±0.67	1.47	0.475	0.86	1.31	4.12	0.027	2.29	0.031	
Barricor	1.16±0.70	1.14±0.69	-1.62	0.357	0.93	1.38	10.70‡	< 0.001†	5.44	<0.001†	

Z-tube: Glass tube without additive (reference tube), SST: clot-activator tube with gel, LiH: lithium heparin tube without gel, Barricor: lithium heparin tube with barrier, Vacusera: clot-activator tube with gel, SCL: significant change limit, Bias_a: desirable quality specifications for bias, Bias%: difference between the compared tube and reference tube results, p-value: significance value, *p<0.05 was considered statistically significant, †The level of significance was adjusted with Bonferroni's correction, and p<0.0125 was considered statistically significant, ‡Desirable quality specification for bias exceeded, SD: standard deviation

DISCUSSION

Digoxin is one of the drugs that are frequently requested in therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM). In the current literature, there are different recommendations regarding the use of tubes with gel for TDM. The ADVIA Centaur systems, which produce the digoxin kit used in our laboratory, recommend that each laboratory should apply for TDM tests to its own specific tube manufacturer, but the recommended sample type is the serum. The manufacturer also stated that the samples should be stored at room temperature up to 8 h and at +4 °C after 8 h, and should be frozen at \leq -20 °C unless analyzed within 48 h.

The World Health Organization reports that plasma reflects the pathological condition of the patient better than serum (20). In the study published by the manufacturer of blood



Figure 1. Bland-Altman plots and Passing-Bablok graphs for digoxin analyzed in five different types of blood collection tubes [Z-tube, glass tube without additive (reference tube)] at 0 h, SST: clot-activator tube with gel, LİH: lithium heparin tube without gel, Barricor: lithium heparin tube with barrier), Vacusera: clot-activator tube with gel. The solid, dashed, and identity lines in the Passing-Bablok regression graphs represent the regression line, its confidence intervals, and identity line (x=y), respectively. The thick solid, dashed, and thin solid in the Bland-Altman plots represent the mean difference, limits of agreement, and confidence intervals of limits of agreement, respectively

d in our laboratory the digavin loyals

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):111-6

collection tube (BD) used in our laboratory, the digoxin levels in BD Barricor and BD plasma separator tubes were clinically acceptable compared with the BD SST; the digoxin levels in all tubes were stable for 48 h at room temperature and 7 days in the refrigerator (21). Therefore, we aimed to verify the statistical and clinical acceptability of differences in the LiH, Barricor, SST, and Vacusera tubes versus the Z-tube (reference tube) to evaluate the digoxin levels and stability in serum and plasma in our laboratory condition.

When the digoxin levels of LiH, Vacusera, and SST tubes were compared with those of the Z-tube at 0 h, the bias values were -0.29%, 1.88%, and 4.12%, respectively. The highest bias (10.70%) was in the Barricor tube and exceeded the Bias, limit (7.00%). The digoxin levels proportionally increased in the Barricor tube compared with the Z-tube. The digoxin level in a Barricor tube might possibly reflect real-time plasma digoxin level in relation with other tubes. Indeed, the digoxin metabolite in other tubes may be more trapped between cells and fibrin particles during blood clotting as seen in Z, Vacusera, or SST tubes. In the case of LiH tube, the digoxin levels were still lower than those in the Barricor tube despite both tubes using the same anticoagulant (Li heparin). The difference might be explained by the barrier effect in the Barricor tube, in which the drug metabolite was sprayed into the supernatant resulting to its effective separation. The drug levels in serum or plasma are preserved due to effective separation even in the presence of the barrier (a gel or not). The new barrier may also not absorb any significant amount of digoxin in the plasma because its structure is different from a gel structure.

At 48 h, only the bias between the Barricor and Z-tubes was statistically significant, but it did not exceed the Bias_d limit. The



Figure 2. The comparison of digoxin level at 0 and 48 h obtained in different tubes. Z-tube, glass tube without additive (reference tube), SST: clot-activator tube with gel, LİH: lithium heparin tube without gel, Barricor: lithium heparin tube with barrier). Vacusera, clot-activator tube with gel. Data are shown as mean and 95% confidence interval for mean

digoxin levels of the Z, LiH, Vacusera, and SST tubes showed a time-dependent increase, but those of the Barricor tube decreased at 48 h. Although the clinical significance of bias disappeared due to the increase in digoxin level of the reference tube and the decrease in digoxin level of the Barricor tube, statistical significance was preserved. The changes in other tubes except the LiH tube at 48 h were not statistically and clinically significant.

Boeynaems et al. (10) obtained comparable results between heparinized and non-heparinized plastic tubes with a glass tube. The digoxin levels of all three tubes were stable for 24 h. They considered that the plasma was interchangeable with serum in digoxin measurement (10). Chan et al. (22) detected a 5%-10% bias between the BD heparinized tube with gel (PST) and heparinized gel-free tube. In the study of Dukić et al. (13), the digoxin levels were compared in two plastic tubes with a gel barrier containing clot activator and lithium heparin. Similar to Boeynaems et al. (10), they showed that plasma or serum can be used interchangeably to measure the digoxin levels (13).

In this study, higher digoxin levels were found in the Barricor tubes compared with others, and no significant difference in any digoxin levels over time were accepted as evidence of the minimum effect of the new-generation barrier. Even if a glass tube was selected as a reference tube, it was estimated that the tubes with barrier better reflects digoxin levels in the matrix because of the barrier separating the cell-supernatant.

Dasgupta et al. (8) found that the increase in digoxin level at 24 h was not statistically significant in both tubes with gel separator and plane tube. Koch and Platoff (12) found a statistically significant increase in digoxin levels, depending on the time, in tubes with gel, but they could not explain its reason. Boeynaems et al. (10) showed that the digoxin levels in the glass tube without additive, heparinized, and heparin-free plastic tubes decreased in 24 h, but it was not statistically significant. Bailey et al. (11) reported that digoxin levels were stable up to 1 week in tubes with gel and plain tubes, and Landt et al. (4) reported that digoxin levels were stable up to 24 h in the tubes containing 3 different polymeric separators.

Study Limitations

Our study has also some limitations. Although our number of volunteers were compatible with local clinical validation of the blood collection tubes (23), it would be more convenient to include more volunteers. Another limitation was that the stability was evaluated only at 48 h due to both reagent and tube manufacturer specifying the stability for 48 h. Further studies involving different time periods can be chosen in case of different reagent/tube preferences.

CONCLUSION

The gel separator has been considered to have an absorption or adsorption effect, especially for hydrophobic therapeutic drugs. However, in studies to date, except for Koch and Platoff (12), the stability of serum and plasma digoxin in the different tubes has no significant time-dependent changes. Most likely, these differences can be attributed to differences in experimental procedures or conditions. In our study, because the most stable tube for digoxin was presumed to be SST containing gel, digoxin was not easily affected by the gel separator, similar to other hydrophobic drugs. Digoxin was the most stable in the SST tube, followed by the Barricor tube. The new-generation barrier makes a difference because the digoxin levels in the Barricor tube were higher than those in other tubes. This might be due to the Barricor tube being more efficient in separating between cells and supernatants. As a result, while the digoxin levels in the other tubes may be used interchangeably by existing therapeutic range, the reliability and accuracy of digoxin results may presumably increase by defining a new therapeutic range for the Barricor tube.

Ethics Committee Approval: Retrospective study.

Informed Consent: Detailed information about the study was provided to all participants before their participation, and their signed consents were obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - F.D.A., İ.K., H.S., C.D., Design - H.S., C.D.; Data Collection and/or Processing - S.D., M.Z.A., A.B.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - S.D., B.İ.B., M.Z.A., A.B.; Literature Search - F.D.A., İ.K., B.İ.B.; Writing Manuscript - F.D.A., İ.K., B.İ.B.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pincus M. Management of digoxin toxicity. Aust Prescr 2016; 39: 18-20.
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Drazner MH et al. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2013; 128: 1810-52.
- Pou Clave L, Garcia Beltran L, Peremiquel Lluch M, Pascual Mostaza C, Schwartz Riera S. Blood-collection tubes evaluated for use in measurement of some therapeutic drugs. Clin Chem 1988; 34: 795.
- Landt M, Smith CH, Hortin GL. Evaluation of evacuated blood-collection tubes: effects of three types of polymeric separators on therapeutic drug-monitoring specimens. Clin Chem 1993; 39: 1712-7.
- Datta P. Stability of digoxin and digitoxin in specimens collected in blood collection tubes containing serum separator gels. Clin Biochem 1998; 31: 273-5.
- Karppi J, Akerman KK, Parviainen M. Suitability of collection tubes with separator gels for collecting and storing blood samples for therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM). Clin Chem Lab Med 2000; 38: 313-20.
- Quattrocchi F, Karnes HT, Robinson JD, Hendeles L. Effect of serum separator blood collection tubes on drug concentrations. Ther Drug Monit 1983; 5: 359-62.
- Dasgupta A, Yared MA, Wells A. Time-dependent absorption of therapeutic drugs by the gel of the Greiner Vacuette blood collection tube. Ther Drug Monit 2000; 22: 427-31.
- Schouwers S, Brandt I, Willemse J, Van Regenmortel N, Uyttenbroeck W, Wauters A et al. Influence of separator gel in Sarstedt S-Monovette® serum tubes on various therapeutic drugs, hormones, and proteins. Clin Chim Acta 2012; 413: 100-4.
- Boeynaems JM, De Leener A, Dessars B, Villa-Lobos HR, Aubry JC, Cotton F et al. Evaluation of a new generation of plastic evacuated blood-collection tubes in clinical chemistry, therapeutic drug monitoring, hormone and trace metal analysis. Clin Chem Lab Med 2004; 42: 67-71.

- Bailey DN, Coffee JJ, Briggs JR. Stability of drug concentrations in plasma stored in serum separator blood collection tubes. Ther Drug Monit 1988; 10: 352-4.
- 12. Koch TR, Platoff G. Suitability of collection tubes with separator gels for therapeutic drug monitoring. Ther Drug Monit 1990; 12: 277-80.
- Dukić L, Simundić AM, Malogorski D. Comparison of digoxin concentration in plastic serum tubes with clot activator and heparinized plasma tubes. Biochem Med 2014; 24: 146-50.
- Janknegt R, Lohman JJ, Hooymans PM, Merkus FW. Do evacuated blood collection tubes interfere with therapeutic drug monitoring? Pharm Weekbl Sci 1983; 5: 287-90.
- Dasgupta A, Dean R, Saldana S, Kinnaman G, McLawhon RW. Absorption of therapeutic drugs by barrier gels in serum separator blood collection tubes: volume and time dependent reductions in total and free drug concentrations. Am J Clin Pathol 1994; 101: 456-61.
- Dasgupta A, Blackwell W, Bard D. Stability of therapeutic drug measurement in specimens collected in VACUTAINER plastic blood collection tubes. Ther Drug Monit 1996; 18: 306-9.
- 17. Boyanton Jr BL, Blick KE. Stability studies of twenty-four analytes in human plasma and serum. Clin Chem 2002; 48: 2242-7.

- Revision of the "Guideline of the German Medical Association on Quality Assurance in Medical Laboratory Examinations-Rili-BAEK" (unauthorized translation). J Lab Med 2015; 39: 26-69.
- Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (CLIA) proficiency testing criteria for acceptable analytical performance. Fed Regist February 28. 1992;57(40):7002-186.
- World Health Organization. Use of anticoagulants in diagnostic laboratory investigations. 2nd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2002.
- Comparison of BD Vacutainer® Barricor[™] Tubes with BD vacutainer® PST[™] II and serum tubes for selected therapeutic drugs on the Abbott architect, siemens dimension and ortho clinical diagnostics vitros 5600 (white paper). BD Barricor[™] Tubes - Resource Library. Available at: http://barricor.bd.com/eu/resource-library.xml?ajax=true.
- Chan KM, Daft M, Koenig JW, Ladenson JH. Plasma separator tube of Becton Dickinson evaluated. Clin Chem 1988; 34: 2158-9.
- Lippi G, Cornes MP, Grankvist K, Nybo M, Simundic AM; Working Group for Preanalytical Phase (WG-PRE), European Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine (EFLM). EFLM WG-Preanalytical phase opinion paper: local validation of blood collection tubes in clinical laboratories. Clin Chem Lab Med 2016; 54: 755-60.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2019.2865 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):117-21

Is Vitamin D Important for Elderly Patients in Intensive Care?

Muhammed Murat Kurnaz¹, Sevgi Kesici², Ulkü Aygen Türkmen³

¹Giresun University Prof. Dr. A. İlhan Özdemir Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Giresun, Turkey
²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey
³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kurnaz MM, Kesici S, Türkmen ÜA. Is Vitamin D Important for Elderly Patients in Intensive Care? J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):117-21

ABSTRACT

Objective: According to the World Health Organization's old age classification, 65-74 years is considered as young-old, 75-84 years as middle-old, and over 85 years as old-old. Effects of vitamin D on cardiac, renal, and endocrine diseases are closely associated with morbidity/mortality in intensive care units. This study evaluated the difference in vitamin D levels of intensive care patients below and above 75 years, and the associations between vitamin D levels and age as well as mortality/organ failure in both groups.

Methods: This study was designed as a retrospective, non-interventional, non-drug, observational clinical trial. Age, gender, vitamin D, and acute physiology and chronic health evaluation II (APACHE II) and sequential organ failure assessment scores on admission to the intensive care unit were recorded.

Results: Of all patients, 60 were female and 31 were male. The mean age was 77.7±13.8 years. There were 29 patients aged below 75 years and 62 patients above. The mean vitamin D level was 13.7510 ng/mL-1. The mean APACHE II score of patients of or above 75 years was significantly higher than that of patients below 75 years (p=0.024). There was a significant negative correlation between age and vitamin D in patients of or above 75 years (p=0.042).

Risk factors associated with vitamin D deficiency include age, gender, lifestyle, ethnic origin, diet, medical history, drugs, and acute critical illness. With aging, the concentration of 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin decreases, as well as the vitamin D3-forming capacity of the skin. In this study lower vitamin D levels were detected with increasing age in intensive care unit patients.

Conclusion: No significant relationship was detected between age and vitamin D levels in patients below 75 years whereas a significant decrease in vitamin D level with increasing age was detected in patients of or above 75 years (p=0,042).

Keywords: Vitamin D, intensive care unit, elderly patient

INTRODUCTION

The definition made by the World Health Organization (WHO) as regards chronological age considers old age to be "65 years and older." According to the WHO's old age classification, 65-74 years is considered as young-old, 75-84 as middle-old, and over 85 years is as old-old (1).

The effects of vitamin D on cardiac, renal, and endocrine diseases are closely related to morbidity and mortality in intensive care units (2,3). Of 513 patients aged from 18 to 69 years, admitted in hospitals in Turkey, 51.8% had vitamin D insufficiency and 20.7% had vitamin D deficiency (4). The risk of vitamin D deficiency is higher in elderly people. Because they prefer to spend more

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.M.K. 0000-0001-8407-6827; S.K. 0000-0002-8276-6039; Ü.A.T. 0000-0002-7280-6420.



Received Date 06.03.2019 Accepted Date: 17.06.2019

time at home, they take less vitamin D, are more obese, and have weaker kidney functions (5).

This study evaluated the difference in vitamin D levels of intensive care patients below and above 75 years, and the associations between vitamin D levels and age as well as mortality/organ failure in both groups.

METHODS

This study was a retrospective, non-interventional, non-drug, observational clinical trial [Ethics Committee approval was received from the Giresun University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 29/09/2017-11)]. Age, gender, vitamin D, and acute physiology and chronic health evaluation II (APACHE II) and sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) scores of patients at anesthesiology, neurology, internal medicine, and coronary intensive care units were recorded. The patients were divided into 2 groups: below 75 years and of or above 75 years.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 22.0 was used for statistical analyses and t-test was used to compare groups. Pearson's correlation analysis was used to evaluate intragroup correlations and p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Sixty patients were female and 31 were male. The mean age was 77.7±13.8 years. Twenty-nine patients were below 75 years, while 62 patients were at or above this age. The mean vitamin D level was 13.7510 ng/mL-1. The mean APACHE II score was 28.41 and the mean SOFA score was 7.78. The mean vitamin D level and APACHE II and SOFA scores are demonstrated in Table 1.

No significant difference could be found between the 2 groups in vitamin D levels (p=0.713). The mean APACHE II score of patients of or above 75 years was significantly higher than that of patients below 75 years (p=0.024). No significant difference could be detected between the two groups in mean SOFA scores (p=0.508). A comparison of the levels of vitamin D and the APACHE II and SOFA scores among the groups is shown in Table 2.

Intragroup comparisons showed a significant positive correlation between age and APACHE II score in the group below 75 years (p=0.012). There was a significant positive correlation between the APACHE II and the SOFA scores (p=0.000). There was no significant relationship between age and vitamin D levels (p=0.136), and no significant correlation was detected between vitamin D level and APACHE II and SOFA scores (p=0.923, p=0.488). Comparison of vitamin D level and APACHE II and SOFA scores in the group below 75 years is shown in Table 3.

Intragroup comparisons showed a significant negative relationship between age and vitamin D levels in patients of or above 75

years (p=0.042). No significant correlation was detected between age and APACHE II and SOFA scores (p=0.266 and p=0.687, respectively). There was no significant correlation between APACHE II and SOFA scores (p=0.187). No significant correlation was detected between vitamin D level and APACHE II and SOFA scores (p=0.154 and p=0.088, respectively). The comparison of vitamin D levels and APACHE II and SOFA scores in the group of or above 75 years is shown in Table 4. The correlation between age and vitamin D levels in patients of or above 75 years is shown in Figure 1.

DISCUSSION

Vitamin D affects many cells in addition to its effects on calcium and phosphorus metabolism and the skeletal system. Also, it is a hormone that has effects on many systems and diseases like immunomodulation and prevention of autoimmune diseases, some chronic diseases, and cancer development (6,7). Because of the immunomodulating effect of vitamin D and its relation to chronic diseases and age, the idea that it is also important in the course of critical patients is strengthened (8).

Table 1.	Mean	vitamin	D	levels	and	APACHE	Ш	and	SOFA
scores									

	n	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
Vitamin D ng/mL	91	3.00	52.76	13.7510	9.45736
APACHE II score	91	8	38	28.41	6.119
SOFA score	91	2	11	6.78	2.235

SD: Standard deviation, APACHE: acute physiology and chronic health evaluation, SOFA: sequential organ failure assessment

Table	2.	Comparison	of	vitamin	D	levels	and	APACHE	Ш	and
SOFA	sc	ores betwee	h g	roups						

	Age <75 (n=29)	Age >=75 (n=62)			
	$Mean \pm SD$	Mean ± SD	р		
Vitamin D ng/mL	14.288±11.888	13.500±8.179	0.713		
APACHE II score	25.966±7.490	29.548±5.033	0.024		
SOFA score	6.552±2.369	6.887±2.181	0.508		

SD: Standard deviation, APACHE: acute physiology and chronic health evaluation, SOFA: sequential organ failure assessment

Table 3. Comparisons of vitamin D levels and APACHE II and
SOFA scores in the group below 75 years

		Vitamin D ng/mL	APACHE II score	SOFA score
	r	-0.284	0.458	0.186
Age	р	0.136	0.012	0.334
	n	29	29	29
	r	-	0.019	0.134
Vitamin D ng/mL	р	-	0.923	0.488
	n	-	29	29

SD: Standard deviation, APACHE: acute physiology and chronic health evaluation, SOFA: sequential organ failure assessment

Vitamin D can be synthesized endogenously or taken in the diet. It consists of two forms: cholecalciferol (Vitamin D3) and ergocalciferol (Vitamin D2). The majority of vitamin D in the body is Vitamin D3. Vitamin D2 is produced in plants and yeast (9). Endogenous vitamin D precursor 7-dehydrocholesterol, found in the epidermis, forms previtamin D3 after activation by ultraviolet B (10). With aging, the concentration of 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin decreases as well as the vitamin D3-forming capacity of the skin (8).

Risk factors associated with vitamin D serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] deficiency include age, gender, lifestyle, ethnic origin, diet, medical history, drugs, and acute critical illness (11). Vitamin D levels below 20 ng/mL-1 are considered as a deficiency, between 20-30 ng/mL-1 as insufficiency, between 40-50 ng/mL-1 as optimal, and above 150 ng/mL-1 as toxic. The optimal serum vitamin D concentration is 30 ng/mL-1 (12,13).

Vitamin D deficiency may further deteriorate the aging of skeletal muscles. However, current evidence for the reversal of age-

Table 4. Comparisons of vitamin D level and APACHE II and
SOFA scores in the group of or above 75 years

		Vitamin D ng/mL	APACHE II score	SOFA Score	
	r	-0.259	0.143	0.052	
Age	р	0.042	0.266	0.687	
	n	62	62	62	
	r	-	-0.183	0.219	
Vitamin D ng/mL	р	-	0.154	0.088	
	n	-	62	62	

SD: Standard deviation, APACHE: acute physiology and chronic health evaluation, SOFA: sequential organ failure assessment



Figure 1. Correlation between age and vitamin D level in patients of or above 75 years

related muscular dysfunction with vitamin D supplementation is controversial, and rather than targeting too high vitamin D levels in elderly people, the safest option is to target conservative vitamin D levels sufficient for normal calcium homeostasis (14). Vitamin D deficiency should be treated per the severity of deficiency. In high-risk adults, serum 25(OH)D concentrations should be measured 3-4 months after the initiation of treatment and should be followed up for target levels (15).

Patients in the intensive care unit are generally immobile and have multiple comorbidities. Their nutrition is impaired, exposure to sunlight is decreased, and they are at high risk for vitamin D deficiency (16).

In a study by Botros et al. (17) on Egyptian women, vitamin D deficiency was detected in 72.6% of breastfeeding women, 54% of pregnant women, 72% of childbearing age women, 39.5% of old age women, and 77.2% of geriatric age women. Vitamin D levels of women whose exposure to sunlight was poor, normal, or good were 14.1 ngmL-1, 14 ngmL-1, and 37 ngmL-1, respectively. In our study, 87.9% of patients were over 65 years. Of these patients, 96.9% had vitamin D levels below 20 ngmL-1, and the mean vitamin D level was 9.95 ngmL-1. A study in the United States also examined changes in vitamin D deficiency over the years and reported that serum 25(OH)D levels decreased by about 20% between 1988 and 2004, and the cause of this decrease was reported to be reduced exposure to sunlight (18).

Vitamin D deficiency is a predisposing factor for diabetes, left ventricular hypertrophy, congestive heart failure, hypertension, and chronic vascular inflammation (8,19,20). Some studies have shown that there is an increased association between vitamin D deficiency and pulmonary diseases, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer (21,22). It has also been shown that vitamin D supplementation reduces the incidence and mortality rate of these diseases (23-25).

The association between vitamin D deficiency and mortality in intensive care patients has been shown in different studies with controversial results. In a study conducted in intensive care patients, 25(OH)D and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D levels were found to be lower in patients who died (16,26). Another study reported that patients with 25(OH)D >60 nmol/L-1 had a mortality rate three times higher than patients with lower 25(OH)D levels (16,27). These studies performed with few patients resulted in conflicting outcomes and do not give definite results, raising the question "Is vitamin D important in intensive care patients?"

The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency exceeds 70% in intensive care patients. Lower levels of vitamin D in the intensive care unit are associated with higher infection rates, prolonged hospitalization, increased health costs, and increased mortality rates. There is an increased tissue demand for vitamin D in critical diseases (28). In a study by Arnson et al. (29) with 130 patients, vitamin D deficiency was detected in 82% of critically ill patients, and the mean vitamin D level was measured as 14.04±6.9 ngmL-1 (29). In our study, the mean vitamin D levels of all patients was 13.75±9.4

ngmL-1, similar to vitamin D levels in this study. Most guidelines point to a cut-off value of 20 ngmL-1 for vitamin D deficiency, but the threshold value for intensive care patients has not yet been determined (13,30). Per literature, there is no clear cut-off value to define vitamin D deficiency, for the replacement or the dose/ route of replacement in intensive care patients (13,30). Some authors suggest that organ failure, sepsis, and fluid deficiency and its treatment may change the level of vitamin D (31). However, in our study, there was no significant relationship between vitamin D levels and SOFA score, an indicator of organ failure, in both groups.

Vitamin D deficiency is among the risk factors that prolong the duration of hospital stay (32). A study conducted on patients admitted to an intensive care unit, with measured vitamin D levels, evaluated the duration of hospital stay, the risk of readmission to the intensive care unit, and mortality in 90 days. In this study, serum vitamin D level was positively correlated with a prolonged hospital stay, readmission to intensive care, and mortality within 90 days (28).

To promote the use of APACHE II in Turkey, it is provided online by the Ministry of Health. In this context, mortality can be calculated by this system after writing patient information and physiological values (33). Age was included in the APACHE II score as a factor affecting mortality independent of disease severity as it shows a decline in physiological reserves. The APACHE II score is the sum of 3 subscales: acute physiology score, age, and chronic health evaluation, with the highest value being 71. Mortality is 25% if the total APACHE II score is 25 and increases to 80% if the score is 35 points or higher (34,35). In our study, the mean APACHE II score of patients of or above 75 years was significantly higher than that of patients below 75 years.

In a retrospective study of patients treated in the intensive care unit with a diagnosis of sepsis and/or septic shock between 2006 and 2011, the vitamin D levels of patients when they are admitted to intensive care were compared with mortality rates within 30 days. In this study, vitamin D deficiency was found in 65 (54%) of 121 patients and the mortality rate was significantly higher in these patients (36). In another retrospective study, the mortality rates were evaluated in 3,509 patients whose vitamin D levels were measured and who had noncardiac surgery. High vitamin D levels were found to significantly decrease mortality rates. Also, vitamin D concentration was associated with mortality at the hospital, serious infection, and serious cardiovascular events (37). In contrast to these studies, there was no significant relationship between vitamin D levels and APACHE II scores, which indicate mortality, in both groups in our study.

There was a significant negative correlation between age and vitamin D in patients of or above 75 years in our study. In these patients, vitamin D levels decreased with increasing age. Inadequate vitamin D in the elderly adversely affects general health, speeds up the aging process, limits movement, and causes osteoporosis and brittleness in bones (38). Vitamin D deficiency is associated with decreased muscle functions, impaired performance, and increased weakness. Supplementation of vitamin D, especially in the elderly, helps strengthen muscles (39). About one million people worldwide are thought to have vitamin D deficiency or insufficiency (19). In a study investigating the relationship between vitamin D status and the metabolic syndrome in the elderly, a negative correlation was found between vitamin D concentrations and the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome. Since vitamin D deficiency is widespread worldwide and the risk increases with age, the benefits of improving vitamin D levels in the elderly may be huge (40).

Study Limitations

The limitation of this study was the relatively small sample size.

CONCLUSION

We detected that vitamin D levels significantly decreased with age in patients of or over 75 years as per the literature. However, contrary to some studies linking low vitamin D levels with high mortality and organ failure especially in intensive care patients, there was no significant relationship between vitamin D levels and mortality/organ failure in our study. This result may be due to a limited number of patients. However, given that no clear consensus exists on critical vitamin D levels that require replacement in intensive care patients despite many studies that associate vitamin D levels and mortality/organ failure, we think that more comprehensive clinical studies with larger patient samples are warranted on this topic.

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was a retrospective, noninterventional, non-drug, observational clinical trial (Ethics Committee approval was received from the Giresun University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 29/09/2017-11).

Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - M.M.K., S.K., Ü.A.T.; Design - M.M.K., Ü.A.T.; Supervision - Ü.A.T.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.M.K., S.K., Ü.A.T.; Analysis and/ or In1terpretation - S.K., Ü.A.T.; Literature Search - S.K.; Writing Manuscript - M.M.K., S.K.; Critical Review - Ü.A.T.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- WHO. The uses of epidemiology in the study of the elderly. Technical Rep S 1984; 706: 8-9.
- Joshi A, Bhadade R, Varthakavi PK, DeSouza R, Bhagwat NM, Chadha MD, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with increased mortality in critically ill patients especially in those requiring ventilatory support. Indian J Endocrinol Metab 2014; 18: 511-5.
- Amrein K, Schnedl C, Berghold A, Pieber TR, Dobnig H. Correction of vitamin D deficiency in critically ill patients-VITdAL@ICU study protocol of 46 a double-blind, placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial. BMC Endocr Disord 2012; 12: 27.
- Ucar F, Taslıpınar MY, Soydas AO, Ozcan N. Ankara Etlik İhtisas Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesine Başvuran Hastalarda 25-OH vitamin D Düzeyleri. Eur J Basic Med Sci 2012; 2: 12-5.

- Meehan M, Penckofer S. The role of vitamin D in the aging adult. J Aging Gerontol 2014; 2: 60-71.
- Holick MF. Vitamin D status: measurement, interpretation, and clinical application. Ann Epidemiol 2009; 19: 73-8.
- Varkal MA, Yıldız I, Saygili S, Yıldız M, Kılıç A, Darendeliler F, et al. One of the risk groups for vitamin d deficiency: health workers. J Ist Faculty Med 2015; 78: 2.
- Biricik E, Güneş Y. Vitamin D ve Anestezi. Turk J Anaesth Reanim 2015; 43: 269-73.
- Holick MF, Biancuzzo RM, Chen TC, Klein EK, Young A, Bibuld D, et al. Vitamin D2 is as effective as vitamin D3 in maintaining circulating concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008; 93: 677-81.
- 10. Lee P. Vitamin D metabolism and deficiency in critical illness. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011; 25: 769-81.
- Sauneuf B, Brunet J, Lucidarme O, du Cheyron D. Prevalence and risk factors of vitamin D deficiency in critically III patients. Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets 2013; 12: 223-29.
- 12. Lavie CJ, Lee JH, Milani RV. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease: will it live up to its hype? J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58: 1547-56.
- Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Giovannucci E, Willett WC, Dietrich T, Dawson-Hughes B. Estimation of optimal serum concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D for multiple health outcomes. Am J Clin Nutr 2006; 84: 18-28.
- 14. Girgis CM. Vitamin D and muscle function in the elderly: the elixir of youth? Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2014; 17: 546-50.
- Gani LU, How CH. PILL Series. Vitamin D deficiency. Singapore Med J 2015; 56: 433-7.
- Mert O, Kritik Hastada D. Vitamini Metabolizması ve Eksikliği. Turk Klin J Intensive Care-Spec Top 2017; 3: 41-6.
- Botros RM, Sabry IM, Abdelbaky RS, Eid YM, Nasr MS, Hendawy LM. Vitamin D deficiency among healthy Egyptian females. Endocrinol Nutr 2015; 62: 314-21.
- Ginde AA, Liu MC, Camargo CA Jr. Demographic differences and trends of vitamin D insufficiency in the US population, 1988-2004. Arch Intern Med 2009; 169: 626-32.
- 19. Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 2007; 357: 266-81.
- 20. Zittermann A. Vitamin D and disease prevention with special reference to cardiovascular disease. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2006; 92: 39-48.
- Lee JH, O'Keefe JH, Bell, D, Hensrud DD, Holic MF. Vitamin D deficiency an important, common, and easily treatable cardiovascular risk factor? J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 52: 1949-56.
- Her, C, Greulich T, Koczulla RA, Meyer S, Zakharkina T, Branscheidt M, et al. The role of vitamin D in pulmonary disease: COPD, asthma, infection, and cancer. Respir Res 2011;12:31.
- Vacek JL, Vanga SR, Good M, Lai SM, Lakkireddy D, PharmD H. Vitamin D deficiency and supplementation and relation to cardiovascular health. Am J Cardiol 2012; 109: 359-63.

- Laaksi I, Ruohola JP, Mattila V, Auvinen A, Ylikomi T, Pihlajamäki H. Vitamin D supplementation for the prevention of acute respiratory tract infection: a randomized, double-blinded trial among young Finnish men. J Infect Dis 2010; 202: 809-14.
- Autier P, Gandini S. Vitamin D supplementation and total mortality: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Intern Med 2007; 167: 1730-7.
- Van den Berghe G, Van Roosbroeck D, Vanhove P, Wouters PJ, De Pourcq L, Bouillon R. Bone turnover in prolonged critical illness: effect of vitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88: 4623-32.
- 27. Lee P, Eisman JA, Center JR. Vitamin D deficiency in critically ill patients. N Engl J Med 2009; 360: 1912-4.
- Quraishi SA, Bittner EA, Blum L, McCarthy CM, Bhan I, Camargo Jr CS. Prospective study of vitamin D status at initiation of care in critically ill surgical patients and risk of 90-day mortality. Crit Care Med 2014; 42: 1365-71.
- Arnson Y, Gringauz I, Itzhaky D, Amital H. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with poor outcomes and increased mortality in severely ill patients. QJM 2012; 105: 633-9.
- Holick MF. High prevalence of vitamin D inadequacy and implications for health. Mayo Clin Proc 2006; 81: 353-73.
- Krishnan A, Ochola J, Mundy J, Jones M, Kruger P, Duncan E, et al. Acute fluid shifts influence the assessment of serum vitamin D status in critically ill patients. Crit Care 2010; 14: 216.
- Mekov E, Slavova Y, Tsakova A, Genova M, Kostadinov D, Minchev D, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency in hospitalized COPD patients. PLOS ONE 2015;10:e0129080.
- Sağlık Bakanlığı TC. Sağlıkta Kalite ve akreditasyon daire başkanlığı yoğun bakım hastalık Şiddeti Skorlama sistemi. http://ybs.saglik.gov.tr/ apache.html
- Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP, Zimmerman JE. APACHE II: A severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 1985; 13: 818-29.
- Özdemir L. Usage of Scoring Systems in Intensive Care Units. J Hacettepe Univ Faculty of Nursing 2014: 91-100.
- Rech MA, Hunsaker T, Rodriquez J. Deficiency in 25-hydroxyvitamin D and 30-day mortality in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock. Am J Crit Care 2014; 23: 72-9.
- Turan A, Hesler BD, You J, Saager L, Grady M, Komatsu R, et al. The association of serum vitamin D concentration with serious complications after noncardiac surgery. Anesth Analg 2014; 119: 603-12.
- Boucher BJ. The problems of vitamin D insufficiency in older people. Aging Dis 2012; 3: 313-29.
- Halfon M, Phan O, Teta D. Vitamin D: a review on its effects on muscle strength, the risk of fall, and frailty. BioMed Res Int 2015;2015:953241.
- Vitezova A, Zillikens MC, van Herpt TT, Sijbrands EJ, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, et al. Vitamin D status and metabolic syndrome in the elderly: the Rotterdam Study. Eur J Endocrinol 2015; 172: 327-35.

The Effect of Video Information on Preoperative Anxiety Levels in Patients Undergoing Total Knee Replacement

💿 Onur Baran, 💿 Cengiz Mordeniz, 💿 Makbule Cavidan Arar, 💿 Mustafa Günkaya

Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Tekirdağ, Turkey

Cite this article as: Baran O, Mordeniz C, Arar MC, Günkaya M. The Effect of Video Information on Preoperative Anxiety Levels in Patients Undergoing Total Knee Replacement. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):122-8

ABSTRACT

Objective: The preoperative anxiety rate in patients waiting for elective surgery varies between 60% and 80%. We aimed to reduce preoperative anxiety in patients undergoing total knee replacement using a video demonstration of combined spinal-epidural anesthesia on a tablet computer.

Methods: Fifty adult patients, scheduled to undergo total knee replacement, were enrolled in a randomized controlled study. Anxiety levels were assessed using the State-trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) and the Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information scale. The assessment was based on questionnaires completed by the patients. Patients were randomly divided into two groups: video and control groups. In the video group, a video demonstration of combined spinal-epidural anesthesia was provided, along with verbal information about the procedure. On the day of surgery, the same questionnaires were again completed for the assessment of anxiety levels.

Results: There were no significant differences between groups regarding age, sex, occupation, education, and previous history of anesthesia and surgery. The STAI scale scores were found to be significantly lower in the video group than in the control group (p=0.000; p<0.005). The Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information scale scores were found to be significantly lower in the video group compared to the control group (p=0.000; p<0.005).

Conclusion: New devices and technologies may be used in daily anesthetic practice to offer patient information more efficiently. This may help reduce preoperative anxiety levels among patients undergoing elective surgery.

Keywords: Anxiety, preoperative period, video recording, technology

INTRODUCTION

The incidence of preoperative anxiety among patients scheduled for elective surgery varies between 60% to 80% (1,2). Preoperative anxiety may necessitate a higher dose of anesthetic agents for the induction of anesthesia (3). The use of premedication before anesthesia and surgery aims to reduce patient anxiety (4).

Benzodiazepines are commonly used as anxiolytic agents. However, adequate preoperative counseling and positive reinforcement by hospital staff may reduce preoperative anxiety and the need for anxiolytic medication (5).

Total knee replacement results in severe postoperative pain and requires specialized care in the postoperative period (6). There are several advantages of regional compared to general anesthesia for total knee replacement (7,8). Combined spinal-epidural anesthesia, originally described by Soresi (9), is still considered one of the preferred techniques for lower extremity arthroplasty (7,8).

ORCID IDs of the authors: O.B. 0000-0003-0007-6315; C.M. 0000-0001-9427-777X; M.C.A.0000-0003-1952-427X; M.G. 0000-0002-6763-2999.



Received Date 12.08.2018 Accepted Date: 05.07.2019

Significant comorbidities are common among this patient population. Hence, it is important to choose an anesthetic technique that offers effective analgesia with relatively few side effects such as sedation, hypotension, and postoperative nausea and vomiting. In our clinic, when there is no contraindication, we prefer the combined spinal-epidural-anesthesia technique for total knee replacement to provide adequate analgesia in the postoperative period.

We aimed to reduce patient anxiety by a video demonstration of the planned anesthetic procedure along with verbal information on the night before surgery.

METHODS

The study was approved by the Namık Kemal University Observational Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2014/92/12/06). Informed consent was obtained by the staff of the department of anesthesiology and reanimation from patients over 18 years of age, with American Society of Anesthesiologist-physical status (ASA-PS) I-II, who were scheduled to undergo total knee replacement at the clinic of orthopedics and traumatology.

Patients with ASA-PS III and above, mental disorders, altered conscious level, psychiatric illness on treatment, and those who were unable to cooperate for the study were excluded. We also excluded patients with contraindications for regional anesthesia, known history of allergy to local anesthetics, those who had previously participated in this study, and those who previously had a total knee replacement at our clinic of orthopedics and traumatology.

A preoperative evaluation was carried out in the anesthesia polyclinic. On the night before the surgery, the study was explained in detail to the patients, and written informed consent was obtained. Patients who refused to participate in the study were excluded.

Demographic information was collected from enrolled patients including age, sex, education level, and occupation. Information was collected on any previous history of surgery under anesthesia. Patients who had a history of regional anesthesia were considered to have undergone "regional anesthesia", even if they had been subjected to general anesthesia previously. Patients who had been subjected only to general anesthesia were considered to have undergone "general anesthesia", and those who had previously had local anesthesia alone were considered to have undergone "local anesthesia". Patient preferences regarding the choice of anesthetic technique were noted. All enrolled patients completed the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) and the Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information scale (APAIS) questionnaires.

The STAI questionnaire includes has two sections; STAI-I, the State Anxiety Inventory, and STAI-II, the Trait Anxiety Inventory. There are 20 questions in each section. In the STAI-I section, possible responses to the current level of anxiety are: 1) not at all; 2) somewhat; 3) moderately so; 4) very much so. In the STAI-II section, the response to the frequency of feelings "in general" are: 1) almost never; 2) sometimes; 3) often; 4) almost always. In the STAI-I section, there are ten "reverse answers", numbered 1, 2, 5, 8, 10, 11, 15, 16, 19, and 20. In the STAI-II section, there are seven "reverse answers", numbered 21, 26, 27, 30, 33, 36, and 39. After reverse scoring of responses as 1 to 4 and 4 to 1, the total STAI-I and STAI-II scores are calculated.

The APAIS form consists of six questions, including 1) I am worried about the anesthetic; 2) the anesthetic is on my mind continually; 3) I would like to know as much as possible about the anesthetic; 4) I am worried about the procedure; 5) the procedure is on my mind continually; 6) I would like to know as much as possible about the procedure. The patient is asked to answer each question using one of the following options: 1) not at all; 2) a little bit; 3) somewhat; 4) a lot; 5) extremely. The APAIS-A score reflects the anxiety level and is calculated by summing up the answers to questions 1, 2, 4, and 5. The APAIS-B score assesses the desire for information and is calculated by summing up the answers to questions 3 and 6. The final APAIS score is calculated by summing up the answers to all questions.

Patients were randomly divided into the "video" and "control" groups through computer-generated randomization. In the video group, a pre-recorded video clipping of the combined spinal-epidural anesthetic technique was demonstrated. In the control group, only the questionnaires were filled. We also provided verbal information regarding the anesthetic technique for the planned surgery to all the patients.

Patients were re-evaluated on the morning of the day of surgery. The STAI and APAIS questionnaires were completed once again and answers noted. Following this, patient preferences regarding the anesthetic technique were noted. Queries raised by patients were also addressed during this visit. All the visits and informing were done by the same anesthesiologist.

Statistical Analysis

We calculated a sample size of 14 subjects for the desired effect size with 80% power at a significance level of 5%.

Descriptive statistics are presented as mean with standard deviation, median with range, frequency, and ratio. The distribution of the variables was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for the analysis of quantitative independent data. The Wilcoxon test was used for analyzing dependent quantitative data. The chi-square test or Fisher's exact test was used to analyze qualitative independent data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance. SPSS version 22.0 was used for all statistical analyses.

RESULTS

We initially included 52 patients in the study; however, two patients refused to participate later. Hence, 50 patients were enrolled (25 in each group). The mean age of patients was 63 years in the control group, compared to 66.28 years in the video group.

There was no significant difference between groups in age, sex, occupation, education, and previous history of surgery under anesthesia. The preferred anesthetic technique was different between the video and the control groups. The response "I prefer the specialist's choice" was significantly higher than the "I prefer regional anesthesia" and "I prefer general anesthesia" responses in the video group compared to the control group (χ^2 =0.005). Five patients in the video group preferred general anesthesia initially; however, they changed their minds and wished to undergo regional anesthesia after watching the video (Table 1).

The STAI-I scores on the night before surgery were not significantly different between the control (31.2 ± 6.2) and the video groups (29.5±10); suggesting that patients in both groups had similar anxiety levels (p=0.120; p>0.05). In the video group, the STAI-I

score on the morning of surgery (24.7±7.4) was significantly lower than in the control group (34.4±6.7) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The STAI-I score in the video group was significantly lower on the morning of surgery compared to the night before (29.5±10) (p=0.000; p<0.05). In the control group, the STAI-I score on the morning of surgery (34.4±6.7) was significantly higher than on the night before (31.2±6.2) (p=0.000; p<0.05), suggesting an increased level of anxiety on the morning of surgery. The STAI-I scores changed significantly between the night before and the morning of surgery in both groups (p=0.001; p<0.05). While the scores reduced in the video group, (-4.8±10.1) they increased in the control group (3.2±6) (Table 2).

Similar to the STAI-I score, the STAI-II score on the night before surgery was not significantly different between the

Table 1. Demograph	nic information	of patients	5						
		Control group		Video	group				
		Mean ±	SD	Median	Mean ± SD		Median	Ρ	
Age		63.0±9.9		62.0	66.3±8.0		67.0	0.109	m
6	Male	5	20.0%	-	1	4.0%	-	0.082	χ^2
Sex	Female	20	80.0%	-	24	96.0%	-		
Occupation									
Housewife		18	72.0%	-	20	80.0%	-		
Retired		2	8.0%	-	3	12.0%	-	0.415	γ^2
Farmer		3	12.0%	-	2	8.0%	-	0.415	~
Worker		2	8.0%	-	0	0.0%	-		
Education									
Illiterate	erate		8.0%	-	5	20.0%	-		
Literate		2	8.0%	-	3	12.0%	-		
Primary school		17	68.0%	-	17	68.0%	-	0 117	χ^2
Secondary school		2	8.0%	-	0	0.0%	-	0.117	
High school		1	4.0%	-	0	0.0%	-		
University		1	4.0%	-	0	0.0%	-		
Operation history	No	4	16.0%	-	6	24.0%	-	0.490	χ^2
Operation history	Yes	21	84.0%	-	19	76.0%	-	0.460	
Type of anesthesia hi	story								
General anesthesia		10	40.0%	-	7	28.0%	-		
Regional anesthesia		8	32.0%	-	10	40.0%	-	0.653	χ^2
Local anesthesia		3	12.0%	-	2	8.0%	-		
Anesthesia request									
Specialist's choice		7	28.0%	-	18	72.0%	-		
Regional anesthesia		9	36.0%	-	2	8.0%	-	0.005	χ^2
General anesthesia		9	36.0%	-	5	20.0%	-		
^m Mann-Whitney U test, χ ²	Chi-square test, SD	: Standard de	eviation						

control and the video groups (40.2 \pm 5.9 vs 39.3 \pm 8.6, p=0.899; p>0.05). In the video group, the STAI-II score on the morning of surgery (37.7 \pm 8) was significantly lower than in the control group (42.8 \pm 5.4); (p=0.029; p<0.05). The STAI-II score was also significantly lower on the morning of surgery compared to the night before in the video group (39.3 \pm 8.6); (p=0.000; p<0.05). In the control group, the STAI-II score on the morning of surgery (42.8 \pm 5.4) was significantly higher than on the night before (40.2 \pm 5.9); (p=0.000; p<0.05). The STAI-II scores changed significantly on the morning of surgery compared to the night before in both groups; (p=0.036; p<0.05). The scores reduced in the video group (-1.6 \pm 3.8) while they increased in the control group (2.6 \pm 7.5) (Table 2).

In the video group, the APAIS-A score on the night before surgery (12.8±4.7) was significantly higher than in the control group (7.6±4); (p=0.000; p<0.05). There was no significant difference in APAIS-A scores on the morning of surgery between the control (8.2±4.3) and the video groups (6.8±3.5) (p=0.287; p>0.05). The APAIS-A score on the morning of surgery (6.8±3.5) was significantly lower than on the night before (12.8±4.7) in the video group (p=0.000; p<0.05). In the control group, the APAIS-A score on the morning of surgery (8.2±4.3) was significantly higher than on the night before (7.6±4) (p=0.000; p<0.05). In both groups, the APAIS-A scores changed significantly between the night before and the morning of surgery (p=0.000; p<0.05). The scores reduced in the video group (-6.1±4.2) while they increased in the control group (0.5±3.5) (Table 2).

Table 2. The mean and median values of the STAI and the APAIS scores of patients										
	Control group				Video group					
	Mean ± SD		Median	Mean ± SD		Median	Ρ			
STAI-I										
Night	31.2	±	6.2	30.0	29.5	±	10.0	27.0	0.120	m
Morning	34.4	±	6.7	32.0	24.7	±	7.4	21.0	0.000	m
Night - morning change	3.2	±	6.0	2.0	-4.8	±	10.1	-6.0	0.001	m
Change within the group (p)	0.000		w	0.000			w			
STAI-II										
Night	40.2	±	5.9	40.0	39.3	±	8.6	40.0	0.899	m
Morning	42.8	±	5.4	43.0	37.7	±	8.0	38.0	0.029	m
Night - morning change	2.6	±	7.5	1.0	-1.6	±	3.8	0.0	0.036	m
Change within the group (p)	0.000		w	0.000	0.000		w			
APAIS-A										
Night	7.6	±	4.0	6.0	12.8	±	4.7	13.0	0.000	m
Morning	8.2	±	4.3	7.0	6.8	±	3.5	5.0	0.287	m
Night - morning change	0.5	±	3.5	0.0	-6.1	±	4.2	-4.0	0.000	m
Change within the group (p)	0.000		w	0.000		w				
APAIS-B										
Night	5.9	±	1.9	6.0	6.4	±	2.1	6.0	0.373	m
Morning	5.7	±	1.8	6.0	3.5	±	2.1	3.0	0.000	m
Night - morning change	-0.2	±	0.9	0.0	-2.9	±	3.4	-3.0	0.000	m
Change within the group (p)	0.000		W	0.000		W				
APAIS										
Night	13.0	±	4.7	12.0	19.2	±	5.5	20.0	0.000	m
Morning	13.9	±	5.4	11.0	10.2	±	4.1	8.0	0.007	m
Night - morning change	0.8	±	3.9	0.0	-9.0	±	5.7	-8.0	0.000	m
Change within the group (p)	0.000		W	0.000		W				

^mMann-Whitney U test, ^wWilcoxon Test

STAI-I: The stait anxiety and information scale, STAI-II: The trait anxiety and information scale, APAIS: The Amsterdam preoperative anxiety and information scale, APAIS-A: The Amsterdam preoperative anxiety scale, APAIS-B: The Amsterdam preoperative information scale, SD: Standard deviation

The APAIS-B score on the night before surgery was not significantly different between the control (5.9 \pm 1.9) and the video groups (6.4 \pm 2.1) (p=0.373; p>0.05). In the video group, the APAIS-B score on the morning of surgery (3.5 \pm 2.1) was significantly lower than in the control group (5.7 \pm 1.8) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The APAIS-B score was significantly lower on the morning of surgery compared to the night before (6.4 \pm 2.1) (p=0.000; p<0.05). The APAIS-B score on the morning of surgery (5.7 \pm 1.8) was significantly lower than on the night before (5.9 \pm 1.9) in the control group (p=0.000; p<0.05); however, the change in scores between the night before and the morning of surgery was significantly different between groups (p=0.000; p<0.05). The scores reduced more in the video group (-2.9 \pm 3.4) compared to the control group (-0.2 \pm 0.9) (Table 2).

The APAIS score on the night before was significantly higher in the video group (19.2±5.5) compared to the control group (13.0±4.7) (p=0.000; p<0.05). In the video group, the APAIS score on the morning of surgery (10.2±4.1) was significantly lower than in the control group (13.9±5.4) (p=0.007; p<0.05). In the video group, the APAIS score was lower on the morning of surgery compared to the night before (19.2±5.5) (p=0.000; p<0.05). In the control group, the APAIS score on the morning of surgery (13.9±5.4) was significantly higher than on the night before (13.0±4.7) (p=0.000; p<0.05). In both groups, APAIS scores changed significantly between the night before and the morning of surgery (p=0.000; p<0.05). The scores reduced in the video group (-9.0±5.7) while they increased in the control group (0.8±3.9) (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

The incidence of preoperative anxiety among the patients prior to elective surgery ranges between 60%-80% (1,2). Total knee replacement results in severe postoperative pain and requires special care in the postoperative period (6).

In our study, there were 88% and 12% of female and male patients, respectively. In the study by Kim et al. (10), including 47,961 patients who had total knee replacement between 2002 and 2005 in Korea, 91% were male patients compared to 9% of female patients. In the Souza et al. (11) study, 20.9% of 81 patients were men compared to 79.1% women. Sarban et al. (12) found that 35% of 34 patients who underwent total knee replacement were men compared to 65% of women. The sex distribution in our study was similar to previous studies.

Our study included housewives (76%), farmers (10%), and workers (4%). Retirees made up 10% of subjects. Franklin et al. (13) conducted a study that aimed to investigate the correlation between occupation and knee or hip replacement surgery in 1,408 patients. They found that 13% of 400 patients who had a history of knee replacement were housewives, while 23.7% were farmers, similar to our study.

In our study, 68% of the patients had completed primary school. Sağır et al. (14) aimed to assess the impact of patient information on preoperative anxiety levels in patients scheduled for surgery for inguinal hernia, anal fissure, hemorrhoids, and pilonidal sinus excision under spinal anesthesia. In this study, 42% of 210 patients had completed primary school, while 33% had completed high school.

In our study, 20% of patients had no previous history of surgery under anesthesia. Among the 40 patients who had undergone surgery under anesthesia, 42.5% had undergone general anesthesia, while 45% had undergone regional anesthesia. Shevde and Panagopoulos (15) found in their study of 800 patients regarding knowledge, attitude, and concerns regarding anesthesia that 31.7% of the patients had never experienced anesthesia or undergone surgery. Jlala et al. (16) assessed anxiety levels after patient information and found that 22.4% of patients had never been anesthetized previously.

In a previous study by Sağır et al. (14), basal anxiety levels were assessed using the STAI-I test preoperatively in the anesthesia polyclinic. Patients were divided into the visual and control groups. In the visual group, patients were given a colored visual catalog while in the control group, only written information was provided. Patients were asked to complete the STAI-I form before premedication and at 8 hours postoperatively. No significant difference in the STAI-I scores was observed at baseline and 8 hours postoperatively between groups. However, there was a significant decrease in postoperative compared to the basal anxiety scores in both groups. In the preoperative period, there was an increase in scores in the control group compared to the baseline; no change was seen in the visual group.

In our study, there was a significant decrease in the STAI-I and STAI-II scores on the morning of surgery in the video group compared to the control group. We believe that the video demonstration was effective in reducing anxiety levels on the morning of surgery compared to the night before.

Jlala et al. (16) assessed patients 2 weeks before elective surgery. After measuring the basal anxiety score levels, patients in the intervention arm were shown a video recording of a peripheral neural block or subarachnoid block. Patients in the control group received routine care. On the day of surgery, all patients completed the STAI and Visual Analog scale (VAS) questionnaires 2-3 hours before surgery. The questionnaires were again completed 2 to 8 hours postoperatively. No difference was noted in the STAI scores between groups on the first assessment, 2 weeks before surgery. There was an increase in anxiety levels by the STAI-I scores in the control group immediately before surgery; however, patients who had watched the video demonstration were found to be less anxious. Postoperatively, there was a significant decrease in anxiety levels in both the groups compared to the basal scores. On postoperative assessment, patients who had watched the video demonstration were found to be less anxious compared to the control group. The findings of the present study are similar.

Taşdemir et al. (17) studied the impact of preoperative information on patient anxiety levels in 107 American Society of Anesthesiology class I-II patients between 18 and 70 years, scheduled to undergo ear, nose, and throat surgery. In the preoperative period, patients completed the STAI-I form before preoperative counseling and information regarding general anesthesia. The forms were completed again 4 and 6 hours postoperatively. Anxiety scores were significantly less in the postoperative period. In our study, we did not assess postoperative anxiety.

Salzwedel et al. (18) studied 209 patients who were scheduled to undergo general, urological, orthopedic, and trauma surgery. They categorized patients into three groups. An educational video was shown to one group of patients before the preanesthetic evaluation, while another group was shown the video after the pre-anesthetic evaluation. The control group did not receive video demonstration. Patients completed the STAI and VAS forms before and after the pre-anesthetic evaluation and the educational video; no significant changes were observed between groups.

We studied a homogenous group of patients who were scheduled to undergo total knee replacement by the orthopedics and traumatology department. The patients had no contraindication to combined spinal-epidural anesthesia. We believe that a more homogenous group of patients, who were provided with more specific information, resulted in reduced anxiety levels.

In a randomized controlled study by Oliphant et al. (19), patients scheduled to undergo surgery for prolapse or incontinence were shown a preoperative video regarding clean intermittent catheterization. STAI forms were completed before and after the video. A decrease in anxiety scores was observed in the video group compared to the control group.

Bondy et al. (20) contacted patients by telephone preoperatively and sent an information CD regarding general and regional anesthesia along with STAI and demographic information. Patients who watched the CD and completed the forms were asked to complete the STAI forms again preoperatively. When compared to written information, visual information was found to be much more effective in decreasing preoperative anxiety, establishing the importance of visual information in a video format, corroborating the findings of our study.

Study Limitations

STAI forms have 40 questions in total. Thus, the patients might have had difficulties while filling the forms.

CONCLUSION

Patients scheduled to undergo elective surgery may experience severe anxiety in the preoperative period. Preoperative anxiety is a serious problem that needs to be addressed adequately. We included patients scheduled to undergo total knee replacement which often leads to severe postoperative pain. We aimed to measure and to decrease anxiety levels by providing detailed information through a video and audio demonstration. We observed that the anxiety levels decreased significantly following detailed information offered in a multimedia format.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Namık Kemal University, Observational Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2014/92/12/06).

Informed Consent: It was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - O.B., C.M.; Design - O.B., M.C.A.; Supervision - C.M.; Resources - M.G.; Materials - M.G.; Data Collection and/or Processing - O.B.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - O.B.; Literature Search - O.B., M.G.; Writing - O.B.; Critical Review - M.C.A., C.M., M.G.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Norris W, Baird WL. Pre-operative anxiety: a study of the incidence and aetiology. Br J Anaesth 1967; 39: 503-9.
- Kindler CH, Harms C, Amsler F, Ihde-Scholl T, Scheidegger D. The visual analog scale allows effective measurement of preoperative anxiety and detection of patients' anesthetic concerns. Anesth Analg 2000; 90: 706-12.
- Moerman N, van Dam FS, Muller MJ, Oosting H. The Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale (APAIS). Anesth Analg 1996; 82: 445-51.
- Lichtor JL, Johanson CE, Mhoon D, Faure EA, Hassan SZ, Roizen MF. Preoperative anxiety: does anxiety level the afternoon before surgery predict anxiety level just before surgery? Anesthesiology 1987; 67: 595-9.
- 5. Kanto J. Preoperative Anxiety. CNS Drugs 1996; 6: 270-9.
- 6. Huterer S. Regional anaesthesia and analgesia in fast track knee arthroplasty. Periodicum Biologorum 2013; 115: 159-63.
- Grant CRK, Checketts MR. Analgesia for primary hip and knee arthroplasty: the role of regional anaesthesia. Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain 2008; 8: 56-61.
- 8. Felsby S, Juelsgaard P. Combined Spinal and Epidural Anesthesia. Anesth Analg 1995; 80: 821-6.
- 9. Soresi AL. Episubdural Anesthesia. Anesth Analg 1937; 16: 306-10.
- Kim HA, Kim S, Seo YI, Choi HJ, Seong SC, Song YW, et al. The epidemiology of total knee replacement in South Korea: national registry data. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2008; 47: 88-91.
- Souza JMFdS, Ferreira RdS, Lima AJPd, Sá Filho ACPd, Albuquerque PCVCd. Clinical Demographic Characteristics Of Total Knee Arthroplasty In A University Hospital. Acta Ortopédica Brasileira 2016; 24: 300-3.
- Sarban S, Kocabey Y, Tabur H, Zehir S, Aşkar H, Işıkan UE. Total Diz Artroplastisinde Tek Taraflı ve Aynı Seansta İki Taraflı Uygulamalarımızın Morbidite ve Klinik Etkinlik Yönünden Karşılaştırılması. Harran Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2005; 2: 10-5.
- Franklin J, Ingvarsson T, Englund M, Lohmander S. Association between occupation and knee and hip replacement due to osteoarthritis: a casecontrol study. Arthritis Res Ther 2010; 12: 102.
- Sağır G, Kaya M, Eskiçırak HE, Kapusuz Ö, Kadıoğulları AN. The Effect of Visual Information on Preoperative Anxiety in Spinal Anesthesia. Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim 2012; 40: 274-8.
- Shevde K, Panagopoulos G. A survey of 800 patients' knowledge, attitudes, and concerns regarding anesthesia. Anesth Analg 1991; 73: 190-8.
- Jlala HA, French JL, Foxall GL, Hardman JG, Bedforth NM. Effect of preoperative multimedia information on perioperative anxiety in patients undergoing procedures under regional anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth 2010; 104: 369-74.
- Taşdemir A, Erakgün A, Deniz MN, Çertuğ A. Comparison of Preoperative and Postoperative Anxiety Levels with State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Test in Preoperatively Informed Patients. Turk J Anaesth Reanim 2013; 41: 44-9.

- Salzwedel C, Petersen C, Blanc I, Koch U, Goetz AE, Schuster M. The effect of detailed, video-assisted anesthesia risk education on patient anxiety and the duration of the preanesthetic interview: a randomized controlled trial. Anesth Analg 2008; 106: 202-9.
- Oliphant SS, Lowder JL, Ghetti C, Zyczynski HM. Effect of a preoperative self-catheterization video on anxiety: a randomized controlled trial. Int Urogynecol J 2013; 24: 419-24.
- Bondy LR, Sims N, Schroeder DR, Offord KP, Narr BJ. The effect of anesthetic patient education on preoperative patient anxiety. Reg Anesth Pain Med 1999; 24: 158-64.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2019.2952 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):129-32

Supero-inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of Thirteen Cases with Intraoperative Nerve Monitoring

Ahmet Serkan İlgün¹, Kadir Çağdaş Kazıkdaş²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, İstanbul Turkey ²Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Cite this article as: İlgün AS, Kazıkdaş KÇ. Supero-inferior Thyroidectomy Technique in Papillary Thyroid Carcinoma: Preliminary Results of Thirteen Cases with Intraoperative Nerve Monitoring. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):129-32

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study aimed to investigate the novel use of a surgical technique using intraoperative nerve monitoring (IONM) technology in conjunction with supero-inferior thyroid dissection technique for selected cases of diagnosed papillary carcinoma. We also aimed to determine the minimal stimulation thresholds for the recurrent laryngeal nerve (RLN) before its insertion into the larynx through the cricothyroid membrane.

Methods: In this retrospective analysis, 13 consecutive patients (11 women, 2 men) aged 42-71 years (median, 53 years) who underwent total thyroidectomy with a preoperative diagnosis of papillary thyroid carcinoma only were included. The supero-inferior dissection technique has been detailed within the manuscript. After completion of thyroidectomy, the minimum current enough to stimulate the RLN at the most distal point was measured and recorded.

Results: The mean minimum stimulation current was 0.26±0.07 mA and 0.25±0.07 mA on the left and right sides, respectively. No permanent or transient RLN paralysis was observed postoperatively.

Conclusion: The supero-inferior dissection technique may have advantages, such as identification of the RLN in a constant point even in nonrecurrent cases and low complication rates, but it still requires delicate and careful dissection based on our experience and should be combined with the IONM technique, if possible.

Keywords: Post-dissection current, recurrent laryngeal nerve, surgical technique

INTRODUCTION

Thyroidectomy is among the most commonly performed cervical surgery in countries that are endemic goiter regions. The main goal when treating thyroid diseases surgically is to present the patient with high quality of life by keeping the risk of complications to a minimum. The most common postoperative complications are hypoparathyroidism and recurrent laryngeal nerve (RLN) paralysis. The rates of RLN injury in total thyroidectomy cases can be as high as 10%; however, published rates of RLN injury are thought to be underestimated because less satisfactory results are less commonly presented, and complication rates from low-volume clinics tend to be higher (1-3).

Monitoring the laryngeal nerves during thyroidectomy has been increasingly used over the past 20 years. Intraoperative nerve monitoring (IONM) aids in the differentiation of RLNs from other tissues during thyroidectomy, facilitates identification of

ORCID IDs of the authors: A.S.İ. 0000-0002-4862-2891; K.Ç.K. 0000-0001-8251-2162.

Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: Ahmet Serkan İlgün, E-mail: ckazikdas@gmail.com Received Date 08.05.2019 Accepted Date: 16.07.2019

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):129-32

anatomical variations of RLN, and controls nerve integrity at the end of the surgery. The use of IONM has been advocated for highrisk thyroidectomy cases, such as reoperation, thyroidectomy for malignancy, thyrotoxicosis, and retrosternal goiter, where the rate of RLN palsy is considered to be higher (4-6).

Two different RLN identification methods are used during thyroidectomy. The classical approach involves locating the RLN in the tracheoesophageal groove and following it in the superior direction (infero-superior method), whereas the other approach identifies the nerve where it enters the larynx after superior pedicle ligation (supero-inferior), generally thought to be a high-risk method (7).

This retrospective cohort study elaborates a novel surgical technique using IONM in conjunction with supero-inferior dissection technique for selected cases of diagnosed papillary carcinoma. We also aimed to determine the minimal stimulation thresholds for RLN before its insertion into the larynx through the cricothyroid membrane. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first preliminary report of the supero-inferior total thyroidectomy technique performed in malignancies combined with IONM of RLN published in the English literature.

METHODS

In this retrospective analysis, 13 consecutive patients (11 women, 2 men) aged 42-71 years (median, 53 years) who underwent total thyroidectomy with a preoperative diagnosis of papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC) only were selected. The local ethics committee approved the study, and written informed consents were gathered from the patients preoperatively. The surgeries were performed between January 2012 and March 2014 in a tertiary medical center, and IONM (Medtronic NIM-Response system, Medtronic Xomed, Jacksonville, FL, USA) was used in all patients to localize the RLN on both sides. Patients with previous neck or thyroid surgery were excluded. All patients underwent complete neck ultrasonography. Neither perithyroidal soft tissue invasion nor lymph node metastasis was detected on ultrasonographic evaluation. PTC was diagnosed using fine-needle aspiration biopsy preoperatively. Fiberoptic laryngoscopic examination of the vocal folds was performed pre- and postoperatively, and no vocal fold pathologies were present preoperatively. IONM was used in a standardized set-up in accordance with the published Randolph and Dralle (8) guidelines. Nerve monitoring was accomplished by placing an electromyography (EMG) endotracheal tube in contact with the vocal folds and a stimulating surface probe. Short-acting myorelaxants were used only during the induction anesthesia to avoid interference with EMG recordings throughout the surgery.

A 5-7 cm Kocher incision below the level of the cricoid cartilage was made to expose the thyroid gland. After the strap muscles were separated, the middle thyroid vein was ligated, and the upper pole of thyroid gland was extensively exposed by sharp and blunt dissection from the carotid sheath laterally and the trachea and cricothyroid muscle medially. The branches of

superior thyroid artery were ligated separately to prevent injury to the external branch of the superior laryngeal nerve. After the ligation of upper pole vessels in close proximity to the gland, the upper pole was released, and it was possible to tract this part laterally with the help of Babcock forceps. A careful and bloodless dissection was continued under the level of the cricothyroid muscle, and the RLN was roughly identified at the point where the nerve entered the larynx with the aid of IONM by using a minimum of 1.5 mA stimulation current (Figure 1, 2), and after clearly identifying the RLN, the dissection was extended downwards by tunneling and spreading the tissues overlying the RLN. After the completion of thyroidectomy, the minimum current enough to stimulate the RLN at the most distal point was measured and recorded.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS 22.0 statistical package (SPSS, Chicago, USA). Mean and median values were used for parametric and non-parametric variables, respectively, as results of descriptive statistics.

RESULTS

The median follow-up period was 5.5 months. Three patients had multicentric/multifocal disease. Tumor node metastasis staging system was used for postoperative clinical staging. One patient had T1a (\leq 1 cm), three patients had T1b, eight patients had T2, and one patient had T3a tumors. Neither lymph node metastasis nor perithyroidal soft tissue invasion was detected in any of the patients. All patients but one with micropapillary thyroid cancer underwent radioactive iodine therapy treatment. Patients were followed up in 4 month intervals with routine physical examination and thyroglobulin levels. The mean current was 0.26±0.07 and 0.25±0.07 mA on the left and right sides, respectively (Table 1). No permanent or transient RLN paralysis was observed postoperative. One patient had hoarseness and dysphonia on the first postoperative day and during videolaryngoscopic examination, where generalized vocal fold edema and areas of minor hemorrhage on both sides with intact mucosa and normal vocal fold mobility were observed. This condition was thought to be a result of repeated stimulation of the RLNs in contact with the endolaryngeal tube during surgery, and it was managed with a single dose of intravenous prednisolone (1 mg/kg) and vocal rest. Two other patients developed hypocalcemia in the early postoperative period, but they became normocalcemic during their follow-up.

DISCUSSION

Intraoperative neuromonitoring is the gold standard for imaging and functional testing of the recurrent nerve during thyroid surgery, and this tool requires an experienced use of the EMG an intraoperative adaptation of the resection strategy (i.e., inferosuperior, supero-inferior approach, etc.), especially in cases of planned bilateral total thyroidectomy. In addition to increasing intraoperative safety and facilitating the surgical procedure,

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):129-32

especially in the case of high-risk interventions, medical malpractice lawsuits are taking their effect in many countries in favor of routine use of IONM in thyroid surgery. The guidelines published by the American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery and the German Association of Endocrine Surgeons also advise the routine use of IONM in thyroid surgery

to protect vocal cord function (7-9), whereas the American Head



Figure 1. Intraoperative photo of left thyroid lobe (asterisk) after releasing the upper pole. The tip of the intraoperative nerve monitoring probe points at the left recurrent laryngeal nerve entering the larynx. The white arrow shows external branch of the superior laryngeal nerve



Figure 2. Photo documentation of the right recurrent laryngeal nerve (RLN) (tip of the probe) after completion of the surgery. The detection of minimal RLN stimulation threshold was performed at the most distal point through its infero-superior course

Table 1. Post-dissection minimum stimulation thresholds ofthe RLN								
	Right (n=13)	Left (n=13)	Range (minimum)					
$Mean \pm SEM$	0.26±0.07 mA	0.25±0.07 mA	0.15±0.40 mA					

SEM: Standard error of the mean, RLN: Recurrent laryngeal nerve

and Neck Society endorses its utilization in thyroid cancer cases, particularly in patients with RLN palsy (1).

Although 1.5 mA stimulation current was used at the beginning of the surgery to roughly localize and map the neural structure overlaid by different types of tissues, proceeding with dissection, the minimal stimulation current needed for RLN to achieve a minimum EMG activity was >100 µV at its point of entry into the laryngeal region through the cricothyroid membrane. This point is presumed to be the most stable and reliable landmark in the RLN course, especially in non-recurrent variations. The detection of minimal stimulation threshold at the closest point to the larynx was made possible by using a descending method, thus lowering the stimulating current by 0.5 mA gradually until the EMG response on the screen was not recognizable. The mean minimum current at the end of the surgery was 0.26±0.07 and 0.25±0.07 mA on the left and right sides, respectively. Only few studies in the literature investigated the stimulation thresholds in vivo: Choby et al. (10) found that the mean postresection RLN minimum threshold level was 0.47 mA (range: 0.20-1.0 mA), although the point of measurement through the course of the nerve has not been mentioned in the article. Using the same NIM-RESPONSE monitoring system, the RLNs were monitored after thyroidectomy and parathyroidectomy in another prospective study, and the mean post-dissection stimulation threshold at the distal extremities of the nerve was 0.36 mA (range: 0.10-0.80 mA), and the authors claimed that this great variability of thresholds could be explained by the degree of nerve dissection or the differences of nerve exposure to the stimulation electrode from one case to another because the nerve covered by a small amount of surrounding tissue, such as adipose or connective tissue, would require more intense stimulation (11). However, we managed to gather the most precise stimulation thresholds as possible with the closest proximity to the inlet of the RLN to the laryngeal region by using the supero-inferior dissection technique.

Postoperative vocal fold edema and hemorrhage can cause hoarseness due to relative vocal cord immobility with normal stimulation signal, which occurred in one of the patients; but normal mobility will be regained after the edema subsides (1). This issue points out the importance of pre- and postoperative laryngoscopic examination of the vocal cord function to diminish medicolegal liability and to differentiate previous vocal fold pathologies, such as vocal polyps or even pre-existing vocal cord paralysis (12).

In certain circumstances, such as reoperation, large goiters, cancers with extrathyroidal extension, and patients with very short neck, the RLN cannot be easily identified at the point where it crosses the inferior thyroid artery; thus, it could be wiser to look for it at its only constant anatomical point where it penetrates the laryngeal membrane at the top of the tracheoesophageal groove (13). This supero-inferior dissection technique was first described in 1988 by Guerrier (14). Although the supero-inferior dissection technique may have some advantages, such as identifying the RLN in a very constant point even in non-recurrent cases and low

complication rates (7), it still requires more delicate and careful dissection based on our experience and should be combined with the IONM technique, if possible. Our sample size was relatively small due to the retrospective nature of the study, which included only cases with a preoperative diagnosis of PTC requiring total thyroidectomy, and the aim of this manuscript was to mainly describe the surgical technique and set the standard mean post-dissection stimulation threshold of the RLN.

Study Limitations

The relatively small sample size and retrospective design are the main limitations of our study.

CONCLUSION

We aimed to investigate the use of IONM in conjunction with the supero-inferior thyroid dissection technique in elective bilateral total thyroidectomy for selected cases of preoperatively diagnosed PTC. Because inadvertent and repetitive use of high stimulus thresholds during such surgeries can fatigue the nerve cells and will potentially lead to postoperative paresis, the use of minimum currents for nerve stimulation is important. The superoinferior dissection technique has advantages, such as identifying the RLN in a very constant point even in non-recurrent cases and low complication rates, but it still requires delicate and meticulous dissection based on our experience and should combined with IONM, if possible.

Ethics Committee Approval: The local ethics committee approved the study.

Informed Consent: Written informed consents were gathered from the patients preoperatively.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - A.S.İ., K.Ç.K.; Design - A.S.İ., K.Ç.K.; Supervision - A.S.İ., K.Ç.K.; Resources - A.S.İ., K.Ç.K.; Materials - A.S.İ.; Data Collection and/or Processing - A.S.İ.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - A.S.İ.; Literature Search - A.S.İ., K.Ç.K.; Writing Manuscript - A.S.İ.; Critical Review - A.S.İ., K.Ç.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Deniwar A, Kandil E, Randolph G. Electrophysiological neural monitoring of the laryngeal nerves in thyroid surgery: review of the current literature. Gland Surg 2015; 4: 368-75.
- Liu X, Zhang D, Zhang G, Zhao L, Zhou L, Fu Y, et al. Laryngeal nerve morbidity in 1.273 central node dissections for thyroid cancer. Surg Oncol 2018; 27: 21-5.
- Topal Y, Gedik ML, Karagoz I, Gonullu D, Arikan S, Tunalı V, et al. Total Tiroidektomi Yapılan Hastalarda, A. Thyroidea İnferior'un Trunkal Bağlanıp Bağlanmamasının ve N. Laryngeus İnferior'un Diseke Edilip Edilmemesinin Postoperatif Erken Dönem Kan Kalsiyumuna Etkisi. J Acad Res Med 2014; 2: 69-73.
- Wong KP, Mak KL, Wong CKH, Lang BHH. Systematic review and metaanalysis on intra-operative neuro-monitoring in high-risk thyroidectomy. Int J Surg 2017; 38: 21-30.
- Song P, Shemen L. Electrophysiologic laryngeal nerve monitoring in high-risk thyroid surgery. Ear Nose Throat J 2005; 84: 378-81.
- Wu CW, Dionigi G, Barczynski M, Chiang FY, Dralle H, Schneider R, et al. International neuromonitoring study group guidelines 2018: Part II: Optimal recurrent laryngeal nerve management for invasive thyroid cancer-incorporation of surgical, laryngeal, and neural electrophysiologic data. Laryngoscope 2018; 128(Suppl 3): 18-27.
- Veyseller B, Aksoy F, Yildirim YS, Karatas A, Ozturan O. Effect of recurrent laryngeal nerve identification technique in thyroidectomy on recurrent laryngeal nerve paralysis and hypoparathyroidism. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2011; 137: 897-900.
- Randolph GW, Dralle H; International Intraoperative Monitoring Study Group, Abdullah H, Barczynski M, Bellantone R, et al. Electrophysiologic recurrent laryngeal nerve monitoring during thyroid and parathyroid surgery: international standards guideline statement. Laryngoscope 2011; 121(Suppl 1):1-16.
- Musholt TJ, Clerici T, Dralle H, Frilling A, Goretzki PE, Hermann MM, et al. German Association of Endocrine Surgeons practice guidelines for the surgical treatment of benign thyroid disease. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2011; 396: 639-49.
- Choby G, Hollenbeak CS, Johnson S, Goldenberg D. Surface electrode recurrent laryngeal nerve monitoring during thyroid surgery: normative values. J Clin Neurophysiol 2010; 27: 34-7.
- Julien N, Mosnier I, Bozorg Grayeli A, Nys P, Ferrary E, Sterkers O. Intraoperative laryngeal nerve monitoring during thyroidectomy and parathyroidectomy: A prospective study. Eur Ann Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Dis 2012; 129: 69-76.
- Postma DS, Becker MO, Roberts A, Gilleon S, Soto J. Thyroidectomy in a community hospital: findings of 100 consecutive cases. Ear Nose Throat J 2009; 88: 30.
- Page C, Peltier J, Charlet L, Laude M, Strunski V. Superior approach to the inferior laryngeal nerve in thyroid surgery: anatomy, surgical technique and indications. Surg Radiol Anat 2006; 28: 631-6.
- Guerrier Y. 3: la chirurgie du corps thyroïde. In: Traité de technique chirurgicale ORL et cervico-faciale Tome 4: cou et cavité buccale, 2ème éd. Editions Masson, Paris: 1998. p. 125-98.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.2767 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):133-7

Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey

🔟 Ferdi Dırvar¹, 💿 Sevda Uzun Dırvar¹, 💿 Timur Yıldırım¹, 💿 Ömer Cengiz², 💿 Mehmet Ali Talmaç³

¹Health Sciences University Turkey, Metin Sabancı Baltalimanı Bone and Joint Diseases Training and Research Center, Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey

²Muş State Hospital, Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Muş, Turkey

³Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Dirvar F, Uzun Dirvar S, Yildirim T, Cengiz Ö, Talmaç MA. Cost Analysis in Knee Revision Arthroplasty: A Study at the Research and Training Hospital in Turkey. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):133-7

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study aimed to investigate the costs covered by the hospital during inpatient treatment of patients who underwent knee revision arthroplasty in the orthopedics and traumatology clinics of a public hospital and compare with the invoiced amount.

Methods: The demographic information and revision reasons of 50 patients who underwent total knee revision arthroplasty in a public hospital between 01.01.2016 and 30.09.2017 were determined using hospital information management system records. The patients were categorized into two groups: septic and aseptic. For each patient, the costs of medical consumables, medicine/serum, medical treatment, surgery, anesthesia, imaging services, laboratory procedures, blood and blood products, meal and companion costs, device depreciation expenses, consultation, control examination, preoperative patient preparation stage, surgery, visit and other costs were calculated separately during inpatient treatment.

Results: The average total cost of a patient was 24,005.00 TL, whereas the average invoice amount was 21,490.00 TL, with a difference of 2,515.00 TL. This difference was 3,193.00 TL and 2,166.00 TL in the septic and aseptic groups, respectively. In the septic group, the duration of hospital stay, medication, treatment, surgery, anesthesia, laboratory, imaging, blood center, consultation, visit, meal cost, total cost, and invoice amount were significantly higher than the aseptic group ($p\Box 0.05$).

Conclusion: Regulations by the social security institution are needed to ensure the fiscal sustainability of the public hospital's. In addition, following the medical and technical innovations in revision surgery can help reduce the costs.

Keywords: Revision, knee joint, arthroplasty, cost analysis, hospital economics

INTRODUCTION

The Nationwide Inpatient Sample (United States) surveys of hospital discharge records projected the demand for primary total knee arthroplasty (TKA) to increase by 673% from 450,000 (95% prediction interval, 425,000 to 477,000) in 2005 to 3.48 million procedures (95% prediction interval, 2.95 to 4.14 million) by 2030. The results of the same report projected the TKA revisions to

increase from 38,300 (95% prediction interval, 32,600 to 44,300) in 2005 to 268,200 (95% prediction interval, 192,700 to 381,400) by 2030 (an increase of 601%) (1).

For an economical operation and sustainability of a hospital, the costs of complex cases requiring higher budgets should cover the variable costs per patient, which enables to cover the hospital's total fixed costs by the income from other more common procedures (2).

ORCID IDs of the authors: F.D. 0000-0003-1789-3637; S.U.D. 0000-0001-7943-7472; T.Y. 0000-0003-0291-7632; Ö.C. 0000-0003-1743-4828; M.A.T. 0000-0001-7734-6438.



Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: Ferdi Dırvar,

E-mail: ferdidirvar@hotmail.com It was presented as an oral presentation at the 28th National Turkish Orthopedics and Traumatology Congress 30 October-4 November 2018. Received Date 13.01.2019 Accepted Date: 08.01.2020

©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org
The calculation of the costs of the services in hospital's is a difficult issue because common costs are wide in hospitals, diverse health services are offered, and the complexity of service units causes difficulties in cost estimations. Public hospitals offer profit-free services, and no direct relationship is found between the income from service provision and cost of services. It is only possible to determine whether a hospital gains or losses from a surgery by determining the costs in a real or real-like way. Diagnostic and treatment methods of health services financed by the Social Security Institution (SSI) in our country are indicated in the Health Practice Notifications (HPN) and annex lists, and HPN scores are compared in line with the opinions of experts based on the difficulty of the procedures (3,4). The SSI considering the cost estimates based on scientific cost analysis studies should be useful to determine the reimbursement prices to the hospitals (5).

This study aimed to investigate the costs covered by the hospital during the inpatient treatment of patients who underwent knee revision arthroplasty in the orthopedics and traumatology clinics of a public hospital and compare with the invoiced amount.

METHODS

After obtaining institutional review board approval, the demographic information and revision reasons of 50 patients who underwent total knee revision arthroplasty in a public hospital between 1 January, 2016 and 30 September, 2017 were determined using the Hospital Information Management System (HIMS) records. All total revision procedures due to infection and component loosening were included. The patients were categorized into two groups: septic and aseptic.

The treatment costs of patients in public hospitals in Turkey are maintained according to the lists in the Health Application Notification (HAN) and annexes in the appendix announced by the SSI. In these lists, a code has been determined for each surgical procedure, and the amount to be paid to the institution is indicated by the codes. The physician enters the code of each surgical procedure. In this study, the data of the patients with the code for total hip revision arthroplasty were included, but those with partial revision arthroplasty code were excluded. Two-stage revision arthroplasty surgeries in patients with septic origin were included. The duration and cost of hospitalization for each stage were added to the data set for each patient and included in the study.

For each patient, the costs of medical consumables (revision tibia and femur component, gloves, sutures, etc.), medicine/ serum costs, medical treatment costs (injections, transfusion, arterial catheterization, wound debridement, enema, vascular access, etc.), costs of surgery and anesthesia procedures (revision knee arthroplasty, joint debridement, implant removal, spacer application, anesthesia, epidural block, etc.), costs of imaging services (direct graph, length graph, MR, CT, reporting, etc.), costs of laboratory procedures (biochemistry, microbiology, etc.), costs of blood and blood products (erythrocyte suspension, FFP, etc.), patient meals and companion costs, device depreciation expenses, consultation, control examination, preoperative patient preparation stage, surgery, visit and other costs were calculated separately during the impatient treatment, and the cost of each patient covered by the hospital was determined after calculating the sum of all the abovementioned costs.

While doing these calculations, after the amounts of all the goods and services covered for each patient during inpatient treatment are determined through HIMS, the average purchasing unit prices of the goods and services used for these patients from the hospital purchasing unit, the goods and services procurement contracts, the point multiples determined by the laboratory and imaging service procurements, the billings paid to the Red Crescent Blood Center, the main scores and coefficients to be paid for the processes in the HPN annex lists, data of the salary trust department, warehouse records, data from other related units, and the expense determination tables in the cost analysis studies published by the Ministry of Health were used (4).

In accordance with the applicable legislation, the invoices according to the HPN and annex lists have been determined for each patient from the hospital records. The total costs covered and SSI bill amounts were compared to determine the difference. The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences, Metin Sabancı Baltalimanı Training and Research Hospital Expertise Education Committee in Medicine Observational Research Ethics Committee (approval number:16.10.2017-16). The demographic information was determined using HIMS records.

Statistical Analysis

The mean, standard deviation, median lowest, highest, frequency, and ratio values were used in the descriptive statistics. The distribution of the variables was measured using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The Mann-Whitney U test was used in the analysis of quantitative independent data, and chi-squared test was used in the analysis of qualitative independent data. SPSS 22.0 program (IBM Corp., Released 2013, IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY, USA) was used in the analyses.

RESULTS

Of the 50 patients, 37 were women, and 13 were men, with a mean age of 69 years. The aseptic and septic groups were composed of 33 and 17 patients, respectively. Table 1 shows the data of patients undergoing knee revision arthroplasty and their costs. The average cost of a patient was 24,005.00 TL (Turkish Lira), whereas the average invoice amount was 21,490.00 TL, with a difference of 2,515.00 TL. When comparing patients who underwent surgeries for septic and aseptic reasons, the average cost of the surgery (two-stage) for septic and reasons was 28,968.00 TL and 21,448.00 TL, respectively, whereas the invoice amount was 25,775.00 TL and 19,282.00 TL, with a difference of 3,193.00 TL and 2,166.00 TL, respectively.

The age and sex distribution, duration of the surgery, medical expenditure, patient acceptance, operation team, device depreciation, and companion expenses did not differ significantly

in the aseptic and septic groups (p>0.05). In the septic group, the duration of hospital stay, medication, treatment, surgery, anesthesia, laboratory, imaging, blood center, consultation, visits, meal costs, total cost, and invoice amount were significantly higher than the aseptic group (p<0.05) (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

The main purpose of the studies on the total cost of patients during inpatient treatment is to find possible ways to reduce the costs based on health care without compromising the quality of the health care services (6-10). However, cost analysis is difficult and time consuming. Administrative, financial, and medical data should be reliable to establish the direct cost. Necessary regulations must be made to ensure the presentation of the money spent on the patient when requested and the motivation of the staff responsible for providing services to the patient at the first instance should be increased, and the functionality in fulfilling their responsibility should be ensured (10).

In this study, the payment of the patients who underwent revision knee arthroplasty during inpatient treatment based on HPN prices by the SSI was made below the hospitalization cost. When the literature is examined, similar results are found in studies

Table 1 Descriptive statistics of the data

conducted by unit cost analysis (11). Because the number of patients who underwent revision knee arthroplasty is expected to increase in the future (1), we believe that SSI needs to make corrective actions, such as revision of HPN prices in revision knee arthroplasty to ensure the sustainability of financial resources in public hospitals.

Similar studies have reported that septic knee revision arthroplasty is significantly more costly than aseptic knee revision arthroplasty (12-14). In our study, the cost of inpatient treatment for septic-based revision knee arthroplasty was approximately 7,520.00 TL more than that for aseptic-based revision knee arthroplasty.

In the literature, blood products and drug expenditures are significantly higher in the inpatient treatment of septic-based revision surgery, and while analyzing the costs covered by the hospital in the cost analysis of septic total knee revision surgeries, two separate hospitalizations for the two-stage revision and personnel costs should be included in the costs (14). This study is significant because all costs during inpatient treatment covered by the hospital are calculated, and the duration of hospitalization, medicine, treatment, surgery, anesthesia, laboratory, imaging, blood center, consultation, visits, meal costs, total costs, and

Tuble II Descriptive statistics of the a	aca							
Descriptive statistics of the data								
		Minimun	n-max	kimum	Median	Mean ± SD (n	ı, %)	
Age		4.,0	-	84,0	68.5	68.6	±	7.6
Gondor	Female					37		74.0%
Gender	Male					13		26.0%
Surgery time (min)		120.0	-	300.0	180.0	188.1	±	41.7
Length of stay (days)		2.0	-	174.0	14.0	24.4	±	33.2
Medical consumption expenses (TL)		6832	-	48801	13,449	14,932	±	7591
Drug expenditures (TL)			-	4461.7	196.9	531.3	±	924.6
Treatment expenses (TL)			-	3882.4	521.9	784.2	±	706.3
Operation, anesthesia expenses (TL)			-	9796.9	1746.3	2009.0	±	1384.4
Laboratory expenses (TL)		20.0	-	773.0	75.7	118.4	±	129.9
Imaging expenses (TL)		1.5	-	188.5	18.1	29.9	±	34.1
Blood and blood product expenses (TL)		0.0	-	6907.5	664.0	1023.3	±	1191.5
Consulting expenses (TL)		24.1	-	1349.6	132.6	230.9	±	287.1
Patient admission expenses (TL)		113.0	-	113.0	113.0	113.0	±	0.0
Surgical team expenses (TL)		707.1	-	1767.7	1060.6	1108.5	±	245.5
Device depreciation expenses (TL)		29.4	-	72.9	43.9	45.8	±	10.1
Visit Team and other expenses (TL)		216.8	-	18,859.9	1517.5	2642.5	±	3593.8
Patient meal expenses (TL)		30.3	-	2636.1	212.1	369.4	±	502.3
Companion expenditures (TL)		0.0	-	374.6	20.1	66.9	±	92.7
Total cost (TL)		9924	-	82,767	19,961	24,005	±	14,094
Invoice amount (TL)		7687	-	109,005	17,423	21,490	±	16,301
SD: standard deviation min: minute TI : Turkish	lira							

Table 2. Comparison of septic and aseptic revision knee arthroplasty data

Comparison of septic and aseptic revision knee arthroplasty data

		Aseptic				Septic					
	Mean ± SE) (n, %)		Median	Mean ± S	D (n, %)		Median	р		
Age		67.9	±	7.6	68.0	70.0	±	7.6	71.0	0.485	m
Sex	Female	25		75.8%		12		70.6%		0 603	χ^2
Sex	Male	8		24.2%		5		29.4%		0.075	~
Surgery time (min)		188.5	±	39.3	180.0	187.4	±	47.1	180.0	0.967	m
Length of stay (days)		16.5	±	27.2	7.0	39.7	±	38.8	29.0	0.000	m
Medical consumption expenses (TL)		14690	±	8659	12564	15402	±	5114	14465	0.108	m
Drug expenditures (TL)		231.6	±	562.5	106.9	1113.3	±	1200.0	658.2	0.000	m
Treatment expenses (TL)		554.1	±	416.0	392.2	1230.7	±	927.7	815.4	0.000	m
Operation. Anesthesia expenses (TL)		1696.1	±	769.2	1479.3	2616.5	±	2022.9	2191.4	0.006	m
Laboratory expenses (TL)		81.9	±	88.3	61.1	189.3	±	167.4	153.0	0.000	m
Imaging expenses (TL)		25.3	±	36.5	12.7	38.8	±	27.5	26.5	0.002	m
Blood and blood product expenses (TL)		675.7	±	707.4	538.0	1697.9	±	1616.7	1044.4	0.000	m
Consulting expenses (TL)		135.8	±	199.4	96.4	415.4	±	343.5	337.4	0.000	m
Patient Admission expenses (TL)		113.0	±	0.0	113.0	113.0	±	0.0	113.0	1.000	m
Surgical team expenses (TL)		1110.8	±	231.8	1060.6	1103.9	±	277.6	1060.6	0.967	m
Device depreciation expenses (TL)		45.9	±	9.5	43.9	45.6	±	11.4	43.9	0.967	m
Visit team and other expenses (TL)		1786.8	±	2951.4	758.7	4303.7	±	4205.9	3143.3	0.000	m
Patient meal expenses (TL)		249.7	±	412.5	106.1	601.5	±	587.9	439.4	0.000	m
Companion expenditures (TL)		51.5	±	80.6	13.4	96.8	±	109.1	93.7	0.130	m
Total cost (TL)		21,448	±	13,438	18,083	28,968	±	14,406	26,236	0.001	m
Invoice amount (TL)		19,282	±	11,905	15,307	25,775	±	22,378	19,168	0.038	m

^mMann-Whitney U test, X²Chi-squared test, SD: standard deviation, min: minute, TL: Turkish lira

billing costs in the septic group were significantly higher than the aseptic group (p<0.05).

Factors causing infection include obesity, diabetes mellitus, male sex, American Society of Anesthesiologists score of \geq 3, diagnosis of osteonecrosis, diagnosis of posttraumatic arthritis, quadriceps-release exposure, and operative time as a risk factor, with a 9% increased risk per 15 minimum increment. High-risk patients should be counseled, and modifiable clinical conditions should be optimized (15).

For long-term survival, total knee prosthesis is required to be aligned in neutral or with a slight anatomic valgus (16). Navigation should be applied to improve the results of TKA in line with the limb and component alignment (17).

Blood loss constitutes a significant cost item for the hospital. To reduce bleeding, techniques, such as skin heating, gentle soft tissue dissection during surgery, use of a new bipolar electrocautery device, use of cardiac stent, and if not contraindicated, discontinuation of anticoagulant drugs, and use of preoperative intra- and postoperative tranexamic acid drugs, can be applied (18,19). Studies conducted to shorten the length of hospital stay may be an appropriate attempt to reduce the cost of inpatient treatment. Patients undergoing revision TKA for non-septic reasons may be included in fast-track protocols. Outcome seems to be similar to those of primary TKA regarding length of stay, morbidity, and satisfaction (20).

Study Limitations

In the literature, the mean length of hospitalization of revision knee arthroplasty surgeries is reported to be shorter (21). We can explain the longer duration of hospitalization in our study with the lack of adequate home care services after discharge in our country; thus, pain control and rehabilitation process of the patients in the early postoperative period are performed in the hospitals. In addition, the reasons for the longer hospitalization period in patients undergoing septic revision knee surgery include inclusion of two-stage revision arthroplasty surgeries in the study, inclusion of the cost and duration of each step, and process of hospitalization for spacer and spacer revision to the data set of each patient, the use of some antibiotics parenterally administered in two-stage revision surgeries (aztreonam, vancomycin, imipenem, meropenem, linezolid, ertapenem, doripenem, sulbactam, kolistimetat, cefuroxime sodium, and daptomycin) being possible only during hospitalization according to the HAN (3), and inability to discharge the patient until antibiotic treatment is completed.

CONCLUSION

As a result, to ensure the financial sustainability of the public hospital in the inpatient treatment of the patients who underwent this surgery, there is a need for the SSI to adjust, such as increasing the HPN prices. In addition, following the medical and technical innovations in revision surgery can help reduce the costs.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Metin Sabancı Baltalimanı Training and Research Hospital Expertise Education Committee in Medicine Observational Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 16.10.2017-16).

Informed Consent: The demographic information were determined through hospital information management system records.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - F.D., S.U.D., Ö.C.; Design - F.D., S.U.D., T.Y.; Supervision - S.U.D., Ö.C., M.A.T.; Resources - F.D., S.U.D.; Materials - S.U.D.; Data Collection and/or Processing - F.D., S.U.D.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - F.D., Ö.C., M.A.T.; Literature Search - F.D.; Writing Manuscript - F.D., Ö.C.; Critical Review - T.Y.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of Primary and Revision Hip and Knee Arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2007; 89: 780-5.
- Crowe JF, Sculco TP, Kahn B. Revision Total Hip Arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2003; 413: 175-82.
- 04.02.2018 Değişiklik Tebliği İşlenmiş Güncel 2013 SUT: Available from: http://www.sgk.gov.tr/wps/portal/sgk/tr/kurumsal/merkez-teskilati/ana_ hizmet_birimleri/gss_genel_mudurlugu/anasayfa_duyurular/degisiklik_ tebligi_islenmis_guncel_sut_08022018, Accessed April 19, 2018
- Sağlık Bakanlığı Finansal Analiz Daire Başkanlığı, Maliyet Analizi Çalışmalarında Gider Belirleme Tabloları, Mart 2014 (Revize Ocak-2015): Available from: https://khgm.saglik.gov.tr/ Dosyalar/5796ea7a9ecf44aa832b697631f7bc56.pdf, Accessed April 19, 2018

- Mut S, Ağırbaş İ. Hastanelerde Maliyet Analizi: Ankara'da Hizmet Sunan İkinci Basamak Bir Kamu Hastanesi'nde Uygulama. Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi 2017; 9: 202-17.
- Brimhall BB, Dean T, Hunt EL, Siegrist RB, Reiquam W. Age and laboratory costs for hospitalized medical patients. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2003; 127: 169-77.
- Al- Fozan H, Dufort J, Kaplow M, Valenti D, Tulandi T. Cost analysis of myomectomy, hysterectomy, and uterine artery embolization. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002; 187: 1401-4.
- Gage H, Kenward G, Hodgetts TJ, Castle N, Ineson N, Shaikh L. Health system costs of in-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2002; 54: 139-46.
- Hansen K, Chapman G, Chitsike I, Kasilo O, Mwaluko G. The costs of HIV/ AIDS care at government hospitals in Zimbabwe. Health Policy Plan 2000; 15: 432-40.
- Yigit Ç, Peker S, Cankul İ, Kostik Z, Alkan M, Özer M, et al. A Study on the Analysis of the Average Inpatient Cost at GATA Training Hospital. Gulhane Med J 2003; 45: 233-43.
- Özkan O, Ağırbaş İ. Radyoloji Departmanında Birim Maliyet Analizi Ve Örnek Bir Uygulama. Mehmet Akif Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi 2015; 13: 115-28.
- 12. Hebert CK, Williams RE, Levy RS, Barrack RL. Cost of Treating an Infected Total Knee Replacement. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1996; 331: 140-5.
- Oduwole KO, Molony DC, Walls RJ, Bashir SP, Mulhall KJ. Increasing financial burden of revision total knee arthroplasty. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2010; 18: 945-8.
- Kasch R, Merk S, Assmann G, Lahm A, Napp M, Merk H, et al. Comparative Analysis of Direct Hospital Care Costs between Aseptic and Two-Stage Septic Knee Revision. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0169558.
- Namba RS, Inacio MCS, Paxton EW. Risk Factors Associated with Deep Surgical Site Infections After Primary Total Knee Arthroplasty: an analysis of 56,216 knees. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2013; 95: 775-82.
- Ritter MA, Faris PM, Keating EM, Meding JB. Postoperative Alignment of Total Knee Replacement Its Effect on Survival. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1994; 299: 153-6.
- Anderson KC, Buehler KC, Markel DC. Computer Assisted Navigation in Total Knee Arthroplasty: comparison with conventional methods. J Arthroplasty 2005; 20: 132-8.
- Spahn DR. Anemia and Patient Blood Management in Hip and Knee Surgery: a systematic review of the literature. Anesthesiology 2010; 113: 482-95.
- Tian P, Liu WB, Li ZJ, Xu GJ, Huang YT, Ma XL. The efficacy and safety of tranexamic acid in revision total knee arthroplasty: a meta-analysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2017; 18: 273
- Husted H, Otte KS, Kristensen BB, Kehlet H. Fast-track revision knee arthroplasty. Acta Orthop 2011; 82: 438-40.
- Liodakis E, Bergeron SG, Zukor DJ, Huk OL, Epure LM, Antoniou J. Perioperative Complications and Length of Stay After Revision Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasties: An Analysis of the NSQIP Database. J Arthroplasty 2015; 30: 1868-71.

A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion

🔟 Deniz Baklacı¹, 🔟 İsmail Güler², 🔟 İhsan Kuzucu³, 🔟 Rauf Oğuzhan Kum⁴, 🔟 Müge Özcan⁴

¹Bülent Ecevit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Otolaryngology, Zonguldak, Turkey
 ²Ankara Medipol University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Otolaryngology, Ankara, Turkey
 ³Medisun Private Hospital, Clinic of Otolaryngology, Ankara, Turkey
 ⁴Ankara City Hospital, Clinic of Otolaryngology, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Baklacı D, Güler İ, Kuzucu İ, Kum RO, Özcan M. A Comparison of the Clinical Features and Intraoperative Findings in Cholesteatoma Patients with and without Sinus Tympani Invasion. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):138-42

ABSTRACT

Objective: The sinus tympani (ST) comprise one of the most hidden areas in the human body. It is one of the most common locations of residual cholesteatomas and is in close proximity with the facial nerve and stapes. These characteristics render ST as a key factor in chronic otitis media surgeries. This study aimed to investigate the clinical features and intraoperative findings of cholesteatoma patients with and without ST invasion (STI).

Methods: One hundred and fifty-one cholesteatoma patients who had undergone the canal wall-down procedure at our center were retrospectively reviewed. They were categorized into two groups: cholesteatoma patients with and without STI. Comparisons were made between the two groups in terms of the disease duration, surgical technique, rate of facial canal dehiscence (FCD), and number of locations of FCD and erosion of the stapes suprastructure. The mean hearing gain of the patients who underwent hearing reconstruction was compared between both groups.

Results: The rates of disease duration >5 years, radical mastoidectomy surgery, and erosion of the stapes suprastructure were significantly higher in patients with STI than in those without STI. Mean hearing gain was significantly higher in patients without STI than in those with STI. The numbers of locations and rate of FCD were also significantly higher in patients with STI than in those without STI.

Conclusion: The presence of STI in cholesteatoma patients is a significant intraoperative finding for the predicting the extent of FCD. STI should serve as a warning to surgeons because it indicates a potential for less functional outcomes due to erosion of the stapes suprastructure.

Keywords: Sinus tympani, cholesteatoma, facial canal, stapes suprastructure

INTRODUCTION

The sinus tympani (ST) are one of the most obscure areas in the human body. It lies medial to the pyramidal eminence, stapedial muscle, and facial nerve and lateral to the vestibule and posterior semicircular canal (1). The ST is clinically important during chronic otitis media surgery because of the risk of cholesteatoma recurrence due to the incomplete removal of the growth from the ST and conductive hearing loss due to its close proximity with the oval window and stapes suprastructure (2,3). The cholesteatoma

ORCID IDs of the authors: D.B. 0000-0001-8449-4965; İ.G. 0000-0001-6093-6757; İ.K. 0000-0001-5773-4126; R.O.K. 0000-0002-9639-0204; M.Ö. 0000-0003-2384-3564.



Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: Deniz Baklacı, E-mail: doktorent@gmail.com Received Date 05.05.2019 Accepted Date: 09.01.2020

located at the ST may come in contact with the stapes for a longer period with a higher pressure and may lead to erosion of the stapes suprastructure and less favorable functional outcomes.

The close proximity of the ST with the facial nerve makes the nerve more vulnerable during cholesteatoma surgery, especially if dehiscence is present in the bone covering the nerve (4-14). The facial canal dehiscence (FCD) may be caused by developmental bony defects or bony erosion caused by the enzymatic or pressure effect of cholesteatoma located at the ST. An unobserved FCD in the vicinity of the ST may be a risk factor for iatrogenic facial paralysis during the removal of cholesteatoma from the ST.

In this study, we aimed to compare the clinical features and intraoperative findings in cholesteatoma patients with and without ST invasion (STI).

METHODS

The study protocol was approved by the local ethical committee (approval number: E-18-1859, date: 11 April, 2018). Overall, 151 cholesteatoma patients (85 males, 66 females; 15-80 years of age; average age 42.9 years) who had undergone the canal wall-down procedure (CWDP) [51 radical mastoidectomy (RM), 100 modified radical mastoidectomy (MRM)] at our tertiary referral center between January 2010 and December 2017 were retrospectively reviewed. All the patients underwent otoscopic examination and audiometric investigation. Preoperative imaging of the temporal bone was obtained for all the patients and included highresolution computed tomography (HRCT) or magnetic resonance imaging. The diagnosis of cholesteatoma was confirmed by histopathological examination. The disease duration, type of surgeries, hearing gain, and operation records, including information about the facial canal, STI, and stapes integrity, were documented for all the patients. The patients were categorized into two groups: cholesteatoma with STI and cholesteatoma without STI.

Our main indicators for CWDP were extensive cholesteatoma advancing into the mastoid and beyond, eustachian tube (anteromedial to the ossicles) or ST, extensive damage of the external auditory canal by disease, failure of previous canal wall-up surgery with recurrent cholesteatoma from epitympanic retraction pockets, patients with poor preoperative auditory thresholds, complicated cases, and the patients whose postoperative followup constitutes a problem. Patients who had undergone a revision tympanomastoidectomy and those with aural or intracranial complications were excluded from the study.

Intraoperative Findings

FCD observations were made with an operating microscope and confirmed by palpation with a blunt pick. We used the Moody and Lambert (13) classification for describing the FCD location. FCD located at the tympanic segment (TS) of the nerve was divided into three groups: [pure tympanic (PT); directly superior to the oval window], [geniculate ganglion (GG); proximal to the cochleariform process], and [mastoid genu (MG); distal to the oval

window]. Combinations of PT, GG, and MG were also calculated. Dehiscence occurring in the mastoid segment of the nerve was noted as mastoid.

To evaluate the extent of cholesteatoma, the posterior canal wall was lowered to the level of the facial ridge. In patients where the cholesteatoma extended into the ST, the cholesteatoma was removed from the ST with a blunt pick and cottonoid.

Ossicular Reconstruction in CWDP

Ossicular chain reconstruction was performed in the presence of an intact and/or mobile stapes and good cochlear function. The integrity of the stapes suprastructure was assessed by the presence or absence of stapes footplates. Footplate mobility was evaluated by eliciting the round window reflex. Temporalis fascia graft was placed under the remnant of the anterior tympanic membrane and over the enlarged inferior canal wall. A small piece of cartilage (conchal) was placed between the fascia graft and stapes head. If the stapes suprastructure was absent and footplate mobile, we used titanium ossicular replacement prosthesis with a cartilage cap and place it between the footplate and temporalis fascia graft.

All the procedures performed were in accordance with the ethical standards of our institution and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants prior to surgery.

All the patients underwent preoperative and postoperative (at 6 months) pure-tone audiometry measurements at 0.5, 1, 2, and 4 kHz and at 3 kHz frequencies using an Interacoustic AC-40 (Middelfart, Denmark) clinical audiometer. The average of the values at 2 and 4 kHz was used to calculate the value for 3 kHz. Preoperative and postoperative air and bone conduction thresholds were measured at these four frequencies. The air-bone gap (ABG) was calculated as the average difference between the air and bone conductions at four frequencies (0.5, 1, 2, and 3 kHz).

Statistical Analysis

The SPSS statistical software (SPSS 21.0 for Windows, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for data analysis. Quantitative data were presented as mean ± standard deviation or median and interquartile range and categorical variables were presented as percentages. The data was tested for normal distribution using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U tests, as appropriate, were used to compare continuous variables. Chi-square test was used to identify statistically significant differences between categorical variables. A 2-tailed p<0.05 was considered significant.

Results

A total of 151 patients (mean age: 36.2±13.2 years) with 151 operated ears (80 left, 71 right) who met the aforementioned criteria were evaluated. The overall STI rate was 41.7% (63 patients).

The disease duration was \Box 5 years in 31 patients (20.5%) and \Box 5 years in the remaining 120 patients (79.5%). STI was observed in 57 of 120 patients (47.5%) with a disease duration \Box 5 years and in 6 of 31 patients (19.4%) with a disease duration \Box 5 years. The rate of the disease duration \Box 5 years was significantly higher in patients with STI than in those without STI (p=0.005, Table 1).

Overall, 36 of 63 patients (57.1%) with STI and 15 of 88 patients (17%) without STI had undergone RM and this difference was statistically significant (p<0.001, Table 2).

The mean preoperative ABG was 33.3 ± 5.2 dB in patients with STI and 29.2 ± 6.1 dB in those without STI. There was a statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of preoperative ABG (p<0.001). The mean postoperative ABG was 30.8 ± 5.9 dB in patients with STI and 22.6 ± 5.1 dB in patients without STI. There was a statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of postoperative ABG (p<0.001). The mean hearing gain was 2.4 ± 1.1 dB in patients with STI and 6.5 ± 5.8 dB in those without STI and this difference was statistically significant (p<0.001).

The overall FCD rate was 33.8% and FCD was observed in 34 of 63 patients (54%) with STI and 17 of 88 patients (19.3%) without STI. Among the 51 patients with FCD, dehiscence was located at the TS in 47 patients (92%). The locations of dehiscence were as follows: GG, 2 patients (4.2%); PT, 13 patients (27.6%); MG, 4 patients (8.6%); PT+GG, 9 patients (19.2%); PT+MG, 10 patients (21.2%); and GG+PT+MG, 9 patients (19.2%). Overall, 4 patients (8%) had both tympanic and mastoid segment dehiscence. There were at least 2 locations of FCD in 31 of 34 patients (96.9%) with STI and 1 of 17 patients (6.2%) without STI (Figure 1). There was a statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of the number of FCD location (p<0.001, Table 3).

Erosion of the stapes suprastructure was observed in 46 of 63 patients (73%) with STI and in 37 of 88 patients (42%) without STI. There was a statistically significant difference between both groups in terms of erosion of the stapes suprastructure (p<0.001, Table 3).

Discussion

The ST has always been considered as important during cholesteatoma surgery due to its inability to be directly visualized under microscopes and because it is the most common location of residual cholesteatomas (2,3,15,16). The ST also has a critical anatomical proximity with the facial canal, and this proximity obstructs its surgical manipulation, especially when there is an anatomical defect or variation in the canal. The specificity

Table 1.	Disease	duration	in	cholesteatoma	patients	with
and with	out STI					

Disease duration	STI (+) (n=63)	STI (-) (n=88)	Total (n=151)	р					
Less than 5 years	6 (9%)	25 (28%)	31 (20%)	0.005+					
More than 5 years	57(91%)	63 (72%)	120 (80%)	0.005^					
N: Number of patients, STI: sinus tympani invasion, *p<0.05									

and sensitivity of imaging systems are low for the detection of perioperative FCD (17). Therefore, ear surgeons should be familiar with the pathologies having a high likelihood of observing FCD, especially in cholesteatoma patients. Sometimes, surgeons may reasonably approach the facial nerve path more carefully and even risk the incomplete removal of the cholesteatoma when FCD is intraoperatively observed. FCD had been previously demonstrated to negatively affect surgical outcomes, including suboptimal hearing results and a potential requirement for revision surgery (18).

In our study, 63 of 151 patients (41.7%) had cholesteatoma invading into the ST. The disease duration was \Box 5 years in 57 of 63 patients (90.4%) with STI and in 63 of 88 patients (70.1%) without STI. A longer disease duration prior to the surgery may provide insight into the extent of the disease in the ST. Overall, 36 of 63 (57%) with STI and 15 of 88 (17%) without STI had undergone RM. These results indicated that the extent of cholesteatoma into the ST affects a surgeon's choice for RM (p<0.001). The assessment of

 Table 2. Distribution of the type of surgery according to STI

Type of surgery	STI (+) (n=63)	STI (-) (n=88)	Total (n=151)	р
Radical mastoidectomy	36 (57.1%)	15 (17%)	51 (33.7%)	-0.001*
Modified radical mastoidectomy	27 (42.9%)	73 (83%)	100 (66.3%)	<0.001*

n: Number of patients, STI: sinus tympani invasion, *p<0.05

Table	3.	Incidence	of	facial	canal	dehiscence	and	stapes	
supras	stru	cture eros	ion	accord	ding to	the groups			

	STI (+) (n=63)	STI (-) (n=88)	Total (n=151)	р	
Facial canal dehiscence	34 (54%)	17 (19.3%)	51 (33.8%)	<0.001*	
One location	3 (3.1%)	16 (93.8%)	19 (37%)	<0.001*	
More than one location	31 (96.9%)	1 (6.2%)	32 (63%)	<0.001*	
Stape suprastructure erosion	46 (73%)	37 (42%)	83 (55%)	<0.001*	

n: Number of patients, STI: sinus tympani invasion, *p<0.05



Figure 1. Status of the facial canal and sites of facial canal dehiscence with respect to STI

STI: Sinus tympani invasion, PT: pure tympanic, GG: geniculate ganglion, MG: mastoid genu, TS: tympanic segment, M: mastoid

ossicular chain defects could explain the tendency of performing RM in patients with STI. We assessed the integrity of the stapes suprastructure according to the proximity of the oval window and stapes with ST. Our results demonstrated that the stapes suprastructure was eroded in 46 patients (73%) with STI and in 37 patients (42%) without STI. The close proximity of the ST with the stapes may cause the cholesteatoma to come in contact with the stapes for a longer period and with a higher pressure. The absence of the stapes suprastructure may complicate ossicular reconstruction.

Postoperative hearing outcomes were found to be better in cholesteatoma patients with the presence of the stapes suprastructure (19). Hence, STI resulting from cholesteatoma should alert surgeons regrading potentially less functional outcomes, and the preoperative evaluation of STI by HRCT may provide insights concerning the integrity of the stapes suprastructure.

FCD may be caused by developmental defects due to failure during the ossification process of the bony canal or bony erosion caused by cholesteatoma and inflammation (20). The mechanism of bony erosion resulting from cholesteatoma has indicated that bony erosion is due to the enzymatic or compression effect of cholesteatoma (21). The rate of dehiscence was reportedly higher (ranging between 55% and 72%) in other anatomical studies (22-24). Yetiser et al. (10) have reported an FCD rate of 11% in non-cholesteatoma patients. Bayazit et al. (20) have reported an FCD rate of 8.9% in non-cholesteatoma patients and 18.4% in cholesteatoma patients, whereas Ozbek et al. (14) have reported this rate at 37.2% in cholesteatoma patients. In the series of Magliulo et al. (17), which comprised 336 patients who had undergone mastoidectomy for cholesteatoma, this rate was reported as 27.1%. Selesnick and Lynn-Macrae (4) reported this rate at 33% during primary surgery and 35% during revision surgery. Moreover, Genc et al. (25) have reported this rate at 32.7% in cholesteatoma patients.

However, no healthy controls were analyzed in our study. The rate of FCD was 33.8%, which is similar to the results of Genc et al. (25) (32.7%) and Selesnick and Lynn-Macrae (4) (33%). The likely cause for this high percentage was that most of the patients included in our study had delayed or extensive disease. Our clinical approach for extensive cholesteatoma is CWDP. By this approach, we could accurately remove pathological growth from the middle ear and evaluate the FCD. The FCD rate was found to be significantly higher (54%) in patients with STI than in patients without STI, possibly due to a longer duration of contact of the cholesteatoma with the bony canal covering the facial nerve in the middle ear. Magliulo et al. (17) found that the risk for FCD was approximately 3.5 times more likely in patients with disease duration $\Box 5$ years. These findings indicate that the longer pressure and enzymatic effects of the cholesteatoma mass on the bony canal results in a higher incidence of FCD or microdehiscence is enzymatically enlarged by cholesteatoma with time. This theory is supported by the fact that the disease duration was significantly longer in patients with STI than in those without STI.

Hence, we may conclude that the gross dehiscence of the facial canal may be due to prolonged contact with cholesteatoma or enlargement of a microdehiscence resulting from the disease. Conversely, it can be stated that cholesteatoma located at the ST may cause erosion in the adjacent bony structures as it expands. The pressure effect may increase when the cholesteatoma in the ST enlarges. Due to the pressure and enzymatic effects of cholesteatoma in this narrow space, the microdehiscence on the facial canal can be transformed into a macrodehiscence.

Previous studies have demonstrated that the most common location of dehiscence is the TS of the facial canal. Reportedly, FCD was also mainly observed in the tympanic region (92%). When we divided the number of locations of the tympanic dehiscences into three groups, the most common sites of dehiscence were the PT, MG, and GG, respectively. However, only mastoid dehiscence was not observed. The bony canal surrounding the facial nerve in the TS is quite thin; therefore, pathologies in the middle ear, i.e., cholesteatoma, infections, and inflammation, may directly damage the facial canal in these locations. In patients with STI, dehiscence was found at more than one location in 31 patients (96.9%). The number of dehiscence locations was correlated with STI. In patients with STI, dehiscence was observed at PT+GG in 9, PT+MG in 9, PT+GG+MG in 9, and T+M in 4 patients. Hence, we may conclude that cholesteatomas invading the ST were more aggressive and extensive in terms of FCD, and a significant correlation was noted between STI and the extent of dehiscence. It should be kept in mind that the presence of dehiscence at one segment of the facial canal in patients with STI may indicate the presence of additional dehiscence at other regions of the canal.

Study Limitations

There are two limitations to be addressed in this study. Firstly, some personal biases may have crept in during the evaluation of the surgical findings. Secondly, in retrospective studies, some of the records obtained from medical charts may be incomplete or lost in the course of time, leading to missing data. Further prospective studies can provide more reliable and accurate data.

CONCLUSION

FCD may be a challenging issue during cholesteatoma surgery, even for experienced surgeons. Dehiscence is more common in patients when cholesteatoma invades the ST. Our study indicates that FCD is present in more than half of cholesteatoma patients with STI. Hence, for patients in whom STI is intraoperatively observed, their facial nerve is likely at risk. The presence of STI in cholesteatoma patients is a significant finding for the prediction and extent of FCD. Ear surgeons must cautiously evaluate the intraoperative findings that may suggest FCD, such as the presence of STI, especially in patients with extensive cholesteatoma. Hence, the prevention of facial injury should be a priority while operating upon cholesteatoma patients with STI. STI should serve as a warning to surgeons as it indicates a potential for less functional outcomes due to erosion of the stapes suprastructure in cholesteatoma patients.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study protocol was approved by the local ethical committee (approval number: E-18-1859, date: 11.04.2018).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants prior to surgery.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - D.B., İ.G., İ.K., R.O.K., M.Ö.; Concept - D.B., İ.K., R.O.K., M.Ö.; Design - D.B., İ.K., R.O.K., M.Ö.; Data Collection and/or Processing - D.B., İ.G.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - D.B., İ.G., R.O.K., M.Ö.; Literature Search - D.B., İ.G.; Writing Manuscript - D.B.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Marchioni D, Mattioli F, Alicandri-Ciufelli M, Presutti L. Transcanal endoscopic approach to the sinus tympani: a clinical report. Otol Neurotol 2009; 30: 758-65.
- 2. Weiss MH, Parisier SC, Han JC, Edelstein DR. Surgery for recurrent and residual cholesteatoma. Laryngoscope 1992; 102: 145-51.
- 3. Pulec J. Sinus tympani: retrofacial approach for the removal of cholesteatomas. Ear Nose Throat J 1996; 75: 86-8.
- Selesnick SH, Lynn-Macrae AG. The incidence of facial nerve dehiscence at surgery for cholesteatoma. Otol Neurotol 2001; 22: 129-32.
- Sheehy JL, Brackmann DE, Graham MD. Cholesteatoma surgery: residual and recurrent disease. A review of 1,024 cases. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1977; 86: 451-62.
- Green JD Jr, Shelton C, Brackmann DE. latrogenic facial nerve injury during otologic surgery. Laryngoscope 1994; 104: 922-6.
- Li D, Cao Y. Facial canal dehiscence: a report of 1,465 stapes operations. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1996; 105: 467-71.
- Nilssen EL, Wormald PJ. Facial nerve palsy in mastoid surgery. J Laryngol Otol 1997; 111: 113-6.
- Harvey SA, Fox MC. Relevant issues in revision canal-wall-down mastoidectomy. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1999; 121: 18-22.

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):138-42

- Yetiser S, Tosun F, Kazkayasi M. Facial nerve paralysis due to chronic otitis media. Otol Neurotol 2002; 23: 580-8.
- Lin JC, Ho KY, Kuo WR, Wang LF, Chai CY, Tsai SM. Incidence of dehiscence of the facial nerve at surgery for middle ear cholesteatoma. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2004; 131: 452-6.
- Di Martino E, Sellhaus B, Haensel J, Schlegel JG, Westhofen M, Prescher A. Fallopian canal dehiscences: a survey of clinical and anatomical findings. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2005; 262: 120-6.
- 13. Moody MW, Lambert PR. Incidence of dehiscence of the facial nerve in 416 cases of cholesteatoma. Otol Neurotol 2007; 28: 400-4.
- Ozbek C, Tuna E, Ciftci O, Yazkan O, Ozdem C. Incidence of fallopian canal dehiscence at surgery for chronic otitis media. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2009; 266: 357-62.
- Badr-el-Dine M. Surgery of Sinus Tympani Cholesteatoma: Endoscopic Necessity. J Int Adv Otol 2009; 5: 158-65.
- Marchioni D, Valerini S, Mattioli F, Alicandri-Ciufelli M, Presutti L. Radiological assessment of the sinus tympani: temporal bone HRCT analyses and surgically related findings. Surg Radiol Anat 2015; 37: 385-92.
- 17. Magliulo G, Colicchio MG, Appiani MC. Facial nerve dehiscence and cholesteatoma. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2011; 120: 261-7.
- Ocak E, Beton S, Mulazimoglu S, Meco C. Does dehiscence of the facial nerve canal affect tympanoplasty results? J Craniofac Surg 2016; 27: 374-6.
- 19. Iurato S, Marioni G, Onofri M. Hearing results of ossiculoplasty in Austin-Kartush group A patients. Otol Neurotol 2001; 22 :140-4.
- Bayazit YA, Ozer E, Kanlikama M. Gross dehiscence of the bone covering the facial nerve in the light of otological surgery. J Laryngol Otol 2002; 116 :800-3.
- Uno Y, Saito R. Bone resorption in human cholesteatoma: morphological study with scanning electron microscopy. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1995; 104: 463-8.
- Moreano EH, Paparella MM, Zelterman D, Goycoolea MV. Prevalence of facial canal dehiscence and of persistent stapedial artery in the human middle ear: a report of 1000 temporal bones. Laryngoscope 1994; 104: 309-20.
- Baxter A. Dehiscence of the fallopian canal. An anatomical study. J Laryngol Otol 1971; 85: 587-94.
- Nomiya S, Cureoglu S, Kariya S, Morita N, Nomiya R, Nishizaki K, et al. Histopathological incidence of facial canal dehiscence in otosclerosis. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2011; 268: 1267-71.
- 25. Genc S, Genc MG, Arslan IB, Selcuk A. Coexistence of scutum defect and facial canal dehiscence. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2014; 271: 701-5.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3145 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):143-8

Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer

💿 Fikri Okan Falay, 💿 Hülya Seymen

Koç University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Falay FO, Seymen H. Contribution of Fluorodeoxyglucose-Positron Emission Tomography Late Imaging to Diagnosis and Correlation with Histopathology in Invasive Lobular Breast Cancer. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):143-8

ABSTRACT

Objective: The aim of this study was to investigate the correlation between primary lesion and contralateral breast tissue metabolic parameters in standard and delayed images obtained on preoperative F-18-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) positron emission tomography (PET) and the correlation with pathological variables of primary lesion in invasive lobular breast cancer (ILC).

Methods: Seventeen ILC cases in which standard and late FDG-PET imaging were performed between 2007 and 2018 were included in the study. SUV_{max} , metabolic tumor volume (MTV) and total lesion glycolysis (TLG) values and change rates (Δ) of primary malignant lesion and contralateral breast control area were recorded. T and N-stages, histological and nuclear grades of primary malignancy, estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor, presence of human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER)-2 and Ki-67 values are compared with FDG-PET values.

Results: No statistically significant correlation was found between metabolic parameters and histopathological components of 17 ILC patients (median age: 45 years) after surgery (11 breast conserving surgery, 6 mastectomy). Among the metabolic parameters obtained from contralateral breast tissue, SUV_{max}-based ones [standard(s)-SUV_{max}, late(g)-SUV_{max}, Δ SUV_{max}] showed statistically significant differences with malignancy (p<0.000).

Conclusion: Especially the negative median value of the control SUV_{max} suggests that late imaging may provide additional contribution, especially in the dense breast tissue, in the ILC with high probability of multifocality/multicentricity. Although there was no statistically significant difference with histopathological components, parallel results (such as high Δ -TLG in presence of lymph node metastasis, HER-2 positive and high SUV_{max}, MTV and TLG median values in ER negative cases) were seen with the literature mostly consisting of invasive ductal carcinoma. Confirmation of this important information obtained only from ILC patients is required in multicentre studies or meta-analyzes in which the number of cases will be higher.

Keywords: FDG-PET, late imaging, metabolic parameter, invasive lobular cancer

INTRODUCTION

Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer in women and ranks second after lung cancer in cancer-related deaths. Early diagnosis, more accurate and intervention-free staging, treatment follow-up and determining prognosis are the most important processes in determining the approach to breast cancer. 50-70% of breast cancers are invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC), 5-15% are invasive lobular cancer (ILC), 1-6% mucinous carcinoma and 1-2% tubular carcinoma (1).

In the diagnosis process, Magnetic resonance imaging is generally the method used especially in dens breast tissue and ILC, although it is required to have more sensitive non-invasive complementary

ORCID IDs of the authors: F.O.F. 0000-0003-4527-5983; H.S. 0000-0001-9799-2832.



Received Date: 24.09.2019 Accepted Date: 17.01.2020

methods due to increasing unnecessary biopsy count because of low specificity (72%), limitations in axillary lymph node staging and not being able to screen for distant metastases (2).

Although F-18-fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) imaging has a high sensitivity and specificity in showing malignant lesions, its sensitivity in breast cancer is limited. In metaanalysis, it is reported that the overall sensitivity of FDG-PET in detecting primary breast cancer is 64-96%, specificity 73-100%, positive predictive value 81-100%, negative predictive value 52-89% (3). While the sensitivity of FDG-PET is 57% in tumors smaller than 1 cm in diameter, it exceeds 90% in tumors larger than 1 cm in diameter (4). False positivity can be seen in benign lesions such as fibroadenoma, ductal adenoma and inflammation. However, there are also studies reporting that FDG-PET is better than conventional methods in the initial evaluation of patients, especially enabling the detection of infraclavicular, supraclavicular and internal mammarian lymph nodes and occult distant metastases (5).

Glut-1 and hexokinase expression, number of live tumor cells, histological subgroup, microvascular density and inflammatory cell presence in breast cancer are the major factors affecting FDG involvement (6). The main factors explaining low FDG involvement seen in ILCs are lower tumor cell density, diffuse infiltration in the surrounding tissue, low Glut-1 expression, and low proliferation rate (7). It is known that estrogen and progesterone receptor (PR) negative, HER-2 expression positive tumors show higher FDG involvement compared to receptor positive and HER-2 negative tumors (8).

The clinical systemic contribution of PET is reported to be low due to the low FDG affinity in mucinous (1-6%) and tubular (1-2%) cancers, which occur less frequently with ILC, which constitutes 10-15% of breast cancers (9,10). For these reasons, the contribution of FDG-PET to IDC was mostly evaluated in the studies, and the ILC was found in a limited number of studies or was not included in the study due to low sensitivity (4,11).

The very low density of glucose-6-phosphatase enzyme in the tumor cell causes FDG to continue to accumulate. It is known that late imaging contributes to the diagnosis in malignancies, where the imaging quality will be optimal as much as the radiopharmaceutical half-life allows (12). There are many studies reporting that late image in FDG-PET in breast cancer significantly increases sensitivity and specificity (13-26). However, these studies mostly consist of IDC patients.

As the breast tissue density increases, FDG involvement is higher, and in this case primary lesion visualization has a negative effect on the ILC with low FDG involvement potential. In this retrospective study, it was aimed to investigate the contribution of metabolic parameters obtained from primary lesion and contralateral breast tissue and late images taken in preoperative FDG-PET in the ILC, where clinical diagnosis and staging of breast cancer is particularly difficult, to predict diagnosis and also the correlation of histopathological variables with primary lesion.

METHODS

Seventeen patients diagnosed with ILC applied to the nuclear medicine, molecular imaging and radionuclide treatment department for staging in purpose of FDG-PET test between 2007 and 2018, who underwent surgery for breast and axilla within 5-30 days after FDG-PET were included in the study. 50-70 minimum after 5-9 mCi FDG given intravenously, standard 7-9 bed length and between vertex and mid-crus and; 160-200 minimum later, late imaging of 2 bed areas covering the neck and thorax regions made with GE Discovery IQ-5 ring and GE Discovery 710 PET/computed tomography devices. The images were evaluated with the PETVCAR program at GE AW workstation. Metabolic tumor volume (s-MTV, a-MTV) and total lesion glycolysis (s-TLG, g-TLG) semicantitative tissue analysis values and exchange rates (Δ =late draft value-standard draft value/standard draft value x100) calculated from the area of interest drawn according to the relative threshold of 40% and above of $\mathsf{SUV}_{\mathsf{max}}$ were recorded with primary malignant lesion SUV_{max} [standart(s)-SUV_{max}, late(g)-SUV_{max}] values. In the presence of multifocal/multicentric malignancy, the lesion with the highest SUV_{max} was included in the study. As the control group, the same semi-quantitative tissue analysis values and change rates were obtained from the area of mirror image in the opposite breast parenchyma. T and N-stages of primary malignancy, histological and nuclear grades, estrogen receptor (ER), PR, presence of human epidermal growth factor receptor (HER)-2 and Ki-67 values obtained from pathology of mastectomy (6 patients) or breast-conserving surgery (11 patients) are evaluated with semi-quantitative tissue analysis results obtained from FDG-PET. The presence of the estrogen or PR (1% and above) was considered as receptor positivity. The fact that Ki-67 was 14% and above was classified as a high proliferation index. HER-2 overexpression was evaluated as immunohistochemically positive, and HER-2 amplification was detected by fluorescent in-situ hybridization method in cases with 0/1+ immunohistochemistry.

Statistical Analysis

Since the data did not conform to the normal distribution, given as median and interval, in the dependent variable analysis (between the patient and healthy breast) Wilcoxon sign order test is used; Mann-Whitney U test was used only as an independent variable analysis for comparing the patient group within itself. P<0.05 was accepted as the statistical significance limit.

The primary outcome measure of the study is to investigate whether late imaging FDG involvement in the ILC contributes to the diagnosis prediction; secondary outcome measure is the relationship of FDG involvement amount with metastasis and histopathological variables (histological and nuclear grade, ER, PR and HER-2 presence, Ki-67).

Ethical Approval and Informed Consent

The study was conducted in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects" (amended in October 2013) and the authors declared that the study was carried out with ethical principles in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration. Patient consent could not be obtained due to the retrospective study structure.

RESULTS

Demographic features and histopathological characteristics of 17 patients included in the study, which were undergo surgery with the diagnosis of ILC, are presented in Table 1. After median 32 days (30±28 days), breast protecting surgery was performed in 11 patients (76%) and mastectomy (24%) in 6 patients. Ten of the cases are pT1, 6 of them are pT2, and only 1 patient is pT3.

The comparison of the primary malignancy and control tissue analysis values of the cases obtained in FDG-PET is given in Table 2. Accordingly, a significant difference was observed in the values obtained from the control interest area with malignancy in the SUV_{max} based values of s-SUV_{max}, g-SUV_{max} and Δ -SUV_{max}. In addition, the negative rate of median change in the control group in Δ -SUV_{max} and Δ -TLG indicates that the difference in involvement between the non-malignant breast parenchyma and malignancy has increased in the late image (Figure 1).

Of the 7 cases with lymph node metastasis, the patient with the highest SUV_{max} value in the group, metastatic lymph node was visualized in the late image and the primary malignancy Δ -SUV_{max}value was 62 (Figure 2).

DISCUSSION

Diagnosis of ILC and staging distant metastasis with lymph node after diagnosis is one of the most clinically difficult malignancies. The most important reasons for this are the fact that the tumor is seen as a tissue thickening rather than a mass formation due to the fact that it does not cause a stromal reaction and rarely observed microcalcification, which is the most important clinical finding in early diagnosis (27-29).

It is known that invasive triple negative tumors (TNT) in breast cancer have higher FDG affinity than non-TNTs (30) and grad 3 tumors have higher FDG affinity compared to grade 1-2 tumors (31). In addition, as well as tumor histopathology, microvascularization and hypoxia level affect FDG-PET radiopharmaceutical affinity (32).

There are many factors such as low tumor cell density, diffuse infiltration in the surrounding tissue, low Glut-1 expression, and low proliferation rate, explaining the low FDG involvement of FDG-PET in ILCs.

Many different metabolic parameters such as SUV, MTV, TLG have been used to increase sensitivity and specificity in breast tumors.

45 (35-62)
10 (59)
6 (35)
1 (6)
10 (59)
7 (47)
10 (59)
7 (41)
10 (59)
7 (41)
5 (29)
8 (47)
4 (24)
5 (29)
8 (47)
4 (24)
9 (53)
8 (47)
11 (65)
6 (35)

 $\mathsf{ER:}\xspace$ Estrogen receptor, $\mathsf{PR:}\xspace$ progesterone receptor, $\mathsf{HER:}\xspace$ human epidermal growth factor receptor



Figure 1. Fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography standard and late images; Left breast lower-inner quadrant invasive lobular cancer interest (red arrow) and contralateral breast same quadrant interest (blue arrow) *MTV: Metabolic tumor volume, TLG: total lesion glycolysis*

The majority of cases are more common IDC in nearly all of the researches. In 6 studies investigating the contribution of late imaging with FDG-PET in breast cancer, the first bibliography of 2/56, 3/66, 13/86, 2/53, 8/48 and 2/38, respectively, was included in the studies and the rate was only 9% (30/347) (18-20, 24-26). There is no study of ILC cases.

The correlation of tumor heterogeneity with aggressive malignancy has been demonstrated in many tumors. In the study of Garcia-Vicente et al. (19), it was predicted that increase in heterogeneity in late images may provide more meaningful prognostic information (18). In our study, Δ -TLG value to be 50 (median: 9) in our 2 cases who had lymph node metastasis is a finding that supports this.

Caprio et al. (26) shared that D-SUV_{max}, obtained by late imaging of FDG-PET in 8-ILC, 40-IDC and 11 benign breast lesions, increased significantly in malignancy and decreased significantly in benign lesions (25). In cases with local recurrence and distant metastasis, 13 of them were ILC and 86 of them were invasive breast cancer, Hildebrandt et al. (21) reported that more malignancy could be detected by decreasing background activity in late images (20).

Breast density can vary widely with age and weight. The higher FDG involvement in the dens breast tissue is a reason that reduces sensitivity in the ILC, which can show low FDG affinity. In our study, the control Δ -SUV_{max} median value obtained from the contralateral breast tissue is -10. In our study, in which Δ -SUV_{max} (median: 53) was significantly different in ILC, it was thought that late imaging may contribute additionally to the visualization of the ILC, which has a high probability of multifocality/multicentricity, especially in the dense breast tissue.



Figure 2. Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-positron emission tomography standard (S) and late (G) images; Right breast lower-inner quadrant invasive lobular cancer (red arrow), FDG involvement in late image visualized in the right central axillary metastatic lymph node (blue arrow) MTV: Metabolic tumor volume, TLG: total lesion glycolysis

Garcia-Vicente et al. (19) reported no additional contributions in the group where they assessed late imaging in 66 invasive breast cancers, of which only 3 cases were the ILC.

In the study that Sasada et al. (22) evaluated a total of 1122 invasive breast cancers, 30 of which were ILC, in late imaging, the value we defined as Δ in our study is expressed as retention index (RI). Although there was no significant difference in our study, SUV_{max} in the HER-2 positive group is higher than the group where MTV and TLG median values were negative (Table 2).

In the study investigating the contribution of late imaging in 53 invasive breast cancers where only 2 cases were ILC, it was reported that there was low ER positivity and high HER-2 expression in the group with high RI (24). In our study, it was shared in Table 3 that the ER negative cases were more significant in the SUV_{max} and the SUV_{max}, MTV and TLG median values were higher than the positive group.

In a study of Lee et al. (27), late imaging showed more significant correlation with prognostic factors in 38 invasive breast cancer cases, 2 of which were ILC. A similar correlation has been reported even when the late image was taken earlier (100 minimum) (26). This result will shorten the total examination period and can be taken into consideration in the next studies. In this low-incidence patient group, it is also possible to explain the lack of a statistically significant correlation between primary malignancy tissue analysis values and histopathological variables, since we did not have enough cases to reach statistical significance in our study.

CONCLUSION

In our study, it is foreseen that in the ILC, which has low FDG-PET sensitivity, the information obtained from the contralateral breast parenchyma and especially lateral image in the dorsal breast tissue, will contribute significantly. No statistically significant correlation was found with histopathological variables. However, parallel results were observed when compared to studies mostly composed of IDC patients. Δ -TLG is high in the group with lymph node metastasis; in HER-2 positive and ER negative cases, SUV_{max}, MTV and TLG median values are higher than HER-2 negative and ER positive groups. This important information needs to be confirmed by meta-analyzes or multicentre studies where the number of cases will be higher.

Tablo 2. Primer malignite ve kontrol ilgi alanının metabolik parametreleri ve değişim oranları											
Average (range)	$s\text{-}SUV_{max}$	$g\text{-SUV}_{max}$	$\Delta\text{-SUV}_{max}$	s-MTV	g-MTV	Δ-MTV	s-TLG	g-TLG	∆-TLG		
Primary malignancy	5.11* (21.58)	7.59 (36.10)	49 (33)	4.74 (17.18)	4.70 (16.69)	-1 (70)	9.56 (33.08)	10.71 (21.31)	1 (11)		
Control	1.04 (1.79)	0.93 (4.01)	-11 (9.51)	2.40 (2.95)	2.24 (2.66)	-1 (66)	3.88 (1.31)	3.06 (2.30)	-2 (16)		
р	<0.000**	< 0.000	<0.000	0.36	0.83	0.36	0.049	0.04	0.06		
*/ /-	+ +		بين والتروي الرويين.	at at a first sector of the se	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	a sa she she a ta			a hasta		

*Values are given as median (range), ** p<0.05 was accepted as the statistical significance limit, MTV: metabolic tumor volume, TLG: total lesion glycolysis

Tablo 3. Sei	mikantitatif de	oku analiz de	ğerleri ile his	stopatolojik	değişkenler ar	asındaki ilişki		
Δ-TLG	16 (123) 8 (152)	12 (123) 9 (152)	8 (122) 12 (123)	18 (152) 10 (123)	29 (39) 9 (111) 18 (152)	15 (39) 23 (199) -5 (40)	9 (152) 16 (123)	19 (76) 8 (199)
g-TLG	10.81 (41.11) 7.16 (19.16)	8.41 (41.11) 7.50 (13.47)	8.89 (11.97) 7.33 (42.26)	4.55 (12.26) 7.50 (41.11)	5.60 (3.80) 11.96 (41.11) 3.29 (32.27)	6.26 (5.96) 11.96 (42.38) 8.02 (32.14)	7.16 (19.16) 11.60 (41.11)	5.02 (12.13) 10.42 (42.38)
s-TLG	8.84 (9.21) 6.86 (19.92)	8.45 (29.21) 6.86 (12.43)	8.25 (11.57) 7.49 (30.66)	4.27 (9.52) 8.13 (29.21)	4.68 (4.36) 9.56 (26.41) 2.48 (28.48)	5.70 (5.63) 9.56 (30.92) 8.51 (28.22)	6.86 (19.92) 10.30 (29.21)	4.55 (9.26) 10.19 (30.92)
Δ-MTV	2 (172) -12 (102)	4 (172) -12 (102)	13 (50) -5 (172)	7 (103) -1 (172)	-14 (3) 1 (107) 14 (138)	-2 (29) 1 (172) -13 (68)	-1 (103) 4 (172)	2 (138) 1 (137)
g-MTV	3.57 (17.03) 1.65 (17.79)	3.67 (17.19) 1.36 (6.98)	6.55 (6.98) 2.17 (17.19)	3.17 (6.98) 2.69 (17.19)	2.68 (2.64) 4.65 (17.19) 1.56 (17.63)	3.34 (3.29) 1.58 (17.79) 4.33 (16.64)	2.69 (17.79) 3.11 (17.03)	2.69 (4.31) 3.56 (17.79)
s-MTV	4.52 (14.46) 2.70 (14.80)	4.52 (14.46) 2.15 (6.21)	6.23 (6.56) 3.51 (14.46)	3.69 (6.21) 4.32 (14.46)	3.08 (2.95) 4.72 (13.84) 13.93 (138.44)	3.34 (2.95) 4.72 (14.80)-13.10 (67.91)	2.70 (14.80) 4.52 (14.46)	2.37 (4.38) 5.06 (15.29)
$\Delta\text{-SUV}_{max}$	53 (108) 49 (43)	49 (108) 57 (43)	57 (23) 49 (108)	48 (35) 49 (108)	48 (43) 49 (96) 53 (59)	43 (43) 57 (90) 36 (55)	49 (47) 54 (108)	49 (43) 53 (108)
g-SUV _{max}	5.93 (34.90) 3.93 (5.49)	5.93 (9.24) 3.99 (36.10)	4.35 (4.28) 4.40 (35.57)	3.81 (1.76) 4.99 (35.57)	4.24 (0.62) 6.87 (35.57) 4.13 (9.77)	4.77 (4.08) 4.02 (36.10) 6.21 (8.72)	4.02 (5.49) 9.91 (34.90)	4.25 (4.37) 5.61 (36.10)
$s\text{-}SUV_max$	4.16 (21.52)* 2.69 (4.21)	4.16 (9.14) 2.85 (21.58)	3.24 (2.71) 2.99 (21.52)	2.50 (1.59) 3.96 (21.52)	2.90 (0.43) 4.36 (21.52) 2.59 (9.20)	3.54 (2.33) 2.85 (21.58) 4.54 (8.70)	2.85 (4.21) 6.99 (21.52)	2.86 (2.87) 3.80 (21.58)
	T-stage	N-stage	ER	PR	Nuclear grade	Histological grade	HER-2	Ki-67
Patients (n)	T1 (10) T2-T3 (7)	N0 (10) N1 (7)	- (3) + (14)	- (4) + (13)	1 (2) 2 (9) 3 (6)	1 (4) 2 (9) 3 (4)	- (11) + (6)	<14 (7) ≥14 (10)

*Values are given as median (range) and no difference p <0.05 has been detected, MTV: metabolic tumor volume, TLG: total lesion glycolysis

Ethics Committee Approval: Retrospective study.

Informed Consent: Patient consent could not be obtained due to the retrospective study structure.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - F.O.F., H.S.; Design - F.O.F., H.S.; Data Collection and/or Processing - F.O.F., H.S.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - F.O.F.; Literature Search - F.O.F.; Writing Manuscript - F.O.F.; Critical Review - F.O.F., H.S.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Li CI, Anderson BO, Porter P, Holt SK, Daling JR, Moe RE. Changing incidence rate of invasive lobular breast carcinoma among older women. Cancer 2000; 88: 2561-9.
- Albert ML, Gao Y, Moy L. Role of Breast MRI in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Breast Cancer. Current Breast Cancer Reports 2016; 8: 80-9.
- Scheidhauer K, Walter C, Seemann MD. FDG PET and other imaging modalities in the primary diagnosis of suspicious breast lesions. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2004; 31(Suppl 1): 70-9.
- Nieweg OE, Kim EE, Wong WH, Broussard WF, Singletary SE, Hortobagyi GN, et al. Positron Emission Tomography with Fluorine- 18- Deoxyglucose in the Detection and Staging of Breast Cancer. Cancer 1993; 71: 3920-5.

- Dong A, Wang Y, Lu J, Zuo C. Spectrum of the breast lesions with increased 18F-FDG uptake on PET/CT. Clin Nucl Med 2016; 41: 543-57.
- Buck AK, Schirrmeister H, Mattfeldt T, Reske SN. Biological characterisation of breast cancer by means of PET. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2004; 31(Suppl 1): 80-7.
- Bos R, van Der Hoeven JJ, van Der Wall E, van Der Groep P, van Diest PJ, Comans EF, et al. Biologic correlates of (18) fluorodeoxyglucose uptake in human breast cancer measured by positron emission tomography. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20: 379-87.
- Osborne JR, Port E, Gonen M, Doane A, Yeung H, Gerald W, et al. 18 F-FDG PETof locally invasive breast cancer and association of estrogen receptor status with standardized uptake value: microarray and immunohistochemical analysis. J Nucl Med 2010; 51:543-50.
- Hogan MP, Goldman DA, Dashevsky B, Riedl CC, Gönen M, Osborne JR, et al. Comparison of 18F-FDG PET/CT for systemic staging of newly diagnosed invasive lobular carcinoma versus invasive ductal carcinoma. J Nucl Med 2015; 56: 1674-80.
- 10. Li CI, Uribe DJ, Daling JR. Clinical characteristics of different histologic types of breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2005; 93: 1046-52.
- Groheux D, Cochet A, Humbert O, Alberini JL, Hindié E, Mankoff D. 18F-FDG PET/CT for Staging and Restaging of Breast Cancer. J Nucl Med 2016; (Suppl 1): 17-26.
- Dong A, Wang Y, Lu J, Zuo C. Spectrum of the breast lesions with increased 18F-FDG uptake on PET/CT. Clin Nucl Med 2016; 41: 543-57.
- 13. Jung NY, Kim SH, Choi BB, Kim SH, Sung MS. Associations between the standardized uptake value of (18)F-FDG PET/CT and the prognostic

factors of invasive lobular carcinoma: in comparison with invasive ductal carcinoma. World J Surg Oncol 2015; 13: 113.

- Choi WH, Yoo IR, O JH, Kim SH, Chung SK. The value of dual-time-point 18F-FDG PET/CT for identifying axillary lymph node metastasis in breast cancer patients. Br J Radiol 2011; 84: 593-9.
- Hahn S, Hecktor J, Grabellus F, Hartung V, Pöppel T, Kimmig R, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of dual-time-point 18F-FDG PET/CT for the detection of axillary lymph node metastases in breast cancer patients. Acta Radiol 2012; 53: 518-23.
- Matthiessen LW, Johannesen HH, Skougaard K, Gehl J, Hendel HW. Dual time point imaging fluorine-18 flourodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography for evaluation of large loco-regional recurrences of breast cancer treated with electrochemotherapy. Radiol Oncol 2013; 47: 358-65.
- Zytoon AA, Murakami K, El-Kholy MR, El-Shorbagy E, Ebied O. Breast cancer with low FDG uptake: characterization by means of dual-time point FDG-PET/CT. Eur J Radiol 2009; 70: 530-8.
- Houshmand S, Salavati A, Segtnan EA, Grupe P, Høilund-Carlsen PF, Alavi A. Dual-time-point Imaging and Delayed-time-point Fluorodeoxyglucose-PET/Computed Tomography Imaging in Various Clinical Settings. PET Clin 2016; 11: 65-84.
- Garcia-Vicente AM, Molina D, Pérez-Beteta J, Amo-Salas M, Martínez-González A, Bueno G, et al. Textural features and SUV-based variables assessed by dual time point 18F-FDG PET/CT in locally advanced breast cancer. Ann Nucl Med 2017; 31: 726-35.
- Garcia-Vicente AM, Pérez-Beteta J, Pérez-García VM, Molina D, Jiménez-Londoño GA, Soriano-Castrejón A, et al. Metabolic Tumor Burden Assessed by Dual Time Point [18F] FDG PET/CT in Locally Advanced Breast Cancer: Relation with Tumor Biology. Mol Imaging Biol 2017; 19: 636-44.
- Hildebrandt MG, Gerke O, Baun C, Falch K, Hansen JA, Farahani ZA, et al. [18F] Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-Positron Emission Tomography (PET)/Computed Tomography (CT) in Suspected Recurrent Breast Cancer: A Prospective Comparative Study of Dual-Time-Point FDG-PET/ CT, Contrast-Enhanced CT, and Bone Scintigraphy. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: 1889-97.
- Sasada S, Masumoto N, Suzuki E, Sueoka S, Goda N, Kajitani K, et al. Prediction of biological characteristics of breast cancer using dual-phase FDG PET/CT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2019; 46: 831-7.

- Yoo J, Kim BS, Chung J, Yoon HJ. Percentage change of primary tumor on 18F-FDG PET/CT as a prognostic factor for invasive ductal breast cancer with axillary lymph node metastasis: Comparison with MRI. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017; 96: 7657.
- Ozen A, Altinay S, Ekmekcioglu O, Albayrak R, Muhammedoglu A, Yigitbas H, et al. Dual-Time 18F-FDG PET/CT Imaging in Initial Locoregional Staging of Breast Carcinoma: Comparison with Conventional Imaging and Pathological Prognostic Factors. Indian J Surg 2016; 78: 382-9.
- Moon H, Noh WC, Kim HA, Kim EK, Park KW, Lee SS, et al. The Relationship Between Estrogen Receptor, Progesterone Receptor and Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 Expression of Breast Cancer and the Retention Index in Dual Phase (18)F-FDG PET/CT. Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2016; 50: 246-54.
- Caprio MG, Cangiano A, Imbriaco M, Soscia F, Di Martino G, Farina A, et al. Dual-time-point [18F]-FDG PET/CT in the diagnostic evaluation of suspicious breast lesions. Radiol Med 2010; 115: 215-24.
- Lee JY, Song HS, Choi JH, Hyun CL. Dual-Time-Point FDG Uptake Correlates with Prognostic Factors of Invasive Breast Cancer: Clinical Usefulness of Early Delayed Scanning. Diagnostics (Basel) 2019; 9: 40.
- Rakha EA, El-Sayed ME, Powe DG, Green AR, Habashy H, Grainge MJ, et al. Invasive lobular carcinoma of the breast: response to hormonal therapy and outcomes. Eur J Cancer 2008; 44: 73-83.
- 29. Li CI, Anderson BO, Daling JR, Moe RE. Trends in incidence rates of invasive lobular and ductal breast carcinoma. JAMA 2003; 1: 421-4.
- Helvie MA, Paramagul C, Oberman HA, Adler DD. Invasive lobular carcinoma. Imaging features and clinical detection. Invest Radiol 1993; 28: 202-7.
- Basu S, Chen W, Tchou J, Mavi A, Cermik T, Czerniecki B, et al. Comparison of triple-negative and estrogen receptor-positive/progesterone receptor-positive/HER2-negative breast carcinoma using quantitative fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose/positron emission tomography imaging parameters: a potentially useful method for disease characterization. Cancer 2008; 112: 995-1000.
- Crippa F, Seregni E, Agresti R, Chiesa C, Pascali C, Bogni A, et al. Association between [18F]-fluorodeoxyglucose uptake and postoperative histopathology, hormone receptor status, thymidine labeling index, and p53 in primary breast cancer: a preliminary observation. Eur J Nucl Med 1998; 25: 1429-34.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3106 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):149-54

The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women

🔟 Sakine Betül Uzun¹, 🔟 Önder Sakin², 🕼 Hüseyin Çetin¹, 🛑 Engin Ersin Şimşek¹

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Family Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey
²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Uzun SB, Sakin Ö, Çetin H, Şimşek EE. The Effects of HPV Test on Anxiety, Emotion and Depression in Women. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):149-54

ABSTRACT

Objective: Human papillomavirus (HPV) test is an important health screening test included in most national screening programs covering millions of women worldwide. HPV is a sexually transmitted virus, which may cause anxiety and depression in women. This study aimed at comparing the anxiety levels using a Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale and the depression levels using a Beck Depression Inventory between women who tested positive for HPV and those who tested negative.

Methods: Three hundred women who underwent HPV testing between 01.08.2017-01.11.2017 were randomly selected. The subjects were scored on the Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale by the investigator through a face-to-face interview.

Results: No statistically significant differences were observed between 187 HPV (+) and 113 HPV (-) patients with respect to the depression and anxiety scores (p=0.183 and p=0.306, respectively). While a weak negative but significant correlation was found between the time from the HPV test report date and the anxiety scores, a moderate, negative correlation was observed between the length of this time period and the depression scores. Furthermore, strong negative correlations were observed between the times elapsed from the diagnosis and the anxiety and depression scores in patients who received their results at a family health center.

Conclusion: The most serious impact of getting a positive test result for HPV occurred during relatively earlier periods and in those who received their results at a family health center. Unwanted HPV-related effects may be prevented by giving appropriate support to the right population at the very beginning.

Keywords: HPV, anxiety, depression

INTRODUCTION

Cervical cancer is one of the prominent malignancies of female genital tract. Although the importance of smear tests is surely incontestable, the importance and value of Human papillomavirus (HPV) screenings are also gradually increasing. Currently, HPV screening and vaccination programs are running in many countries (1-6).

Overall, testing positive for HPV is considered to have mental, physical, familial, or even social consequences on women. However, these consequences have been investigated by only a limited number of studies so far.

Although underestimated, several previous studies have emphasized the importance of psychosocial impact of HPV tests and the need for further studies. As mentioned earlier, cervical

ORCID IDs of the authors: S.B.U. 0000-0001-9939-7105; Ö.S. 0000-0001-6036-9975; H.Ç. 0000-0002-2844-5525; E.E.Ş. 0000-0003-3317-3461.



Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: Önder Sakin, E-mail: sakin-onder@hotmail.com Received Date 22.08.2019 Accepted Date: 11.03.2020

cancer screenings are included in most national programs worldwide, and the significance of HPV tests for public health has been strongly emphasized (7).

A positive HPV test may cause fear, anxiety, stress, and sexual dysfunction, as well as raise accusations and questions about trust in relationships (8-11). Women who have tested positive for HPV may feel stigmatized and experience a feeling of guilt, sadness, and shame while indulging in sexual act (7,9,11,12). Moreover, experiencing troubles with explanations, disclosures, and trust in relationships may eventually increase anxiety (9). Also, the association between adequate public awareness of HPV and cervical cancer have not been fully understood (13-15).

Reports from several studies have indicated that initially, a positive HPV test is more likely to bring psychological problems than an abnormal smear result (7,11); this is because unlike women who have an abnormal Pap smear result, HPV (+) women are more prone to feel stigmatized and shame (16).

Finally, the approach to an HPV (+) woman should differ from that to a woman with an abnormal smear test result. In our country, an HPV test has a widespread use and is included in routine screening programs. Therefore, we believe that it is pertinent to increase the public understanding of the effects of this test on women and appropriate approaches to this issue.

In this study, we aimed at assessing the effects of testing positive for HPV on anxiety, mood, and depression in women.

METHODS

This cross-sectional and observational study included women who were directly referred to the Outpatient Clinics of Obstetrics and Gynecology of our hospital for an HPV testing and the HPV (+) women referred from other health centers during the study period (1 August, 2017 to 11 November, 2017).

A total of 187 HPV (+) women, aged 20-70 years, who met the inclusion criteria were included in the study group, while 113 HPV (-) aged-matched women were included in the control group. The exclusion criteria of the study included chronic diseases, the use of medicines that might affect the mood including antidepressants, antipsychotics, and sedatives, alcohol and/ or any chemical substance addiction, and any other conditions that might lead to sexual dysfunction including vaginal stenosis, vagina dryness, active vaginitis, vaginismus, hymenal stenosis, and vagina atrophy.

Furthermore, the study data were collected by the investigator through face-to-face interviews conducted between 1 August, 2017 and 11 November, 2017. All subjects in both the study and control groups completed two psychiatric questionnaires including the Beck Depression Inventory and the Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale.

While the dependent variables in this study consisted of anxiety and depression in HPV (+) subjects, the independent variables included sociodemographic and biodemographic

characteristics (such as age, educational attainment, income level, occupational status, number of children) and time from HPV test report date.

The study protocol was submitted to the Institutional Review Board and ethics approval was obtained on July 25, 2017 [Institutional Review Board (approval number: 2017/514/111/6)]. A written informed consent form was obtained from all patients prior to the study.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using the SPSS software version 17.0. The normality of the variables was assessed using histogram graphics and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The descriptive statistics included means, standard deviation, minimum, and maximum. Moreover, the 2×2 contingency Pearson's chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used for the comparisons. Additionally, while the Mann-Whitney U test was used for the comparisons of non-normally distributed (non-parametric) data between two groups, the Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare more than two groups. Besides, the Spearman's Correlation test was used for intergroup comparisons of numerical data. A p-value <0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Of the 300 studied subjects, 35.67% were elementary school graduates, 77% were married, 49% were unemployed, and 48.33% had a monthly income ranging from 1,500 to 4,500 TL. The mean age of the participants was 42.19 ± 9.29 years and the mean number of children per subject was 1.98 ± 1.27 .

Interestingly, the analysis of the demographic characteristics by HPV results did not reveal any statistically significant associations between HPV results and age, educational attainment, marital status, number of children, income level, Beck Depression Inventory, and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores (p>0.05).

In addition, no statistically significant associations were observed between the analysis of Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores by HPV results (p>0.05).

Moreover, the analysis of the distribution of demographic characteristics by HPV results indicated that the rates of HPV (+) subjects were higher among employees (58.33%), unemployed women (53.74%), and pensioners (60%) than in students (0%) (p:0.009) (Table 1).

The analysis of the mean age, number of children, and Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores by the HPV results revealed that Beck Depression Inventory scores were lower in HPV (–) subjects (11.93±8.86) compared to the HPV (+) subjects (14.13±9.08) (p=0.029) (Table 2).

Further, the analysis of age, educational attainment, number of children, income level, Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores by the time from HPV testing revealed a very weak significant negative correlation (r= -0.167) between the time from HPV testing and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale

scores (p=0.004). However, no significant correlation was found between the duration of HPV infection and the mean age, educational attainment, number of children, income level, and Beck Depression Inventory scores (p>0.05).

The analysis of Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores by the time from HPV testing in HPV (+) patients revealed significant correlations between the time from HPV testing and the Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores: a statistically significant moderate negative correlation was found between the time from HPV test report date and the Beck Depression Inventory scores in HPV (+) patients (r= -0.404) (p<0.01), as well as between the time from HPV test report date and the Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores in HPV (+) patients (r= -0.436) (p<0.01).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of patients according to the human papillomavirus results												
		HPV res	sult									
		Positive	•	Negat	ive	Positi healt	Positive at family health center					
		n	%	n	%	n	%					
Acc	<40	73	(58.40)	40	(32.00)	12	(9.60)	0.050				
Age	>40	95	(54.29)	73	(41.71)	7	(4.00)	0.039				
	Illiterate	5	(83.33)	1	(16.67)	0	(0.00)					
	Primary school	58	(54.21)	39	(36.45)	10	(9.35)					
Education	Middle school	31	(55.36)	22	(39.29)	3	(5.36)	0.820				
	High school	41	(56.94)	28	(38.89)	3	(4.17)					
	University and above	33	(55.93)	23	(38.98)	3	(5.08)					
	Married	122	(52.81)	95	(41.13)	14	(6.06)					
Marital status	Single	11	(64.71)	5	(29.41)	1	(5.88)	0.260				
	Widow	35	(67.31)	13	(25.00)	4	(7.69)					
	Working	77	(58.33)	48	(36.36)	7	(5.30)					
Job	Not working	79	(53.74)	57	(38.78)	11	(7.48)	0.000				
	Retired	12	(60.00)	8	(40.00)	0	(0.00)	0.009				
	Student	0	(0.00)	0	(0.00)	1	(100.00)					
Number of children	2 and less	119	(57.77)	77	(37.38)	10	(4.85)	0.0//				
	3 and more	49	(52.13)	36	(38.30)	9	(9.57)	0.266				
	Normal	62	(52.10)	49	(41.18)	8	(6.72)					
	Mild	56	(53.85)	43	(41.35)	5	(4.81)	0.044				
Becki	Moderate	36	(63.16)	15	(26.32)	6	(10.53)	0.244				
	Severe	14	(70.00)	6	(30.00)	0	(0.00)					
	No depression	62	(52.10)	49	(41.18)	8	(6.72)	0 5 4 1				
Beckz	There is depression	106	(58.56)	64	(35.36)	11	(6.08)	0.541				
	None	29	(48.33)	27	(45.00)	4	(6.67)					
Hamilton1	Minor	84	(57.93)	49	(33.79)	12	(8.28)	0.325				
	Major	55	(57.89)	37	(38.95)	3	(3.16)					
	No anxiety	29	(48.33)	27	(45.00)	4	(6.67)	0.202				
Hamilton2	There is anxiety	139	(57.92)	86	(35.83)	15	(6.25)	0.392				

HPV: Human papillomavirus

	HPV result									
	Negative		Positive							
	Average	± SD	Average	± SD						
Age	42.41	±9.39	42.06	±9.25	0.469					
Number of children	2.02	±1.21	1.96	±1.30	0.596					
Beck	11.93	±8.86	14.13	±9.08	0.029					
Hamilton	12.27	±8.17	11.97	±7.40	0.991					
HPV: Human papillomavirus, SD: standard deviation										

Table 2. Average of age, number of children, Beck and Hamilton values according to the human papillomavirus resul

The correlation analysis of the Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores by the time from HPV testing in HPV (+) subjects who underwent an HPV testing at the Family Health Center (FHC) revealed a significant correlation between the time from HPV test report date and the Beck Depression Inventory and Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores. However, in patients who underwent HPV testing at the FHC, a strong negative correlation was found between the time from HPV test report date and the Beck Depression Inventory (r= -0.611) (p<0.01), as well as between the time from HPV test report date and the Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale scores (r= -0.436) (p<0.01).

DISCUSSION

In the present study, the states of depression and anxiety was assessed in a total of 300 subjects, including 187 HPV (+) women and 113 HPV (-) women. Moreover, no statistically significant differences were found between the HPV (+) and (-) women with respect to their depression and anxiety scores (p=0.183, p=0.306, respectively). Although the difference did not reach the level of significance, the higher numerical values detected in all HPV (+) groups in comparison to the HPV (-) groups were remarkable. While 73% of the subjects who scored in the moderate range and 70% who scored in the severe range on the Beck Depression Inventory were in the HPV (+) group, 66% of the subjects who scored in the minor anxiety range and 61% who scored in the major anxiety range on the Hamilton Anxiety Rating scale were in the HPV (+) group.

Moreover, the analysis of the depression scores by the age and number of children revealed significantly lower scores in the HPV (-) group in comparison to the HPV (+) group (p=0.029).

The time interval between the HPV test report date and the assessment date has been considered important in this patient group, as these patients may experience an acute anxiety and stress when they get test results. The fear of cancer may cause a tendency to undergo interventional procedures, colposcopic examinations, and biopsies in these patients, and they may even force their physician to perform these procedures. As a result, even the unnecessary interventions, and tissue sampling procedures may be performed.

A literature search revealed evidence from several studies indicating that the level of stress might be significantly increased initially after getting a positive HPV test result. Quantitative studies support that a positive HPV test is more likely to bring psychological load than an abnormal smear result and that this effect may lessen over time (17). In our study, the subjects were assessed at five different time intervals; "the first two weeks," "week 2 to week 4," "month 1 to month 3," "month 6 to month 12," and "after month 12." The assessment of anxiety and depression scores pointed out a negative, week but significant correlation between anxiety scores and the time from the HPV test report date. In other words, initial anxiety scores were significantly higher after getting a positive HPV test result. The assessment of depression scores by the same time intervals revealed a negative, moderate, significant correlation between the time from the positive HPV test report date and depression scores. In other words, initial depression scores were significantly higher after getting a positive HPV test result.

Furthermore, HPV positivity is typically associated with increased anxiety and depression scores, and intense fear and anxiety especially in the early period. This increasing fear and anxiety decreases with the help of researches, medical examinations, interviews, and explanations.

Another point to consider in this patient group is the site where the diagnosis was made. In our country, cervical HPV screening programs are performed by FHCs. All women over the age of 30 years are covered by routine screening programs and may undergo HPV testing. Test results are revealed to patients for the first time at FHCs. While women who test negative for HPV are not referred to other centers, those who test positive are referred to gynecologic oncology outpatient clinics at tertiary healthcare facilities. After getting a positive test result, patients are advised to contact a reference center. Negative interactions may be minimized if during this process, patients receive correct, and adequate information from a specialist in this field.

In this study, a strong negative correlation was also found between the test report date and anxiety and depression scores in subjects who were tested for HPV at an FHC. This finding might have resulted from inadequate information provided to the patients at FHCs as well as the inclusion of the patients from FHCs in the study in earlier periods after getting a positive test result.

In a study conducted in the United Kingdom in 2007, Waller et al. (18) informed 811 undergraduates about HPV and asked them to imagine themselves as being tested positive for HPV. Subsequently, they were asked about the levels of stigma, shame, and anxiety that they would experience. It was found that the awareness of high prevalence of HPV may reduce negative feelings and also anxiety, in general. They concluded that raising awareness of high prevalence of HPV through public health messages may alleviate negative psychosocial consequences (18).

In another study investigating the social and psychological consequences of HPV testing, McCaffery et al. (9) emphasized that the effects of abnormal smear tests had been adequately investigated until then, however, as a sexually transmitted disease, HPV might lead to anxiety and distress in addition to these negative effects. In particular, due fear of disclosure, patients experience difficulty explaining the situation to their spouse or even to their own family (9).

A sensitive approach is important even when informing patients about their positive HPV results to protect them from exposure to negative psychological effects. Kahn et al. (12) made recommendations on how to approach a patient at the time of HPV test result release. They recommended that correct information should be given in a sensitive and non-judgmental manner, and stated that an educational protocol might help women to understand HPV and its consequences. They emphasized that unwanted psychosocial consequences might be minimized by promoting health-improving behaviors, safe sexual habits, and regular cervical screening in adolescent girls (12).

Initially, a significant increase is observed in the anxiety and depression scores in patients who test positive for HPV. However, over time, these increased scores return to their normal levels.

We believe that patients can overcome these critical early periods of time with minimal negative impact if social factors are considered and correct and thorough information is provided at the very beginning with due diligence and a sensitive approach that would alleviate their fear.

In order to reduce depression and anxiety, it would be appropriate for the specialist obstetricians, psychologists, and psychiatrists to provide explanations and psychological support to patients.

CONCLUSION

When women first learn about their HPV carrier status, a significant increase in their anxiety and depression scores is observed at the beginning; however, this impact lessens over time. An appropriate support during this period is pertinent to protect patients from psychosocial traumas.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study protocol was submitted to the (institutional review board and ethics approval was obtained on July 25, 2017 (institutional review board approval number: 2017/514/111/6).

Informed Consent: A written informed consent form was obtained from all patients prior to the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - Ö.S., S.B.U., E.E.Ş.; Design - Ö.S., S.B.U., E.E.Ş.; Supervision - E.E.Ş.; Data Collection and/or Processing -Ö.S., S.B.U.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - S.B.U., H.Ç.; Literature Search - Ö.S., S.B.U.; Writing Manuscript - Ö.S., S.B.U., E.E.Ş., H.Ç.; Critical Review - Ö.S., S.B.U., E.E.Ş., H.Ç.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Smith MA, Edwards S, Canfell K. Impact of the National Cervical Screening Programme in New Zealand by age: analysis of cervical cancer trends 1985-2013 in all women and in Māori women. Cancer Causes Control 2017; 28: 1393-404.
- Awua AK, Wiredu EK, Afari EA, Tijani AS, Djanmah G, Adanu RMK. A tailored within-community specimen collection strategy increased uptake of cervical cancer screening in a cross-sectional study in Ghana. BMC Public Health 2017; 18: 80.
- Cuzick J, Myers O, Lee JH, Shi Y, Gage JC, Hunt WC, et al. Outcomes in women with cytology showing atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance with vs without human papillomavirus testing. JAMA Oncol 2017; 3: 1327-34.
- Schiffman M, Kinney WK, Cheung LC, Gage JC, Fetterman B, Poitras NE, et al. Relative Performance of HPV and Cytology Components of Cotesting in Cervical Screening. J Natl Cancer Inst 2018; 110: 501-8.
- Silver MI, Rositch AF, Phelan-Emrick DF, Gravitt PE. Uptake of HPV testing and extended cervical cancer screening intervals following cytology alone and Pap/HPV cotesting in women aged 30-65 years. Cancer Causes Control. Cancer Causes Control 2018; 29: 43-50.
- Senkomago V, Royalty J, Miller JW, Buenconsejo-Lum LE, Benard VB, Saraiya M. Cervical cancer screening in the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP) in four US-Affiliated Pacific Islands between 2007 and 2015. Cancer Epidemiol 2017; 50: 260-7.
- McCaffery K, Waller JO, Forrest S, Cadman L, Szarewski A, Wardle J. Testing positive for human papillomavirus in routine cervical screening: examination of psychosocial impact. BJOG 2004; 111: 1437-43.
- Maggino T, Casadei D, Panontin E, Fadda E, Zampieri MC, Donà MA, et al. Impact of an HPV diagnosis on the quality of life in young women. Gynecol Oncol 2007; 107(1 Suppl 1): 175-9.
- McCaffery K, Waller J, Nazroo J, Wardle J. Social and psychological impact of HPV testing in cervical screening: a qualitative study. Sex Transm Infect 2006; 82: 169-74.
- Ramirez JE, Ramos DM, Clayton L, Kanowitz S, Moscicki AB. Genital human papillomavirus infections: Knowledge, perception of risk, and actual risk in a nonclinic population of young women. J Womens Health 1997; 6: 113-21.
- Maissi E, Marteau TM, Hankins M, Moss S, Legood R, Gray A. Psychological impact of human papillomavirus testing in women with borderline or mildly dyskaryotic cervical smear test results: cross sectional questionnaire study. BMJ 2004; 328: 1293.
- Kahn JA, Slap GB, Bernstein DI, Tissot AM, Kollar LM, Hillard PA, et al. Personal meaning of human papillomavirus and Pap test results in adolescent and young adult women. Health Psychol 2007; 26: 192-200.
- 13. Anhang R, Wright TC Jr, Smock L, Goldie SJ. Women's desired information about human papillomavirus. Cancer 2004; 100: 315-20.
- Waller JO, McCaffery K, Wardle J. Beliefs about the risk factors for cervical cancer in a British population sample. Prev Med 2004; 38: 745-53.
- 15. Yacobi E, Tennant C, Ferrante J, Pal N, Roetzheim R. University students' knowledge and awareness of HPV. Prev Med 1999; 28: 535-41.
- Waller JA, Marlow LAV, Wardle J. Anticipated shame and worry following an abnormal Pap test result: the impact of information about HPV. Prev Med 2009; 48: 415-9.

- Maissi E, Marteau TM, Hankins M, Moss S, Legood R, Gray A. The psychological impact of human papillomavirus testing in women with borderline or mildly dyskaryotic cervical smear test results: 6-month follow-up. Br J Cancer 2005; 92: 990-4.
- Waller J, Marlow LAV, Wardle J. The association between knowledge of HPV and feelings of stigma, shame and anxiety. Sex Transm Infect 2007; 83: 155-9.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3268 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):155-9

Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios

Diat¹, DAhmet Ataş²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Hamidiye Faculty of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Turkey
²İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Otolaryngology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Polat Z, Ataş A. Assessment of Speech Intelligibility in Free-field Sound Chamber at Different Signal Noise Ratios. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):155-9

ABSTRACT

Objective: In the presence of background noise, understanding speech is challenging for any listener, especially for those with serious hearing loss. This study aimed to determine speech intelligibility of normal-hearing adults in quiet and noisy free fields.

Methods: This study included 77 volunteers with normal hearing aged between 18 and 30 years (mean: 22.25±2.7 years). Speech intelligibility scores were determined using the non-adaptive method at different signal-to-noise ratios (SNRs) and changing the noise direction (front and rear).

Results: The mean \pm standard deviation of the adaptive matrix speech reception threshold in quiet for 50% intelligibility was 22.69 \pm 3 dB sound pressure level. Speech intelligibility scores obtained at -10, -5, and 0 dB SNRs were significantly different when the noise was presented from the front to rear direction (p<0.05). Better speech intelligibility scores were obtained when noise was presented from the rear.

Conclusion: The standard audiometric test battery does not measure speech intelligibility in noisy environments. Therefore, speech intelligibility in the noise test developed and normalized in the native language of the patient should be used in the evaluation. Because our study was conducted in free field, the results could be used in the evaluation of patients using cochlear implants and hearing aids in free field.

Keywords: Speech audiometry, speech intelligibility in noise, signal-to-noise ratio, speech reception threshold, Turkish matrix sentence test

INTRODUCTION

Better speech perception is essential to improve communication. Understanding speech in the presence of background noise is challenging for any listener, especially for those with serious hearing loss. In our daily life, our environments are often noisy. The most common complaint by normal individuals and patients with hearing loss is the difficulty in understanding speech in noisy environments.

Most speech audiometry tests evaluate the performance of the listener in a quiet environment. However, the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) and speech perception performance in background noise are of paramount importance because individuals have to understand speech in the presence of other signals found in their natural environments. Hence, speech-in-noise tests were developed. Speech-in-noise tests are also useful for adjusting classroom acoustics, setting hearing aids, hearing screening, and in the field of telecommunications (1).

Monosyllabic/polysyllabic words or phrases may be used as the test material in speech tests. Although the use of words offers the advantage of testing speech in an isolated way, the use of materials, such as long sentences, offers the advantage of testing more than one word at a time. Therefore, the use of sentences as the material is more efficient in a speech discrimination

ORCID IDs of the authors: Z.P. 0000-0001-8384-4302; A.A. 0000-0002-8673-6793.



Received Date 16.02.2020 Accepted Date: 30.04.2020

©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org performance assessment (2). The use of sentences also means that the test better reflects communication in daily life. The matrix test was first prepared in Swedish by Hagerman (3). In 1999, Wagener et al. (4) detailed the test by attempting to create a natural prosody and adapted it to German.

Despite the limited word material [a sentence composed of 5-word types (e.g., verb, noun, subject, etc.) with 10 different words for each type], 100,000 combinations are possible. Phonetic distribution has been carried out in accordance with the language of the test. In practice, because the material provides an unlimited number of sentences, the matrix sentence test suitable for use in research and rehabilitation requires repeated testing (5). The matrix test in Turkish used in this study was created in 2015 (6).

This study aimed to determine the speech discrimination scores (SDSs) of young adults with normal hearing in quiet and noisy free fields. Because testing cochlear implant (CI) and hearing aid users with headphones is impractical, normative data are required for the noisy free field. Additionally, the placement and direction of the microphone in the hearing aid and CIs has an effect on understanding speech in noise. Therefore, the difference in subjects' speech intelligibility performance in relation to the direction of the noise was obtained.

METHODS

This study was constructed and conducted in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration of ethical standards and approved by the institutional ethics committee. Ethics committee approval was received from the İstanbul university-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee for approval of the study (approval number: 83045809-604.01.02). All participants were informed in detail about the procedures of this study and signed an informed consent form.

This study included 77 native Turkish speakers aged between 18 and 30 years (55 women, 22 men). Their mean age was 22.25 ± 2.7 years. All volunteers underwent otoscopic examination and tympanometric measurements. Subsequently, pure tone and speech audiometry test batteries were conducted. All participants had hearing thresholds better than 15 dB between 250 and 8000 Hz. They had <10 dB air-bone gap between 250 and 4000 Hz. All study participants had type A tympanograms. The participants' speech reception thresholds (SRTs) and SDSs were determined before the Turkish matrix test measurements.

The speech intelligibility scores were measured using the Turkish matrix test in quiet and noisy environments. As recommended by Wagener et al. (4), two practice sessions (one in a quiet environment and one in a noisy environment) took place before the measurements (7).

Measurement Setup

The subjects were situated in a double-walled sound chamber containing two speakers, one in front and one behind the subject at an azimuth of 180°. An audiometer (AURICAL Aud; Otometrics, Denmark) with the "Oldenburg Measurement Applications (HörTech, Germany)" software was used. Figure 1 illustrates the measurement setup.

The Turkish adaptive and non-adaptive matrix test was used to measure the subjects' speech intelligibility in quiet and noisy environments. The test lists composed of 20 sentences were used as test material. The noise stimulus was a bubble noise set to continuous mode at 65 dB SPL. The measurements listed in Table 1 were conducted for all subjects. If necessary, the subjects were allowed to take a break.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 20.0 for Windows (IBM Corporation, New York, USA). The normality of the variables was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test provided by the SPSS software. The significance of the difference between measurements was analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. The correlation analysis was conducted by applying the Spearman rho test. The results were considered significant if $p \le 0.05$.

RESULTS

For each subject, the pure tone thresholds were measured in free field for 500, 1000, 2000, and 4000 Hz, and the pure tone averages (PTAs) were calculated. The mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of the PTA was 3.73 \pm 2.8 dB HL. The SDSs of all subjects measured in quiet free field were >88%.

Table 2 shows the mean \pm SD of the matrix test measurements, and Figure 2 shows the mean speech intelligibility of the subjects for different SNRs and noise presentation conditions. As shown in Figure 2, the performance differences between the two conditions increased as the SNR decreased.

Table 3 shows the difference between the performances when the noise is from different directions. The intelligibility scores obtained at -10, -5, and 0 dB SNR when noise was from the rear were significantly different from the scores when noise was from the front (p<0.05).

The adaptive matrix SRT in noise values were also obtained for different SNRs when noise and signal were both from the front, and this difference was also statistically significant (p<0.05). The performances remained unchanged as the SNR increased; hence, statistically significant differences were not found for +5 and +10 dB SNR. This effect can be seen in Table 4.

DISCUSSION

The standard audiometric test battery does not measure speech intelligibility in noise (8). The SRT is a test based on the signal-to-



Figure 1. Measurement setup

speech ratio where the patient understands 50% of the sentences. Although they are currently used to diagnose hearing loss, speech tests with single-syllable word lists do not reflect everyday listening conditions. Although the speech reception performance of a patient using hearing aid or CI is good in a quiet environment, it is disturbed in noisy listening conditions. Therefore, speech intelligibility in noise tests has been developed in different languages.

Although the developed tests are useful due to the correct SRT estimation, the use of a limited number of words, phrases, or



Figure 2. Mean speech intelligibility scores of subjects for different signal-to-noise ratios *SNR: Signal-to-noise-ratios*

Table 1. Measurements conducted for each subject

No	Measurement	Direction of noise
1	Adaptive matrix SRT in quiet (50%)	-
2	Adaptive matrix SRT in noise (50%)	Noise in front
3	Adaptive matrix SRT in noise (50%)	Noise in rear
4	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (65 dB SPL)	-
5	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (-10 dB SNR)	Noise in front
6	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (-5 dB SNR)	Noise in front
7	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (0 dB SNR)	Noise in front
8	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (5 dB SNR)	Noise in front
9	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (10 dB SNR)	Noise in front
10	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (-10 dB SNR)	Noise in rear
11	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (-5 dB SNR)	Noise in rear
12	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (0 dB SNR)	Noise in rear
13	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (5 dB SNR)	Noise in rear
14	Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (10 dB SNR)	Noise in rear

dB: Decibel, SNR: signal to noise ratio, SPL: Sound pressure level, SRT: speech reception threshold

sentences is not suitable for repeated testing. For example, the quick speech in noise (QuickSIN) test is composed of 1800 key words used in 360 different sentences (9).

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of measurements							
Measurements	Speech position	Noise position	Measured values (mean ± SD)				
Adaptive matrix SRT in quiet (50%)	Front	-	22.69±3.0 dB SPL				
Adaptive matrix SRT in noise (50%)	Front	Front	-7.92±0.8 dB SNR				
Adaptive matrix SRT in noise (50%)	Front	Rear	-15.12±2.8 dB SNR				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet	Front	-	99.16±1.6%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (-10 dB SNR)	Front	Front	31.10±11.9%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (-5 dB SNR)	Front	Front	91.84±6.3%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (0 dB SNR)	Front	Front	98.87±1.5%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (5 dB SNR)	Front	Front	99.38±1.4%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (10 dB SNR)	Front	Front	99.53±1.3%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (-10 dB SNR)	Front	Rear	95.01±4.6%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (-5 dB SNR)	Front	Rear	98.95±1.5%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (0 dB SNR)	Front	Rear	99.27±1.6%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (5 dB SNR)	Front	Rear	99.65±1%				
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in quiet (10 dB SNR)	Front	Rear	99.81±0.5%				

dB: Decibel, SD: standard deviation, SNR: signal to noise ratio, SPL: sound pressure level, SRT: speech reception threshold

Table 3. Test statistics of the Turkish matrix test for a grouping variable of direction (front versus rear)

	U	р
Adaptive matrix SRT in noise (50%)	154.5	< 0.0010
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (SNR: -10dB)	0.0	<0.0010
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (SNR: -5 dB)	381.5	<0.0001
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (SNR: 0 dB)	2285.5	0.006
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (SNR: +5 dB)	2692.5	0.170
Non-adaptive intelligibility score in noise (SNR: +10 dB)	2793.0	0.326

dB: Decibel, SNR: signal to noise ratio, SRT: speech reception threshold

Table 4. Test statistics of the matrix test for a grouping variable of performance differences.					
Performance difference at different SNR values (noise in front)	U	р			
–10 dB SNR vs –5 dB SNR	0.000	< 0.001			
–5 dB SNR vs 0 dB SNR	468.0	< 0.001			
0 dB SNR vs +5 dB SNR	2550.5	0.101			
+5 dB SNR vs +10dB SNR	2887.0	0.711			
dB: Decibel; SNR: signal to noise ratio					

The matrix test was developed to remove this limitation and normalized to normal hearing by adapting to different languages. The literature shows that the normalizations were made on different numbers of participants. For example, in a study consisting 20 participants with normal hearing, the mean SRT of the German matrix test was -7.1 ± 0.2 dB (4). In the Finnish matrix test, the SRT was -9.7 ± 0.7 dB (5). In this study, the number of participants was 77, and the mean SRT was -7.92 ± 0.8 dB.

Because patients using hearing aids and CIs are tested in free field in this study, normalization values for these situations were obtained. Therefore, the tests were made in free field, and speech and noise stimuli were given from loudspeakers. The results can be discussed under the following headings.

The influence of direction to understand speech in noise: As sound travels through the external ear canal, diffractions and resonance are produced due to the head and the structure of the pinna and concha. These diffractions and resonance cause linear distortions in the transfer characteristics of the external ear canal. This change in the transfer characteristics of the external ear canal provides important cues for speech understanding in noise. Nilsson et al. (10) measured the speech discrimination thresholds of 150 young adults in the presence of noise using HINT test and placing loudspeakers in different positions. In the study, the speech stimulus was presented at 0°, and the noise stimulus at 0°, 90°, and 270° azimuth. The study showed that the spetial separation between the speech and noise lowered the speech discrimination thresholds by an average of 7.42 dB.

With the aim of measuring the directional effects on intelligibility, individuals in this study were assessed by giving noise stimuli from the front and rear directions at different SNRs. Different SDSs were obtained at the same SNR when the speech stimulus was at 0°, and the noise stimulus was presented at 0° and 180° azimuth. For example, Table 3 shows that at the SNR of -10 dB, the subjects' ability to discern speech differed significantly (noise, 0° and 180° azimuth, 31.10±11.9 and 95.01±4.6). Similar results were obtained at -5 dB SNR (p<0.05). However, as given in Table 3, for SNR of 0, +5, and +10 dB, the participants' ability to understand speech was at a maximum level, independent from the noise and location of the signal. Therefore, a statistical difference in intelligibility scores was not found when the noise direction was changed for those SNRs. While comparing the

performance between the cases when the noise was from the front and rear directions, it was thought that the significant improvement in the SRT values was due to the shadow effects of the head, pinna, and concha. When noise comes from behind, the person's ability to understand speech improves, and they are able to distinguish speech in lower SNRs. These data are similar to other studies in the literature (11). Based on this result, it is thought that when the SNR is low (such as in classroom), positioning the speech source in front of the listener and the noise in the back will increase speech comprehension performance.

The effect of level of noise on understanding speech: As shown in Figure 2, when the speech and noise stimuli are from the front, the mean speech intelligibility score values decrease much more as the SNR value decreases. Table 4 shows these performance differences. As shown in the table, while the performance differences between 10 and 5 dB SNRs and between 5 and 0 dB SNRs are statistically insignificant, the performance differences between 0 and -5 dB SNRs and between -5 and -10 dB SNRs are statistically significant (p<0.05). This result shows that at low SNRs, the mean intelligibility scores are worse, even in normal-hearing individuals. This causes difficulty in understanding speech.

This performance reduction is observed even at higher SNRs in individuals using CI or hearing aid. According to Polat et al. (12), the mean intelligibility performance difference between + 5 and 0 dB SNRs was approximately 14% when both stimuli were given from the front in CI users. According to the results in this study, the performance difference at the same SNRs is <1%. When the results of both studies are compared, individuals using CIs have been shown to be more affected by noisy environments.

Study Limitations

Our study has some limitations. First, because sex is not supposed to be a factor in hearing performance at this age group, the number of men and women were not kept equal in the study group. Second, the data were obtained from a limited group; thus, the results may not reflect the general population. Besides, the volunteers who agreed to participate in the survey consisted of university students or hospital personnel. Therefore, the results may be influenced by the education level of the study group.

CONCLUSION

This study aimed to determine the speech intelligibility performance of young adults with normal hearing in quiet and noisy free fields for different SNRs. Studies in the literature have shown that the scores of non-native participants are much lower, even if they have the same hearing thresholds as native speakers (13). For this reason, every patients' test of understanding speech in noise should be conducted in their native language. The normalization data were obtained by increasing the number of people and by choosing only native Turkish speakers.

This normalization data are more valuable for free-field tests because the tests in this study were performed in free field.

These data can be used as a guide to assess speech recognition performance of CI and hearing aid users.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank all participating subjects for their cooperation and Audiology M.Sc. Students Ahmet, SH, Çınar M., and Kanak C. for their efforts in data collection. The authors would also like to thank Mr. Polat, E. for his help in the statistical analysis.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received from the İstanbul university-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee for approval of the study (approval number: 83045809-604.01.02).

Informed Consent: All participants were informed in detail about the procedures of this study and signed an informed consent form.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - Z.P., A.A.; Design - Z.P., A.A.; Data Collection and/or Processing - Z.P.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - Z.P., A.A.; Literature Search - Z.P.; Writing Manuscript - Z.P.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Ozimek E, Kutzner D, Warzybok A. Speech intelligibility determined with various tests presented against noise. Proc Eur Conf Noise Control 2008; 123: 2323-8.
- Smits C, Kapteyn TS, Houtgast T. Development and validation of an automatic speech-in-noise screening test by telephone. Int J Audiol 2004; 43: 15-28.
- Hochmuth S, Brand T, Zokoll MA, Castro FZ, Wardenga N, Kollmeier B. A Spanish matrix sentence test for assessing speech reception thresholds in noise. Int J Audiol 2012; 51: 536-44.

- Wagener KC, Kuhnel V, Kollmeier B, Brand T, Kollmeier B. Entwicklung und Evaluation eines Satztests f
 ür die deutsche Sprache Teil II: Optimierung des Oldenburger Satztests Development and evaluation of a German sentence test Part 11: Optimization of the Oldenbu rg sentence test. Z Audiol 1999; 38: 44-56.
- Dietz A, Buschermöhle M, Aarnisalo AA, Vanhanen A, Hyyrynen T, Aaltonen O, et al. The development and evaluation of the Finnish Matrix Sentence Test for speech intelligibility assessment. Acta Otolaryngol 2014;1 34: 728-37.
- Zokoll MA, Fidan D, Türkyılmaz D, Hochmuth S, Ergenç İ, Sennaroğlu G, et al. Development and evaluation of the Turkish matrix sentence test. Int J Audiol 2015; 54(Suppl 2): 51-61.
- Zokoll MA, Hochmuth S, Warzybok A, Wagener KC, Buschermöhle M, Kollmeier B. Speech-in-noise tests for multilingual hearing screening and diagnostics. Am J Audiol 2013; 22: 175-8.
- 8. Killion MC, Niquette PA. What can the pure-tone audiogram tell us about a patient□s SNR loss? Hear J 2000; 53: 46-8.
- Killion MC, Niquette PA, Gudmundsen GI, Revit LJ, Banerjee S. Development of a quick speech-in-noise test for measuring signalto-noise ratio loss in normal-hearing and hearing-impaired listeners. J Acoust Soc Am 2004; 116: 2395-405.
- Nilsson M, Gelnett D, Sullivan J, Soli SD, Goldberg RL. Norms for the hearing in noise test: The influence of spatial separation, hearing loss, and English language experience on speech reception thresholds. J Acoust Soc Am 1992; 92: 2385-8.
- Wimmer W, Weder S, Caversaccio M, Kompis M. Speech intelligibility in noise with a pinna effect imitating cochlear implant processor. Otol Neurotol 2016; 37: 19-23.
- Polat Z, Bulut E, Ataş A. Assessment of the speech intelligibility performance of post lingual cochlear implant users at different signal-tonoise ratios using the turkish matrix test. Balkan Med J 2016; 33: 532-8
- Marinova-Todd SH, Siu CK, Jenstad LM. Speech audiometry with nonnative English speakers: The use of digits and Cantonese words as stimuli. Can J Speech-Language Pathol Audiol 2011; 35: 220-7.

Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence

🔟 Ali Eroğlu¹, ២ Muammer Aydın², 🗈 Özkan Onuk¹, ២ Nusret Can Çilesiz², 🕩 Barış Nuhoğlu¹

¹Yeni Yüzyıl University, Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital, Clinic of Urology, İstanbul, Turkey ²İstanbul Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Urology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Eroğlu A, Aydın M, Onuk Ö, Çilesiz NC, Nuhoğlu B. Investigation of Sexual Dysfunction in Premenopausal Women with Urinary Incontinence. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):160-5

ABSTRACT

Objective: In this study, "Female Sexual Dysfunction (FSD)" was investigated in women who applied to our urology outpatient clinics who suffered from urinary incontinence (UI) and healthy women who did not have UI to evaluate the effect of UI and incontinence types on Female Sexual Functions (FSF).

Methods: A total of 220 female patients who applied to urology and incontinence outpatient clinics between October-December 2016 were included in the study. Of these 220 female cases, 110 of them were patients without complaints of UI. In patients with complaints of UI, type of UI has been identified "female sexual function Index (FSFI)" test was used to determine FSF status in all cases.

Results: The rate of KCD was found to be 60% (n=66) in the UI group and 36.4% (n=40) in the control group. The rate of FSD was significantly higher in the UI group ($p \square 0.05$). When the FSFI scores were evaluated, FSFI desire, arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction scores were significantly lower in the UI group than those in the control group ($p \square 0.05$). When urge, stress, mixed incontinence groups were evaluated, there were no significant differences between FSFI scores and sexual dysfunction status ($p \square 0.05$).

Conclusion: In our study, we found that UI is one of the factors that increase incidence of sexual dysfunction. Therefore, we think that the cases with UI complaints should be evaluated in terms of FSD. In addition, when we looked at UI types separately to evaluate the effects of UI on sexual dysfunction, we found that there was no significant difference between them in terms of influencing sexuality.

Keywords: Urinary incontinence, female sexual dysfunction, premenopausal, urogynecology

INTRODUCTION

Urinary incontinence (UI) is a social and hygienic disease that can occur at any age, is common and affects life negatively. UI is a complex problem that occurs for different reasons. It is not just a medical problem. It also affects the quality of life, which is defined as physical, psychological, economic and social wellbeing. Although the frequency of UI increases with age, it can be seen not only in the elderly population but also in the young and middle-aged population (1).

Female sexual dysfunction (FSD) is a common disease and its incidence varies between 19 and 50% in the literature (2). UI can impair women's sexual health to various degrees. Causes

ORCID IDs of the authors: A.E. 0000-0002-5545-5892; M.A. 0000-0002-4328-7262; Ö.O. 0000-0001-6497-0418; N.C.Ç. 0000- 0003-2115-698X; B.N. 0000-0002-8737-4050.



Corresponding Author: Ali Eroğlu, E-mail: alieroglu237@gmail.com Received Date: 17.07.2019 Accepted Date: 11.05.2020

such as psychological pressure, fear of UI during sexual intercourse and worry of bad smell play a role in the etiology (3). It is reported that UI causes FSD and the frequency of sexual dysfunction varies between 26% and 43% in the female group with incontinence (4).

Studies investigating the effect of UI types (stress-urge-mixt) on female sexual functions are available in the literature. In some studies, it has been found that incontinence types do not make any difference in affecting sexuality (5). In another study evaluating the effect of UI on sexual functions in our country, it was shown that the effect of mixed UI on sexual functions was higher than other groups (6).

Sexual functions are an important part of quality of life. The selfconfidence of women who miss urine significantly decreases, becoming ashamed, avoiding the relationship and ultimately this situation negatively affects the sexual pleasure of the woman (7). It is important that they are questioned in terms of sexual function in the evaluation of UI cases in the light of this information.

In this study, we investigated the rates of female sexual dysfunciton in healthy women with similar demographic characteristics, UI complaints and aimed to evaluate the effect of UI on female sexual function.

METHODS

A total of 220 female patients who were admitted to the urology and incontinence polyclinics between October 2016 and December 2016 were included in our study. Of these 220 female cases, 110 have complaints of UI; the other 110 were randomized cases without UI.

The subjects included in the study were sexually active and married women, all of whom were in the premenosal period. Patients who were pregnant or breastfeeding, patients with a history of gynecological operations, and patients with a history of malignancy were not included in the study.

Patients filled out questionnaire forms themselves, in a relaxed and quiet environment. The age, education status, occupation, monthly income, age of marriage, duration of marriage, status and number of children, whether they have a chronic disease, history of surgery were questioned and recorded.

The type of UI in patients with UI was determined by taking into account the standardization determined by the International incontinence Association and accompanied by questionnaire forms. They were questioned about how long they had been urinating. The International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire-Short Form (ICIQ-SF) questionnaire was filled out to determine the effects of UI on quality of life.

In all cases, the "Female Sexual Function Index" (FSFI) test, developed by Rosen et al. as a multidimensional scale in 2000, was used to determine female sexual function status. FSFI is a test that we use frequently, with Turkish validity and reliability studies consisting of 6 sections (sexual desire, arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction, pain) and 19 questions, evaluating sexual function and problems in the last 4 weeks. The scores obtained in the subheadings were multiplied by their own coefficient, resulting in the subheadings and total points, with a total score of 2 to 36. In our study, the threshold for FSFI was considered to be 23. The study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Gaziosmanpasa Training and Research Hospital.

Statistical Analysis

Mean, standard deviation, median lowest, highest, frequency and ratio values were used in the descriptive statistics of the data. The distribution of variables was measured by Kolmogorov- Simirnov test. Kruskal-Wallis, Mann-Whitney U test were used in the analysis of quantitative independent data. Chi-square test was used in the analysis of qualitative independent data. SPSS program was used for analysis. The reference p value was <0.05.

RESULTS

The patients were randomized into two groups: group 1 (case group-UI), group 2 (control group). There were no statistically significant differences between these two groups in terms of socio-demographic data, presence of chronic disease, drug use, history of previous surgery (p>0.05) (Table 1).

In group 1 (n=110), urgency was present in 28 (25.5%) of cases, stress in 24 (21.8%) and mixt UI in 58 (52.7%). Of these patients, 56 (50.9%) did not receive any treatment, while 54 (49.1%) had a history of treatment.

When we evaluated all the FSFI scores, all scores in group 1 except pain score were significantly lower than those in group 2 (p=0.05). When FSFI total scores were evaluated, the rate of sexual dysfunction in group 1 was significantly higher than in group 2 (60%-36.4%) (p=0.05) (Table 2).

In group 1, there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in comparison to the individual sociodemographic data of the patients with UI types (urge-stress-mixt incontinence). The mean age of the cases was 36, 41.3 and 40.1 years, respectively.

In this study, ICIQ-SF questionnaire was completed to determine the effects of UI on quality of life in patients with incontinence. Accordingly, the ICIQ-SF score did not differ significantly in urge, stress, mixt incontinence groups.

FSFI scores and sexual dysfunction rates in urge, stress, mixt incontinence groups were not significantly different (p>0.05). There were 66 cases of sexual dysfunction and UI, 16 cases of urgency, 14 cases of stress and 36 cases of mixt type incontinence. There was no significant difference in the incidence of sexual dysfunction among all three groups (p>0.05) (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Sexual function in humans consists of a series of reactions involving complex interactions of psychological, physiological

and behavioral components (8). FSD is a common disease and its incidence in the literature varies between 19-50% (2). A national study conducted in Canada found sexual dysfunction in 39% of the 18-44 age group (9). Age is an important factor in some of the factors that affect women's sexual health. In our study, the rate of sexual dysfunction was significantly increased with older age. Similarly, Cayan et al. (10) and Lukacz et al. (11) also determined that female sexuality is negatively affected with increasing age. However, Lauman et al. (12) stated that the rate of FSD was higher in young women.

In our study, we found that the rate of FSD decreases as the level of education increases. In line with our findings, there are studies that have found that low education level increases the risk of sexual dysfunction (13,14). Some studies in the literature also questioned the educational status of the woman's partner (15). In our study, it is a handicap to not know the educational status of the woman's partner. It may be thought that the high level of education of the woman or her partner may be a helpful factor in the issues such as sharing the current problem

between couples and applying for the necessary professional help.

In our study, we found that the increase in duration of marriage and the low age of first marriage increased the likelihood of sexual dysfunction. Singh et al. (16) similarly found that the longer the duration of marriage, the greater the frequency of FSD. These findings can be explained by the increase of factors that lead to the risk of developing FSD, such as the progression of age and the presence of chronic disease as the duration of marriage increases.

Although the pathophysiology of UI has not been fully clarified, its negative effect on sexual function is known. Psychological pressure, fear of UI during sexual intercourse and anxiety of bad smell play a role in the etiology (3). The first study on the relationship between UI and FSD was conducted by Scott and Hsueh (17) and published in 1979. There are studies (4) reporting that the frequency of FSD varies between 26% and 43% in patients with UI. Shaw (18) also reported that 46% of patients with UI and lower urinary system complaints were

Table 1. Socio-demographic data of the cases							
	Group 1 (case group)		Group 2 (control gro	up)			
	Mean ± SD (n, %)	Med	Mean ± SD (n, %)	Med	р		
Age (year)	39.3±8.7	43.0	36.6±9.4	38.0	0.052 ^m		
BMI (kg/m²)	29.5±5.3	28.4	28.8±4.3	28.1	0.466 ^m		
Educational status							
Primary school	16 (14.5%)	-	6 (5.5%)				
Secondary school	52 (47.3%)	-	50 (45.5%)				
High school	10 (9.1%)	-	28 (25.5%)	0.134 ^{x²}			
University	24 (21.8%)	-	18 (16.4%)				
Post graduate	8 (7.3%)	-	8 (7.3%)				
Occupation							
Housewife	82 (74.5%)	-	69 (62.7%)				
Worker	12 (10.9%)	-	23 (20.9%)	0.058^{χ^2}			
Memur	16 (14.5%)	-	16 (14.5%)				
Monthly income							
None	84 (76.4%)	-	67 (60.9%)				
<1500 TL	12 (10.9%)	-	25 (22.7%)	0.063%2			
1500-3000	8 (7.3%)	-	12 (10.9%)	0.005			
>3000 TL	6 (5.5%)	-	6 (5.5%)				
Dating							
Arranged	70 (63.6%)	-	78 (70.9%)	0.250^{χ^2}			
Friendship	40 (36.4%)	-	32 (29.1%)	0.230			
Number of children	2.5±1.3	3.0	2.4±1.4	2.0	0.398 ^m		
^m Mann-Whitney U test, X ² chi-square test, SD: Standard deviation, , BMI: Body mass index							

Table 2. Comparison of Female Sexual Function Index score data of cases							
		Group 1 (case group)		Group 2 (control group)			
		Mean ± SD	Med	Mean ± SD	Med	þ	
FSFI							
Desire		3.2±1.1	3.6	4.1±1.0	4.2	0,000 ^m	
Arousal		3.3±1.1	3.3	4.0±1.0	3.6	0,000 ^m	
Lubrication		4.0±.8	3.9	4.3±.7	4.5	0,005 ^m	
Orgasm		3.4±1.3	3.6	4.3±1.0	4.0	0,000 ^m	
Satisfaction		3.6±1.3	3.6	4.2±1.1	4.0	0,000 ^m	
Pain		4.0±1.4	4.0	4.0±1.0	4.0	0,555 ^m	
Total		21.4±5.1	22.0	24.9±4.7	24.3	0,000 ^m	
Sovual ducturation	(+)	66	%60	40	%36.4	0 002X2	
Sexual dysidiction	(-)	44	%40	70	%63.6	0,003	

^mMann-Whitney U test, X²chi-square test, SD: Standard deviation, FSFI: Female Sexual Function Index

		Urge Incontinence		Stress Incontinence		Mixt Incontinence		
		Mean ± SD	Med	Mean ± SD	Med	$Mean \pm SD$	Med	Р
FSFI								
Desire		3.5±1.1	3.6	3.3±1.3	3.3	3.1±1.1	3.6	0,246 ^K
Arousal		3.3±1.0	3.3	3.2±1.3	3.0	3.3±1.1	3.3	0,785 ^K
Lubrication		4.0±0.7	3.9	3.8±0.8	3.9	4.1±0.8	4.2	0,105 ^K
Orgasm		3.2±1.2	3.4	3.7±1.5	3.8	3.3±1.3	3.6	0,367 ^K
Satisfaction		3.8±1.0	3.8	3.5±1.5	3.2	3.6±1.3	3.6	0,501 ^K
Pain		3.9±1.1	3.8	3.6±1.6	3.6	4.1±1.4	4.4	0,205 ^K
Total		21.7±4.6	22.0	21.0±5.8	19.7	21.5±5.1	22.8	0,830 ^K
Sovual duraturation	(+)	16	%57	14	%58.3	36	%62.1	0.04222
Sexual dysfunction	(-)	12	%43	10	%41.7	22	%37.9	0,702
Lubrication Orgasm Satisfaction Pain Total Sexual dysfunction (+) (-)		4.0±0.7 3.2±1.2 3.8±1.0 3.9±1.1 21.7±4.6 16 12	 3.9 3.4 3.8 3.8 22.0 %57 %43 	3.8±0.8 3.7±1.5 3.5±1.5 3.6±1.6 21.0±5.8 14 10	3.9 3.8 3.2 3.6 19.7 %58.3 %41.7	4.1±0.8 3.3±1.3 3.6±1.3 4.1±1.4 21.5±5.1 36 22	 4.2 3.6 3.6 4.4 22.8 %62.1 %37.9 	0,105 ^K 0,367 ^K 0,501 ^K 0,205 ^K 0,830 ^K 0,962 ^{x²}

^KKruskal-wallis, χ^2 chi-square test, , SD: Standard deviation, FSFI: Female Sexual Function Index

found to have sexual dysfunction. In a study conducted by Turhan (13) in Turkey, FSFI threshold value was taken as 22.7 and sexual dysfunction was detected in 48.3% of all cases, 34% of cases in the reproductive period and 54% of cases with UI in the reproductive period. In our study, we considered FSFI threshold as 23 and found the rate of sexual dysfunction as 48.18% in all cases (n=220). This ratio was found to be 60% in the patients with UI (group 1) and 36.4% in the control group (group 2). When we looked at FSFI total scores, the rate of sexual dysfunction in the UI group was significantly higher than in the control group (60%-36.4%). The results we found were parallel to those in similar studies (6-8).

In our study, when we evaluated FSFI scores according to UI types, we could not find a significant difference in terms of

FSFI scores. Similarly, Turhan (13) and Urwitz-Lane and Özel (5) also found that there was no statistically significant difference between the UI types in terms of FSFI scores in reproductive incontinence cases. When we look at the literature, we see different results. Güdücü and Keser Özcan (19) states that the sexual function of women with mixt incontinence is worse than that of women with stress and urge type incontinence. In another study conducted in Iran, mixt UI was found to affect sexual function more than stress and urge type incontinence (20). Gordon et al. (21) stated that the sexual function scores of mixt incontinence patients.

Sexual functions are an important part of quality of life. The self-esteem of women who miss urine decreases are embarrassed and they escape from the relationship. As a result, this situation prevents them from enjoying sexuality. In addition, the relationship of the couple and the marriage institution can be negatively affected. Yip et al. (22) found that emotional problems related to sexual satisfaction and UI in patients with stress incontinence, and decreased sexual satisfaction in patients with overactive bladder negatively affect the marriage.

It should be kept in mind that incontinence treatment can have a positive effect on sexual function and overall quality of life. Arslan et al. (23) found significant increase in FSFI scores in follow-up after transobturator tape (TOT) operation due to stress UI (SUI). In a recent metaanalysis evaluating sexual function after SUI surgery, 55.5% of all SUI surgeries [TOT, transvaginal tape (TVT)], Burch colposusception, autologous facial sling) reported no changes in sexual symptoms, 31.9% improvement and 13.1% worsening. Sexual symptoms for miduretral sling operations were reported to be 56.7% unchanged, 33.9% improved, and 9.4% worsened. When the improvement rates in symptoms were compared, no significant difference was found between both midurethral sling operations (TOT and TVT) (24). As stated by Ayyıldız et al. (25), information should be given that patients who are planning to have a vaginal intervention due to UI may experience some sexual function parameters such as dyspareunia, even if a general sexual dysfunction does not develop. This information also shows that the treatment that will be performed will provide significant improvement in sexual function and therefore in the quality of life of the partners.

Study Limitations

The fact that our study was single-centered and that couples were not evaluated in terms of sexual function can be seen as a limitation. In addition, UI cases could be treated and reevaluated in terms of sexual function, and may provide additional contribution to the study.

CONCLUSION

Considering the incidence of continent cutaneous diversion and UI together, sexual function must be questioned in patients with UI. In addition to similar studies in the literature, we would like to identify this situation and emphasize that the treatment should be planned. It should be kept in mind that incontinence can negatively affect sexual functions when patients are left without treatment, and this can decrease quality of life and get a vicious circle.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of the Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research hospital.

Informed Consent: It was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed

Author Contributions: Concept - A.E., M.A., Ö.O., N.C.Ç., B.N.; Design - A.E., M.A., Ö.O., N.C.Ç., B.N.; Supervision - A.E., M.A., Ö.O., N.C.Ç.,

B.N.; Resources - A.E.; Data Collection and/or Processing - A.E., N.C.Ç.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - A.E., M.A., Ö.O., N.C.Ç.; Literature Search - A.E., M.A.; Writing Manuscript - A.E., M.A.; Critical Review - A.E., M.A., Ö.O., N.C.Ç., B.N.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Hsieh CH, Lee MS, Lee MC, Kuo TC, Hsu CS, Chang ST. Risk factors for urinary incontinence in Taiwanese women aged 20-59 years. Taiwan Obstet Gynecol 2008; 47:197-202.
- Dalpiaz O, Kerschbaumer A, Mitterberger M, Pinggera GM, Colleselli D, Bartsch G, et al. Female sexual dysfunction: a new urogynaecological research field. BJU Int 2008; 101: 717-21.
- Aslan G, Köseoğlu H, Sadik O, Gimen S, Cihan A, Esen A. Sexual function in women with urinary incontinence. Int J Impot Res 2005; 17:248-51.
- Barber MD, Dowsett SA, Mullen KJ, Viktrup L. The impact of stress urinary incontinence on sexual activity in women. Cleve Clin J Med 2005; 72: 225-32.
- Urwitz-Lane R, Özel B. Sexual function in women with urodynamic stress incontinence, detrusor overactivity, and mixed urinary incontinence. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2006; 195: 1758-61.
- Coksuer H, Ercan CM, Haliloğlu B, Yucel M, Cam C, Kabaca C, et al. Does urinary incontinence subtypes affect sexual function? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2011; 159: 213-7.
- Akhan SE. Pelvis tabanı ve Cinsel Yaşam: Bölüm 51. Yalçın Ö, ed. Temel Ürojinekoloji. 1. Baskı. İstanbul, Nobel Tıp Kitabevleri Ltd. şti. 2009: 525-41.
- Riley A, Riley E. Releavant Issues in the Diagnosis and Management of Psychosexual Disorders. Primary Care Psychiatry 1999; 5:161-5.
- Fisher WA, Boroditsky R, Bridges ML. The 1998 Canadian contraception study. Can J Hum Sexuality 1999; 8:161-216.
- Cayan S, Akbay E, Bozlu M, Canpolat B, Acar D, Ulusoy E. The prevelance of female sexual dysfunction and potential risk factors that may impair sexual function in Turkish women. Urol Int 2004; 72: 52-7.
- Lukacz ES, Whitcomb EL, Lawrence JM, Nager CW, Contreras R, Luber KM. Are sexual activity and satisfaction affected by pelvic floor disorders? Analaysis of a community-based survey. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2007; 197: 1-6.
- 12. Laumann EO, Paik A, Rosen RC. Sexual dysfunction in the United States: prevalence and predictors. JAMA 1999; 281: 537-44.
- Turhan A. Üriner inkontinansın reprodüktif ve postmenopozal dönemde kadın cinsel fonksiyon bozuklukları üzerine etkisi. İstanbul Üniversitesi İstanbul Tıp Fakültesi Kadın Hastalıkları ve Doğum Anabilim Dalı Tıpta Uzmanlık Tezi. 2010.
- Goldmeier D, Judd A, Schroeder K. Prevalence of sexual dysfunction in new heterosexual attenders at a central London genitourinary medicine clinic in 1998. Sex Transm Infect 2000; 76: 208-9.
- Kömürcü N, İşbilen A. Postmenopozal dönemde kadınların cinsel yaşama uyumu. Turk J Urol 2011; 37: 326-30.
- Singh JC, Tharyan P, Kekre NS, Singh G, Gopalakrishnan G. Prevalence and risk factors for female sexual dysfunction in women attending a medical clinic in south India. J Postgrad Med 2009; 55: 113-20.
- Scott RS, Hsueh GS. A clinical study of the effects of galvanic vaginal muscle stimulation in urinary stress incontinence and Sexual dysfunction. Am J Obstet Gvnecol 1979; 135: 663-5.
- Shaw C. A systematic review of the literature on the prevelance of the sexual impairment in women with urinary incontinence and the prevelance of urinary leakage during sexual activity. Eur Urol 2002; 42:432-40.
- 19. Güdücü N, Keser Özcan N. Üriner İnkontinanslı Kadınların Cinsel Fonksiyonlarının Değerlendirilmesi. JAREN 2016; 2: 16-23.
- Zohre M, Minoo P, Ali M, Azam B. Sexual function in woman with urinary incontinence: a cross-sectional study from Iran. Scientific Academic Publishing 2013; 2: 31-5.
- Gordon D, Groutz A, Sinai T, Wiezman A, Lessing JB, David MP, et al. Sexual function in women attending a urogynecology clinic. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct 1999; 10: 325-8.

- Yip SK, Chan A, Pang S, Leung P, Tang C, Shek D, et al. The impact of urodynamic stress incontinence and detrusor overactivity on marital relationship and sexual function. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2003; 188: 1244-8.
- 23. Arslan B, Onuk O, Eroglu A, Gezmis TC, Aydin M. Female sexual function following a novel transobturator sling procedure without paraurethral dissection (modified-TOT). Int Braz J Urol 2017; 43: 142-9.
- Jha S, Ammenbal M, Metwally M. Impact of incontinence surgery on sexual function: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Sex Med 2012; 9: 34-43.
- Ayyıldız A, Akgül T, Germiyanoğlu C. Stres üriner inkontinans tedavisi için yapılan vajinal girişimler sonrası kadınlarda cinsel fonksiyon. Androloji Bülteni, 2006; 241: 82-5.

Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and *PPAR-Gama* Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population

Ø Akif Arat¹, Ø Ümit Yılmaz¹, Ø Nesibe Yılmaz¹, Ø Osman Fazlıoğulları², Faruk Çelik¹, Ø Cem Başaran³,
 Ümit Zeybek¹

¹İstanbul University, Aziz Sancar Institute of Experimental Medicine, Department of Molecular Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey
 ²Avicenna Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey
 ³Medicana Bahçelievler Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Arat A, Yılmaz Ü, Yılmaz N, Fazlıoğulları O, Çelik F, Başaran C, Zeybek Ü. Effects of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR-Gama Gene Variants on Obese Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome in the Turkish Population. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):166-74

ABSTRACT

Objective: Obesity and acute coronary syndrome (ACS) are common health problems of recent years. There are many candidate genes related to the genetic infrastructure of ACS and obesity. This study aimed to investigate the association of Leptin glutamine to arginine substitution (Gln223Arg), Resistin-420 Cytosine/Guanine (C/G), and proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (PPAR-γ) proline to alanine substitution (Pro12Ala) polymorphisms in obese patients with ACS in the Turkish population.

Methods: Fifty obese patients concurrently diagnosed with ACS and 42 healthy controls were included in this study. These polymorphisms were analyzed using the polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism and agarose gel electrophoresis methods.

Results: The PPAR- γ Pro12Ala polymorphism Pro/Ala genotype (p=0.001) was found to be higher in the obese patients with ACS, while the (Proline/ Proline) genotype (p=0.001) was significantly higher in the control group. The GC genotype (p=0.045) distribution of Resistin-420 C/G was found to be significantly higher in the controls compared to the patient group.

Conclusion: Our study presents new findings that the PPAR- γ Pro12Ala polymorphism Pro/Ala genotype is a risk factor for ACS in obese individuals, whereas Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism GC genotype and PPAR- γ Pro12Ala polymorphism Pro/Pro genotype may be protective factors for ACS in obese individuals.

Keywords: Acute coronary syndrome, leptin, resistin, PPAR-y, gene polymorphism, PCR-RFLP

ORCID IDs of the authors: A.A. 0000-0003-0759-7383; Ü.Y. 0000-0003-4268-8598; N.Y. 0000-0002-5527-8507; O.F. 0000-0002-2395-3758; F.Ç. 0000-0003-2433-0277; C.B. 0000-0002-4671-6704; Ü.Z. 0000-0001-8403-2939.



Received Date 02.05.2019 Accepted Date: 27.05.2020

INTRODUCTION

Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is the most common reason for emergency department visits and hospital admissions. ACS is one of the most important health problems causing morbidity, mortality, and reduced quality of life in today's society (1). Obesity is a multifactorial disease characterized by an excessive increase in the amount of body fat, adversely affecting health and the quality of life, reducing the lifespan, and causing many metabolic diseases (2). According to the World Health Organization's reports, obesity affects more than 700 million people worldwide and nearly 2.3 billion people are overweight (3). Obese individuals have a higher frequency of cardiovascular risk factors and have higher morbidity and mortality rates related to cardiovascular diseases (4). Previously, many studies showed that some gene polymorphisms are associated with obesity and cardiovascular diseases (5,6). Leptin, which is one of these genes, is expressed in adipocytes and regulates adiposetissue mass, food intake, energy expenditure, and body weight (7). Many studies have demonstrated that the leptin gene or leptin receptor gene polymorphisms regulate obesity and cardiovascular pathogenesis (8,9). Resistin is a novel hormone that is secreted by adipocytes and its gene is located on chromosome 19p13.2 (10). Resistin-420 Cytosine/Guanine (C/G) polymorphism, located in the promoter region of the resistin gene, was reported to be associated with the regulation of resistin gene expression and serum resistin level (11). In addition, an association has been shown between the Resistin-420 C/G variant and diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular disease in several studies (12-14). The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (PPAR-y), localized on chromosome 3p25, is another related gene that is mainly expressed in adipose tissue, the colon, and macrophages. PPAR-γ plays a role in adipocyte differentiation and in the regulation of insulin responses, and it is linked to numerous diseases such as obesity, diabetes, atherosclerosis, and cancer (15).

It is suggested that Leptin Glutamine to Arginine substitution (Gln223Arg), Resistin-420 C/G, and PPAR- γ proline to alanine substitution (Pro12Ala) gene polymorphisms play an important role in the development of diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular disease. However, there is no previous study that has investigated the combined effect of the variations of Leptin, Resistin, and PPAR- γ genes on the pathogenesis of ACS among obese patients in the Turkish population. Therefore, this study is the first to investigate the possible associations of Leptin Gln223Arg, Resistin-420 C/G, and PPAR- γ Pro12Ala gene polymorphisms together in obese patients with ACS.

METHODS

Ethical Approval

This research complies with all the relevant national regulations, institutional policies and is in accordance the tenets of the Helsinki Declaration, and has been approved by the İstanbul Faculty of Medicine Ethical Committee, İstanbul University (approval number: 2012/1590-1251). All the participants' rights were protected and written informed consents were obtained before the procedures according to the Helsinki Declaration.

Study Group

The Leptin Gln223Arg, Resistin-420 C/G, and PPAR- γ Pro12Ala gene polymorphisms were investigated in 42 healthy subjects without any heart disease and 50 patients diagnosed with obesity and ACS. The patients were selected from the Medicana Bahçelievler Hospital, Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery in İstanbul, Turkey.

The patient group consisted of obese patients [body mass index (BMI) \Box 30] who were diagnosed with ACS in the hospital and whose samples were collected. ST segment elevated q positive or non-ST segment elevated, but enzyme positive patients were included into this group. Unstable angina pectoris patients were excluded. The control group consisted of people who were working in the same hospital, recruited via a survey. Particularly, the lack of a family history was the main criteria for maintaining the survey. While creating the control group, the age range was matched with that of the patient group.

DNA Isolation and Genotyping

In EDTA containing tubes, 10 mL of venous blood samples were obtained from the participants. Samples were stored at -20 °C until the genomic DNA isolation was performed using the salting out method (16). The PPAR- γ Pro12Ala, Resistin-420 C/G, and Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphisms were analyzed using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-restriction fragment length polymorphism methods. For detection of PPAR- γ Pro12Ala, Resistin-420 C/G, and Leptin Gln223Arg, 500 ng genomic DNA was amplified with 10x reaction buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 50 mM of KCl, 1.75 mM MgCl2), 2.5 mM of each dNTP, 100 pmol/ μ L of each primer, and 0.1 unit Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) in a 25 μ L reaction volume. The annealing temperatures for Leptin Gln223Arg, Resistin-420 C/G, and S8 °C, respectively.

Used primers, restriction enzymes, and interpretations for determining Leptin Gln223Arg, Resistin-420 C/G, and PPAR- γ Pro12Ala polymorphisms are shown in Table 1.

Evaluation of the Mspl, Bpil, and BstUl Restriction Enzyme Digestion Results

The PCR yield of the Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism was 421 bp and the bands obtained following digestion with Mspl were 294 and 127 bp, only if the polymorphism was present. Therefore, a single band of 421 bp was appraised as Thymin/Thymin (TT) (wild type, TT), 294 and 127 bp as Cytosine/Cytosine (CC) (mutant type, CC), and 421, 294, and 127 bp as Cytosine/Thymine (CT) (heterozygous type, CT) (Figure 1).

In order to evaluate the Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism, Bpil restriction enzyme was utilized. A single band of 533 was

appraised as Guanine/Guanine (GG) (329 and 204 bp as CC (mutant type, CC), and 533, 329 and 204 bp as Guanine/Cytosine (GC) (heterozygous type, GC) (Figure 2).

The PCR yield of the PPAR- γ Pro12Ala polymorphism was 270 bp and the bands obtained following digestion with BstUI were 227 and 43 bp, only if the polymorphism was present. Therefore, a single band of 270 bp was appraised as Proline/Proline (Pro/Pro) (wild type, Pro/Pro), 227 and 43 bp as Ala/Ala (mutant type, Ala/ Ala: Alanine/Alanine), and 270, 227, and 43 bp as Proline/Alanine (Pro/Ala) (heterozygous type, Pro/Ala) (Figure 3).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 11.5 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, USA). The chi-square (χ^2) test, Fischer's

exact test, and Student's t-test were used for comparison of the numerical variables between the groups. Allele frequencies were calculated by the gene counting method. Chi-square (χ^2) test was used for the comparison of clinical and non-clinical parameters and alleles. Student's t-test and ANOVA test were performed to compare the genotypes with more than two variables. Values of p<0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Fifty obese patients with ACS and 42 healthy controls were included in the analyses. The mean ages of the patient and control groups were 61.56 ± 8.92 and 60.34 ± 12.55 years, respectively. No significant difference was found between the patients and the

Table 1. Polymerase Chain Reaction–Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism-Based Assay of Leptin GLN223ARG, Resistin-420 C/G, and PPAR-y PRO12ALA SNPs

SNPs	Primers	Restriction enzymes	Interpretation (bp)
PPAR-γ PRO12ALA	Forward Primer: 5'-GCCAATTCAAGCCCAGTC-3' Reverse Primer: 5'-GATATGTTTGCAGCAAGTG AATCATAAGGAATCGCTTTCCG-3'	BstUl	PP: 270 AA: 227+43 PA: 270+227+43
Resistin - 420 C/G	Forward Primer: 5'- TGTCATTCTCACCCACAG ACA-3' Reverse primer: 5'- TGGGCTCAGCTAACCAA ATC-3'	Bpil	GG: 533 CC: 329+204 GC: 533+329+204
Leptin GLN223ARG	Forward Primer: 5'-ACCCTTTAAGCTGGGTGT CCCAAATAG-3' Reverse Primer: 5'- CTAGCAAATATTTTTGTAA GCAATT-3'	Mspl	TT: 421 CC: 294+127 CT: 421+294+127



Figure 1. Gel photograph showing PCR-RFLP assay for genotyping of Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism

PCR-RFLP: Polymerase chain reaction restriction-fragment length polymorphism, CC: cytosine-cytosine, CT: cytosine/thymine, TT: thymin/ thymin



Figure 2. Gel photograph showing PCR-RFLP assay for genotyping of Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism

PCR-RFLP: Polymerase chain reaction restriction-fragment length polymorphism, CC: cytosine-cytosine, GG: guanine/guanine, GC: Guanine/Cytosine controls in terms of age. Demographic parameters of the study groups are shown in Table 2. BMI [p=0.001, 95% confidence interval (CI): 5.63-8.25], very-low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol



Figure 3. Gel photograph showing PCR-RFLP assay for genotyping of PPAR-γ Pro12Ala polymorphism *PCR-RFLP: Polymerase chain reaction restriction-fragment length*

polymorphism

(p=0.001, 95% CI: 9.94-30.00), and triglyceride (p=0.001, 95% CI: 49.87-150.29) levels were found to be significantly higher in the patient group compared to the controls. Also, LDL-cholesterol (p=0.002, 95% CI: 10.77-44.15) and high-density lipoproteins-cholesterol (p=0.001, 95% CI: 8.65-18.28) levels were found to be higher in the controls than in the patient group. In addition, 66% of individuals in the patient group were also diagnosed with hypertension and 36% with diabetes mellitus (DM).

When we evaluated the study groups in terms of the PPAR- γ Pro12Ala genotype and allele frequencies, none of the individuals in either group showed the Ala/Ala genotype. In the patient group, Pro/Ala genotype was found to be significantly higher compared to the controls (p=0.001, 95% CI: 3.82-17.22). Due to the absence of the Ala/Ala genotype, carrying the mutant Ala/Ala allele presents as the Pro/Ala genotype. The Pro/Pro genotype frequency was determined to be significantly higher in the control group compared to the patient group (p=0.001, 95% CI: 0.004-0.202) (Table 3). The allele and genotype frequencies of Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism were not significantly different between the patient group and controls (Table 3). According to the results of the statistical analysis of Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism, the GC genotype distribution was determined to be significantly

Table 2. Demographic characteristics of obesity with ACS patients and healthy controls							
Demographic parameters	Patient (n=50)	Control (n=42)	р				
Age (year)	(61.56±8.92)	(60.34±12.55)	-				
Gender (F/M)	17/33	14/28	-				
Body mass index (kg/m²)	(32.75±2.76) ^a	(25.81±3.42)	0.001				
Presence of hypertension (%)	66%	-	-				
Presence of diabetes mellitus (%)	36%	-	-				
Presence of KOAH (%)	8%	-	-				
LDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	(103.84±43.05)	(131.30±37.50) ^a	0.002				
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	(216.18±168.22) ^a	(116.09±51.79)	0.001				
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	(185.41±61.83)	(206.38±43.21)	-				
HDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	(38.34±9.75)	(51.80±13.43)ª	0.001				
VLDL-cholesterol (mg/dL)	(43.23±33.64) ^a	(23.26±10.26)	0.001				
AST (mg/dL)	(30.54±14.03)	-	-				
ALT (mg/dL)	(36.89±20.41)	-	-				
BUN (mg/dL)	(19.50±9.02)	-	-				
Hematocrit	(40.49±5.18)	-	-				
Platelet	(266.18±52.29)	-	-				
Urea	(38.55±13.06)	-	-				
WBC	(7.63±2.17)	-	-				
INR	(1.06±0.14)	-	-				
Sedimentation	(35.36±25.82)	-	-				

Values are reported as number of patients, n: number of individuals, SD: standard deviation, ^ap<0.05 denoted statistically significant, F: female, M: male, ACS: acute coronary syndrome, KOAH: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary disease, HDL: high-density lipoproteins, VLDL: very-low-density lipoprotein, AST: aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: alanine aminotransferase, BUN: blood urea nitrogen, WBC: white blood cell, INR: international normalized ratio
higher in the controls compared to the patient group [p=0.045, χ^2 : 4.033, odds ratio (OR): 1.364, 95% CI: 1.003-1.854] (Table 3).

When we investigated the association between demographic parameters and Leptin Gln223Arg, Resistin-420 C/G, and PPAR- γ Pro12Ala genotype distribution, the Leptin GG genotype carriers had significantly higher BMIs compared to heterozygote carriers in the patient group.

There were no significant differences between other polymorphisms and demographic parameters in both study groups (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

Leptin receptor Gln223Arg polymorphism is one of the most frequently encountered leptin receptor polymorphisms (17). Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism falls within the region encoding the extracellular domain of the leptin receptor. Therefore, the amino-acid changes consecutively, leading to a change from a neutral to a positive charge of the molecule, in the extracellular domain of the receptor that represents a typical leptin-binding site and it was suggested that a change of charge could significantly affect the functionality of the receptor (18,19). Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism affected the development process of coronary artery disease via facilitating the deposition of HDL cholesterol on blood vessel walls (20). While some studies have reported that Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism has been associated with BMI, high blood pressure, obesity, lipids, and insulin resistance, other studies did not find any association with these parameters (21).

Although Leptin receptor Gln223Arg polymorphism has not been associated with lipid parameters in obese or normal-

weight persons before (22,23), some studies showed that it may increase the risk of obesity and/or obesity-related diseases in different populations (24-26). In obese children, no association was found between Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism and obesity, leptin, insulin resistance, and metabolic abnormalities (27). Similarly, Okada et al. (28) have found no association between Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism and serum lipid profiles of Japanese obese children. Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism was found not to be associated with obesity in Turkish children with metabolic syndrome (29). There was no difference in the genotype frequencies of Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism between obese and non-obese adolescents (18). Yang et al. (30) selected fifteen studies for their meta-analysis. They reported a significant association between decreased risk of obesity and the Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism. Overweight or obese subjects had significantly higher frequencies of the Arg223 homozygous allele of the Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism (31). In a study conducted in the Iranian population, it has been suggested that carrying the G allele increases the risk of non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (32). In another study, Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism has not been associated with the risk of coronary artery disease and hypertension in the Iranian population (33). Aijälä et al. (34) have reported that no impact on incidence for cardiovascular events or death was detected between Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism. Also, Shi et al. (20) have demonstrated that Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism showed a significant difference between coronary artery disease patients and healthy controls neither genotypes nor alleles in China population. In the represented study, we found no association between the Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism and obese patients with ACS in the Turkish population. A meta-

Table 3. Genotype and allele frequencies of patients and controls for Leptin GLN223ARG, Resistin - 420 C/G, and PPAR-γ PRO12ALA polymorphisms

SNPs	Genotype and alleles	Patient (n=50) (n, %)	Control (n 42) (n, %)	р
	AA	14 (28)	18 (42.90)	-
	GG	2 (4)	3 (7.10)	-
Leptin GLN223ARG	AG	34 (68)	21 (50)	-
	A allele	62 (62)	57 (67.85)	-
	G allele	38 (38)	27 (32.15)	-
	PP	6 (12)	38 (97.40) ^a	0.001
	AA	0	0	-
PPAR-γ PRO12ALA	PA	44 (88) ^a	1 (2.60)	0.001
	P allele	56 (56)	77 (98.71)	-
	A allele	44 (44)	1 (1.29)	-
Resistin-420 C/G	GG	9 (20.5)	5 (12.5)	-
	CC	10 (22.7)	4 (10)	-
	GC	25 (56.8)	31 (77.5) ^a	0.045
	G	43 (48.86)	41 (51.25)	-
	С	45 (51.14)	39 (48.75)	-

Values are reported as number of patients (percentage of total group). ^ap<0.05 denoted statistically significant. PPAR-7: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma, GG: guanine/guanine, CC: cytosine-cytosine, GC: Guanine/Cytosine analysis showed that Leptin Gln223Arg polymorphism was not significantly associated with cardiovascular disease risk, but have claimed that these findings are still unclear, because the frequency of the 223Arg allele was highly varied in different ethnicities (8).

The resistin gene coding resistin is found on chromosome 19p13; Resistin-420C/G polymorphism reported at promoter as well as on coding sequences. One of the most frequently studied polymorphisms, C to G substitution at -420 position in the 5' flanking region of the gene showed altered resistin gene expression (mRNA levels) in abdominal fat with increased serum resistin level (35). This polymorphism has independently been associated with cardiovascular risk factors, such as insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and metabolic syndrome, as well as with coronary heart disease (arteriosclerosis, coronary artery disease, idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy) (36-39). In a meta-analysis, G allele of Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism was reported as a risk factor for obesity (40). The Resistin-420 GG genotype was significantly associated with obesity, impaired glucose tolerance, and T2DM in a Egyptian population (41). G/G genotypes and G alleles for Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism were significantly associated with T2DM and cardiovascular disease in Egyptian diabetic patients (12). Also, Nakashima et al. (42) have reported that carrying the GG genotype and G allele increased cardiovascular disease risk. In a Chinese population, subjects with CG and GG genotypes had an increased risk of coronary artery disease compared to CC carriers (11). Hoffman et al. (43) did not find any association between Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism and coronary artery disease in Caucasians. Hussain et al. (44) reported that elevated serum resistin levels and carrying the G allele for Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism may be associated with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. In the Chinese population, no significant difference in the distribution of genotypes and allele frequencies of -420 C/G polymorphism has been found in T2DM patients and coronary heart disease patients (45). Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism has been found associated with increased obesity and metabolic syndrome, but it is not different in subjects with high cardiovascular diseases such as myocardial infarction (46). Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism was not associated with metabolic syndrome or coronary atherosclerosis in nondiabetic Caucasians (47). According to our results, the GC genotype distribution for Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism was determined to be significantly higher in the control group compared to obese patients with ACS; therefore, it can be said that GC genotype for Resistin-420 C/G polymorphism is protective for ACS in obese patients in the Turkish population.

PPAR is a member of the nuclear hormone receptor family. There are three subtypes of PPAR: α , δ , and γ (48). The PPAR- γ plays a pivotal role on local vasculature in several critical aspects of atherothrombosis, including lipid metabolism and foam cell responses (49). A point mutation found on the B exon of the NH2-terminal of PPAR- γ , substitution of proline with alanine at position 12, the Pro12Ala polymorphism, which causes an amino-acid substitution in its ligand-independent activation

domain, and a moderate decrease in its transcriptional activity (50,51). PPAR-y expression has also been found in atherosclerotic lesions and macrophages, suggesting that PPAR-y may influence atherogenic processes, and polymorphisms of PPAR-y may modulate individual susceptibility to T2DM, insulin resistance, obesity, and related traits associated with coronary heart disease (48,49,52). Dedoussis et al. (53) reported that carrying the Ala allele for PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism is a risk factor for adiposity in children. Pro12Ala and/or Ala12Ala polymorphisms of the PPAR- γ gene have been found to be associated with obesity (54-57). The Ala/Ala genotype of the PPAR-γ gene was found to be associated with obesity and insulin resistance in Asian Indians (58). In a meta-analysis, it was notified that the PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism might be a risk factor for obesity susceptibility (59). On the contrary, some studies showed that the PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism is not associated with obesity in different populations (60,61). The relationship between the PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism and coronary diseases were investigated in previous studies. No association has been found between PPAR-y Pro12Ala with ACS and coronary artery disease (62-64). In meta-analysis studies, the PPAR-v Pro12Ala polymorphism was not associated with coronary heart disease (49,65). Wang et al. (66) reported that although the 12Ala is not an independent risk factor for obesity, the PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism is associated with increased risk of myocardial infarction in Han Chinese in Hohhot. In one study, the 12Ala allele in PPAR-y correlated with a significantly increased coronary artery disease extent in men (67), whereas in another study, it was reported that this allele had a protective effect for cardiovascular disease (68). No association was found with coronary artery disease and PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism in Italian and Korean population (69,70), whereas in the Turkish population, it was reported that carrying the 12Ala allele increased the risk of coronary artery disease (71). In the represented study, we found that the PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism Pro/Ala genotype was found to be higher in the obese patients with ACS, while the Pro/Pro genotype was significantly higher in the control group. According to our results, it can be concluded that PPAR-y Pro12Ala polymorphism Pro/Ala genotype may be a risk factor for ACS in obesity patients, while the Pro/Pro genotype may be a protective factor for ACS in obesity.

Finally, regarding the results of this study, and showing compliance with the previous ones, *PPAR-* γ *Pro12Ala* gene polymorphism may play a role in the development of ACS in obesity. Our results need to be confirmed in larger cohorts in order to improve the understanding of their role in the development of ACS in obesity patients.

Study Limitation

We believe that the small sample size in our study affected our results, and further studies with larger sample groups are needed to specifically clarify the role of the Leptin Gln223Arg, *Resistin-420 C/G*, and *PPAR-* γ *Pro12Ala* gene polymorphisms in the pathogenesis of ACS in obese patients. However, even with the limited number of participants included in our study, we think that our findings will contribute to the understanding of the molecular mechanisms of ACS in obesity.

CONCLUSION

To date, no study had simultaneously evaluated the Leptin Gln223Arg, Resistin-420 C/G, and PPAR- γ Pro12Ala polymorphisms in obese patients with ACS. Thus, our study is the first to focus on the above-mentioned polymorphisms in obese patients with ACS and we believe that it might be a relevant source of data for the further studies.

Ethics Committee Approval: This research complies with all the relevant national regulations, institutional policies and is in accordance the tenets of the Helsinki Declaration, and has been approved by the İstanbul Medical Faculty Ethical Committee, İstanbul University (approval number: 2012/1590-1251).

Informed Consent: All the participants' rights were protected and written informed consents were obtained before the procedures according to the Helsinki Declaration.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed

Author Contributions: Concept - A.A., Ü.Z.; Design - Ü.Z., O.F., C.B.; Supervision - Ü.Y., N.Y.; Resources - O.F., C.B., F.Ç., A.A.; Materials - O.F., C.B., A.A.; Data Collection and/or Processing - A.A., F.Ç.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - Ü.Z., A.A., Ü.Y., N.Y.; Literature Search - Ü.Z., A.A., F.Ç.; Writing Manuscript - Ü.Y., N.Y.; Critical Review - Ü.Z., Ü.Y., N.Y.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Body R. Acute coronary syndromes diagnosis, version 2.0: Tomorrow's approach to diagnosing acute coronary syndromes? Turk J Emerg Med 2018; 18: 94-9.
- Chan RSM, Woo J. Prevention of overweight and obesity: how effective is the current public health approach. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2010; 7: 765-83.
- Budai KA, Mirzahosseini A, Béla N, Tóth G. [The pharmacotherapy of obesity]. Acta Pharm Hung 2015; 85: 3-17.
- Abdelaal M, le Roux CW, Docherty NG. Morbidity and mortality associated with obesity. Ann Transl Med 2017; 5: 161.
- Jiménez-Osorio AS, Musalem-Younes C, Cárdenas-Hernández H, Solares-Tlapechco J, Costa-Urrutia P, Medina-Contreras O, et al. Common Polymorphisms Linked to Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease in Europeans and Asians are Associated with Type 2 Diabetes in Mexican Mestizos. Medicina 2019; 55: 40.
- Rankinen T, Sarzynski MA, Ghosh S, Bouchard C. Are there genetic paths common to obesity, cardiovascular disease outcomes, and cardiovascular risk factors? Circ Res 2015; 116: 909-22.
- Hussain Z, Khan JA. Food intake regulation by leptin: Mechanisms mediating gluconeogenesis and energy expenditure. Asian Pac J Trop Med 2017; 10: 940-4.
- Wu L, Sun D. Leptin receptor gene polymorphism and the risk of cardiovascular disease: A systemic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017; 14: 375.
- de Oliveira R, Cerda A, Genvigir FDV, Sampaio MF, Armaganijan D, Bernik MM, et al. Leptin receptor gene polymorphisms are associated with adiposity and metabolic alterations in Brazilian individuals. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol 2013; 57:677-84.
- Hashemi M, Bahari G, Tabasi F, Moazeni-Roodi A, Ghavami S. Association between rs1862513 and rs3745367 genetic polymorphisms of resistin and risk of cancer: A meta-analysis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2018; 19: 2709-16.

- Tang NP, Wang LS, Yang L, Zhou B, Gu HJ, Sun QM, et al. A polymorphism in the resistin gene promoter and the risk of coronary artery disease in a Chinese population. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2008; 68: 82-7.
- Motawi TMK, Shaker OG, El-Sawalhi MM, Abdel-Nasser ZM. Visfatin -948G/T and resistin -420C/G polymorphisms in Egyptian type 2 diabetic patients with and without cardiovascular diseases. Genome 2014; 57: 259-66.
- Zayani N, Hamdouni H, Boumaiza I, Achour O, Neffati F, Omezzine A, et al. Resistin polymorphims, plasma resistin levels and obesity in Tunisian volunteers. J Clin Lab Anal 2018; 32: e 22227.
- Hernandez-Romero D, Orenes-Pinero E, Garcia-Honrubia A, Climent V, Romero-Aniorte AI, Martinez CM, et al. Involvement of the -420C>G RETN polymorphism in myocardial fibrosis in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J Intern Med 2015; 278: 50-8.
- Corrales P, Izquierdo-Lahuerta A, Medina-Gómez G. Maintenance of kidney metabolic homeostasis by PPAR gamma. Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19: 2063.
- Miller SA, Dykes DD, Polesky HF. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. Nucleic Acids Res 1988; 16: 1215.
- Ragin CC, Dallal C, Okobia M, Modugno F, Chen J, Garte S, et al. Leptin levels and leptin receptor polymorphism frequency in healthy populations. Infect Agent Cancer 2009; 4(Suppl 1): S13.
- Guízar-Mendoza JM, Amador-Licona N, Flores-Martínez SE, López-Cardona MG, Ahuatzin-Trémary R, Sanchez-Corona J. Association analysis of the Gln223Arg polymorphism in the human leptin receptor gene, and traits related to obesity in Mexican adolescents. J Hum Hypertens 2005; 19: 341-6.
- Bienertová-Vasků JA, Spinarová L, Bienert P, Vasků A. Association between variants in the genes for leptin, leptin receptor, and proopiomelanocortin with chronic heart failure in the Czech population. Heart Vessels 2009; 24: 131-7.
- Shi R, Zhang M, Wang W, Song X, Liu H, Tian R, et al. Effect of interactions between LEPR polymorphisms and smoking on coronary artery disease susceptibility. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2017; 10: 9753-9.
- van der Vleuten GM, Kluijtmans LA, Hijmans A, Blom HJ, Stalenhoef AF, de Graaf J. The Gln223Arg polymorphism in the leptin receptor is associated with familial combined hyperlipidemia. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006; 30: 892-8.
- Gotoda T, Manning BS, Goldstone AP, Imrie H, Evans AL, Strosberg AD, et al. Leptin receptor gene variation and obesity: lack of association in a white British male population. Hum Mol Genet 1997; 6: 869-76.
- Silver K, Walston J, Chung WK, Yao F, Parikh VV, Andersen R, et al. The Gln223Arg and Lys656Asn polymorphisms in the human leptin receptor do not associate with traits related to obesity. Diabetes 1997; 46: 1898-1900.
- Shabana NA, Hasnain S. Association of the leptin receptor Gln223 Arg polymorphism with lipid profile in obese Pakistani subjects. Nutrition 2015; 31: 1136-40.
- Marginean CO, Marginean C, Voidazan S, Melit L, Crauciuc A, Duicu C, et al. Correlations between leptin gene polymorphisms 223 A/G, 1019 G/A, 492 G/C, 976 C/A, and Anthropometrical and Biochemical Parameters in Children With Obesity: A Prospective Case-Control Study in a Romanian Population-The Nutrichild Study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e3115.
- Hassan NE, El-Masry SA, Zarouk W, El Banna RA, Mosaad RM, Al-Tohamy M, et al. Obesity phenotype in relation to gene polymorphism among samples of Egyptian children and their mothers. Genes Dis 2018; 5: 150-7.
- Pyrzak B, Wisniewska A, Kucharska A, Wasik M, Demkow U. No association of LEPR Gln223Arg polymorphism with leptin, obesity or metabolic disturbances in children. Eur J Med Res 2009; 14(Suppl 4): 201-4.
- Okada T, Ohzeki T, Nakagawa Y, Sugihara S, Arisaka O; Study Group of Pediatric O. Impact of leptin and leptin-receptor gene polymorphisms on serum lipids in Japanese obese children. Acta Paediatr 2010; 99: 1213-7.
- Komşu-Ornek Z, Demirel F, Dursun A, Ermiş B, Pişkin E, Bideci A. Leptin receptor gene Gln223Arg polymorphism is not associated with obesity and metabolic syndrome in Turkish children. Turk J Pediatr 2012; 54: 20-4.

- Yang GP, Peng SH, Zuo SY, Wang YR, Peng XN, Zeng XM. [Meta-analysis on the relationship between leptin receptor Gln223Arg and Pro1019Pro gene polymorphism and obesity in the Chinese population]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 2011; 32: 1037-42.
- Masuo K, Straznicky NE, Lambert GW, Katsuya T, Sugimoto K, Rakugi H, et al. Leptin-receptor polymorphisms relate to obesity through blunted leptin-mediated sympathetic nerve activation in a Caucasian male population. Hypertens Res 2008; 31: 1093-100.
- 32. Khaki-Khatibi F, Mansouri F, Hajahmadipoorrafsanjani M, Ghojazadeh M, Gholikhani-Darbroud R. Study of rs1137101 polymorphism of leptin receptor gene with serum levels of selenium and copper in the patients of non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) in an Iranian population. Clin Biochem 2018; 60: 64-70.
- Nowzari Z, Masoumi M, Nazari-Robati M, Akbari H, Shahrokhi N, Asadikaram G. Association of polymorphisms of leptin, leptin receptor and apelin receptor genes with susceptibility to coronary artery disease and hypertension. Life Sci 2018; 207: 166-71.
- Aijälä M, Santaniemi M, Bloigu R, Kesäniemi YA, Ukkola O. Leptin receptor Arg109 homozygotes display decreased total mortality as well as lower incidence of cardiovascular disease and related death. Gene 2014; 534: 88-92.
- 35. Rode PA, Kolte RA, Kolte AP, Purohit HJ, Ahuja CR. Relevance of singlenucleotide polymorphism to the expression of resistin gene affecting serum and gingival crevicular fluid resistin levels in chronic periodontitis and type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized control clinical trial. J Indian Soc Periodontol 2019; 23: 131-6.
- Fu Y, Yu Y, Wu Y, You Y, Zhang Y, Kou C. Association between two resistin gene polymorphisms and metabolic syndrome in Jilin, Northeast China: A case-control study. Dis Markers 2017; 2017: 1638769.
- Bouziana S, Tziomalos K, Goulas A, Vyzantiadis TA, Papadopoulou M, Panderi A, et al. Effects of major adipokines and the -420 C > G resistin gene polymorphism on the long-term outcome of patients with acute ischemic stroke. Int J Neurosci 2019; 129: 978-85.
- Hussain S, Haroon J, Ejaz S, Javed Q. Variants of resistin gene and the risk of idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy in Pakistan. Meta Gene 2016; 9: 37-41.
- Liu R, He B, Gao F, Liu Q, Yi Q. Association of the resistin gene promoter region polymorphism with Kawasaki disease in Chinese children. Mediators Inflamm 2012; 2012: 356362.
- Zhu ZL, Yang QM, Li C, Chen J, Xiang M, Chen MM, et al. Association between the resistin gene-420 C>G polymorphism and obesity: an updated meta-analysis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2016; 20: 4922-9.
- El-Shal AS, Pasha HF, Rashad NM. Association of resistin gene polymorphisms with insulin resistance in Egyptian obese patients. Gene 2013; 515: 233-8.
- Nakashima E, Watarai A, Tsukahara T, Hamada Y, Naruse K, Kamiya H, et al. Association of resistin polymorphism, its serum levels and prevalence of stroke in Japanese type 2 diabetic patients. J Diabetes Investig 2010; 1: 154-8.
- Hoffmann MM, Pilz S, Weihrauch G, Seelhorst U, Wellnitz B, Winkelmann BR, et al. Effect of the resistin -420C > G polymorphism on cardiovascular disease and mortality. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2008; 69: 344-5.
- Hussain S, Asghar M, Javed Q. Resistin gene promoter region polymorphism and the risk of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in patients. Transl Res 2010; 155: 142-7.
- 45. Chi S, Lan C, Zhang S, Liu H, Wang X, Chen Y, et al. Association of -394C>G and -420C>G polymorphisms in the RETN gene with T2DM and CHD and a new potential SNP might be exist in exon 3 of RETN gene in Chinese. Mol Cell Biochem 2009; 330: 31-8.
- Norata GD, Ongari M, Garlaschelli K, Tibolla G, Grigore L, Raselli S, et al. Effect of the -420C/G variant of the resistin gene promoter on metabolic syndrome, obesity, myocardial infarction and kidney dysfunction. J Intern Med 2007; 262: 104-12.
- Qasim AN, Metkus TS, Tadesse M, Lehrke M, Restine S, Wolfe ML, et al. Resistin gene variation is associated with systemic inflammation but not plasma adipokine levels, metabolic syndrome or coronary atherosclerosis in nondiabetic Caucasians. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2009; 70: 698-705.
- Rhee EJ, Oh KW, Lee WY, Kim SY, Oh ES, Baek KH, et al. Effects of two common polymorphisms of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma gene on metabolic syndrome. Arch Med Res 2006; 37: 86-94.

- Xu W, Xu J, Sun B, Chen H, Wang Y, Huang F, et al. The effect of PPARG gene polymorphisms on the risk of coronary heart disease: a metaanalysis. Mol Biol Rep 2013; 40: 875-84.
- Horiki M, Ikegami H, Fujisawa T, Kawabata Y, Ono M, Nishino M, et al. Association of Pro12Ala polymorphism of PPARgamma gene with insulin resistance and related diseases. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2004; 66 Suppl 1: S63-7.
- Mansoori A, Amini M, Kolahdooz F, Seyedrezazadeh E. Obesity and Pro12Ala polymorphism of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma gene in healthy adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Nutr Metab 2015; 67: 104-18.
- Wojtkowska I, Bonda TA, Tysarowski A, Seliga K, Siedlecki JA, Winnicka MM, Stępińska J. PPARG2 Pro12Ala and TNFalpha -308G>A polymorphisms are not associated with heart failure development in patients with ischemic heart disease after coronary artery bypass grafting. PPAR Res 2019; 2019: 1932036.
- Dedoussis GV, Vidra N, Butler J, Papoutsakis C, Yannakoulia M, Hirschhorn JN, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma (PPARgamma) Pro12Ala polymorphism and risk for pediatric obesity. Clin Chem Lab Med 2009; 47: 1047-50.
- 54. Ben Ali S, Ben Yahia F, Sediri Y, Kallel A, Ftouhi B, Feki M, et al. Genderspecific effect of Pro12Ala polymorphism in peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma-2 gene on obesity risk and leptin levels in a Tunisian population. Clin Biochem 2009; 42: 1642-7.
- Bidzińska B, Demissie M, Tworowska U, Slezak R, Dobosz T, Milewicz A. [Is obesity associated with a polymorphism Pro12Ala and Pro115GIn in the PPARgamma gene?]. Pol Merkur Lekarski 2004; 17: 361-4.
- Mattevi VS, Zembrzuski VM, Hutz MH. Effects of a PPARG gene variant on obesity characteristics in Brazil. Braz J Med Biol Res 2007; 40: 927-32.
- Prakash J, Srivastava N, Awasthi S, Agarwal C, Natu S, Rajpal N, et al. Association of PPAR-γ gene polymorphisms with obesity and obesityassociated phenotypes in North Indian population. Am J Hum Biol 2012; 24: 454-9.
- Bhatt SP, Misra A, Sharma M, Luthra K, Guleria R, Pandey RM, et al. Ala/Ala genotype of Pro12Ala polymorphism in the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma2 gene is associated with obesity and insulin resistance in Asian Indians. Diabetes Technol Ther 2012; 14: 828-34.
- Yao YS, Li J, Jin YL, Chen Y, He LP. Association between PPAR-γ2 Pro12Ala polymorphism and obesity: a meta-analysis. Mol Biol Rep 2015; 42: 1029-38.
- Kuliczkowska J, Filus A, Trzmiel A, Tworowska U, Demissie M, Jedrzejuk D, et al. PPAR-gamma2 Pro12Ala polymorphism in the population of obese and non-obese men of the city of Wroclaw. Endokrynol Pol 2008; 59: 312-5.
- Ghoussaini M, Meyre D, Lobbens S, Charpentier G, Clément K, Charles MA, et al. Implication of the Pro12Ala polymorphism of the PPAR-gamma 2 gene in type 2 diabetes and obesity in the French population. BMC Med Genet 2005; 6: 11.
- 62. Evangelisti L, Attanasio M, Lucarini L, Sofi F, Marcucci R, Giglioli C, et al. PPARgamma promoter polymorphisms and acute coronary syndrome. Atherosclerosis 2009; 205: 186-91.
- Vogel U, Segel S, Dethlefsen C, Tjønneland A, Saber AT, Wallin H, et al. PPARgamma Pro12Ala polymorphism and risk of acute coronary syndrome in a prospective study of Danes. BMC Med Genet 2009; 10: 52.
- 64. Rhee EJ, Kwon CH, Lee WY, Kim SY, Jung CH, Kim BJ, et al. No association of Pro12Ala polymorphism of PPAR-gamma gene with coronary artery disease in Korean subjects. Circ J 2007; 71: 338-42.
- Ding S, Liu L, Zhuge QC, Yu Z, Zhang X, Xie J, et al. The meta-analysis of the association of PPARG P12A, C161T polymorphism and coronary heart disease. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2012; 124: 671-7.
- Wang LP, Zhao LR, Cui HW, Yan MR, Yang L, Su XL. Association between PPARgamma2 Pro12Ala polymorphism and myocardial infarction and obesity in Han Chinese in Hohhot, China. Genet Mol Res 2012; 11: 2929-38.
- 67. Schneider JG, Schiekofer S, von Eynatten M, Schlimmer P, Dugi KA. The proline 12 alanine substitution in the PPARgamma2 gene is associated with increased extent of coronary artery disease in men. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 2009; 117: 519-21.
- Regieli JJ, Jukema JW, Doevendans PA, Zwinderman AH, van der Graaf Y, Kastelein JJ, et al. PPAR gamma variant influences angiographic

outcome and 10-year cardiovascular risk in male symptomatic coronary artery disease patients. Diabetes Care 2009; 32: 839-44.

- Galgani A, Valdes A, Erlich HA, Mano C, Cheng S, Petrone A, et al. Homozygosity for the Ala allele of the PPARgamma2 Pro12Ala polymorphism is associated with reduced risk of coronary artery disease. Dis Markers 2010; 29: 259-64.
- Rhee EJ, Kwon CH, Lee WY, Kim SY, Jung CH, Kim BJ, et al. No association of Pro12Ala polymorphism of PPAR-gamma gene with coronary artery disease in Korean subjects. Circ J 2007; 71: 338-42.
- Aydoğan HY, KüçükhüseyinO, Tekeli A, Isbir T. Associations of receptor for advanced glycation end products -374 T/A and Gly82 Ser and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma Pro12Ala polymorphisms in Turkish coronary artery disease patients. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers 2012; 16: 134-7.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.2556 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):175-9

A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

💿 Pınar Mutlu, 💿 N. Arzu Mirici

Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Chest Diseases, Çanakkale, Turkey

Cite this article as: Mutlu P, Mirici N.A. A Comparison of Exercise Tolerance, Measures of Cardiac Response to Exercise and Serum Markers in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):175-9

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study investigates the relationship between cardiac response measures and serum markers with exercise performance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Methods: A total of 90 patients with stable COPD, diagnosed based on clinical findings and the GOLD spirometric criteria were included in this study. Each patient completed pulmonary function and lung diffusion tests, a six-minute walking test (6MWT), a Modified Medical Research Council Dyspnea scale, and a St. George Respiratory Questionnaire. The patient's height and body weight were obtained, and the body mass index was calculated. Serum pro-brain natriuretic peptide (pro-BNP), tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-8, transferrin, and C-reactive protein levels were measured.

Results: After the evaluation of exercise tolerance with a 6MWT, exercise performance was found to be significantly associated with spirometric measurements, the level of dyspnea, quality of life, and serum pro-BNP levels. When the measures of cardiac response to exercise were evaluated, significant relationships were noted between systolic pressure and pulse differences, and the distance walked in a 6MWT.

Conclusion: We believe that the many factors that determine exercise tolerance in COPD patients are interrelated. A clear demonstration of these relationships may, in the long-term, change the perspective of both the clinical course of the disease and its treatment strategies.

Keywords: COPD, Pro-BNP, transferrin, exercise performance, 6-minutes walking test

INTRODUCTION

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a slowdeveloping, chronic, and progressive disorder of the respiratory system. Treatment is based on the patient's symptoms, given that there is currently no treatment that may prevent the development or cure of COPD (1). Dyspnea is the most common symptom seen in COPD and is the leading cause of functional loss. It, therefore, plays an essential role in the choice of medication for COPD. The perceived level of dyspnea is considered as a marker of the patient's quality of life (2).

Musculoskeletal dysfunction and weakness are among the most common systemic effects of COPD and are frequently accompanied by a loss of fat-free mass. The loss of muscle mass is accompanied by muscle weakness, and this is a significant predictor of exercise capacity in COPD patients, irrespective of disease severity (3-5).

ORCID IDs of the authors: P.M. 0000-0002-7496-0026; N.A.M. 0000-0002-7189-9258.



Received Date 08.10.2018 Accepted Date: 11.06.2020

In COPD patients, increased levels of tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and IL-8, and decreased levels of calcium in the mitochondria may induce apoptosis in all body cells, including muscle cells, leading to a decreased body mass index (BMI) and weight loss (6,7).

Pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (Pro-BNP) is synthesized in response to a decrease in ventricular myocytes (8), and plasma pro-BNP levels are elevated in COPD patients that developed pulmonary hypertension and right ventricular overload (9). There are no studies on pro-BNP levels in stable COPD patients with no cor pulmonale or pulmonary hypertension (10).

A six-minute walking test (6MWT) is a valid and reliable test for the objective measurement of functional exercise capacity in individuals with pulmonary or cardiovascular diseases. The test is simple, reproducible, inexpensive, and well-tolerated. It better reflects the ability of a patient to engage in daily life activities compared to other walking tests (11-14). In this study, we compare the functional exercise capacity of COPD patients based on a 6MWT with measurements of cardiac response to exercise and serum markers.

METHODS

Patient selection: The study population included 90 patients with stable COPD, including 82 men and 8 women, selected from among the patients who were referred to our Clinics of Pulmonology Outpatient between February 2010 and April 2012, and who were invited to take part in this study through face-to-face interviews or telephone contacts.

A written informed consent was obtained from each patient. Ethics committee approval was received from the University Clinical Research Ethics Committee for approval of the study (approval number: 2010.03, date: 15.01.2010). Written permission was obtained from University Medical School Dean's Office in order to conduct the study in the Chest Diseases Clinic of Research and Application Hospital. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Study inclusion criteria: Patients with a clinical picture consistent with COPD, diagnosed based on the GOLD spirometric criteria, and stable disease (no COPD exacerbation within the last six weeks) were included in this study.

Study exclusion criteria: Patients with severe physical disabilities who were unable to take the 6MWT, myocardial infarction or unstable angina within the last one month, or a history of heart failure were excluded from this study.

Our work conforms to the Helsinki declaration. This study was approved by the local research ethics committee, and all patients were informed about this study and provided written informed consent for their participation. The patients underwent physical examinations and clinical evaluations. To measure the severity of dyspnea and identify the COPD stage, all patients performed pulmonary function and lung diffusion tests and were assessed according to the Modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) dyspnea scale. Exercise performance was evaluated by a 6MWT. Height and body weight were obtained and BMI was calculated.

Pulmonary function test: This was performed by a pulmonary function test nurse in the pulmonary function test laboratories of our clinics using a Masterscope JLAB V5.22.1.50 (Cardinal Health, Germany, Hoechberg, 2006) spirometry device.

Lung diffusion test: This was carried out using a Vmax Encore 229 (Viasys Respiratory Care, ABD, California, 2008) device, based on the single-breath diffusing capacity of lung for carbon monoxide (DLCO) method.

Modified Medical Research Council Dyspnea scale: This scale is used to measure the shortness of breath that develops during walking or working, and differentiates five stages.

Six-minute walking test: This test was used to measure exercise capacity based on the recommendations of the American Thoracic Society. The total distance walked was measured and recorded at the end of the test.

St. George Respiratory Questionnaire: This is a selfadministered questionnaire, standardized specifically for airway disorders, and includes questions related to three aspects of the disorder, including symptoms (8 questions), activity (16 questions) and impact (26 questions) (14).

Blood samples: TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-8 levels were measured twice using a high-precision enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (Biosource, Nivelles, Belgium). C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were measured using a latex-enhanced immunonephelometry (Siemens, Dublin, Ireland). Plasma pro-BNP levels were measured through an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay using an Elecsys 2010 system (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Transferrin levels were measured using the ELISA method.

Skinfold thickness measurement: Triceps measurements were obtained vertically from the midpoint of the distance between the acromion and olecranon while the arms were left to rest freely on either side of the body.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using SPSS Package Software version 15.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, USA). Descriptive data were presented as numbers, percentages, means, standard deviations, medians, and minimum-maximum values. Categorical data were analyzed with a chi-square test, while a Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare continuous variables. Correlation analyses were carried out with Spearman, Pearson, and Kendall's Tau tests, and correlation power values were interpreted as follows: 0.00-0.24, weak; 0.25-0.49, moderate; 0.50-0.74, strong; and 0.75-1.00, very strong. P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

There were 82 men and 8 women included in this study, with a mean age of 59.7 ± 5.8 years. Most patients were in the GOLD-stage 2 (64.4%) and mMRC 2 (55.6%) groups (Table 1).

When measuring exercise tolerance using the 6MWT, the minimum and maximum walking distances were 180 and 671 meters, respectively, with a mean walking distance of 494.16±88.57 meters.

Based on the GOLD spirometric staging, the relationship between the St. George Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) scores and the total distance walked in the 6MWT was examined, using Spearman's correlation test (Table 2).

In patients with stage 1 COPD (FEV1 \ge 80%), a significant negative correlation was identified between the SGRQ symptom score and the total distance walked in 6MWT (rho: -0.611, p=0.009), and the SGRQ total score was found to have a significant negative but weak correlation with the 6MWT distance (rho: -0.493, p=0.044).

In patients with stage 2 COPD (FEV1 51%-79%), the SGRQ activity, impact, and total scores had significant negative but weak correlations with total distance walked in the 6MWT (for

Table 1. GOLD and mMRC stages of patients				
Stage	Patient (n, %)			
GOLD 1	17 (18.9)			
GOLD 2	58 (64.4)			
GOLD 3	14 (15.6)			
GOLD 4	1 (1.1)			
mMRC 1	19 (21.1)			
mMRC 2	50 (55.6)			
mMRC 3	18 (20)			
mMRC 4	3 (3.3)			
GOLD: mMRC: Modified medical research council				

Table 2. Relationship between total walking distance andCOPD stage based on GOLD spirometric measurementcriteria (Spearman correlation) (rho: correlation coefficient)

Stage	SGRQ score	Total distance	
Stage 1	Symptom score	p=0.009	rho=-0.611
	Activity score	p=0.084	rho=-0.431
(FEV1 %≥80)	Impact score	p=0.142	rho=-0.372
	Total	p=0.044	rho=-0.493
Stage 2 (FEV1 %51-79)	Symptom score	p=0.063	rho=-0.245
	Activity score	p=0.0001	rho=-0.532
	Impact score	p=0.004	rho=-0.370
	Total	p=0.003	rho=-0.390
Stage 3 (FEV1 %31-50)	Symptom score	p=0.503	rho=-0.196
	Activity score	p=0.792	rho=0.078
	Impact score	p=0.881	rho=-0.04
	Total	p=0.994	rho=-0.002

SGRQ: St. George respiratory questionnaire

the activity score, rho: -0.532, p=0.0001; for the impact score, rho: -0.370, p=0.004; for the total score, rho: -0.390, p=0.003). Table 3 shows the relationships between the 6MWT distance and other parameters investigated in this study (Table 3).

A significant moderate negative correlation was found between the 6MWT walking distance and pro-BNP levels (rho: -0.435; p=0.003). Post-test forced vital capacity (FVC) and FEV1 values had a significant moderate positive correlation with walking distance (For FVC, rho: 0.354; p=0.001; for FEV1, rho: 0.332 p=0.001). On the other hand, a weak positive correlation was found between the DLCO value and total walking distance (rho: 0.212; p=0.048), and a significant weak negative correlation between BMI and total walking distance (rho: -0.217; p=0.039). A moderate negative correlation was found between total distance walked in 6MWT and the degree of dyspnea at the end of the test (rho: -0.451; p=0.01).

Values recorded during the 6MWT had a moderate negative correlation with the SGRQ symptom, impact, and total scores (rho: -0.364, p \Box 0.001; rho: -0.384, p \Box 0.001; rho: -0.449, p \Box 0.001, respectively), and a significant strong negative correlation with the SGRQ activity scores (rho: -0.524, p \Box 0.001).

The total walking distance had a moderate negative correlation with the level of dyspnea experienced after the test (rho: -0.311;

Table 3. Relationships between 6MWT distance and otherinvestigated parameters					
Investigated parameter	Associated-rho	Significance-p			
Serum Pro-BNP levels	-0.435	0.003			
Post-test FVC	0.354	0.001			
Post-test FEV1	0.332	0.001			
DLCO	0.212	0.048			
BMI	-0.217	0.039			
SGRQ total**	-0.449	□0.01			
SGRQ-symptoms	-0.364	□0.01			
SGRQ activity	-0.524	□0.01			
SGRQ-impact	-0.384	□0.01			
MRC*	-0.451	□0.01			
Level of dyspnea at the end of the test	-0.311	0.003			
Before/after the test - Pulse difference	0.348	0.001			
Systolic blood pressure difference before/after test	0.266	0.01			
Triceps skinfold thickness**	-0.266	0.01			

*The relationship between the total Six-minute Walking test (6MWT) distance and the medical research council was analyzed with a Kendall's Tau test, **The relationships between the total 6MWT distance, the St. George respiratory questionnaire scores, and triceps skinfold thickness were analyzed with a Spearman's correlation test

Pro-BNP: Brain natriuretic peptide, 6MWT: Six-minute Walking test, MRC: Medical Research Council, SGRQ: St. George respiratory questionnaire, FVC: forced vital capacity p=0.003), and positive moderate correlations with the pulse and systolic pressure differences recorded after the test (rho: 0.348, p=0.001; rho: 0.266, p=0.01). The relationship between the total walking distance and triceps skinfold thickness, as a marker of nutrition, was investigated. The 6MWT distance had a moderate negative correlation with triceps thickness (rho: -0.266, p=0.01) and with BMI (rho: -0.274, p \Box 0.01).

DISCUSSION

In the present study, a 6MWT was used to evaluate the exercise capacity of COPD patients, as an easy-to-implement and practical test, and a correlation was identified between the performance of daily life activities of patients and their 6MWT results (15).

In line with the findings in the literature, we identified a relationship between the 6MWT distances and SGRQ scores of mMRC stage 1 and stage 2 COPD patients, which indicates that the quality of life of COPD patients becomes poorer as their exercise capacity decreases. Three percent of the patients in this study had very severe (stage 4), and 18% had severe (stage 3) COPD. This insufficient number of patients with severe levels of the disease may represent an important limitation of our study.

While the source of systemic inflammation in COPD has yet to be identified, there have been some suggested mechanisms. Smoking may result in systemic inflammation even in the absence of airway obstruction, and may also cause extrapulmonary conditions (3,4).

Another opinion suggests that inflammation in the lungs is an important source of systemic inflammation. Proinflammatory molecules, such as TNF- α and IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 and transforming growth factor beta, which are released from the inflammatory cells into the lung parenchyma, flow from the lungs and enter into the systemic circulation, leading to the activation of inflammatory cells and eventually causing systemic inflammation (3,16).

In addition to its contribution to the extrapulmonary effects of COPD, the severity of systemic inflammation is also directly associated with poor quality of life, increased airway limitation, and decreased exercise tolerance in COPD patients (3). In our study, we could not find a significant correlation between exercise capacity and inflammatory markers.

Garcia-Rio et al. (17) found out that the exercise tolerance measured using a 6MWT was negatively proportional to serum CRP, IL-6, and IL-8 levels contrary to our results. Several cross-sectional studies have reported significant relationships between plasma CRP levels, disease severity, quality of life, exercise capacity, treatment response, and mortality (18,19). Similar to our findings, however, Gagnon et al. (20) could not find a significant relationship between plasma IL-6 levels and exercise capacity in patients with mild COPD. The relationship between hyperinflation and inflammation is an interesting hypothesis that merits further investigation.

We identified a moderate negative correlation between 6MWT distance and pro-BNP levels. According to Stols's hypothesis,

BNP levels that increase in the presence of COPD as the small pulmonary arteries contract due to hypoxia result in increased pulmonary arterial pressure and cardiac stress (21).

In a study that evaluated cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET) findings and BNP levels in COPD patients, Eroğlu et al. (22) identified a negative correlation between BNP levels and CPET parameters in patients with dyspnea and isolated left ventricular diastolic dysfunction. They suggested that BNP levels may be a beneficial biomarker of limited exercise capacity in patients with moderate to severe COPD (22).

Gas diffusion is impaired in COPD due to alveolar destruction and vascular bed loss (23). Consistent with the literature, we identified a positive correlation between 6MWT and DLCO (24,25).

Dyspnea is the most common symptom among COPD patients. The former is chronic, progressive, and persistent. COPD patients frequently develop dynamic hyperinflation during exercise that limits their daily activities (25). We evaluated the severity of dyspnea using the mMRC scale and identified a correlation between 6MWT and dyspnea severity. This finding is consistent with previous studies in which strong correlations are reported between exercise capacity and dyspnea severity experienced during exercise. (23-25).

We also identified significant correlations between 6MWT distance and pre-/post-test pulse and systolic blood pressure differences. Pulse response during the test is an important parameter regarding cardiac response to exercise, guiding the investigation of heart failure in patients with limited exercise capacity.

We evaluated malnutrition levels based on BMI and triceps skin thickness. The 6MWT distance of our patients was negatively correlated with BMI and triceps skin thickness. Malnutrition is associated with structural and metabolic changes in the peripheral respiratory muscles, and so may exacerbate shortness of breath and impair exercise tolerance and quality of life (26). While many previous studies have failed to identify a correlation between body weight and 6MWT distance, nutritional support significantly increased the distance walked in 6MWT (27-29).

Study Limitations

The limitations of the study include the collection of study data from a single center and the small sample size. Also, as this is a cross-sectional study, cause-effect analysis cannot be performed.

CONCLUSION

The data reported over recent years suggest that exercise performance in COPD patients may be a direct or indirect predictor of survival. While this process involves rather complex associations, it is specific for each patient. In this regard, all factors that reduce exercise capacity should be identified and eliminated to increase the patients' quality of life and survival as much as possible.

The data collected in this study and the relevant analyses suggest that there are numerous and interrelated factors that affect

exercise performance in COPD patients. Appropriately designed studies conducted with larger patient cohorts are required to demonstrate these relationships more clearly.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received from the University Clinical Research Ethics Committee for approval of the study (15.01.2010, Approval No. 2010.03). Written permission was obtained from University Medical School Dean's Office in order to conduct the study in the Chest Diseases Clinic of Research and Application Hospital. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Informed Consent: A written informed consent was obtained from each patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - P.M., N.A.M.; Design - P.M., N.A.M.; Data Collection and/or Processing - P.M., N.A.M.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - P.M., N.A.M.; Writing - P.M.; Critical Review - N.A.M.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- van Manen JG, Bindels PJE, Dekker FW, Ijzermans CJ, van der Zee JS, Schadé E. Risk of depression in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its determinants. Thorax 2002; 57: 412-6.
- Hill K, Geist R, Goldstein RS, Lacasse Y. Anxiety and depression in end stage COPD. Eur Respir J 2008; 31: 667-77.
- Umut S, Saryal S. Turkish thoracic society chronic obstructive lung disease diagnosis and treatment consensus report. Turkish Thoracic Journal 2010; 11: 26-30.
- Sevenoaks MJ, Stockley RA. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, inflammation and comorbidity- a common inflammatory phenotype? Respir Res 2006; 7: 70.
- Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease GOLD Report Revised 2011: p.48-74.
- Agusti A, Soriano JB. COPD As A Systemic Disease. COPD 2008; 5: 133-8.
- Gosker HR, Kubat B, Schaart G, van der Vusse GJ, Wouters EF, Schols AM. Myopathological features in skeletal muscle of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Respir J 2003; 22: 280-5.
- Inoue Y, Kawayama T, Iwanaga T, Aizawa H. High plasma brain natriuretic peptide levels in stable COPD without pulmonary hypertension or cor pulmonale. Intern Med 2009; 48: 503-12.
- Bando M, Ishii Y, Sugiyama Y, Kitamura S. Elevated plasma brain natriuretic peptide levels in chronic respiratory failure with cor pulmonale. Respir Med 1999; 93: 507-14.
- Leuchte HH, Holzapfel M, Baumgartner RA, Ding I, Neurohr C, Vogeser M, et al. Clinical significance of brain natriuretic peptide in primary pulmonary hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 43: 764-70.
- Gosker HR, Bast A, Haenen GRMM, Fischer MAJG, van der Vusse GJ, Wouters EFM, et al. Altered antioxidant status in peripheral skeletal muscle of patients with COPD. Respir Med 2005; 99: 118-25.

- Puente-Maestu L, Tena T, Trascasa C, Pérez-Parra J, Godoy R, García MJ, et al. Training improves muscle oxidative capacity and oxygenation recovery kinetics in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur J Appl Physiol 2003; 88: 580-7.
- Cahalin L, Pappagianopoulos P, Prevost S, Wain J, Ginns L. The relationship of the 6-min walk test to maximal oxygen consumption in transplant candidates with end-stage lung disease. Chest 1995; 108: 452-9.
- Solway S, Brooks D, Lacasse Y, Thomas S. A qualitative systematic overview of the measurement properties of functional walk tests used in the cardiorespiratory domain. Chest 2001; 119: 256-70.
- 15. Light RW, Merrill EJ, Despar JA, Gordon GH, Mutalipassi LR. Prevalence of depression and anxiety in patients with COPD. Relationship to functional capacity. Chest 1985; 87: 35-8.
- 16. Barnes PJ, Celli BR. Systemic manifestations and comorbidities of COPD. Eur Respir J 2009; 33: 1165-85.
- Garcia-Rio F, Miravitlles M, Soriano JB, Muñoz L, Duran-Tauleria E, Sánchez G; EPI-SCAN Steering Committee, et al. Systemic inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a population-based study. Respir Res 2010, 11: 63.
- Dahl M, Vestbo J, Lange P, Bojesen SE, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Nordestgaard BG. C-reactive protein as a predictor of prognosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007; 175: 250-5.
- Torres JP, Pinto-Plata V, Casanova C, Mullerova H, Córdoba-Lanús E, Muros de Fuentes M, et al. C-reactive protein levels and survival in patients with moderate to very severe COPD. Chest 2008; 133: 1336-43.
- Gagnon P, Guenette JA, Langer D, Laviolette L, Mainguy V, Maltais F, Ribeiro F, et al. Pathogenesis of hyperinflation in chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2014; 9: 187-201.
- Stolz D, Breidthardt T, Christ-Crain M, Bingisser R, Miedinger D, Leuppi J, et al. Use of B-type natriuretic peptide in the risk stratification of acute exacerbations of COPD. Chest 2008; 133: 1088-94.
- Eroğlu S, Yildirir A, Bozbas H, Aydinalp A, Ulubay G, Eldem O, et al. Brain natriuretic peptide levels and cardiac functional capacity in patients with dyspnea and isolated diastolic dysfunction. Int Heart J 2007; 48: 97-106.
- Saryal S. Etiopathogenesis and diagnostic methods in COPD. Thoracic Society I. Winter School 2002: 23-37.
- 24. Bauerle O, Chrusch CA, Younes M. Mechanisms by which COPD affects exercise tolerance. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157: 57-68.
- Midorikawa J, Hida W, Taguchi O, Okabe S, Kurosawa H, Mizusawa A, et al. Lack of ventilatory threshold in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respiration 1997; 64: 76-80.
- Sahebjami H, Sathianpitayakul E. Influence of body weight on the severity of dyspnea in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161: 886-90.
- Schols AM, Soeters PB, Mortert R, Pluymers J, Wouters EF. Physiologic effects of nutritional support and anabolic steroids in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 152: 1268-74.
- Creutzberg EC, Wouters EFM, Mostert R, Weling-Scheepers CAPM, Schols AMWJ. Efficacy of nutritional supplementation therapy in depleted patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nutrition 2003; 19: 120-7.

Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging

💿 Sebahat Nacar Doğan

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Dogan, Sebahat Nacar. Topographic Evaluation of Acute Isolated Unilateral Thalamic Infarctions on Diffusion-weighted Imaging. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):180-4

ABSTRACT

Objective: The thalamus plays a major role in regulating arousal, consciousness, and activity. Distinct vascular distribution of the thalamus causes different syndromic presentations of thalamic nuclei infarctions. During the evaluation of acute thalamic infarction, it is important to determine the thalamic vascular zone that is affected. This study aimed to assess the topography of acute isolated unilateral thalamic infarction on diffusion-weighted imaging, and to investigate the distribution of classic and variant type thalamic infarctions.

Methods: The imaging database of the 336 consecutive patients with acute thalamic infarction admitted to the radiology department between January 2015 and February 2020 were retrospectively reviewed. Specifically, patients with acute isolated unilateral thalamic infarction were included. The most affected thalamic territory, variant/classical territory rates, and the comparison of age and gender were evaluated.

Results: A total of 141 patients (classic territory group: 104, variant territory group: 37) were reviewed. The ratio of affected classic territory to variant territory was 2.8. Affected classic territories were inferolateral (n=68), anterior (n=25), paramedian (n=11), and posterior (n=0). Affected variant territories were posterolateral (n=18), central (n=13), and anteromedian (n=6). Comparing the patients in both groups, age, sex, and side were similar, p=0.435, p=0.71, and p=0.85, respectively. Relevant arteries did not have stenosis in 96.2% of patients, and no significant difference was observed between both groups, p=0.631.

Conclusion: In isolated acute unilateral thalamic ischemia, the ratio of the affected variant to the classic territory was approximately 1/3. Therefore, during the radiologic evaluation of acute thalamic ischemia, a variant thalamic territory should be considered in the presence of infarction that does not fit the classic territory, in order to avoid clinical-radiological discrepancies.

Keywords: Thalamus, infarction, arteries, magnetic resonance imaging

INTRODUCTION

Thalamic infarctions constitute approximately 11%-14% of acute ischemic strokes of the posterior circulation, most of which are unilateral (1). Thalamic infarctions are classified traditionally into four groups based on the territories supplied by four main arteries: anterior, paramedian, inferolateral, and posterior. This classification was initially based on neuroanatomic and neuropathologic data. However, this classification is recently based on imaging techniques, especially diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI), in the acute stage (2).

The thalami are fed by perforating branches of the anterior and posterior circulation (3). The territories of the thalamus can be subdivided traditionally into four groups based on the supplying arteries: anterior, paramedian, inferolateral, and posterior (4-6). The anterior territory is supplied by the tuberothalamic arteries (polar artery), which is the largest branch of the posterior communicating artery (PComA).

ORCID IDs of the authors: S.N.D. 0000-0003-1512-5060.

Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: Sebahat Nacar Doğan, E-mail: sebahatdogan@yahoo.com

Received Date 26.05.2020 Accepted Date: 20.07.2020

The paramedian territory is supplied by the paramedian (thalamoperforating) arteries that originates from the P1 segment of the posterior cerebral artery (PCA). The inferolateral territory is fed by inferolateral (thalamogeniculate) arteries that arise as individual vessels from the distal P2 segment of the PCA. The posterior territory is supplied by the posterior choroidal arteries (PChA). The posterior choroid group usually includes one or two medial and one to six lateral PChAs. Medial PChA generally arises from the distal P1 or proximal P2 segments of the PCA. Lateral PChA arises directly from the PCA (distal P2 or proximal P3 segments) or from a branch of the PCA (3-5).

In addition to the classic vascular territories described above, there are also three variant vascular territories: anteromedian, central, and posterolateral. These variant areas can be due to variant vascular distribution or border-zone ischemia (2,4,5). The anteromedian territory is formed by combining the classic anterior and paramedian territories. It involves the posterior part of the anterior territory and the anterior part of the paramedian territory. The central territory involves parts of all the four adjacent classic territories and it is located in the central part of the thalamus. The posterolateral territory is formed by combining classic inferolateral and posterior territories. It involves the posterior part of the inferolateral territory and anterior part of the posterior territory part of the inferolateral territory and anterior part of the posterior territory (2,4,5,7).

The clinical spectrum of thalamic infarction can vary depending on the affected territories. Specifically, infarction located on variant territories may confuse the clinical-radiological presentation of a thalamic ischemic stroke. Therefore, it is important to recognize the classic and variant territories of the thalamus. This study aimed to evaluate the topographic patterns of isolated unilateral thalamic infarctions and to investigate the distribution of classic and variant type thalamic infarctions on DWI.

METHODS

Ethics, Study Design and Patients

Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the Ethics Committee of Taksim Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 81, date: 19/05/2020).

The imaging database of the 336 consecutive patients with acute thalamic infarction admitted to our radiology department between January 2015 and February 2020 was reviewed retrospectively on a PACS imaging workstation (Infinitt PACS; Infinitt Healthcare, Seoul, Republic of Korea). The primary imaging criteria for inclusion was isolated unithalamic infarction on DWI, whereas bithalamic infarctions, PCA territory infarctions involving the thalamus, accompanying infarcts in other vascular territories, and unithalamic abnormal signal intensity due to causes other than arterial infarctions such as tumor, deep venous thrombosis, and hemorrhage were excluded. After the exclusions, the final cohort consisted of 141 patients (77 females and 64 males with a mean age of 66.1 ± 12.8) of the 336 investigated DWI. Then, the final population was divided into two groups: classic group (n=104) and variant group (n=37).

Imaging Protocols

DWIs were obtained using two 1.5 T-magnetic resonance imaging units (GE Signa HDxt and Signa Explorer; GE, Milwaukee, WI, USA). DWIs were acquired in the axial plane with parameters field of view: 25 mm, repetition time: 5000 ms, echo time: 100 ms, acquisition time: 1, number of excitations: 1, and b values of 0 and 1000 s/mm², isotropically weighted. DWI yielded 20 contiguous slices that were 7 mm thick and axial-oblique. Apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) map was automatically generated from the DWI at b= 0 and b=1000 s/mm². We checked the ADC maps to ensure that "real" diffusion disturbance occurred. A visual evaluation was performed. Besides, computed tomography angiography (CTA) and magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) were evaluated to investigate the relevant arteries of the thalamus.

Imaging Analysis

All the DWIs were evaluated by a radiologist with significant experience in neuroradiology (S.N.D. with 11 years in neuroradiology) on a PACS imaging workstation. The radiologist was blinded to the neurologic symptoms during the retrospective imaging review.

All the DWIs were reviewed with regard to the location of the thalamic infarction based on previous templates of classic and variant thalamic territories.

In CTA or MRA examinations, the stenosis of relevant arteries was evaluated.

Topography of Thalamic Infarctions

Classic thalamic infarctions were assigned four vascular zones based on previously published territory templates (3-5): anterior, paramedian, inferolateral, and dorsal (Figure 1). Isolated posterior territory infarction was not observed in this study. Therefore, to depict the posterior territory, posterior territory infarction accompanying to PCA infarction was used was shown in Figure 1d.

Variant thalamic infarctions were assigned into three vascular zones based on previously published territory templates (2,7): anteromedian, central, and posterolateral (Figure 2).

The relevant arteries were basilar artery, PCA, and PcomA.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS version 22.0 software was used for the data analysis. Normality checks were performed by the Shapiro-Wilk test, and by drawing histograms, Q-Q plots, and box plots. Data were expressed as mean, standard deviation, minimum, maximum, frequency, and percentage. The two categories of non-normally distributed variables were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. T test was used to compare the nominal variables. The significance level was taken as p<0.05 and bidirectional

RESULTS

The final cohort consisted of 141 patients (41.9%) with isolated unilateral thalamic infarctions. Thalamic infarctions were located in classic territories in 104 (73.8%) patients and in variant territories in 37 (26.2%) patients. The ratio of affected classic territory to variant territory was 2.8.

In the total cohort, 64 (45.4%) patients were males and 77 (54.6) were females. The thalamic infarction was located on the right side in 59 patients (41.8%) and on the left side in 82 (58.2%). Comparing the patients in the classic and variant groups, the age, sex, and affected side were similar for both, with p=0.435, 0.761, and 0.852, respectively.

The relevant artery was investigated for 80 (56.7%) patients. CTA was performed for 84.8% of patients (n=67), and MRA for 15.2% (n=12). No stenosis was observed in 77 patients (96.2%). There was more than 50% stenosis in 2 patients (2.5%), and <50% stenosis in one patient (1.3%). No significant difference in relevant artery stenosis was observed between the classic and variant groups, p=0.631.

Table 1 summarizes the patient demographics.

Regarding the vascular territory of the thalamus, the anterior territory was involved in 25 patients (17.8%), paramedian in

11 (7.8%), inferolateral in 68 (48.2%), posterior in 0 (0.0%), anteromedian in 7 (4.9%), central in 12 (8.5%), and posterolateral in 19 (13.5%) patients. While infarctions were most commonly identified in the inferolateral territory, the posterior territory was not involved in any of the patients.

Regarding the classic vascular territory of the thalamus, the anterior territory was involved in 25 patients (24%), paramedian in 11 (10.6%), inferolateral in 68 (65.4%), and posterior in 0 (0.0%). Inferolateral territory was the most frequently affected classic territory. However, the isolated posterior territory infarction was not observed in any patient.

Regarding the variant vascular territory of the thalamus, the anteromedian territory was involved in 6 patients (16.2%), central in 13 (35.1%), and posterolateral in 18 (48.7%). The posterolateral territory was the most frequently affected variant territory.

Table 2 shows the distribution of the thalamic infarctions with vascular zones.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, the topographic pattern of isolated unilateral thalamic infarctions on DWIs was evaluated based on the relevant vascular zones. Several interesting findings were obtained. First, isolated unilateral thalamic infarctions constituted 41.6% of all



Figure 1. The classic territories of the thalamus on the DWI: anterior (a), paramedian (b), inferolateral (c), and posterior (d). The posterior territory infarction (d) was depicted from the PCA territory infarction because an isolated posterior territory infarction was not detected DWI: Diffusion weighted imaging, PCA: posterior cerebral artery



Figure 2. The variant territories of the thalamus on the DWI: anteromedian (a), central (b), and posterolateral (c) DWI: Diffusion weighted imaging

thalamic infarctions. Second, the ratio of the involved variant territory to the classic territory was approximately 1/3. Third, while the inferolateral territory was the most frequently affected in all the isolated unilateral thalamic infarctions, the isolated posterior territory infarct was not observed. Fourth, regarding the most frequently affected territory in classic and variant groups, whereas the inferolateral territory was the most frequently affected territory in the classic group, the posterolateral territory was in the variant group. Fifth, the relevant artery did not have any stenosis in 96.2% of patients. Comparing patients in the classic group and variant group, the results of relevant artery stenosis were similar for both.

In the literature, previous studies focused on the clinicalradiologic relationship of acute unilateral thalamic infarction without considering the isolated or a part of the PCA infarction. Meanwhile, this study consisted of only isolated unilateral thalamic infarctions and included a large number of patients. The present study also focused on the type of thalamic infarctions based on the affected vascular territory: classic and variant.

The ratio of isolated unilateral thalamic infarction in all the thalamic infarctions was similar with that of previous studies (8). Considering the affected vascular territory of the thalamic infarction, the variant group constituted approximately 1/3 of the isolated acute unilateral thalamic infarction, consistent with the literature (2).

Regarding the topography of the involved classic territory in previous studies, the inferolateral territory was the most frequently affected in all the studies, whereas the rates of the other territories varied between studies (8-12). Particularly, previous studies have reported various rates of isolated paramedian territory infarction and isolated posterior territory infarction. However, Wang et al. (8) did not report any isolated paramedian territory infarction, and Pezzini et al. (10) did not reveal any isolated posterior territory infarction. In present study, the inferolateral territory was affected the

cohort					
	Classic group (n=104)	Variant group (n=37)	Total cohort (n=141)		
Gender (n, %)					
Male	48 (46.2%)	16 (43.2%)	64 (45.4%)		
Female	56 (53.8%)	21 (56.8%)	77 (54.6%)		
Age (mean/range)	66.6 (24-96)	64.6 (33-89)	66.1 (24-96)		
Affected side (n, %)					
Right side	44 (42.3%)	15 (40.5%)	59 (41.8%)		
Left side	60 (57.7%)	22 (59.5%)	82 (58.2%)		
Stenosis of relevant arteries (n, %)	58 (55.8%)	22(59.5%)	80 (56.7%)		
≥50% stenosis	2 (3.4%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (2.5%)		
<50% stenosis	1(1.7%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.3%)		
No stenosis	55 (94.9%)	22 (100%)	77 (96.2%)		

most, consistent with previous studies (8-12). Besides, while the isolated paramedian territory was observed, the isolated posterior territory infarction was not detected. Although this result was consistent with the findings of Pezzini et al. (10), it was contrary to those of Wang et al. (8). The isolated posterior territory infarctions are the least common infarction of the thalamus. The posterior territory of the thalamus has rich anastomosis; therefore, infarction that locates only the posterior territory could be very rare. Posterior territory infarctions are usually a part of the PCA territory infarction (13-16). In addition, there may be some difficulties especially in differentiating between the classic posterior territory and variant posterolateral territory. The previous studies also did not separately describe the variant territories.

There are few reports that investigated the variant territories of the thalamus (2,7). Kumral et al. (7) evaluated the acute multiple variant type thalamic infarction and they reported that the most commonly affected variant territory was posterolateral in unilateral thalamic infarction. Carrera et al. (2) investigated the isolated variant thalamic infarction. They reported the distribution of affected variant territories such as the anteromedian (n=9), posterolateral (n=8), and central (n=4). In present study, the most frequently affected variant territory was posterolateral, consistent with results of Kumral et al. (7). However, the least frequently affected variant territory was anteromedian, contrary to the findings of Carrera et al. (2). The frequency of the affected variant territory in the present study was different from previous studies. The discrepancy regarding the frequency of the affected variant territory among different studies may be as a result of the small sample size. Therefore, variant thalamic infarction needs to be evaluated in large series.

In addition, in this present study that evaluated relevant arteries were by CTA or MRA, large artery disease was not observed in both the sclassic and variant group. Therefore, this result can support the fact that variant territory can be as a result of variant vascular distribution rather than border-zone ischemia. Both Kumral et al. (7) and Carrera et al. (2) also reported that the most frequent cause of stroke was cardioembolism, and not large artery disease.

Table 2. The distribution of the thalamic infarctions according

to vascular zones	
	Total cohort (n=141)
Classic thalamic territory (n, %)	104 (73.8%)
Anterior	25 (24%)
Paramedian	11 (10.6%)
Inferolateral	68 (65.4%)
Posterior	0 (0.0%)
Variant thalamic territory (n, %)	37 (26.2%)
Anteromedian	6 (16.2%)
Central	13 (35.1%)
Inferolateral	18 (48.7%)

Study Limitations

Several limitations to this study need to be acknowledged. First, the study was retrospective and is subject to all the limitations of this study design. Second, it was a single-center study. Third, only a small number of infarctions were present for certain vascular territories. Forth, the CTA or MRA examination could not be performed in all the patients.

CONCLUSION

The affected territory in acute isolated thalamic infarction can be in the variant group in approximately 1/3 of patients. Regarding the classic and variant groups, the most frequently affected territories were inferolateral and posterolateral, respectively. Therefore, in daily practice, during the evaluation of acute thalamic infarction on DWI, the infarction area needs to be sought for more carefully, whether it fits the classic territory or not. This is because an accurate topographic evaluation is important to avoid clinicalradiological discrepancies.

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the Ethics Committee of Taksim Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 81, date: 19/05/2020).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was waived.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

 Caplan L, Chung CS, Wityk R, Glass T, Tapia J, Pazdera L, et al. New England medical center posterior circulation stroke registry: I. Methods, data base, distribution of brain lesions, stroke mechanisms, and outcomes. J Clin Neurol 2005; 1: 14-30.

- Carrera E, Michel P, Bogousslavsky J. Anteromedian, central, and posterolateral infarcts of the thalamus: Three variant types. Stroke 2004; 35: 2826-31.
- Tatu L, Moulin T, Bogousslavsky J, Duvernoy H. Arterial territories of the human brain cerebral hemispheres. Acta Neurol Scand 1998; 50: 1699-708.
- Schmahmann JD. Vascular syndromes of the thalamus. Stroke 2003; 34: 2264-78.
- Li S, Kumar Y, Gupta N, Abdelbaki A, Sahwney H, Kumar A, et al. Clinical and Neuroimaging Findings in Thalamic Territory Infarctions: A Review. J Neuroimaging 2018; 28: 343-9.
- Bogousslavsky J, Regli F, Uske A. Thalarnic infarcts: Clinical syndromes, etiology, and prognosis. Neurology 1998; 38: 837-48.
- Kumral E, Deveci EE, Çolak AY, Çağında AD, Erdoğan C. Multiple variant type thalamic infarcts: Pure and combined types. Acta Neurol Scand 2015; 131: 102-10.
- Wang X, Fan YH, Lam WWM, Leung TWH, Wong KS. Clinical features, topographic patterns on DWI and etiology of thalamic infarcts. J Neurol Sci 2008; 267: 147-53.
- Song YM. Topographic patterns of thalamic infarcts in association with stroke syndromes and aetiologies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2011; 82: 1083-6.
- Pezzini A, Del Zotto E, Archetti S, Albertini A, Gasparotti R, Magoni M, et al. Thalamic infarcts in young adults: relationship between clinicaltopographic features and pathogenesis. Eur Neurol 2002; 47: 30-6.
- Lee E, Kang DW, Kwon SU, Kim JS. Posterior cerebral artery infarction: diffusion-weighted MRI analysis of 205 patients. Cerebrovasc Dis 2009; 28: 298-305.
- Georgiadis AL, Yamamoto Y, Kwan ES, Pessin MS, Caplan LR. Anatomy of sensory findings in patients with posterior cerebral artery territory infarction. Arch Neurol 1999; 56: 835-8.
- 13. Neau JP, Bogousslavsky J. The syndrome of posterior choroidal artery territory infarction. Ann Neurol 1996; 39: 779-88.
- Bordes S, Werner C, Mathkour M, McCormack E, Iwanaga J, Loukas M, et al. Arterial supply of the thalamus: A comprehensive review. World Neurosurg 2020; 137: 310-8.
- Saeki N, Shimazaki K, Yamaura A. Isolated infarction in the territory of lateral posterior choroidal arteries. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1999; 67: 413-5.
- Neau JP, Bogousslavsky J. The syndrome of posterior choroidal artery territory infarction. Ann Neurol 1996; 39: 779-88.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3600 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):185-8

The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia

Maral Yeşilyurt, Kürşat Yelken

Üsküdar University Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Speech and Language Therapy, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Yeşilyurt M, Yelken K. The Efficacy of Voice Therapy in Call Center Agents with Disphonia J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):185-8

ABSTRACT

Objective: In this prospective research, voice therapy results of 13 call center employees with voice problems were evaluated.

Methods: Thirteen call center employees (13 women) with voice problems who underwent voice therapy between September 2012 and January 2013 were included in the study. All patients underwent videolaryngostroboscopy prior to voice therapy. Before and after therapy, voice recordings were analyzed with Praat Program, voice handicap index-10 (VHI-10), maximum phonation time (MPT), s/z ratio values and diet passage readings for perceptual evaluation (GRBAS) were obtained. The results were statistically compared.

Results: A statistically significant differences between VHI, MPT and s/z ratio and GRBAS was obtained before and after sound therapy (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Call center employees who experience voice problems benefit from voice therapy while the existing workload density continues. **Keywords:** Voice therapy, voice disorder, call center

INTRODUCTION

Vocation-related voice problems are most common (38% to 80%) in teachers (1,2). The second occupational group followed by 68% are call center employees (3). The first call center was established in the late 1960s by a federal judge's decision by the Ford firm to allow customers to report faulty cars to the company (4). The Call Centers Association states that the number of customer representatives in call centers reached ninety-one thousand people in 2017 and that they expect the number to rise to ninety-five thousand people in 2018 (5). Studies on call centers have shown that working in Call Centers is a stressful job (6). Tüfekçioğlu (7) stated that 37.7% of call center customer representatives experienced hoarseness in a study conducted in three different regions in Turkey. The voice complaints that occur in professional voice users such as call center employees are mostly hoarseness, tonal deterioration, narrowing of the voice range, weakness in the voice, and voice fatigue (3,8,9). The accompanying complaints are shortness of breath, feeling stuck in the throat, feeling dry in the throat, sore throat and difficulty talking (3,8,9). Chronic vocal problems can lead to benign vocal cord pathologies. Muscular tension dysphonia develops due to the misuse of the voice during phonation and habitual behaviors that are harmful to the voice. The tension in the neck muscles is noticeable to the eye even when talking, and the voice comes out tense, hoarse and muffled. Vocal nodules are associated with excessive or improper use of sound. The nodule is a small white or greyish protrusion located in the anterior 1/3 on the

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.Y. 0000-0001-7454-6338; K.Y. 0000-0001-8133-2717.



Corresponding Author: Maral Yeşilyurt, E-mail: maral.yesilyurt@uskudar.edu.tr Received Date: 13.07.2020 Accepted Date: 28.07.2020

free edge of the vocal cords. Vocal cord polyps are unilateral lesions in contrast to vocal nodules. The Reinke cavity is located under the epithelium layer of the vocal cords. Reinke edema is a bilateral diffuse polyposis of this cavity. In later stages, the polypoid feature can progress enough to disrupt breathing. Its etiology includes smoking, allergies and chronic irritation (10-12).

In this study, the call center employees who experienced voice problems and who were diagnosed with vocal nodules, muscle tension dysphonia, reinke edema, vocal polyps and vocal cysts as a result of larengostroboscopic evaluation were investigated whether they benefit from voice therapy while their workload intensity continued.

METHOD

In this prospective study, 37 patients who applied to Istanbul Anatomica Hospital with the complaint of hoarseness and were diagnosed with vocal nodule, muscle tension dysphonia, Reinke edema, vocal polyps, vocal cysts as a result of ear nose throat examination and video-laryngostroboscopic evaluation between September 2012 and January 2013 were included. The data of 13 clients who completed voice therapy were evaluated from these clients. Data from 24 clients who did not complete the therapy were excluded from the study.

Laryngeal structures of all clients were evaluated by an otolaryngologist during rest, flat / i / and glide-containing / i / fonation with videolaryngostroboscopy. Objective and subjective sound assessments of the clients were made before and after therapy. Maximum phonation time (MPT), s/z ratio, F0, intensity, jitter, shimmer, HNR parameters were examined from objective evaluations; aerodynamic and acoustic parameters. The Praat program was used in acoustic analysis of sound. In subjective evaluations, the client's voice was evaluated by voice handicap index (VHI-10) and the client's voice was evaluated by two clinicians with GRBAS. In the MPT evaluation, the clients were asked to expirate with /i/ vocal after a deep inspiration,

and this process was repeated three times. The scores from each client were averaged. In order to evaluate the s/z ratio of aerodynamic parameters, individuals were asked to expirate with /s/ and /z/ consonants after a deep inspiration, and this process was repeated 3 times. The scores from each client were averaged.

Within the scope of voice therapy, vocal hygiene and diaphragm breathing training were given in two groups, but voice exercises and laryngeal massage were applied to each client in the form of a specific therapy program. Voice therapy was performed 1 time per week. Each session lasted 35-40 minutes and a total therapy period of 4 weeks.

Within the scope of vocal hygiene training; the clients were informed about different forms of vocal rest, suggestions to prevent reflux, not speaking in noisy places, resting the voice occasionally while talking, avoiding extreme behaviors related to phonation, speaking at the middle pitch and violence level, increasing hydration, avoiding substances-foods and drinks that could harm the sound. The diet and medical treatment of the clients suffering from reflux was started by the ear nose throat physician.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS package program was used for statistical analysis of the findings. Statistical analysis of changes before and after voice therapy was evaluated using paired sample t-test in SPSS program. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Thirteen (100%) of the clients included in the study were women. Reinke edema was found in 1 of the clients, polyp in 1, muscle tension dysphonia in 3, bilateral vocal nodules in eight. When the values obtained before and after voice therapy were compared, a statistically significant difference was obtained (p<0.05) (Table 1-3).

Table 1. Acoustic values before and after therapy					
	Before therapy	After therapy	t-value	p-value	
FO	217	212	0.726	0.482	
Intensity	90	91	-1.554	0.146	
Jitter	0.22	0.15	3.081	0.010	
Shimmer	1.24	0.72	2.576	0.024	
HNR	20	24	-2.725	0.018	

Table 2. Pre-and post-therapy MPT, s/z, VHI-10 values					
	Before therapy	After therapy	t-value	p-value	
MPT	13	18	-6.624	0.000	
s/z	1.3	1.1	1.342	0.204	
SHI-10	13	9	3.679	0.003	
MPT: Maximum phonation time. VHI: Voice handicap index					

Table 3. Pre-and post-therapy GRBAS scores					
	Before therapy	After therapy	t-value	p-value	
g	1.6	1.1	3.207	0.008	
r	1.6	1	4.382	0.001	
b	1	1	0.562	0.584	
a	0	0	-	-	
S	1.4	0.5	5.500	0.000	
Total GRBAS	5.6	3.7	6.218	0.000	

DISCUSSION

Voice therapy can be defined as an effort to restore the voice to the highest level possible to meet the occupational, emotional and social needs of the patient (13). In our study, VHI-10, GRBAS, MPT, s/z ratio, F0, intensity, jitter, shimmer, HNR parameters data obtained before and after the therapy of adult clients with vocal cord nodule, vocal cord polyps, reinke edema and muscle tension dysphonia statistically compared.

Bengisu et al. (10) found a statistically significant difference in jitter and shimmer parameters after the therapy compared with the pre-therapy in 19 of 20 patients with muscle tension dysphonia. de Oliveira et al. (14) found significant improvement in jitter values with voice therapy in their study with forty-eight call center employees, but they could not reveal a difference in other acoustic analysis parameters or perceptual evaluation scores. The results we found in the study show a similarity in the significant statistical changes seen in the jitter and shimmer parameters compared to previous publications.

Treole and Trudeau (15) found that 13 clients with bilateral vocal nodules had no statistically significant difference in MPT and s/z ratio compared with pre-therapy and post-therapy. Eryılmaz et al. (16) had statistically significant differences in VHI-10, MPT and s/z ratio compared with pre-therapy and post-therapy of 40 adult clients with vocal cord nodules. Unlike the research of Treole and Trudeau (15), in our study, a statistically significant difference was found in the MPT values after the therapy compared with the pre-therapy. When our results are compared with the results of the studies of Eryılmaz et al. (16), The significant statistical changes seen in SHI-10 and MPT scores show a similarity.

Holmberg et al. (17) administered voice therapy to eleven clients with bilateral vocal nodules. As a result, they found that voice therapy had a positive effect on perceptual evaluation and sound quality.

Symptoms such as feeling stuck in the throat and need for frequent throat clearing of mucus, even if there were no serious voice complaints in Call Center employees (18). In this study conducted by Lehto et al. (18), It was found that more than 60% of the employees had a change in their vocal habits, and no negative results were found in any subject receiving therapy. In their subsequent study, the same group of researchers questioned the long-term vocal complaints of their patients who underwent short-term therapy 1-1.5 years later by questionnaires and found significant improvement in complaints such as hoarseness and vocal tension compared to the group who did not receive therapy (19).

CONCLUSION

As a result, in our study, a statistically significant improvement was obtained in the jitter, shimmer and HNR parameters, VHI-10, MPT, general GRBAS and GRBAS sub-scores, g, r and s-scores, compared before and after voice therapy (p<0.05).

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was not received. Informed Consent: It was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - M.Y., K.Y.; Design - M.Y., K.Y.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.Y., K.Y.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - M.Y., K.Y.; Literature Search - M.Y., K.Y.; Writing Manuscript - M.Y., K.Y.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Sapir S, Keidar A, Mathers-Schmidt B. Vocal attrition in teachers: survey findings. Eur J Dis Commun 1993; 28: 177-85.
- Smith E, Lemke J, Taylor M, Kirchner HL, Hoffman H. Frequency of voice problems among teachers and other occupations. J Voice 1998; 12: 480-8.
- Jones K, Sigmon J, Hock L, Nelson E, Sullivan M, Ogren F. Prevalence and risk factors for voice problems among telemarketers. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2002; 128: 571-7.
- Bagnara S, Marti P. (2001) Human work in call centres: A challenge for cognitive ergonomic. Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science, 2001; 2: 223-37.
- http://www.cagrimerkezleridernegi.org/haber-detay/3954/ erişim tarihi: 5.10.2018.
- Taylor P, Bain P, "An assembly line in the head: Work and employee relations in the call center", Industrial Relations Journal 1999; 30: 101-17.
- Tüfekçioğlu EY. 3 Farklı bölgedeki çağrı merkezi çalışanlarında genel sağlık durumu ve tükenmişlik düzeyi (dissertation). İstanbul Üniversitesi-Cerrahpaşa Tıp Fakültesi 2015.
- Smith E, Gray SD, Dove H, Kirchner L, Heras H. Frequency and effects of teachers' voice problems. J Voice. 1997; 11: 81-7.
- Yiu EML. Impact and prevention of voice problems in the teaching profession: embracing the consumers' view. J Voice. 2002; 16: 215-28.
- Bengisu S, Topbaş S, Koçak İ. The relationship between muscle tension dysphonia type 1 and soft phonation index and the effectiveness of voice therapy. Kulak Burun Bogaz Ihtis Derg 2008; 18: 131-8.
- 11. Çobanoğlu B, Koçak İ. Benign vocal cord lesions and treatment update. J Med Updates 2012; 2: 76-80.

- Yelken K. Psikojen ve diğer davranışsal ses bozuklukları. İçinde: Kılıç MA editors. Klinik ses bozuklukları. Adana Nobel Kitabevi 2012. s.166-92.
- 13. Kılıç M. Ses bozukluklarının tedavisi. İçinde: Kılıç MA editors. Klinik Ses Bozuklukları. Adana Nobel Kitabevi 2012. s. 231-70.
- de Oliveira AG, Gouveia N, Behlau M. The effectiveness of a voice training program for telemarketers. J Voice 2012; 26: 815.e1-815. e8158.
- Treole K, Trudeau MD. Changes in sustained production tasks among women with bilateral vocal nodules before and after voice therapy. J Voice 1997; 11: 462-9.
- Eryılmaz A, Müjdeci B, Acar A. Results of voice therapy in vocal nodules in adults. Bozok Med 2014; 1: 6-11.
- Holmberg EB, Hillman RE, Hammarberg B, Södersten M, Doyle P. Efficacy of a behaviorally based voice therapy protocol for vocal nodules. J Voice 2001; 15: 395-412.
- Lehto L, Rantala L, Vilkman E, Alku P, Bäckström T. Experiences of a short vocal training course for call-centre customer service advisors. Folia Phoniatr Logop 2003; 55: 163-76.
- Lehto L, Alku P, Bäckström T, Vilkman E. Voice symptoms of call-centre customer service advisers experienced during a work-day and effects of a short vocal training course. Logoped PhoniatrVocol 2005; 30: 14-27.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2019.2785 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):189-91

Cervical Lipoleiomyoma: Case Report

💿 Veli Mihmanlı, 💿 Ali Emre Atik

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey Cite this article as: Mihmanlı V, Atik AE. Cervical Lipoleiomyoma: Case Report. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):189-91

ABSTRACT

Lipoleiomyomas are uncommon benign neoplasms composed of various mixtures of long intersecting bundles of bland smooth-muscle cells and mature adipocytes. These tumors are most commonly located in the uterine corpus, but rarely may be found in other locations, including the cervix, ovary, broad ligament, and retroperitoneum.

Keywords: Lipoleiomyoma, cervical

INTRODUCTION

Uterine lipoleiomyomas are rare (0.03%-0.20%) benign neoplasms known as a specific type of leiomyoma. These tumors are composed of a mixture of smooth muscle cells and mature adipocytes. They are most commonly found in the uterine corpus, but rarely can found in other localizations, such as the cervix, ovary, broad ligament, and retroperitoneum (1).

Most of the patients are asymptomatic peri or postmenopausal women. In fact, uterine lipoleiomyomas are clinically similar to leiomyomas and do not require treatment if they are asymptomatic. These tumors can be mixed with other gynecological conditions such as mature teratoma, welldifferentiated liposarcoma and atypical lipoma (2,3). Therefore, surgical excision of these tumors and definitive histopathological diagnosis are important.

Here, an extremely rare case of cervical lipoleiomyoma diagnosed with postoperative histopathological examination in the premenopausal patient is presented with the consent of the patient.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 39-year-old G2P2 female patient applied with complaints of inquinal pain, which was more significant during sexual intercourse. In bimanual examination, a hard, solid cervical mass with a diameter of 7-8 cm was detected, which was protruded into the vagina, the borders of which were not clearly separated from the uterus. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed mass lesions with smooth lobulated contours filling the vagina, pushing the cervix into the superiora and anteriorly, showing intense contrast involvement in heterogeneous T2 signal intensity in a measure of 83x73x60 mm (Figure 1). Hemoglobin: 10.3 g/dL, hematocrit: 31.2%, serum glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase: 20 U/L, serum glutamic pyruvic transaminase: 16 U/L, cancer antigen (CA)125; 20.1 U/mL, carcinoembryonic antigen: 1.18 ng/mL, CA19-9: 8.6 ng/mL, CA: 15-3 26.8 U/ mL. 8 cm diameter solid mass originating from the cervical region was detected in the patient who was operated with pfannenstiel incision under general anesthesia. Hysterectomy and bilateral salpingectomy were performed (Figure 2). The patient was discharged on the third postoperative day, and

ORCID IDs of the authors: V.M. 0000-0001-8701-8462; A.E.A. 0000-0003-4633-0032.



Received Date: 28.01.2019 Accepted Date: 24.02.2019



Figure 1. Preoperative magnetic resonance image



Figure 2. Postoperative histopathological specimen

the result of postoperative pathology was reported as cervical lipoleiomyom.

Informed consent was obtained.

DISCUSSION

Cervical leiomyoma is the most common cervical benign tumor that develops in the cervical muscle tissue, usually 0.5-1 cm diameter, single, straight structure, hard and similar to uterine myomas. Cervical fibroids constitute 1-2% of total fibroids and are observed in 3 different ways: interstitial, supravaginal and polypoidal. Supravaginal fibroids can push the uterus to the superior by surrounding the entire cervical canal. They can also be unilateral or bilateral, intramural or subserosal and can extend into the pelvis. Symptoms may differ depending on the direction of growth of the fibroid. Growing fibroids can cause symptoms related to mechanical pressure in neighboring organs, causing dysuria, urinary incontinence, ureteral obstruction, dyspareunia, or blockage of the cervix (4).

Uterine lipoleiomyoma is a rare mesenchymal neoplasm and is often described as a variant of uterine leiomyoma. It constitutes less than 0.2% of benign uterine tumors. Lipoleiomyoma consists of a mixture of smooth muscle and mature adipose tissue. The origin of the lipomatosis lesions of the uterus is a matter of debate; possible causes are the wrong placement of adipose cells in the embryological period, metaplasia of muscle and connective tissue cells to adipose cells, lipocytic differentiation of primitive connective tissue cells, infiltration of perivascular adipose cells around the vessel during the operation or connective tissue degeneration (5).

Imaging plays an important role in intrauterine localization and determination of adipose tissue content. In ultrasonographic examination, it presents as hyperechoic masses partially covered with a hypoechoic area. The hypoechoic area is interpreted as the myometrium surrounding the adipose tissue component. In computed tomography, the mass lesion is observed as the dominant hypodense area from the well-limited adipose tissue that separates from the uterus. In MRI examination, lipomatous component is observed in high signal intensity on T1-weighted images. The lipomatous component can be confirmed using the adipose suppression technique (6).

Similar uterine tumors that should be considered in differential diagnosis are angiolipoma, angiomyolipoma, lipoid degenerated leiomyoma, atypical lipoma and well-differentiated liposarcoma. Immunocytochemical studies confirm the complex histogenesis of these tumors that may arise from mesenchymal immature cells or direct transformation of smooth muscle cells into adipocytes. Additional gynecological malignancies from the uterus, cervix or ovaries have been reported in 18.8% of patients. Therefore, patients with uterine lipoleiomyomas should be subjected to detailed clinical and pathological evaluation in order not to overlook the coexistent gynecological malignancy. As a result of long-term follow-up of uterine lipoleiomyomas, it has been shown

that such cases progress in benign character and that such cases do not cause any recurrence or death due to disease as isolated (7).

CONCLUSION

Although cervical lipoleiomyomas are much more rare than those of uterine origin, the symptoms of both are similar to typical leiomyomas. It is frequently seen in perimenopausal or postmenopausal women, rarely in premenopausal women. The definitive diagnosis is made by postoperative histopathological examination.

Informed Consent: It was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - V.M., A.E.A.; Design - V.M., A.E.A.; Supervision - V.M., A.E.A.; Resources - V.M.; Materials - V.M.; Data Collection and/or Processing - V.M., A.E.A.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - V.M.; Literature Search - V.M.; Writing Manuscript -V.M., A.E.A.; Critical Review - V.M., A.E.A. Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Oh SR, Cho YJ, Han M, Bae JW, Park JW, Rha SH. Uterine Lipoleiomyoma in peri or postmenopausal women. J Menopausal Med 2015; 21: 165-70.
- Wang X, Kumar D, Seidman JD. Uterine lipoleiomyomas: a clinicopathologic study of 50 cases. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2006; 25: 239-42.
- Aung T, Goto M, Nomoto M, Kitajima S, Douchi T, Yoshinaga M. Uterine lipoleiomyoma: a histopathological review of 17 cases. Pathol Int. 2004; 54: 751-8.
- Sharma S, Ahluwalia C, Mandal AK, A rare incidental case of lipoleiomyoma cervix. J. Health Sci. 2015; 2: 186-90.
- Bolat F, Kayaselçuk F, Canpolat T, Erkanlı S, Tuncer İ. Histogenesis of lipomatous component in uterine lipoleiomyomas. Turkish Journal of Pathology 2007; 23: 82-6.
- Erhan SŞ, Keser SH, Soylu Boy FN, Çom Ç. Serviks uteri lokalizasyonlu lipoleiomyom: Olgu sunumu, Okmeydanı Tıp Dergisi 2017; 33: 50-3.
- Devarmani SS, Laheru VB. Uterine lipoleiomyoma-a rare case report with review of literature. Journal of Evolution of Medical and Dental Sciences 2013; 2; 352-5.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2019.2620 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):192-4

The Phenomenon of Acute Renal Failure in Patients with Chronic Use of Wild Tobacco

💿 Serhat Soylu, 💿 Ümran Yaman, 💿 Ülkü Aygen Türkmen, 💿 İlkay Anaklı

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Anesthesia and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Soylu S, Yaman Ü, Türkmen ÜA, Anaklı İ. The Phenomenon of Acute Renal Failure in Patients with Chronic Use of Wild Tobacco. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):192-4

ABSTRACT

In patients with acute renal failure (ARF), the differential diagnosis may be more difficult than expected. Especially in young adults without additional diseases, it may not be considered in the diagnosis that an ARF can develop on the basis of chronic renal failure (CRF). In this case, ARF developed on the basis of CRF was presented in the light of literature in a young male patient who presented to the emergency department with ARF and who used chronic wild tobacco in his anamnesis.

Keywords: Acute renal failure, chronic renal failure, wild tobacco, Nicotiana Rustica Linn

INTRODUCTION

Wild tobacco (Nicotina Rustica Linn) is a smokeless tobacco used in our country, especially in the southeastern and eastern Mediterranean region, in place of cigarettes or with cigarettes. It is used by placing it in the oral mucosa (1). Chronic use of wild tobacco has been shown to cause many pathologies including oral mucosa cancers and respiratory problems in the long term (2). It has also been shown that blood pressure and heart rate increase in a short time after taking wild tobacco (3). Acute changes in the body after wild tobacco can reveal the underlying pathologies. In this case, acute kidney damage after the use of wild tobacco showed us that the patient had an undiagnosed chronic kidney failure.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 28-year-old male patient was admitted to the emergency room with respiratory distress and abdominal pain and on his first physical examination he was tachypneic (respiratory rate: 40/minute), hypertensive [tension (TA): 180/100 mmHg] and agitated. The blood gas taken under mask oxygen (6 L/minute) in the emergency room is determined to be pH: 7.22, pCO2: 27 mmHg, pO₂: 36 mmHg, SO₂: 49%, Lac: 1.3 mmol 1/L, HCO₃: 11 meg/L, BE: -15 mmol I/L. It has been decided that the patient who was consulted will be interned in the intensive care unit. After being taken to intensive care, the patient was observed to be SpO₂: 50% under 3 L/minute mask oxygen and was intubated orotracheal and began to support invasive mechanical ventilation. While in volume control mode, PEEP was set to 8 cm H₂O and FiO_2 0.6. It was learned from the relatives of the patient that there was an increasingly severe respiratory distress in the past month, and he had applied to the emergency department several times. He had also swelling (like edema) on his foot recently and this situation regressed spontaneously. In the interrogation made in terms of substance use, it was found that the patient was a chronic wild tobacco (Nicotina Rustica Linn) user and chewed the wild tobacco before applying to the emergency room. Biochemistry

ORCID IDs of the authors: S.S. 0000-0003-3886-5424; Ü.Y. 0000-0001-8525-017X; Ü.A.T. 0000-0002-7280-6420; İ.A. 0000-0002-0403-4860.



Corresponding Author: Serhat Soylu, E-mail: srhtsoylu@gmail.com Received Date: 24.11.2018 Accepted Date: 17.06.2019

parameters resulted in urea: 381 mg/dL-1, creatinine: 25.12 mg/dL, sodium: 126 mmol/L, calcium: 3.9 mmol/L, potassium: 5.5 mmol/L. From the moment he was admitted to the hospital, his anuria was present and therefore continuous venovenous hemodiafiltration (CVVHDF) was initiated with acute renal failure (ARF) in mind. Upon determination of hemoglobin value 4.7 gr/dL, 3 unite erythrocyte suspension replacement was performed. Sedation was provided by infusion of remifentanil 0.2 mcg/kg/minute. The patient's nasal, phlegm and urine cultures were sent. The hepatitis markers were negative. Bilateral widespread infitrations were detected in chest X-ray and thorax tomography (Figure 1, 2). Acid resistant staining/ Erlich-Ziehl-Neelsen was studied in terms of tuberculosis and it was observed to be negative. The patient underwent a renal ultrasound and was found an increase in parenchyma echogenity. On bedside echocardiography, ejection fraction was 60%, heart cavities and valve structures were normal, but pericardial effusion (uremic pericarditis) was detected. In the 6th hour of the intensive



Figure 1. Chest X-ray



Figure 2. Thorax tomography

care follow-up, there was a decrease in the biochemistry values examined under CVVHDF (urea: 272 mg/dL, creatinine: 16.89 mg/ dL). In the SIMV-P mode as a result of arteriel blood gas, FiO₂: 0.4, Ph: 7.34, pO2:58 mmHg, PcO2:35 mmHg, SO2: 90%, BE: -5 mmol/L. On the second day of intensive care follow-up, the patient's anuria continued. The patient's procalcitonin value was 19 ng/mL and piperacillin-tazobactam, moxifloxacin and linezolid treatment was started by the infectious disease consultant. Urea: 29 mg/dL-1, creatinine: 2.07 mg/dL-1 decreased in the third day of follow-up (Table 1). However, due to the absence of urine output, he was consulted with internal medicine specialist. With the recommendation of internist parathyroid hormone level was requested and parathyroid ultrasound was performed upon high results (parathormon: 412 pg/dL, normal values: 12-88 pg/ mL). However, a pathological lesion was not found. The patient was consulted to the nephrology clinic and was diagnosed with ARF, which developed on the basis of chronic kidney failure. The patient was extubated on the 7th day of hospitalization. The patient was transferred to the another hospital to be able to start a routine dialysis program. Our patient, who was a foreign national, remained in our follow-up only for one day after being extubated, and no communication could be established after he was referred to the another hospital and therefore no written consent could be obtained.

DISCUSSION

Although chronic renal failure occurs in older populations with comorbid diseases, it can also be detected in younger patients admitted to hospital in an ARF status. In young patients admitted to hospital with ARF, CRF is not usually considered (4).

The absence of a history of additional disease in the anamnesis highlights conditions such as intoxication. There are many cases in the literature about ARF as a result of intoxication (5,6). In our case, the fact that the patient was a user of chronic wild tobacco (Nicotiana Rustica Linn) and chewed wild tobacco before applying to the emergency room did not make us think about the diagnosis of chronic renal failure. It has been found that chronic marash powder abuse is mostly associated with oral cavity lesions (3). Although there is no correlation between chronic wild tobacco and ARF, Sucakli et al. (7) found that carotis intima media thickness increased compared to those who did not use it, and this caused systolic and diastolic blood pressure elevation. On the other



hand, Keten et al. (3) measured systolic-diastolic blood pressures and heart rate at 5, 10, 15, and 20 minutes after the use of wild tobacco and found that wild tobacco significantly increased both blood pressure and heart rate (4). Tobacco products have also been shown to increase the risk of developing chronic kidney failure (8,9). In the light of this information, we would like to draw attention to the fact that wild tobacco may be effective in the development of ARF on the basis of chronic renal failure.

The diagnosis of CRF was made after anamnesis, clinical observation, and consultation with the nephrology clinic. In the patient's history, especially in the last month, episodes of respiratory distress and intermittent bilateral lower limb edema have suggested an underlying CRF clinical picture. Serious anemia (Hgb: 4.7 g/dL-1) observed in the patient at the first admission can be seen due to erythropoietin deficiency in patients with CRF (10). During the follow-up of the patient, decrease in urea-creatinine level with CVVHDF and anuria led us to the diagnosis of CRF.

CONCLUSION

Chronic renal failure may remain asymptomatic for a long time in young patients (11). If these patients have not been screened before, they usually apply to the hospital in the clinical picture of ARF and they are diagnosed with CRF. Therefore, it should be kept in mind that if an ARF clinical picture is observed in young adults, there may be an ARF picture on the basis of CRF. Also, it should be remembered that there may be a risk of developing CRF in the use of wild tobacco and may lead to the development of ARF.

Informed Consent: Our patient, who was a foreign national, remained in our follow-up only for one day after being extubated, and no communication could be established after he was referred to the another clinic, and therefore no written consent could be obtained.

Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - S.S., Ü.Y., Ü.A.T.; Design - S.S.; Supervision - Ü.A.T.; Resources - İ.A., Ü.Y.; Materials - İ.A.; Data Collection and/or Processing - S.S.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - S.S.; Literature Search - S.S.; Writing Manuscript - S.S.; Critical Review - S.S., Ü.A.T.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Erenmemişoğlu A. Re: Turkish smokeless tobacco "Maras powder". Prev Med 1999; 28: 616-7.
- Fasanmade A, Kwok E, Newman L. Oral squamous cell carcinoma associated whit khat chewing. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2007; 104: e53-5.
- Keten HS, Ölmez S, Üçer H, Işık O, Yıldırım F, Çelik M. Acute effects of Maras powder (smokeless tobacco) on blood pressure and heart rate. Cukurova Med J 2017; 42: 210-5.
- Neild GH. Primary renal disease in young adults with renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2010; 25: 1025-32.
- Kilnet RG, D'Souza RJ, Oliveira DB, MacPhee IA, Turner DR, Eastwood JB. Acute renal failure from intoxication by Cortinarius orellanus: recovery using anti-oxidant therapy and steroids. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1999; 14: 2779-80.
- 6. Fenves AZ, Emmett M, White MG. Lithium intoxication associated with acute renal failure. South Med J 1984; 77: 1472-4.
- Sucakli MH, Ozkan F, Inci MF, Celik M, Keten HS, Bozoglan O. Effects of smokeless tobacco (Maras powder) use on carotid intima media tickness. Med Sci Monit 2013; 19: 859-64.
- Orth SR, Hallan S. Smoking: A risk factor for progression of chronic kidney disease and for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in renal patients-absence of evidence or evidence of absence? Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008; 3: 226-36.
- Yakoub R, Habib H, Lahdo A, Ali RA, Varjabedian L, Atalla G, et al. Association between smoking and chronic kidney disease: a case control study BMC Public Health 2010; 10: 731.
- Babitt JL, Lin HY. Mecanism of Anemia in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol 2012; 23: 1631-4.
- Prassher PK, Varma PP. Chronic renal failure-pitfalls in diagnosis Med J Armed Forces India 1997; 53: 295-7.

Case Report

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.2900 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):195-9

Cases with Gastrointestinal System Findings and Diagnosed with Malignancy Outside the Gastrointestinal System; Case Series

🔟 Nafiye Urgancı¹, 🗅 Reyhan Gümüştekin², 🗅 Bahar Genç³, 🗅 Z. Yıldız Yıldırmak⁴

¹ University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey ² University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Child Health and Diseases, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Urgancı N, Gümüştekin R, Genç B, Yıldız Yıldırmak Z. Cases with Gastrointestinal System Findings and Diagnosed with Malignancy Outside the Gastrointestinal System; Case Series. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):195-9

ABSTRACT

In these case series, patients admitted to pediatric gastroenterology outpatient clinic with gastrointestinal complaints in the last year and diagnosed with malignancy after the examinations were discussed. Nine patients diagnosed with malignancy were evaluated with biochemical, imaging and histopathological methods. One of the patients, aged 4 months 8 years, was diagnosed with Burkitt's leukemia, two were diagnosed with Burkitt's lymphoma, the other two were diagnosed with neuroblastoma while two were diagnosed with posterior fossa tumor, two were diagnosed with Langerhans cell histiocytosis. All patients were referred to the pediatric oncology service for further treatment. We think that patients presenting with gastrointestinal findings should be evaluated in more detail by general pediatricians before they are referred to minor outpatient clinics.

Keywords: Non-gastrointestinal system, malignancy, childhood

INTRODUCTION

Vomiting, abdominal distention, abdominal pain and weight loss are common symptoms and signs that are common in pediatric practice. These general signs and symptoms are frequently followed with different diagnoses. However, the fact that these symptoms are long-lasting, insistent, and multiple and coexisting should bring to mind the neoplastic diseases in differential diagnosis. Abdominal bloating may be due to diffuse growth of intra-abdominal organs or it may be handled as a separate tumor. The palpated mass may be due to a simple cause such as fechaloma, as well as gastrointestinal system anomalies, cysts, inflammatory diseases or benign neoplasms. Depending on the location of the mass, there may be symptoms such as constipation and vomiting. The mass can often be noticed by the family in the form of swelling, stiffness, or asymmetry in the abdomen while the child is being dressed or bathing. But masses inside the abdomen, especially those in the retroperitoneal region, often escape the attention of the child's family until they reach large sizes (1,2). Another rare, sometimes life-threatening disease is Langerhans cell histiocytosis, which is caused by skin lesions. This disease can often be treated as a cow's milk allergy, especially due to rashes in the body and clinical signs such as diaper dermatitis (3,4). For differential diagnosis, good anamnesis, good systemic physical examination, laboratory and imaging support are required.

In this article, patients who were referred from general pediatric polyclinics to pediatric gastroenterology polyclinics for further examination and treatment with gastrointestinal system symptoms

ORCID IDs of the authors: N.U. 0000-0003-4854-507X; R.G. 0000-0001-5813-4448; B.G. 0000-0002-5237-8377; Z.Y.Y. 0000-0003-3939-2761.



Corresponding Author: Nafiye Urgancı, E-mail: nafiyeurganci@yahoo.com Received Date: 19.03.2019 Accepted Date: 17.05.2020

©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org and who were diagnosed with malignancy after examinations are discussed.

CASE PRESENTATION

Case 1

A 3-year-old male patient was brought to the pediatric gastroenterology outpatient clinic with complaints of abdominal bloating and abdominal pain. In his history, it was learned that she had been diagnosed with abdominal pain, anorexia for two months, and not gaining weight since the last one month, despite the outpatient clinic admissions, weight loss increased gradually. On physical examination, the general condition of the case, whose body weight and height was below 3 percentile, was moderate, cachectic and fond-looking, and the eyeballs were collapsed. Respiratory examination was natural. Peak heart rate in the cardiovascular system was 140/min and rhythmic. A 2/6 severity systolic murmur was detected in the apex. Organomegaly could not be palpated since abdominal distention was excessive. Laboratory investigations were hemoglobin (Hgb): 10 gr/dL, hematocrit (Hct): 30%, white blood cell: 8380/mm³, platelet count: 44,000/mm³. Aspartate transaminase (AST): 56 U/L alanine transaminase (ALT): 9 U/L, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) 20 U/L, alkaline phosphatase (ALP) 79 U/L, total protein 5.4 g/ dL, albumin 2.9 g/dL, urea 28 mg/dL, creatinine 0.17 mg/dL, iron 40 ng/dL, iron binding capacity 206 ng/dL, ferritin: 21 ng/ dL. Immunoglobulin (Ig)A was 36 mg/dL, IgG 686 mg/dL, IgM 49 mg/dL. Atypical cell was not detected in peripheral smear. In abdominal ultrasonography (USG), no pathology other than fechaloma was detected. EMA IgA and EMA IgG examination of the patient who had a hard poop production 3 times a week was negative. Abdominal distension gradually increased and abdominal tomography [computed tomography (CT)] showed dilatation of the bowel loops and an increase in the thickness of the bowel in the right hepatic flexor. Neuron specific enolase (NSE), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), urine vanillylmandelic acid (VMA) and B human chorionic gonadotropin (HCG) levels were normal for the differential diagnosis of neuroblastoma. A hard mass with uncertain borders was found around the navel. In repeated abdominal USG, hypoechoic nodular areas of 7x6.5 mm and 7x7.5 mm in the left lobe in the parenchyma (metastatic areas associated with possible lymphoproliferative process defined in the epigastrium), gathered together in the midline, epigastrium, mass appearance. Thin walled hypoechoic lesions of millimeter sizes were observed in both kidneys, the largest of which was 7 mm in diameter in the right kidney. Repeated abdominal CT showed increased kidney sizes (metastasis) and a mass in the hepatic flexura in the right colon. In laboratory studies of the case with intermittent fever, alkaline hydration was started with the pre-diagnosis of malignancy on calcium 13.6 mg/dL and uric acid 7.8 mg/dL. L3-type lymphoblasts containing vacuoles were seen in 40% of bone marrow aspiration and stoplasmas. Burkitt was diagnosed with leukemia and underwent chemotherapy at a pediatric oncology clinic. Case was excitus caused by sepsis.

Case 2

A 9-month-old girl was brought with the complaint of abdominal distention since a week. It was learned that there was no history of maternal-parental consanguinity, that she was born as a result of uneventful pregnancy and that there was no feature in the postnatal period. In her physical examination, her weight was 10 kg (90 per) and her height was 67 cm (3-10 per). Her general condition was medium, pale and her respiratory and cardiovascular system examinations were normal. The liver of the patient with abdominal distension was to reach the inquinal area and his spleen was palpated 5 cm. Laboratory investigations were Hgb: 7.1 gr/dL, Hct: 28% L/dL, white blood: 3420/mm³, Platelet: 97,000/mm³, AST: 25 U/L, ALT: 30 U/L, GGT: 20 U, ALP: 272 U/L, T protein: 7.5 gr/dL, Albumin: 4.3 gr/dL, urea: 17 mg/dL, creatinine: 0.8 mg/dL, iron: 67 mg/total iron binding capacity: 215 mg/dL, ferritin: 188 mg/L, IgA: 31 mg/dL, IgG: 817 mg/dL, IgM: 45 mg/dl, LDH: 640 IU/L, Uric acid: 8.2 mg/dL and prothrombin time resulted normally. Hepatitis A, B and TORCH panel were negative. Atypical cell was not seen in peripheral smear. In abdominal USG, liver and spleen were large and liver parenchyma was observed homogeneously. Intestinal colon thickening and adjacent mesenteric lymphadenopathies adjacent to the intestine segments causing a mass appearance in the colon in the lower right quadrant of the abdomen were interpreted as a preliminary diagnosis of Burkitt lymphoma. Computerized CT revealed hepatosplenomegaly, paraaortocaval mass and lymphadenopathy. Burkitt lymphoma was diagnosed as a result of examination of laparoscopic biopsy material.

Case 3

A 3-year-old girl was brought in with a complaint of difficulty breathing. In her story, it was stated that since 15 days of restlessness, abdominal pain and abdominal bloating, she suddenly complained of difficulty in breathing and had difficulty urinating during the day. She was 13 kg (25 per) in weight and 96 cm (25-50 per) in physical examination. The general condition of the patient was fond, restless, agitated, pale-looking and dyspneic and tachycardic. The presence of organomegaly could not be evaluated because there was an advanced degree of distension in the abdomen. Laboratory examinations were Hgb: 7.6 gr/dL, Hct: 30%, white blood: 12420/mm³, PLT: 70,000/mm³. AST: 28 u/L ALT: 33 u/L, GGT: 21 U/L, ALP: 172 U/L, T protein: 7.6 g/dL, Albumin: 4.3 gr/dL, urea: 16 mg/dL, creatinine : 0.6 mg/dL, iron: 78 mg/dL, total iron binding capacity: 115 mg/dL, ferritin: 128 mg/L, IgA: 32 mg/dL, IgG: 916 mg/dL, IgM: 52 mg/ dL, prothrombin time: 88%. LDH 842 IU/L, uric acid: 10.2 mg/dL, hepatitis A, B, and TORCH panel were negative. In abdominal USG, liver and spleen were large and liver parenchyma was observed homogeneously. Cells compatible with lymphoblasts were seen in peripheral smear. The patient, who was followed up in the intensive care unit, died on the third day of his hospitalization due to respiratory and renal failure. As a result of the examination of the post-mortem biopsy material, the case was diagnosed with Burkit lymphoma.

Case 4, 5

Two 4-month-old female patient applied for bloating in the abdomen for 3 days. It was learned that the patients who had no complaints in their history had previously noticed bloating in the abdomen and had repeatedly applied to a doctor because of their increasing complaints. In their physical exams, one's weight was 7200 g (90 per) in length 61 cm (25 per), the other's weight was 7000 g (75-90 p), height 60 cm (25 p). The general condition of these cases was moderate, fever 36 °C, respiratory sounds were bilaterally equal, normal and the number of breaths per minute was 35, cardiovascular system examinations were normal. The liver of patients with abdominal distention was palpable in the inquinal and spleen midclavics and 5-6 cm. In laboratory investigations, Hgb: 11.9 gr/dL, Hct: 30%, white blood: 19,200/mm³, platelet: 219,000/mm³, AST: 25 U/L, ALT: 32 U/L, GGT: 23 U/L, ALP: 201 U/L, T protein: 7.8 g/dL, albumin: 4.2 gr/dL, urea: 22 mg/dL, creatinine: 0.7 mg/dL, iron: 78 mg/dL, total iron binding capacity: 215 mg/dL, ferritin: 178 mg/L, IgA: 34 mg/dL, IgG: 616 mg/dL, IgM: 42 mg/dL, Prothrombin time 89% and acid phosphatase: 8.1 were detected. Hepatitis A, B and TORCH panel were negative. Liver, spleen and liver parenchyma were heterogeneous in the abdominal USG of both cases. There were no atypical cells in the bone marrow aspiration examination. The NSE average was 81.4 (high) and VMA >1000 (very high). Gaucher's disease enzyme levels in both cases were also found to be normal. The cases were diagnosed with neuroblastoma as a result of the observation of small blue cells in histopathological investigations of liver biopsies.

Case 6

A two-year-old baby boy was brought with vomiting after feeding. In his history, it was learned that he had vomited after each feeding since his birth and that there was a slowdown in weight gain. No feature was found in the history and history of the case. On physical examination, the general condition of the patient, whose weight was 11 kg (25 per) and 84 cm (25-50 per) in length, was good and active. Respiratory and cardiovascular system of the patient was normal and organomegaly was not detected. Laboratory examinations were Hgb: 10.6 gr/dL, Hct: 32%, white blood: 7420/mm³, platelet: 370,000/mm³. No characteristics were observed in the abdominal USG of the patient with normal serum electrolytes, liver and renal functions. Anti-reflux treatment was recommended. Although there was no improvement in complaints in the follow-up, there was no characteristic in the fundus oculi examination of the case. However, he was referred to neurosurgery because of mass determination in posterior fossa in computerised brain tomography.

Case 7

An eight-year-old male patient was brought to the pediatric gastroenterology outpatient clinic with the complaint of vomiting. It has been learned that there have been vomiting attacks, especially in the morning, for six months, gastritis and vomiting treatments have been given in repeated polyclinic applications, but morning vomiting has been increasing since the last few days. His physical examination revealed a weight of 26 kg (50 per) and a height of 127 cm (50 per), and his general condition was moderate, fever 36 °C, and his color was pale. Respiratory examination was normal, peak heart rate: 80 min/rhythmic, liver and spleen were not palpable. Hb: 12 gr/dL, Hct: 38%, white blood cell: 7880/mm3, platelet count: 344,000/mm³. AST: 36 U/I, ALT: 29 U/I, GGT: 21U/L, ALP: 269 U/L, total protein 6.4 gr/dL, Albumin 3.9 gr/dL, urea 28 mg/dL, creatinine 0.17 mg/dL were detected. Bilateral papil edema was detected in the fundus oculi examination and cranial CT revealed a mass in the posterior cavity and the patient was referred to neurosurgery.

Case 8

A nine-month-old girl was brought to our pediatric emergency clinic with complaints of fever, abdominal distention and paleness since two months. In her history, it has been learned that they have been using various antibiotics for recurrent outpatient clinic applications due to intermittent fever and abdominal bloating for five months, but abdominal bloating and paleness have increased since the last few days. In her physical examination; weight was 8000 gr and length was 67 cm (50 percentile), general condition was medium, fever 38 °C, color was pale. Respiratory examination was normal. The PHR was 120 min/rhythmic. Systolic murmur at the apex was 1/6. The liver of the patient with abdominal distension was 5 cm past the edge of the midclavicular line and costa. The spleen was palpated at 4 cm and medium hardness. Laboratory investigations were Hgb: 10 gr/dL, Hct: 31%, leukocyte count: 4380/mm³, platelet count: 144,000/mm³. AST: 56 U/L, ALT: 49 U/L, GGT 20 U/L, ALP: 279 U/L, total protein: 5.4 gr/dL, albumin: 2.9 gr/dL, urea: 28 mg/dL, creatinine: 0.17 mg/dL, iron: 30 ng/dL, iron binding capacity 406 ng/dL, ferritin: 10 ng/dL, vitamin B12: 189 pg/mL, folic acid: 7 ng/mL, IgA 208 mg/dL, IgG: 686 mg/dL, IgM It was 49 mg/dL. Alpha fetoprotein, NSE, fibrinogen levels were normal. Microcytic anemia was detected in its peripheral spread. Hepatosplenomegaly was present in the abdominal USG and parenchyma was homogenous. The case with pancytopenia and fever was treated with antibiotics. In addition, Cytomegalovirus, Epstein-Barr virus, Parvovirus IgM, hepatitis A, B and C panel were found to be negative. Microcytic anemia was present in the bone marrow aspiration examination, hemophagocytosis and atypical cells were not found. In addition to anaemia, tachypnea, tachycardia, cardiac failure and 40% prothrombin activity, the patient was transfused with erythrocyte suspension and freshly frozen plasma. TORCH IgM, Grubel-Widal and Wright tests of the case were negative. Ammonia, urine-blood aminoacid levels, Alpha-1 antitrypsin levels, tests for Gaucher disease, Niemann-Pick A and B enzyme levels were normal and no pathology was detected in the eye-bottom examination. Repeated bone marrow biopsy was evaluated as normocellular. However, acid was also found in the case that started jaundice, T bilirubin 5 mg/dL and D bilirubin 4 mg/dL. In the case of hypoalbuminemia and international normalized ratio: 2, hemorrhagic papular lesions of various sizes were observed in both palms and on the back of the hand while preparing for liver transplantation. The case was diagnosed as Langerhans cell histiocytosis after the widespread CD1 a antigen positive histiocytes were observed in histopathological examination of skin biopsy material from lesions. He was referred to an oncology clinic.

Case 9

The seven-month-old girl was brought with a complaint of rash on the body, which has been for two months. She has been using antifungal, antibiotic and corticosteroid creams with her diaper rash due to rash, itching and crusting, which has been continuing for two months in her body, especially in the folds of the body to be more than two months, continuing since the last four weeks also increasing the redness. It was learned that he was referred to the gastroenterology outpatient clinic with a diagnosis of allergy. On physical examination, weight: 7 kg (25 pairs), height: 67 cm (50 pairs) and general condition was moderate. In addition to the common erythematous, patched papular-looking lesions on the neck, trunk, the structure of the nails was disrupted and there were hemorrhagic lesions in some erythematous areas. Respiratory and cardiovascular system examinations were normal. Liver was 3 cm in the midclavicular line, and her spleen was palpated by 2 cm. Laboratory investigations were Hgb: 10.1 g/dL, Hct: 31%, white blood: 4420/mm³, platelet: 207,000/mm³. The diagnosis of langerhans cell histiocytosis was made in the histopathological examination of the skin punch biopsy material taken from the patient with normal liver, kidney functions and serum electrolytes. Verbal consent was obtained from all cases.

DISCUSSION

Malignant diseases are not uncommon in childhood and adolescence and can always appear with different clinical signs and symptoms. Tumors that occupy the abdomen in childhood may appear with different clinical findings in different localizations. Most tumors that show intraabdominal location give symptoms such as abdominal pain, bloating, nausea, vomiting, constipation or diarrhea. However, most abdominal masses in children are asymptomatic and often noticed by family or doctor during routine examination. Sometimes the cases are taken to the doctor with complaints such as pain, vomiting and constipation due to the mass (2). Burkitt lymphoma is a fast-growing malignant tumor. In non-Hodgkin lymphoma, which is the nonendemic form that causes abdominal mass, clinical findings vary depending on the localization of the tumor. In 35% of the patients, the tumor is localized in the abdominal region. It may originate from all lymphoid tissue in the intestinal wall, including the abdominal lymph nodes as well as the ileocecal region, the appendage and the ascending colon (5-7). Our three cases were brought in with abdominal bloating and abdominal pain. In one of the cases, a mass was detected in the colon, while the other two cases, were diagnosed with Burkitt lymphoma. Neuroblastoma is the most common extracranial solid tumor seen in childhood and accounts for 7% of childhood tumors (8). Since neuroblastoma can develop from any part of the sympathetic nerve chain, the location and clinic of the tumor are very variable and vary by age. Neuroblastoma

cases usually do not have any complaints. Although the tumor is mostly found by chance during the examinations, 65% are located in the abdomen (9,10). Increased urine catecholamine metabolites (VMA, HVA) are very important in the diagnosis of neuroblastoma. Two of our cases (patients 4 and 5) were brought with the complaint of bloating in the abdomen, and a diagnosis of neuroblastoma was made as a result of the examinations. Brain tumors are the most common solid tumor seen in childhood. It constitutes 20% of cancers seen in children. It is the second most common malignant disease under the age of 15 after leukemias. Brain tumors are clinically grouped according to infratentorial and supratentorial localization. Medulloblastoma, which is one of the infratentorial tumors and located in the posterior fossa, is the most common brain tumor in the child age group (25%). It accounts for 30-40% of all posterior fossa tumors. This tumor is seen more in boys than in girls, but peaks at ages 5-9 (11,12). One of our cases was two years old, the other was 8 years old, and both were admitted with morning vomiting. After the examinations, they were diagnosed with posterior fossa tumor, which is common in this age group as stated in the literature. Langerhans cell histiocytosis is a rare disease characterized by abnormal histiocyte proliferation, whose etiology has not yet been fully elucidated. This disease, which has an annual incidence of 3-4 per million, can occur at any age in childhood. Itchy erythematous papules, vesiculopustules, petechiae, erosion and ulcerations are seen in the groin. There may be atrophy in the inguinal folds. Systemically, anemia, diarrhea, hepatosplenomegaly, bone involvement and lymphoadenopathies can be detected. The definitive diagnosis is made by showing the CD1a surface antigen immunohistochemically in the biopsy samples taken from skin or bone lesions or by showing the langerhans cells under the electron microscope. Chemotherapy (vinblastin and etoposide), local radiotherapy or isolated curettage can be applied in treatment (3,4). In one of our two cases, the first finding was rash on the body, but in the other, the first finding was organomegaly. However, hemorrhagic papular lesions of various sizes were observed in both palms. LCH was diagnosed by histopathological examination of skin biopsy of both cases. Malignant diseases should be kept in mind in cases presenting with hepatosplenomegaly, persistent fever and pallor as in these cases presenting with various gastrointestinal findings.

As a result, as with any disease, knowledge, awareness, correct synthesis and appropriate approach are required in the diagnosis of neoplastic diseases. Therefore, the complaints of the gastrointestinal tract are primarily a symptom of a gastroenterological disease, but may also concern other clinical departments, especially oncology. Patients presenting with these non-specific complaints, which are the precursors of many diseases such as vomiting, dermatological findings, abdominal bloating, should be directed to the minor clinics after being evaluated in more detail by general pediatricians.

Informed Consent: Verbal consent was obtained from all cases. Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed. Author Contributions: Concept - N.U.; Design - N.U.; Supervision - Z.Y.Y.; Resources - R.G.; Materials - B.G.; Data Collection and/or Processing -N.U., Analysis and/or Interpretation - N.U.; Literature Search - R.G.; Writing Manuscript - N.U.; Critical Review - N.U.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Yang DM, Jung DH, Kim H, Kang JH, Kim JH, et al. Retroperitoneal cystic masses: CT, Clinical, and pathologic findigs and literature review. Radiographics 2004;24:1353-65.
- Golden CB, Feusner JH. Malignant abdominal masses in children: quick guide to evaluation and diagnosis. Pediatr Clin N Am 2002;49:1369-92.
- 3. Shin HT. Diaper dermatitis that does not quit. Dermatol Ther 2005;18:124-35.
- Chow TW, Leung WK, Cheng FWT, Kumta SM, Chu WCW, Lee V, et al. Late outcomes in children with Langerhans cell histiocytosis. Arch Dis Child 2017;102:830-5.

- Grajo JR, Kayton ML, Steffensen TS, Dragicevic N, Guidi CB. Presentation of ileal Burkitt lymphoma in children. J Radiol Case Rep 2012;6:27-38.
- WHO Press, Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Harris NL, et al. WHO Classification of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues. 2008;439
- Bonnet C, Janssens A, Wu KL, Schroyens W, Hende VV, Heimann P, et al. BHS guidelines for the treatment of Burkitt's lymphoma. Belg J Hematol 2015;6:61-9.
- Maris JM. Recent advances in neuroblastoma. N Engl J Med 2010;10:2202-11.
- London WB, Castleberry RP, Matthay KK, Look AT, Seeger RC, Shimada H. Evidence for an age cutoff greater than 365 days for neuroblastoma risk group stratification in the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:6459-65.
- 10. Bagatell R, Cohn SL. Genetic discoveries and treatment advances in neuroblastoma. Curr Opin Pediatr 2016;28:19-25.
- 11. Biegel JA. Genetics of pediatric central nervous system tumors. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1997;19:492-501.
- Tortori-Donati P, Fondelli MP, Carini S, Cama A, Garre ML, Salomone G. Tumori neuroectodermici primitivi (PNETs) emedulloblastoma (PNETfossa Posteriore). Rivasta di Neuroradiologia 1992;5(Suppl 4):15-31.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3301 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):200-3

Angiolipoma-like Atypical Lipomatous Tumor/Welldifferentiated Liposarcoma

💿 İsmail Saygın, 💿 Sevdegül Mungan, 💿 Emel Çakır

Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Trabzon, Turkey

Cite this article as: Saygın İ, Mungan S, Çakır E. Angiolipoma-like Atypical Lipomatous Tumor/Well-differentiated Liposarcoma. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):200-3

ABSTRACT

Lipomas are benign mesenchymal neoplasms. Angiolipoma is a variant of ordinary lipomas, characterized by adipocytic cells as well as capillary vascular clusters. Atypical lipomatous tumors are local aggressive mesenchymal neoplasms which include atypical stromal cells. They frequently arise in the deep thigh of the lower extremity. They have four histologic subtypes. So far, there aren't any case of angiolipoma with malignant transformation or atypical lipomatous tumor with angiolipoma-like areas in the English literature. Here we presented a case of atypical lipomatous tumor which was quite like angiolipoma. It was composed of mature fat with focal cytologic atypia and also accompanying diffuse capillary vessels. If there is a large-diameter and deeply located angiolipoma-like lesion, careful examination is required to rule out a liposarcoma. Liposarcomas may be rarely dedifferentiate or metastatic. It is not possible to verify that if the case is a variant of liposarcoma or it is a malignant transformation of angiolipoma.

Keywords: Atypical lipomatous tumor, liposarcoma, angiolipoma, malign transformation, angioliposarcoma

INTRODUCTION

Atypical lipomatous tumors are locally aggressive mesenchymal tumors. They are composed of mature fats with variably sized adipocytes, bands of fibrotic stroma, and also have atypical stromal cells. Areas of fat necrosis are observed, especially at the peripheral localization of the large lesions. These tumors are frequently observed in the deep locations of the thigh, followed by the retroperitoneum, trunk, head and neck region, and spermatic cord. They are predominantly seen in the middle and older ages. Atypical lipomatous tumors have four histologic subtypes, including lipoma-like, sclerosing, inflammatory, and spindle cell histologic subtypes. The lipoma-like subtype is the most common.

Diffuse capillary vascular structures are unusual event in atypical lipomatous tumor. This pattern is very similar to angiolipoma.

Angiolipomas are benign tumors composed of mature adipocytes and intermingled with small and thin-walled vessels with intraluminal fibrin thrombi. Angiolipomas constitute 6%-17% of all lipomas (1). They were first described by Bowen (2) in 1912. The nature of these lesions was first documented in 1960 by Howard and Helwig (3). In 1974, Lin and Lin (1) divided them into two; infiltrating and non-infiltrating groups based on their biological behavior. Infiltrating angiolipomas are characterized by a non-capsulated tumor extended into surrounding tissues. Non-infiltrating angiolipomas are encapsulated.

In this study, we presented a case of atypical lipomatous tumor composed of mature fat with focal cytologic atypia and diffuse capillary vessels. It was similar to angiolipoma. To our knowledge, it is probably the first case in English literature.

ORCID IDs of the authors: İ.S. 0000-0002-6013-6378; S.M. 0000-0001-2345-6789; E.Ç. 0000-0002-9845-366X.



Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: İsmail Saygın, E-mail: ismailsaygin@ktu.edu.tr Received Date 26.03.2020 Accepted Date: 26.06.2020

A 75-year-old male patient was admitted to an orthopedic clinic with complaints of a palpable mass in his back. The mobile mass lesion under the latissimus dorsi muscle was excised. No metastatic lesion was detected by computed tomography (CT) scans. Macroscopic examination revealed that the mass lesion was covered by a thin incomplete capsule.

The cut surface of the lesion had a dirty yellow color, with an appearance of mature fat (Figure 1). Most of the neoplastic adipocytic cells had similar sizes and shapes (Figure 2A-C). There were also scattered capillary vascular clusters within the lesion and capillary vascular structures were usually located in the periphery of the lesion. Endothelial cells of capillary structures were benign. The adipocytes size in different parts of the lesion varied from small to large compared to normal (Figure 2D and Figure 3A, B). In addition, there were atypical stromal cells and rare lipoblasts in fibrous septa (Figure 3A-C). Atypic stromal cells rarely showed pleomorphism and there were sparse mitotic activities (Figure 3D). Immunohistochemically, capillary structures expressed CD34 (Figure 4A); atypical stromal cells expressed murine double minute 2 (MDM2), cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4), and p16 (Figure 4B, C); and scattered atypical stromal cells expressed \$100 protein (Figure 4D). Analysis of MDM2 by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) showed clusters of red signals in the neoplastic cells. Red signal clusters in neoplastic stromal cells indicated the presence of amplification/ overexpression of the MDM2 protein (Figure 5). The patient was discharged without any complications and after ten months of follow-up, there was no recurrence as determined by endoscopic evaluation and CT examination.

Consent form was taken from the patient.

DISCUSSION

Angiolipoma is a variant of ordinary lipomas characterized by adipocytes as well as capillary vascular clusters. We did not



Figure 1. Tumor is covered by a thin fibrous capsule. The cut surface shows a dirty yellow color with a mature fatty tissue appearance

find any case of angiolipoma with malignant transformation or an atypical lipomatous tumor with angiolipoma-like areas in the English literature. Due to the atypical stromal cells in the lipomatous areas and the presence of widespread capillary vessels, it may be misdiagnosed as angiolipoma. Differential diagnosis of angiolipoma depends on the density of the capillary vessels. Hypovascular angiolipomas are differentiated from ordinary lipoma by the presence of fibrin thrombi, meanwhile cellular angiolipomas may be confused with Kaposi's sarcoma or

spindle cell hemangioma. Although they do not contain clustered vessels with small thrombi, spindle cell hemangiomas unlike angiolipoma, contain large cavernous vascular structures and large calcified thrombi (phleboliths).

Infiltrative angiolipomas are localized in the deep soft tissue (1,4), not encapsulated, and can be mixed more often with



Figure 2. A, B, C) Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), x100: Adipocytic cells are usually similar in size and shape, and there are some capillary vascular clusters scattered within the lesion. D) H&E, x200: Adipocytic cells have different sizes and shapes in some areas



Figure 3. A, B, C) Hematoxylin & eosin (H&E), x400: Atypical stromal cells in the fibrous septa. D) H&E, x400: Capillary structures



Figure 4. CD34x200: Capillary structures. MDM2, x400: Atypical stromal cells. CDK4, x400: Atypical stromal cells. P16: Atypical stromal cells. S-100x400: Atypical stromal cells MDM2: Murine double minute 2, CDK4: cyclin-dependent

MDM2: Murine double minute 2, CDK4: cyclin-dependent kinase 4



Figure 5. FISH: MDM2 amplification and overexpression FISH: Fluorescence in situ hybridization, MDM2: murine double minute 2

angiosarcoma. Our case was located deeply under the muscle in the back, but it was circumscribed and had lobulated margins.

Angiosarcoma and Kaposi's sarcoma in this case were considered in the differential diagnosis due to the focal capillary vascular proliferation detected in the mature adipose tissue. There were fascicular endothelial proliferations consisting of more spindle cells than angiolipoma in Kaposi's sarcoma. There were also blood-filled slit-like spaces, extravasated erythrocytes, and periodic acid-Schiff [PAS (+)] hyaline globules in Kaposi's sarcoma, but no fibrin thrombi. Immunohistochemical studies showed that Kaposi's sarcoma endothelial cells expressed human herpesvirus 8. In angiosarcoma, the vascular structures dissected fatty tissue, collagen fibers, and other tissues. The endothelial cells of the vascular structures were atypical, multi-layered, and showed tufting toward the lumen. There were no fibrin thrombi in capillary vessels in angiosarcoma.

Our case was diagnosed as angiolipoma-like atypical lipomatous tumor/well-differentiated liposarcoma due to the presence of diffuse capillary proliferations in the atypical lipomatous tumor.

The presence of atypical stromal cells is important to differentiate atypical lipomatous tumor from a lipoma. Thway et al. (5) had reported that p16, CDK4, and MDM2 were useful immunohistochemical markers for the distinction of lipoma and an atypical lipomatous tumor. In addition, we have also showed MDM2 amplification by FISH. MDM2 amplification is a finding that supports malignant transformation. The co-occurrence of angiolipoma and atypical lipomatous tumor has been reported by Christodoulidou et al. (6) in a case presentation. However, angiolipoma and atypical lipomatous tumors were seen in the paratesticular area and in contralateral localizations. However, in our case, angiolipomatous areas and atypical lipomatous tumor were intermingled with each other.

Fibrin thrombi are usually seen in angiomatous lesions, caused by microtrauma. They are usually seen in subcutanous angiolipomas and not in angiolipoma-like areas in our case. In the literature like in our case, angiolipomas in the gastric, colonic and rectal locations without fibrin thrombi have been reported (7-9). The absence of fibrin thrombi in the deep soft tissue may be associated with less trauma in these areas.

In our case, it was noticed that the adipocyte cells in fatty tissues, which contained dense capillary vessels showed different sizes and shapes. The diagnosis was atypical lipomatous tumor because of the presence of rare atypical stromal cells and lipoblasts in fibrous septa in these areas. Is the present case a new variant of liposarcoma? It can be discussed because of the diffuse capillary vessels similar to angiolipoma. However, some liposarcoma types have areas with branched capillaries, and a form with extensive capillary vascular proliferation has not yet been defined.

Can the atypical stromal cells and lipoblasts detected in the lipomatous areas in this case be the evidence of the malignant transformation of an angiolipoma? However, soft tissue textbooks report that angiolipomas are always benign or there is no evidence that these lesions ever undergo malignant transformation (10,11).

Angiolipoma-like atypical lipomatous tumors and angioliposarcoma or malignant transformation of angiolipoma have not yet been described in the literature. We defined our case as an atypical lipomatous tumor/well-differentiated liposarcoma due to the atypical stromal cells and lipoblasts observed in the angiolipomalike and lipomatous areas. In conclusion, the possibility of atypical lipomatous tumor/well-differentiated liposarcoma in large and deeply located angiolipoma-like lesions should be excluded.

Informed Consent: Consent form was taken from the patient. Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed. Author Contributions: Concept - İ.S.; Design - İ.S., S.M., E.Ç.; Data Collection or Processing - İ.S., S.M., E.Ç.; Analysis and/or Interpretation -İ.S., E.Ç.; Literature Search - İ.S., S.M.; Writing Manuscript - İ.S.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Lin JJ, Lin F. Two entities in angiolipoma. A study of 459 cases of lipoma with review of literature on infiltrating angiolipoma. Cancer 1974; 34: 720-7.
- Bowen JT. Multiple subcutaneous hemangiomas, together with multiple lipomas, occurring in enormous numbers in an otherwise healthy, muscular subject. Am J Med Sci 1912; 144: 189-92.
- 3. Howard WR, Helwig EB. Angiolipoma. Arch Dermatol 1960; 82: 924-31.
- Gonzalez-Crussi F, Enneking WF, Arean VM. Infiltrating angiolipoma. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1966; 48: 1111-24.
- Thway K, Flora R, Shah C, Olmos D, Fisher C. Diagnostic utility of p16, CDK4, and MDM2 as an immunohistochemical panel in distinguishing

well-differentiated and dedifferentiated liposarcomas from other adipocytic tumors. Am J Surg Pathol 2012: 36: 462-9.

- Christodoulidou M, Khetrapal P, Edmunds L, Muneer A. Paratesticular liposarcoma and contralateral angiolipoma in a 60-year-old patient. BMJ Case Rep 2015: bcr2015212078.
- Kacar S, Kuran S, Temucin T, Odemis B, Karadeniz N, Sasmaz N. Rectal angiolipoma: A case report and review of literature. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13: 1460-5.
- Lou XH, Chen WG, Ning LG, Chen HT, Xu GQ. Multiple gastric angiolipomas: A case report. World J Clin Cases 2019; 7: 778-84.
- Kato K, Matsuda M, Onodera K, Sakata H, Kobayashi T, Kasai S. Angiolipoma of the colon with right lower quadrant abdominal pain. Dig Surg 1999; 16: 441-4.
- Lindberg MR, Lucas D, Gardner JM, Cassarino DS, Stallings-Archer K. Tumors of Adipose Tissue. In Diagnostic pathology: Soft tissue tumors, 2nded. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2016. p.52-55
- Enzinger FM, Goldblum JR, Folpe AL, Weiss SW. Benign Lipomatous Tumors. In Enzinger and Weiss's soft tissue tumors, 6nded. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2014. p.444-83.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3255 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):204-7

Is Mucopolysaccharidosis a Cause of Sleep and Speech Disorders? Report of Four Cases?

Nafiye Urgancı¹, Derya Kalyoncu², Reyhan Gümüştekin²

¹University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Turkey, Şişli Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatrics, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Urgancı N, Kalyoncu D, Gümüştekin R. Is Mucopolysaccharidosis a Cause of Sleep and Speech Disorders? Report of Four Cases? J Acad Res Med 2020;10(2):204-7

ABSTRACT

Mucopolysaccharidosis type III (MPS 3) is an autosomal recessive disorder caused by a deficiency of one of the four enzymes involved in the lysosomal degradation of heparan sulfate (HS). It is often unrecognized or misdiagnosed in children as an idiopathic developmental/speech delay, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and/or autism spectrum disorder. It is characterized by progressive mental deterioration and behavioral problems with dysmorphic facial features and mild somatic signs. We report on children with ADHD who were repeatedly admitted to the pediatric psychiatry department for sleep disturbances, hyperactivity, and speech delay; and to the emergency department with accidental corrosive substance ingestion. Children with mental retardation, coarse face, and hypertrichosis were referred to the pediatric gastroenterology department for preliminary diagnosis of MPS. Lysosomal enzyme activity examinations in leukocytes revealed increased levels of total glycosaminoglycans, heparin, and HS, and decreased HS sulphamidase activity, leading to the diagnosis of MPS III.

Keywords: Children; mucopolysaccharidosis, sanfilippo, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder

Introduction

Mucopolysaccharidoses (MPSs) are a group of seven inherited metabolic disorders that are characterized by the absence or deficiency of specific lysosomal enzymes that lead to the accumulation of glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) within the lysosomes. MPS type III (or Sanfilippo syndrome) is the most common type and is composed of four different subtypes: type A (OMIM #252900), type B (OMIM #252920), type C (OMIM #252930), and type D (OMIM #252940). Each subtype is caused by a deficiency of a different enzyme in the catabolic pathway of heparan sulfate (HS), a type of GAG. MPSs comprise 11 lysosomal diseases, each with an absence of a specific step in the degradation of GAGs that leads to their accumulation in tissues and to a range of clinical consequences, including central

nervous system (CNS) impairment, depending on the type of the MPS (1,2).

Seven types of MPS disorders caused by deficiencies of 10 different enzymes are as follows: MPS I (Hurler MIM 607014, Hurler-Scheie MIM 607015, Scheie MIM 607016), MPS II (Hunter syndrome MIM 309900), MPS III A (MIM 252900), B (OMIM 252920), C (MIM 252930), or D (MIM 252940) (Sanfilippo syndrome), MPS IV A (MIM 253000) or B (MIM 253010) (Morquio syndrome), MPS VI (Maroteaux-Lamy syndrome, MIM 253200), MPS VII (Sly disease, MIM 253220), and MPS IX (MIM 601492) (1). The clinical symptoms vary widely across the different subtypes (1).

MPSs are a group of inherited metabolic disorders caused by a deficiency of lysosomal enzymes that take part in the

ORCID IDs of the authors: N.U. 0000-0003-4854-507X; D.K., 0000-0001-8449-7621; R.G. 0000-0010-6544-2344.



Corresponding Author/Sorumlu Yazar: Nafiye Urgancı, E-mail: nafiyeurganci@yahoo.com Received Date 23.01.2020 Accepted Date: 09.07.2020

degradation of GAGs: HS, dermatan sulfate, keratan sulfate, and hyaluronic acid. They are inherited as an autosomal recessive trait except for type II that has an X-linked recessive inheritance. The incidence of all types of MPSs is around 1.8-4.5 per 100,000 live births (1,3). MPS I (Hurler syndrome), II (Hunter syndrome), III (Sanfilippo diseases), and VII (Sly diseases) are associated with CNS involvement.

MPSs are characterized by three phases that begin after a period of apparently normal development.

In the first phase, generally starting between the ages of 1 and 3 years, a slowing or plateauing of cognitive development becomes apparent; often speech is more noticeably affected than the other functions (4). Motor development usually progresses normally during this stage. The second phase starts at approximately 3-4 years of age and is characterized by progressive cognitive deterioration and the emergence of behavioral difficulties (hyperactivity, impulsivity, obstinacy, anxious behaviors and autismlike behaviors) and sleep disturbances (4-8). In the early stages of neuropathic forms of MPS, particularly MPS III, developmental delay or regression of skills may be the only prominent manifestation. They are usually misdiagnosed as attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and/or autism spectrum disorders in this phase. The third stage begins, usually in the teenage years, with the onset of severe dementia and decline of motor functions. Swallowing difficulties and spasticity emerge, and patients usually die at the end of the second or beginning of the third decade of life (4-8).

GAGs serve as natural biomarkers for these diseases, as MPSs are primarily associated with their accumulation. There are different subclasses of GAGs that can be accumulated according to the specific enzymatic defect. This accumulation can also vary according to the residual levels of enzyme activity, type of genetic variant, and environmental factors (9).

We report four cases with ADHD, followed by the pediatric psychiatry department, who were admitted to pediatric emergency department with corrosive substance ingestion and diagnosed with MPS III A.

CASE PRESENTATION

Case 1

A 9-year-old girl was admitted to the pediatric emergency department after she ingested a corrosive substance. Upper gastrointestinal tract endoscopy revealed no pathology; however, she suffered from severe behavioral disorder, hyperactivity, mental retardation, speech disorder, coarse face, and hypertrichosis.

Her parents were first-degree relatives. She was reported to have acquired head control by the 3rd month of life, was able to walk at 2 years, and started to talk at 2.5 years; however, her speech did not improve. She was admitted to the pediatric psychiatry department for sleep disturbances, hyperactivity, and speech delay.

She had severe behavioral disorder, hyperactivity, mental retardation, speech disorder, coarse face and hypertrichosis. Her laboratory investigations revealed normal complete blood count, liver function, serum copper, ceruloplasmin, alpha 1-antitrypsin levels, and thyroid function. Hepatitis A, B, and C were ruled out on serology. Urinary GAGS were significantly increased. The lysosomal enzyme activity was assessed in leukocytes and showed that total GAG levels were 63.5 mg/mmol; levels of creatinin, heparin, and HS were increased; whereas, HS sulphamidase activity was decreased (0 nmol/mg protein/17 h) compared with the normal reference range (3.2±20.4 nmol/mg protein/17 h). She was thus diagnosed with MPS III A.

Chest radiography revealed beaking of vertebral bodies and oar shaped ribs (Figure 1). Abdominal USG showed hepatosplenomegaly. Echocardiography and ophthalmic examinations were normal. Severe sensorineural hearing loss was detected.

Case 2

An 11-year-old boy was admitted to the pediatric emergency department after ingesting a corrosive substance.

Upper gastrointestinal tract endoscopy revealed mild hyperemia. He had severe behavioral disorder, hyperactivity, mental retardation, speech disorder, coarse face, and hypertrichosis, similar to his sibling.

He had previously been admitted to the pediatric psychiatry department several times for walk and speech delay. He had severe mental retardation, hyperactivity, speech disorder, and sleep disturbances since he was 6 years old and was diagnosed with ADHD. His physical examination was unremarkable except for the presence of a coarse face and hypertrichosis. There was no organomegaly.

His laboratory investigations revealed normal complete blood count, liver function, serum copper, ceruloplasmin, alpha 1-antitrypsin levels, and thyroid function. Hepatitis A, B, and C were ruled out. Urinary GAGs were increased. Total GAG levels



Figure 1. Chest radiograph showing beaking of vertebral bodies and oar shape ribs
were 41.8 mg/mmol; levels of creatinin, heparin, and HS were increased; whereas, HS sulphamidase activity was decreased (0.1 nmol/mg protein/17 h). He was diagnosed with MPS III A. Chest radiograph revealed beaking of vertebral bodies and oar shaped ribs. Sensorineural hearing loss was observed; while, echocardiography and ophthalmic examinations were normal.

Case 3

A 4.5-year-old boy was admitted to the pediatric emergency department after ingesting a corrosive substance (bleach). Upper gastrointestinal tract endoscopy revealed no pathology.

His history revealed no consanguinity. He had agitation, hyperactivity, and short sleep duration. He had started to talk and walk after 2.5 years, and had been followed-up by pediatric psychiatry department for the last 6 months with the diagnosis ADHD.

His physical examination revealed a coarse face, roughness of the hands and feet. There was no organomegaly. The lysosomal enzyme activity was approximately 0 nmol/mg protein/17 h that led to the diagnosis of MPS III A. He had no skeletal abnormalities or hearing loss.

Case 4

A 14-year-old boy was admitted to the pediatric emergency department with complaints of corrosive substance ingestion. Upper gastrointestinal tract endoscopy revealed linear erosions and hyperemia. His oral intake was stopped and proton-pump inhibitors were administered.

His history revealed no consanguinity. He had started to talk at 4.5 years, and suffered from sleep disorders since the age of 8 years. He had been admitted to the pediatric psychiatry department many times with the suspicion of ADHD.

His physical examination revealed a coarse face, hypertrichosis, and roughness of the hands and feet. He had hearing loss and skeletal abnormalities. Liver was palpable 3 cm below right costal margin. His laboratory investigations were normal. As the lysosomal enzyme activity was 0 nmol/mg protein/17 h, a diagnosis of MPS III A was made. A repeat endoscopy performed 1 week later was unremarkable.

Written informed consents were obtained from all the patients and/or their parents.

DISCUSSION

MPS III A is an autosomal recessive disorder caused by a deficiency of heparan N-sulphatase that is involved in the lysosomal degradation of HS. It is reportedly the most severe form, with an earlier onset and faster progression of symptoms than in the other types of MPSs (3-6,8). MPS III A is characterized by progressive mental retardation, speech delay, sleep disturbances, and behavioral disorders (3-11). It has been reported that 40.6% of the patients talked after the 15th month of life, 7.2% of them walked after the 18^{th} month, and 26.1% had both delayed talking and walking (5). The patients were usually diagnosed at 3-4.5 years of age (5,10).

The first clinical symptoms reported by Meyer et al. (5) included behavioral and sleep disturbances; whereas, speech (48%) and behavioral disorders (9%) were cited as the first symptoms by Buhrman et al. (10). Our patients were admitted to the pediatric psychiatry department for sleep disorders, hyperactivity, and delayed speech and walking. No clinical improvement occurred during their follow-up period. The diagnosis of MPS was based on the physical signs, such as a coarse face (flat nasal bridge, thickened lips, low set ears, macroglossia, short neck, hypertrichosis, etc.), hepatosplenomegaly, broad hands, and short fingers.

Although, skeletal abnormalities are less prominent in MPS III than in the other types of MPS, regular imaging of the spine, hips, and the lower extremities is recommended in these patients (12). Three of our patients had skeletal abnormalities.

Leukocytes and/or skin fibroblast cultures are the gold standard for establishing the diagnosis and determining the subtype of MPS. Prenatal diagnosis is possible, and familial carriers can be identified by molecular genetic testing. There is no specific enzyme replacement therapy; however, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation can be used (13).

In conclusion, MPSs can be easily misdiagnosed as other common diseases seen in children, and this can result in their inappropriate management. Therefore, pediatricians, pediatric psychiatrists, and physicians must suspect MPSs in patients who present with hyperactivity, speech delay or deterioration, autism-like behavioral disorders, and motor developmental delay, even in the absence of apparent features like coarse face.

Informed Consent: Written informed consents were obtained from all the patients and/or their parents.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - N.U.; Concept - N.U., D.K.; Design - N.U., D.K., R.G.; Data Collection and/or Processing - N.U., R.G.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - N.U., D.K.; Literature Search - D.K.; Writing Manuscript - D.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

REFERENCES

- Neufeld E., Muenzer J. The Mucopolysaccharidoses. The Online Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease. OMMBID McGraw-Hill Medical. 8th ed. McGraw-Hill; New York, NY, USA: 2001.
- Poswar F.D.O, Vairo F, Burin M, Michelin-Tirelli K, Brusius-Facchin A.C, Kubaski F, Souza C.F.M.D, Baldo G, Giugliani R. Lysosomal diseases: Overview on current diagnosis and treatment. Genet. Mol. Biol. 2019;42:165–177.
- Valstar MJ, Ruijter GJG, van Diggelen OP, Poorthuis BJ, Wijburg FA. Sanfilippo syndrome: a mini-review. J Inherit Metab Dis 2008; 31: 240-52.
- Wijburg FA, Wegrzyn G, Burton BK, Tylki-Szymańska A. Mucopolysaccharidosis type III (Sanfilippo syndrome) and misdiagnosis of idiopathic developmental delay, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder or autism spectrum disorder. Acta Paediatr 2013; 102: 462-70.
- 5. Meyer A, Kossow K, Gal A, Mühlhausen C, Ullrich K, Braulke T, et al.

Scoring evaluation of the natural course of mucopolysaccharidosis type IIIA (Sanfilippo syndrome type A). Pediatrics 2017; 120: 1255-61.

- Delgadillo V, O'Callaghan Mdel M, Gort L, Coll MJ, Pineda M. Natural history of Sanfilippo syndrome in Spain. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013; 8: 189.
- Valstar MJ, Marchal JP, Grootenhuis M, Colland V, Wijburg FA. Cognitive development in patients with mucopolysaccharidosis type III (Sanfilippo syndrome). Orphanet J Rare Dis 2011; 6: 43.
- Ruijter GJ, Valstar MJ, van de Kamp JM, van der Helm RM, Durand S, van Diggelen OP, et al. Clinical and genetic spectrum of Sanfilippo type C (MPS IIIC) disease in The Netherlands. Mol Genet Metab 2008; 93: 104-11.
- Clarke LA, Winchester B, Giugliani R, Tylki-Szymańska A, Amartino H. Biomarkers for the mucopolysaccharidoses: Discovery and clinical utility. Mol Genet Metab 2012; 106: 395-402.

- Buhrman D, Thakkar K, Poe M, Escolar ML. Natural history of Sanfilippo syndrome type A. J Inherit Metab Dis 2014; 37: 431-7.
- Cross EM, Hare DJ. Behavioural phenotypes of the mucopolysaccharide disorders: a systematic literature review of cognitive, motor, social, linguistic and behavioural presentation in the MPS disorders. J Inherit Metab Dis 2013; 36: 189-200.
- 12. White KK. Orthopaedic aspects of mucopolysaccharidoses. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2011; 50(Suppl 5): 26-33.
- Burrow TA, Hopkin RJ, Leslie ND, Tinkle BT, Grabowski GA. Enzyme reconstitution/replacement therapy for lysosomal storage diseases. Curr Opin Pediatr 2017; 19: 628-35.